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	THE EVER-CHANGING CITY

	London is like a sea; once you take a dip, all you need do is allow the tides to carry you gently adrift. These currents can be sometimes be friendly, less so in other moments. At times, you may be overwhelmed by the din and commotion of the cars, the rumbling of the city buses, or the music blaring in the shops...

	However, when it feels like all of it is simply too much to bear any longer, there is always a remedy at hand: a park, a garden, a green area sporting a comfortable bench to sit on and relax. True as it may be that often the weather is unhelpful, it must be said that in exchange it keeps the grass nice and green and spurs the growth of huge plane trees, chestnut trees and sycamores. Yet when the weather does play up, there is always some quaint uncharted library, an eccentric museum, or a splendid tearoom, all waiting to be found, all hidden spots of “the other London”, which are available to the inquisitive traveller.

	Undeterred by rapid developments, the city continues to comprise many different towns, each with its own centre. Despite the towers clad in glass and steel, which clutch at the skies, London is nevertheless still largely a “horizontal” city, consisting mainly of houses with low roofs and gardens, with neighbours to one’s sides and not above or below. It is a patchy, mottled city: there are the more elegant neighbourhoods boasting apartments at stellar prices, which are built around squares riddled with gardens, where during summertime the notes of Haydn and Liszt resound. Then there are the seedy run-down areas, where the buildings have been disfigured by graffiti, where the squares are filthy and the benches are damaged. All around, modern architecture co-exists alongside that of times gone by; newer buildings loom over the medieval crypts and Norman churches, and contemporary works of sculpture embellish the facades of Sixteenth-century villas. London is a metropolis which looks to the future, and has more than once arisen from its own ashes, from the times of the Great Fire to the bombardments.

	The inhabitants of local origin live alongside foreigners who come from South America, Africa, Asia or Australia, and such a melting pot makes the streets colourful, journeys in the tube interesting, and visits to the pub pleasurable. Each day has one fascinated, amused, and at times bewildered by the sight of these eight-million people living elbow to elbow. One may often witness striking scenes and hear unusual accents, and then head home feeling enlightened by the experience, running the events through one’s mind.  In this place, the cradle of the English language, the majority of the people speaking it are not of English origin. Many of them have an original way of building phrases, and the personal use of idiomatic expressions enhances the element of humour.   

	In this place, the cradle of the English language, the majority of the people speaking it are not of English origin. Many of them have an original way of building phrases, and the personal use of idiomatic expressions enhances the element of humour.

	London is a city of complexity and contradictions, yet it is also full of charm and vitality, and offers a great deal. The big museums, located within awe-inspiring buildings, are evidence of its past opulence as the capital of a vast empire. Art galleries host top artists and emerging ones. There are more than one hundred and fifty theatres, which have a selection of shows unequalled elsewhere and the same can be said for cinemas and concert halls. One comes across open-air shows, festivals which take place on the banks of the Thames, dancing to the rhythm of music brought over from Brazil or other countries, and parades on the Thames... What is more, London continues to be a fountain of new fashion trends and has a variety of cuisines that is simply unbeatable.

	Also impressive is the number and quality of newspapers or magazines that come out every day in different languages. Not to mention the quantity of books to be found in shops and at stalls, which can be new, second-hand, valuable, half-priced, classics, contemporary novels, poetry books, you name it... This is a city which also offers a lot to children and young people: the South Bank puppet theatre or the video screenings held at the Tate Gallery, where a post has been set up for observing the peregrine falcons which have made their nest in the chimney opposite, and let’s not forget the enactment of comedies written by eleven-year-olds...

	One may also visit the city by pursuing a chosen theme: not just art galleries, but also sundials, pottery collections, old signposts, stone bestiaries, gardens, embroidery, the list goes on... There are bizarre scenes, such as the stone skulls placed atop the gates of the old St. Olave cemetery; there are mysterious objects, like the statue of King Ludd in Fleet Street, and oddities like ambulance stretchers used to build garden gateways; we can admire the pastel colour of the prefabricated houses which date back to the post-war period, and the lighthouse, the only one left, different to the ones we are used to.

	Original architectural details adorn the facades of buildings, and one may admire the nude statues of Zimbabwe House, visit the splendid Victorian mansion which hosts a water-pumping station, or see the colourful wall paintings. It is also lovely to walk along the side of the canals, surrounded by nature, and in the company of the herons, intent on their fishing.    

	Like Rome, London stands atop a group of hills. One of them is Parliament Hill, in Hampstead, from which one can enjoy a wonderful view of the city’s most famous spots. Another is Primrose Hill, slightly to the south of the Parliament Hill, with its pretty view looking over Regent s Park. Then we find Muswell Hill, rich with water, where the Thames and the Lea river can be admired. There is a hillside park known as  Alexandra Palace, which includes a big building, an example of Victorian architecture, and an ice rink... Also the southern part of the city is hilly. Here we find the slopes of Brixton’s Brockwell Park, with its spectacular lakes, worthy of being the subject of postcards, centuries-old trees, and Denmark Hill, named in honour of Queen Anne, wife of George, prince of  Denmark.

	Two more hills are Forest Hill, where the Horniman Museum lies, and Greenwich Park hill, which ascends from the Thames with a breathtaking view over the buildings of Wren and Hawksmoor. Shooters Hill is where those condemned to hanging would once be publically displayed, and today it is where the Victorian water tower, is found.  London is also a lush city, rich with greenery. From the royal parks of the center, and the Jubilee Gardens with their geometric flower beds, to Richmond Park, the fields of Wimbledon, and the woods in Epping Forest, there are miles and miles of grass and flowers amid which to walk. Of course these flowers change with the seasons, with endless stretches of crocus in February, daffodils in the Spring, the hydrangeas and dahlias in the Summer, and roses almost all year round. There are also animals in the parks: in Regent’s Park sheep graze, in the Serpentine ducks delve, all along Westbourne hawks hunt for mice…

	As well as the large green areas in the parks, there are the smaller gardens and the old shady graveyards, to be found even in areas of great urban concentration such as the City, where many of office windows are stroked by the leafy tree branches. The instinct to sow seeds and plant shoots to watch them grow and flourish into plants is very strong in the English people because as they like to say, it’s nice to have “a bit of green” around, giving one the impression of being in the country. So what better than to make one's way into the parks, slip into a tree-lined square, or follow one of the evocative paths along the riverside...

	AN INTERNATIONAL CITY

	London has always been an international city which has welcomed immigrants and refugees from all over the world. In the Seventeenth Century, those persecuted for religious reasons arrived from Spain and Holland. In the Eighteenth Century, the Huguenots and political intellectuals such as Voltaire made their way over. The same can be said for Nineteenth Century Italy, during which Mazzini arrived there. Karl Marx arrived from Germany and was later to analyze British industrial capitalism and write Das Capital.

	It was especially during the Twentieth Century that a certain phenomenon started, namely that of mass immigration from European countries which had severe internal problems. Many came: Germans, Austrians, Italians, Spanish, and Eastern Europeans. Italian intellectuals would meet in Soho cafés, the Russians instead would rendezvous at Primrose Hill, at the Herzen club.  Torn from their land, with all of their belongings packed into a suitcase, not knowing the local language, and subject to humiliation and intricate bureaucratic procedures, these immigrants would try their hardest to integrate in the shortest time possible. They opened new restaurants, new shops, they tried to become somewhat English themselves, but often found themselves somewhere in the middle, with their native countries still firmly etched in their minds. The city, at any rate, accepted new habits and schedules, as well as political and intellectual provocations on the part of the foreigners. In more recent years came the Cypriots, Indians, Pakistanis, Chinese, and West Indians.

	They went to live in Brixton, Deptford, and Camden Town, where there are entire neighbourhoods inhabited by immigrants. The International and cosmopolitan city of London would absorb all those who passed that way. Today this huge and complex metropolis is a home to many different cultures and languages. At the newsagents’, in addition to newspapers in English and the main European languages, one can also find newspapers and magazines in Arab, Hindi, and Chinese.  These different cultures are also apparent in the architecture of the buildings and the items safeguarded by museums, which is where the heritage of what used to be the British empire is found. In the city that was once the incarnation of tradition and austerity, behaviour and lifestyles have changed. Today London is an avant-garde metropolis, where fashions and new styles bloom as a consequence of the different cultures that make up the city.

	From the ancient Romans until today. The Italian side of London

	It was the year 35 b.C. when Julius Caesar landed on the coasts of Kent leading the Roman army, and it was in 43 a.D. that emperor Claudio built a bridge on the Thames and created a fortified settlement north of the river, which was baptized Londinium. Centuries later, the missionary monks arrived, and contributed to spreading Christianity throughout the country. The following phase during which Italy was involved in British affairs was between the 13th and 14th centuries, when Italian markets and bankers played an important role in local trade and finance. They would operate in Lombard street, named so because of the fact that most of the bankers were originally from Lombardy. Also the word ‘bankrupt’ derives from the Italian term ‘bancarotta’. The name refers to the tradition of breaking the counters (banchi) of bankers who had gone bankrupt or become insolvent. The three golden balls, instead, are a symbol of money lent on pledge, and derives from the crest of the Medici. During the Renaissance there was an invasion of Italian art and culture: architects, painters, sculptors, artists, artisans, scholars, opera singers, and dance teachers would arrive in great numbers…  Together with this elite emigration from Italy, there was the mass of people emigrating in order to escape their misery: peddlers, concertina players and street performers. In 1806 the clown Joseph Grimaldi became famous in pantomimes. Among the shows that left their mark on British culture, was that of the puppets known as Punch and Judy, derived from the mask of Pulcinella. A plate on the left side of St Paul’s Church in Covent Garden, indicates the place where the puppet master Pietro Gimondi, in May 1662, used to put on a puppet show which caught the enthusiasm of Samuel Pepys.

	In the Eighteenth Century, many English travelers would go to visit Venice and from the lagoon city, they took a souvenir with them: a painting by Antonio Canal, better known as Canaletto. However unfortunately, after the Austrian War of Succession of 1740,travelers had become rarer. And therefore what did Canaletto decide to do? He set off and went to live in London, at number 41 in Beak Street. Maintaining the style which he had used to portray Venice, he started to paint London and, in particular, the Thames. Some of his paintings are exhibited at the National Gallery, others are part of the Wallace Collection. However experts do not consider them amongst his greatest works. Another famous Venetian was Giacomo Casanova: born in 1725, son of a couple who were actors, he arrived in London in 1763. His intention was that of setting up a lottery, however this proved to be more difficult than he had anticipated. Casanova would meet illustrious characters, such as King George III and the writer Samuel Johnson, and spent the evenings going to the theatre and attending public bathrooms, where appeasing women were to be found.  He also ended up in prison on one occasion, for having attempted to assault Marianne Charpillon, with whom he had fallen in love with and who had extorted huge amounts of money from him. Once out of jail, he had taught a parrot to say: “Charpillon is a wh….””, then he had entrusted it to his servant, who had been instructed to walk around the centre of town with it. He later was forced to hurriedly abandon London altogether, owing to the fact that he had cashed in a false credit note, which he had received by winning a game of dice.

	During the decade 1850-1860 political refugees arrived, and by the end of the century, the neighbourhoods of Clerkenwell and Holborn – and especially the building blocks between Rosebery Avenue, Farringdon Road, and Clerkenwell Road – were inhabited mostly by Italians. The centre of the settlement was around St Peter’s Church, between Black Hill, Eyre Street Hill and Summers Street. The church, which had been opened in 1863, is at the address of 4, Black Hill. It is modeled on S. Crisogono in Trastevere, Rome, and has a bronze statue of St Pierro, and one of its founder, St. Vincenzo Pallotti. Still today it continues to be a point of reference for the community; weddings and funerals are celebrated there, and the mass on Sundays attracts many visitors. Each year, on the 16th July, a procession takes place and carries the statue of Our Lady of Mount Carmel. The neighbourhoods where the immigrants used to live were poor, yet they had exported the Mediterranean way of life there. Life’s stage was the streets, men would play cards and smoke pipes, women would knitting away or cooking.

	During the years of fascism, Mussolini had sustained the Italian community, funded a school, held reception events, and distributed presents at Christmas. Although not all those who accepted these gifts were fascists, on June 10th 1940, when Mussolini declared war on Great Britain, any men, whether or not they still had Italian citizenship or had acquired British status, were internalised. Many were deported to the Isle of Man and placed in fields sealed off by barbed wire, others were taken to Australia and Canada. On July 2nd 1940, the ship Arandora Star, which was transporting six hundred and ten Italians and about as many Germans, was sunken by a German submarine. Four hundred and seventy of them perished. A plate outside the church of St Peters was placed in their memory and that of those fallen during the First World War. A number of those prisoners were able to regain their citizenship only later, in 1946 and decided to remain in Great Britain, in spite of the hostility towards them, especially on the part of British who had lost their relatives in the battles in North Africa. Italian immigration started again in 1950, and lasted another twenty years; Italians worked mainly in the restaurant sector. Statistics tell us that there are to date about two hundred and fifty thousand Italians living in London, however the flow of migration is now quite modest.

	THE LONDON OF TRADITIONAL CUISINE

	" It is commonly said, even by the English themselves, that English cooking is the worst in the world. It is supposed to be not merely incompetent, but also imitative...” wrote George Orwell. Yet simultaneously, the author seems to state the opposite as he goes on to say: “here are the delicacies that these lands offer: kippers, muffins and crumpets, Yorkshire pudding, Devonshire cream, flatbreads, Christmas pudding, treacle tart,

	apple dumplings, the cakes – amongst which dark plum cake – pastry, saffron buns, and the countless types of biscuits…”  Perhaps the main flaw in English cooking is not that of being imitative, but that of not being enormously varied. This does not mean that the cuisine is entirely reduced to fìsh and chips, in other words pieces of fried cod sold in paper cones with chips garnished with vinegar and ketchup, to be eaten whilst walking on the street.

	For a start, traditional breakfast is tasty and abundant, and it is jokingly said that to eat well in England, it is enough to have breakfast three times a day. Breakfast typically consists of bacon and eggs, with buttered toast, to which one may add marmalade, a jam made from the oranges of Seville, which is bitter because it is rich in pectin from the fruit. Soft buns cooked on a metal slab, to be eaten hot and with butter spread on them, are accompanied by scrambled or poached eggs. Unfortunately, in the capital these traditions have often been lost, and it is not easy to find genuine English cooking. The development which came with the industrial revolution, the introduction of women into the workforce, and the ever-quickening pace of life gradually brought 

	about the need for speedy and basic meals. In fact, one of the disadvantages of  traditional cuisine is that unfortunately it requires a long time to prepare. Moreover,  many restaurants that claim to serve traditional cuisine in truth offer a mix of continental dishes.  

	On the other hand, a whole meal in an English restaurant can be rather costly. It is all about choosing the proper area of the city, according to what type of meal one wishes to eat. For some good roast beef or pudding one should visit a pub, where one can also find another typical dish, known as ploughman's lunch, based on cheddar cheese, pickled onions, buttered bread, and mustard. Also found in pubs is pie and mash, a minced meat pie, served with white sauce flavoured with parsley. Another traditional dish is  jellied eels, which are eels boiled with nutmeg and lemon sauce: while they cook they release a form of gelatin which solidifies once it has cooled down.  This traditional dish is usually consumed in an equally traditional place, a venue with white bricks and marble floor. In the pubs in Greenwich and in those along the Thames one can taste the specialties based on fish. Here one can enjoy salmon served on slices of wholemeal bread, or soup made from fillets of white fish and enriched with parsley and white wine.  

	If one just wishes to grab a quick snack of simple food, one should head to a market. For example in Portobello Road, depending on the time of day, one can order a piping hot coffee with a bourbon, a biscuit with chocolate filling, or a Jaffa cake, a soft biscuit covered with chocolate-coated orange jam, on a cold afternoon it is possible to drink delicious-smelling vin brulé, and if the desire is that of something exotic, one can relish the taste of marinated spicy chicken, cooked on a grill and served with rice and pineapple, a traditional recipe from the Caribbean.  Or one can try a slice of chorizo, spicy Spanish sausage also to be found at Borough Market, where it is cooked sauté in a frying pan.

	It is inevitable that London is ruled by the fast food trend, due to the fact that restaurants must tend to the needs of the working locals, who are given a short lunch break and rush to eat their single-dish meals on the grass or benches of the parks as soon as they catch a glimpse of a ray of sunlight. Of course, this way of having lunch translates into a loss of conviviality, but the lunch break does not allow for any more than this. It was in fact the English themselves that made an art of the quintessence of fast food: the sandwich. In no other country is there such a great variety of types of bread and fillings as there is here. There are buns with cumin seeds, filled with hot sausages, others made with rye flour with the blue-veined Wensleydale cheese in them, or huge hunks of rustic bread hiding a juicy slice of rosy roast beef within, spread with horseradish and with a side dish of pickles… but the real classic amongst sandwiches is the BLT - Bacon Lettuce Tomato. It is not only the commuters at lunch time who eat so speedily. In fact, at six in the afternoon, people heading toward the theatre usually eat a quick and light meal followed by a nice hot apple pie. The same happens after the show ends.  

	And since London is an international city, each neighbourhood, depending on the prevalent ethnic group, offers various types of excellent Indian cuisine, for example chicken curry, as well as delicacies from other cultures, whether Chinese, Mexican, or Japanese.

	GASTRONOMY FESTIVALS

	In Great Britain, through the year, many gastronomy events take place, known as Food Festivals. These are centred both on fresh or preserved products, but always of local origin. January brings oysters, leeks and candied fruit, February makes way for pancakes, and marmalade, in March scallops, rice pudding, and chocolate, in April one can find Easter eggs and Good Friday sandwiches, in May watercress and asparagus, whereas June is for strawberries; in July cherries and liquorice are celebrated, in August garlic, red chili pepper, and gooseberries, in September plums, cider, and cheeses, in October apples, buns, and pumpkins, in November one can try out the Bonfire Night specials, toad in a hole (sausages cooked in soft but crispy batter, and marshmallows, pillow-like sweets of different shapes. This is also the month of the beer festival and of steamed dumplings. In December a great gastronomical festival of Christmas products begins.

	One of the most readily available meals is pie with fish, meat, or vegetables as filling. We can find a vast array, for example steak and kidney pie, with beef and kidneys, or shepherd's pie, which is not strictly speaking a pie as it does not contain pastry but is minced meat covered by a layer of mashed potato with a crusty top baked in the oven, with added spices and vegetables.  Others include eel pie, fisb pie, and pork pie. Another category of famous favourites is that of roasted dishes, such as roast beef, roast pork, or roast lamb, either served hot or cold, and not to be forgotten is the meal known in slang as bangers and mash which is made up of sausages with mashed potato and beans… Although it is true that English food has always been associated with meat and fish, there are also a great deal of vegetarian recipes, such as soups, of which there is an endless variety and which really are quite good. Typical examples are based on ingredients such as cauliflower, asparagus, peas, carrots, chestnuts, leeks, water cress, and can be enhanced with ginger, mint, or cheeses.  

	

	OTHER CUISINES

	Perhaps the most widespread foreign cuisine to be found in the English capital is Indian food, due to the great number of inhabitants originally from India. Chicken tikka masala, is in fact part of the everyday lifestyle of many English (recently rated as the #1 national dish). There are also many other types of meat cooked with different spices, not to mention the fish. And there is never any shortage of the typical bread from the subcontinent, known as naan bread. In areas like Whitechapel, Aldgate East, Wembley and Southall, as well as many Indian and Pakistani restaurants, there are also shops with important products for sale.  In Soho’s Chinatown, surrounding Gerrard Street, but also elsewhere, one can find Chinese cuisine, with the usual Sunday dim sum consisting of spicy chicken, prawns, and vegetables.  Also quite present, although not quite so widespread, are the cuisines from Thailand, Mali, and Japan. Sushi bars have become popular in the last few years and restaurants range from very cheap to expensive and refined.
As a consequence of immigration from the Middle East, also Lebanese and Curdish restaurants have sprung up, for example in the areas of Bayswater and Edgware Road. Similarly connected to immigration, are Caribbean cuisine and that of Sub-Saharan Africa, especially in areas such as Brixton and Notting Hill.

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	THE LONDON OF CULTURE

	A CITY OF WRITERS

	Virginia Woolf  once stated that she had began to see London through different eyes, after having read the novel Moll Flanders by Defoe, written two thousand years earlier. The function of a book is in fact that of encouraging the reader to observe the world around him or her with a new level of awareness and attention, and to go beyond the superficial aspect of things. A book can guide the gaze of those who read it towards more particular nuances of reality and it can also offer a different perspective when looking at the surrounding environment. An instance of this are Virginia Woolf's works, which describe the city of London like few others manage to do. She founded the Bloomsbury Group, a gathering of brilliant and eclectic intellectuals who would meet at her house, at 29, Fitzroy Square. Members of the group included the economist Keynes, the writer and literary critic Strachey, the writer  Foster, the painter Grant, and the art critic Roger Fry. For example, in telling us about her day at the Visitor's Gallery at the House of Commons, Woolf speaks with irony about politicians, as snooty as if they were already statues ready to be placed alongside those of Gladstone, Pitt and Palmerston. The writer also pondered upon which type of marble would be the most apt to make sculptures of them.   

	London, like all vast cities, is the result of the stratification of millennia, with layer upon layer of different languages superimposed over each other; this has shaped the multilingual richness of it. It is a patchwork of cultures, an urban blend evident also in the diversity of food and cuisine on offer. Amongst the traits of the city which mostly grasped the fantasy of writers is the estranging effect of some of its neighbourhoods, especially at night, when one has the impression of floating on a black blanket pierced by thousands of lights.    

	 At a first glance, London may seem less suitable than Paris, as far as aimless wandering is concerned. There are few of the wide tree-filled boulevards so typical of the French capital, nor are there the relaxed coffee shops in which the observing saunterer can spend hours on end. However, this is but a fleeting and superficial impression. In fact, as early as the Eighteenth Century, the poet John Gay dedicated a short poem to the city, going by the title Trivia or The Art of Walking the Streets of London. Incidentally, Gay was also the author of a city guide of sorts, a booklet named Beggar’s Opera, within which he launches a desperate plea regarding the need to save the identity of London from the influence of foreigners, in particular with regards to the Italian melodrama.  

	In time, many areas of the capital have been overhauled and improved, yet at the same time they have thus been rendered more uniform and sterile. No longer are there tamed and trained beasts on the streets, as was so in Shakespeare's days, nor do the taverns project the singing of coarse voices as they once did. The bizarre trading items which marked those times are also gone, but along with all this, many peculiar and picturesque corners have also disappeared.  

	 London is a literary city due to the sheer amount of places where writers have chosen to set their novels and poets have dedicated their verses to, but also due to the number of authors who were born there or who lived there, from the Fourteenth Century onwards. As well as novelists, London was also covered by many chroniclers, such as Jean Froissart. Geoffrey Chaucer, the author of  The Canterbury Tales, was born in 1343 in Thames Street, near where the Cutty Sark is docked today. Chaucer chose Southwark as the setting for the starting point of the pilgrims in their journey towards Canterbury, which they would head for, in order to visit the sanctuary of Saint Thomas Becket. The historian John Stow, born in the London neighbourhood of Cornhill in 1525, delivered his testimony on the Sixteenth Century. His most renowned work is Survey of London, published in 1598. The book manages to avoid merely being a cold, arid report, and instead succeeds in telling a witty story,  rich with anecdotes, with a detailed description of the buildings, the social conditions, and the lifestyle during the reign of Elizabeth I. On the outer wall of the church of St Andrew Undershaft, stands a monument dedicated to Stow. Also during the Sixteenth Century, Henry Machyn wrote his diary of London. Ben Johnson was born in 1574 near the Strand. When his father died, he was forced to abandon Westminster School to find a job as a builder. He would keep himself entertained on the job by astonishing his workmates and passers-by with citations from the classics and the recital of lines from poems. William Shakespeare was born at Stratford-upon-Avon and moved to London when he was very young. He lived for quite some time in an apartment for single gentlemen. The little remaining evidence on his life includes an archive document proving his purchase, in 1613, of a house in the area of the Blackfriars theatre, where there is a passage know as Playhouse Alley. Shakespeare chose the city of the Doges as the setting for his work, The Merchant of Venice, however it is the privileges of the City of London which he was actually targeting through his fictional story. In Richard III, instead, he transforms the Mayor and the Old Counselor into clumsy, awkward characters to great comic effect. Samuel Pepys was born in 1633 in Salisbury Court, a cross street of Fleet Street. He later lived at 12, Buckingham Street. Pepys was a circumstantial recorder of the chronicles of the capital, and to describe the latter he used the style of literary realism. He worked as Chief  Secretary to the Admiralty, and his diaries pushed London into the limelight of worldwide focus. Amongst his descriptions is the dramatic portrayal of the Great Fire of 1666, of which he witnessed the development on the night of September 2nd, as he gazed out of his room window overlooking Seething Lane. Because of the fact that the flames had given him the impression of being distant and not in the least bit dangerous, he had decided to go back to sleep. Twenty-four hours later, his house had been surrounded by flames, and he was forced to leave the premises in a hurry. The fire razed roughly fifteen thousand homes, eighty-seven churches, and fifty guild headquarters. Pepys' pages also tell us of enormous climatic variations that took place during those years.  "During February, 1665," he writes, "birds in flight would fall to the ground, stone dead and frozen". He also reported the events of The Plague, which between 1664 and 1665 harvested about 100,000 victims, and forced thousands of Londoners to resort to living on barges. In his Diaries, Pepys also spoke of happier things, such as a fountain with excellent wine gushing from it, on occasion of the Duke of York's birthday. The chronicler also tastefully described the Southwark Fair, brimming with prostitutes and pickpockets, who would leave a trail of heaps of rubbish behind them, as well as the open-air concerts of Vauxhall Gardens. Pepys gave a mocking account of the death of his coachman, which took place on the job: the latter had gradually loosened his grip on the horse's reins, until he had finally ceased to move altogether. John Evelyn is another chronicler who spoke of the events of everyday life, of street shows, and also of an Italian tightrope walker who would perform with dancing monkeys, whilst holding baskets full of eggs on his head and burning candles in his hands.    

	  Daniel Defoe was born in 1660 in Cripplegate, in the heart of the City. In his diaries on the Plague's outbreak, called Journal of the Plague Year, he described the catastrophic moments of the terrible scourge, and the disastrous events of  the Great Fire. Defoe's house, along with two others, were the only ones left standing in the neighbourhood. Samuel Johnson, nicknamed "the Sage of Fleet Street", took house in London in 1745.  In accordance with his statement “When a man is tired of London, he is tired of life”, he almost never strayed far from the capital. He had moved to London from Lichfield in order to work as a journalist. His house was in Gough Street, which is now a museum, and there he compiled his famous Dictionary. On those occasions when he would leave London, it would be to pay a visit to the Staple Inn, located in Inner Temple Lane, or to go to the nearby church of St Clement Danes, on the Strand. On the church wall, there is an inscription in memory of his extremely regular attendance to mass:  “From this bench, near the pillar, the renowned doctor Samuel Johnson would follow the religious service." In the poem London, Johnson is somewhat critical towards the city, although he was always a great admirer of it. 

	The great writers of the Nineteenth Century - Thomas Carlyle was born in 1795 in Ecclefechan, Scotland, but lived his whole life in London. He was a historian, an essayist, and a philosopher. His writing reflects the disillusionment , the tensions and the social conflict created by the Industrial Revolution, and issues warnings concerning social upheaval. To a mechanical society, Carlyle counterposes a spiritual one, imbued with moral values. He introduces the concept of the hero, and in his later works takes positions which are in fact quite racist. His biography on Frederick the Great was one of Hitler's favourite books, and this linked his work to ideas of intolerance, thus obscuring his fame. 

	Edgar Allan Poe was born in Boston in 1809 with a couple of actors for parents, who both died when he was just two years old. He was adopted by a rich English merchant from Richmond, after which Poe lived in London until the age of eleven, attending an institute in Stoke Newington, which he later described in his book William Wilson: “The school was hosted in an extremely old house in a mysterious village, rich with fantastic paths to follow, upon which fell the shadows of the elms, which had been there since time immemorial..." Poe too, much like Stevenson, described the light of the gas lamps as being incapable of piercing the darkness, a chimerical light which also caused all those who passed beneath it to seem somewhat unreal. The main character of The Man of the Crowd, decides one autumn evening to follow an elderly man, who is behaving very strangely, for a night and a day. In the end, exhausted, he faces the old man, but the latter refuses to look him in the face or speak to him, and simply walks off, disappearing into the distance. 

	  Thomas De Quincey was born in Manchester, but reached London when he was very young, in 1802. He had ended up struggling to make ends meet and had resorted to opium in order to get some relief from strong physical pains and to gain some consolation against London, defined by him as exasperating and a generator of folly. One of the streets he hated most was Oxford Street. After having met William Wordsworth, he had followed him to the Lake District area. When he returned to London, he went to live at 36, Tavistock Street, in Covent Garden. The apartment was located, and still is, just above a pub with a blue signpost. In the study overlooking the street, he wrote his most famous book, Confessions of an English Opium Eater, where he described his experience with drugs. The book influenced Charles Baudelaire and Edgar Allan Poe, amongst others. 

	 William Thackeray was born in 1811 in Calcutta, which at the time was the capital of the British empire. At the age of five, he lost his father. His mother sent him back to England so that he could attend his schooling, whilst she remained in India. After his studies, Thackeray became a journalist and writer. His best-known work is Vanity Fair, where he drops irony on the human ineptitude of the characters. Other works of his, are Pendennis, written in 1846 at the address of 16, Young Street, and The Virginians, written in 1853 at 36, Onslow Square. In the historical novel History of Henry Esmond, the protagonist, a colonel serving Queen Anne, recounts his life story. At Thackeray's funeral, after his death at the age of fifty-two, around seven thousand people were present, which goes to show just how appreciated the irony and satire present in his work was, for many people, who wished to pay him homage one last time. A bust representing him, sculpted by the baron Carlo Marochetti, can be found in Westminster abbey. His house, which the writer had built in 1862, one year before his death, at 2, Palace Gardens, is now the headquarters of the Israeli embassy. Instead, his previous home in Tunbridge Wells hosts a homonymous restaurant. 

	  Charlotte Brontë, born in 1816 in Thornton, Yorkshire, lived in London for periods of varying length, but never felt at home there. After the great success of Jane Eyre, when she visited London, she would be invited to important social circles and meet with celebrities such as Harriet Martineau, Elizabeth Gaskell, G.H. Lewes and William Thackeray. Yet she was very shy and would not speak a great deal. It was precisely on the occasion of an evening event held at Thackeray's house that she remained rather quiet, disappointing the guests, who had expected a rather more brilliant form of conversation from her. 

	Robert Louis Stevenson, born in 1850 in Edinburgh, described London as a monstrosity on the banks of the Thames, a fertile terrain for the formation of schizophrenic personalities. The capital is seen through the eyes of Dr. Jekyll, who transforms into Mr. Hyde. Due to his bad deeds, the diabolical Mr. Hyde finds an ally in the feeble, hissing light of the gas lamps, beneath which evil prospers. The background setting for the metamorphosis and split-personality of the character is portrayed by the description of the places he moves through, the intricate labyrinth of streets, the atmosphere of mystery created by the darkness, mist, and wind.    

	  John Ruskin was born in London in 1819. He was a poet, an artist, a philosopher, as well as the inspirer of William Morris' Arts and Crafts movement, which was opposed to the mechanization of society. "The world cannot all become one big workshop", he would say, "beautiful things are also necessary..." He went on many journeys and stayed in Italy for long periods in order to study its works of art, about which he wrote many books. Some of his stances on matters such as that concerning restoration were extremely ahead of their time. Also his concerns for the environment, the damage that development was doing to it, and what should have to be done in order to preserve it and maintain a certain balance between Man and nature are the same concerns often put forward today. 

	Charles Dickens is probably the most famous of all English writers and is also the one whose life is most closely bound to the capital. His first great love, Maria Beadnell, was the daughter of a banker who was a resident at the address of 2, Lombard Street, and the eighteen-year-old Dickens would cross the whole city just to steal a glance at her window. He then drew inspiration from her for the character of Dora Spenlow in David Copperfield. The protagonist wishes to marry her, only to realize that such a "child-wife" is not suitable for him. Maria also appears in Little Dorrit, in the guise of Flora Finching. Twenty years later, Dickens encountered Maria once again and found before himself an obese lady who constantly giggled in a silly way. 

	Although he was no political thinker nor an accurate historian, Dickens imposed his vision of the capital. He did not set his novels in the London of the corridors of power, of monuments, or of artistic areas, but in the less-known poor neighbourhoods, in the courtyards, prisons, reformatories, offices, and places of entertainment for the common people. Dickens arrived in London in 1822, with his parents. He was ten years old and their house was in Bayham Street, in the Camden Town area. Upon what today is a hospital wall, a plaque reminds us of the fact that their home was once there. Later on, Dickens described the neighbours as follows: “They seemed to be inclined to throw anything they no longer needed out into the middle of the street. 

	The cabbage leaves would make the cobblestones slippery and give a messy impression. Not only was there rubbish in the form of vegetables, but I also saw a shoe, a cap, an umbrella... each of them in a different stage of decay." After a while, the Dickens family moved to 4, Gower Street, where they attempted to open a school. Unfortunately, things did not go as planned, and in 1824, his father was taken off to the Marshalsea prison in Southwark for debts. Charles and his mother went to live near there, in Lant Street, and the boy found a job in a factory. Between 1835 and 1836, Dickens lived in Holborn, at Furnival's Inn, where in his free time he began to publish the Pickwick Papers. In 1836 he married Catherine Hogarth in the church of St Luke's, in Chelsea. From 1837 to 1839, he lived at the address of 48, Doughty Street, in Bloomsbury. This was to be one of the most productive periods of his life. The adventures of Oliver Twist (1838), and Nicholas Nickleby (1839) were conceived in that house, which is now a museum full of memories of this man of literature. This is however quite contrary to what he would have wanted, seeing as Dickens had prohibited any form of commemoration. Between 1839 and 1850, he lived at 1, Devonshire Terrace, in St Marylebone. Here he wrote David Copperfield, Barnaby Rudge and A Christmas Carol. Between 1851 and 1860, Dickens lived in Bloomsbury, in Tavistock Square, where he wrote Hard Times and Little Dorrit. Today the house is the headquarters for the British Medical Association, however the garden has been preserved as it was. Also the Athenaeum club, at 107, Pall Mall, and the small Cuming museum in Southwark, host many small items to which the writer refers to in his novels, and which are evocative of the London of his time. In his works, in fact, Dickens reflects the social reality which was contemporary to him, describing the dynamic evolution of the capital and the birth of a new "technological landscape", as well as the chaotic urban proliferation. The theme of the outbreak of railways was developed in Dombey and Son, and more widely in the third volume of Household Words. In order to find material for his books, Dickens would walk around the city. He would do so in the daytime, but more often so by night, encouraged by the insomnia he suffered from. For his last book, which he never managed to complete, namely The Mystery of Edwin Drood, the writer would go for long walks along the Thames. He would amble along the alleyways of Limehouse so as to absorb its atmosphere, enter pubs where opium was smoked on  Ratcliffe Lane, and then, as for his previous books, he would use the facts he had witnessed directly, and blend them together with those created from his own imagination. 

	 The English artist and writer, William Morris was born on March 24th, 1834 in a pretty house in Walthamstow, in north-east London, which was later transformed into a museum. He lived in Hammersmith, on the Thames, and had a second house just outside London, Kelmscott Manor, in Oxfordshire, where he had set up a typography known as the Kelmscott Press. Subsequently, the country house became the Red House, in Kent. For his entire life, Morris was divided between his activity as a writer, his commitment to the publishing company, and the artisan's laboratory, destined, in his words, “to give dignity and value back to manual labour, against mass-production and industrial work." His most famous book was the utopian News from Nowhere (1890), where a new society is envisaged. The book is not lacking in original and ironic descriptions, such as that of Parliament Square, depicted as an enormous market for fertilizers.

	George Bernard Shaw was born in 1856 in Dublin.

	Writer of novels and essays, playwright, and author of over sixty comedies, he lived at 29, Fitzroy Square, and then at 33, Kensington Gardens. Later on, he also became the owner of a house in the countryside of Hertfordshire. Shaw adhered to socialism and was a member of the Fabian Society. Many of his works concern the system of government, religion, social issues such as exploitation, and the lack of women's rights. However, such themes are treated with light-hearted irony, which keeps the reader's interest peaked and avoids boredom. Shaw was elected administrative councillor in the Progressive group, and due to his vehement tones during his public speeches, was considered an agitator. Shaw's best-known work remains to date Pygmalion, set partly in Covent Garden. 

	  George Gissing was born in 1857 in Wakefield, Yorkshire. He lived in Tottenham Court Road, in a near condition of poverty. His description of the London of the needy is unique, due to the fact that his point of view is quite different from that of other English novelists. As a young man, he had developed a passion for socialism, although he had never had much faith in a working class government. In his private life he became a martyr: he had managed to be expelled from university for having helped a prostitute in need, and had stolen money from his colleagues. Then, still with the noble intent of aiding the weak, he had married a common woman, however she despised his work as a writer and gave him a hard time with her violent outbursts of rage. Gissing's best works are New Grub Street and Born in Exile.  He also wrote a travel journal, By the Ionian Sea, on his time spent in southern Italy. 

	On the turn of the century - Thomas Hardy was not an enthusiast with regards to life in London, as he makes quite clear in his novel, Far from the Maddening Crowd (1874). After having studied to be an architect, he undertook his first journey to the metropolis in 1862, when he was just twenty-one years old, winning numerous prizes awarded by the association of architects. On one hand, the whole matter was gratifying for him, on the other, belonging to an inferior social class, he felt discriminated. During his journeys to the city from his house in the countryside, Hardy remained faithful to an apartment in Pelham Crescent, in South Kensington, which he would always return to.  

	  H.G. Wells, born in Bromley, Kent, in 1866, is considered the initiator of the science fiction novel. His work is animated by the acute sense of urban evolution which was already underway at his time, and by the change in existing social structures. Wells, who was a passionate socialist and pacifist, attended science college in South Kensington with a scholarship and had followed biology courses. 

	His two most famous books are: The Time Machine and War of the Worlds, from which sprung the homonymous radio drama interpreted by Orson Welles, which plunged thousands of American listeners into a state of panic. In his works, amongst which The Invisible Man, the author implemented a fitting fusion between fantastical atmospheres and scientific thought. 

	  In the novel The Way We Live Now (1875), Anthony Trollope, through careful realism, depicted a comedy of power and vanity on the banks of the Thames. His books feature social climbers who have fallen into bankruptcy and are forced to sell what little remains of their family assets. In yet another novel, also tied to London, The Prime Minister (1876), Trollope offers an analysis of politics and its interests. He states that the latter are the prime driving force behind games of power. Trollope worked at the Royal Mail for his entire life, and was responsible for introducing pillar boxes, pillar-shaped post boxes which are still today functional throughout the United Kingdom with their bright red coat of paint. 

	  Jerome Klapka Jerome (the strange name is a variation of his true one, Jerome Clapp) is famous for his book Three Men in a Boat. His intention was for the work to be a tourist guide, however, the further he got into writing it, the more the comical element came to have the upper hand. He wrote it after having spent his river honeymoon with Georgina Elizabeth Henrietta Stanley Marris, whom he married on June 21st, 1888. The exhilarating misadventures of the brief cruise on the Thames, going from Kingston-upon-Thames to Oxford, which is described in the book, range from the mishaps encountered whilst attempting to set up a tent to the difficulties of outdoor cooking, not to mention the unreliability of barometers or the boat's stubborn resistance against being manoeuvred. Entertaining anecdotes are punctuated by a more serious tone, where the author delivers information on Hampton Court, Monkey Island and the Magna Carta (or Great Charter of Liberties)... The book can also be read from a social viewpoint, as the holiday described was one of the first examples of escapism during free time. In the Nineteenth Century it was not a common affair for three employees to take a weekend holiday trip and go to have a feast on the river. It was only later on in history that mass holidays started to become a part of the English lifestyle.    

	 After 1884, the year of his marriage, Oscar Wilde lived for eleven years at the address of 16 (now 33), Tite Street, near the Chelsea Royal Hospital. After a while, when he started to have his well-known problems with justice, he went back to living with his mother in    Oakley Street. On April 5th, 1895 he was arrested at the Cadogan Hotel, at 75, Sloane Street, in Knightsbridge. The arrest came to happen due to the marquis of Queensberry having reported him to the authorities. The latter was the father of Alfred Douglas, who was Wilde's lover. As Wilde was suffering the consequences of the trial and the sentence to two years' forced labour, his comedies became a great success at the theatre of St James. After being jailed in the prisons of Pentonville and Wandsworth, in London, he was transferred to Reading, where he wrote the beautiful ballad, overflowing with forlornness, which contains the name of the prison in its title.

	  The Scotsman Arthur Conan Doyle moved to London in 1891, at 12, Tennison Road. At the time, the red-brick house, which is now near the underground station of Norwood Junction, was to be found in the open countryside. As well as visiting Sherlock Holmes' fictional home in 221 b, Baker Street, which is quite a popular tourist attraction, it is also interesting to go to the studio-home of Dr Conan Doyle, an ophthalmologist. The practice suffered from a shortage of patients, however he fortunately did not suffer any shortage of ideas for his future stories about the detective.   

	  D.H. Lawrence, born in 1885 in Nottinghamshire, hated London with a passion. He hated modernity and the rapid industrialization of the capital, of which he could not stress enough the dehumanizing effects. After having travelled around France and Italy with his wife-to-be, Frieda Von Richthofen, Lawrence returned to London just before the beginning of the Great War (or World War I). However he was forced to set off again immediately because of the fact that both him and his wife, who was the cousin of Manfred von Richtofen, the so-called "Red Baron", were suspected of being spies for the German forces. The Lawrences never returned to England and travelled first throughout Italy, then around the United States, Ceylon, Australia, and Mexico, where the writer spent his final days.

	The Twentieth Century – Aldous Huxley described the dehumanizing aspects of scientific progress, and his most famous book, Brave New World (1932), belongs precisely to the genre of dystopian literature. The latter covers the subject of a society which is undesirable in each and every aspect, where pharmacological methods have been established, inducing people to love their conditions of slavery. In such a way, dictatorships are created without a single tear being shed, painless concentration camps for entire societies, where people are deprived of their freedom, whilst at the same time remaining artificially happy. Huxley also described the "physical" and social transformation of London. In Belgravia, where the aristocrats once lived and where there were once stables and squalid living quarters of the household staff located in the alleyways behind the buildings, during the writer's time, the Daimlers of the rich bourgeois had taken the place of horses and part of the stables had been expensively renovated to become the home of people who were well-off. 

	 The writer Eric Arthur Blair, better known by his pseudonym George Orwell, the famous author of 1984 and Animal Farm, was born in the faraway province of Bihar, in India, and had moved to England in order to undertake hi studies. Having finished his schooling, he left for Burma (currently Myanmar) to serve the Empire as a police officer, however a severe illness forced him to return to his homeland. In 1927, he moved to an apartment in Portobello Road. He had always been interested in the living conditions of the poor, and would leave home each morning  to explore East End, as he was later do also in Paris, where he worked as a scullery boy. This dual experience merged together and took form in his book Down and Out in Paris and London, which came out in 1933. In it, Orwell carried out an analysis of the human and social condition of the lower classes. In order to establish an even greater contact with the latter, on Christmas Eve, 1931, he managed to get himself arrested for being "drunk and incapable". His account speaks of a cell with a stench and cold enough to make any man faint. Orwell's conclusions on the city of London are pessimistic. The capital represents a world that is hostile to the individual; it is described as a desert capable of swallowing people up and alienating them. Thus the desire to flee and the joy of evasion from the daily routine would grow strong. A way to escape from this sense of imprisonment, he writes in  Keep the Aspidistra Flying, is to take a walk outside the city. In fact, the two protagonists of the book stop off at Slough and head for Farnham Common. They walk along a road full of deep ruts, and find themselves among moist tufts of grass in the fields, near the birch woods, as all around them not a branch or a blade of grass move in the slightest. "The trees stood like ghosts in the still, misty air. The dew, the stillness, the satiny stems of the birches, the softness of the turf under your feet! Nevertheless, at first they felt shrunken and out of place, as Londoners do when they get outside London. Gordon felt as though he had been living underground for a long time past. Also, they were out of breath before they had walked far, because they were only used to London walking..." Fortunately, there are small pleasures that the metropolis offers to those who have little money. Amongst these, is a cup of piping hot tea. "In the Charing Cross Road the teashops called like sirens. Once the glass door of a Lyons swung open, letting out a wave of hot cake-scented air. It almost overcame him. After all, why not go in? You could sit there for nearly an hour. A cup of tea twopence, two buns a penny each." 

	  In the Twentieth Century, cultural life in London changed enormously, as the leading trait of the city had become cosmopolitanism, and many different cultural influxes had integrated with national culture. 

	  Henry James, American by birth, went to live in London in 1876, when he was little more than thirty years old. After some time, he traced a portrait of the city in his London Sights. He had chosen around forty places (although based on his initial intention, there were supposed to be more of them) in order to describe them and express his opinion on them. For ancient London, he had chosen Tower Bridge as an example of historical kitsch. He had not been able to find any trace of Shakespeare's period, save ugly factories and laboratories. He had been fascinated by Woolwich, the place where warships had been built since the days of Henry VIII. Yet as well as being the headquarters for the Empire's arsenal, Woolwich also hosted some important porcelain factories. The artefacts were subject to extremely severe tests and were not to break when thrown to the ground from a height of two meters.

	  Jack London had never lived in London, but arrived there in the summer of 1902 in order to gather material for a work he had in mind. Disguised as a poor person, he took a taxi to Whitechapel, the area famous for Jack the Ripper, so that he could experience the lifestyle of poor labourers and beggars. His experience flowed into the heartfelt, dramatic novel, The People of the Abyss, published in 1903. 

	  In the novel The Secret Agent (1907), Joseph Conrad, from Poland, who for many years was a captain aboard British merchant ships and who filled his books with his seafaring experience, fantasizes about the Greenwich Observatory being the target of a terrorist bomb attack.  

	  Among the writers who described London but were not themselves English, is Ettore Schmitz, better known under the pseudonym of Italo Svevo. He went to London several times at the beginning of the Twentieth Century for business. For a man such as himself, who regarded everything with a sense of awe, albeit not without some degree of repulsion, the capital had a strange charm. The first time, he stayed in a hotel in Russell Square for three months. He witnessed the street policemen, whom he saw as both respected and respectful, and the general feeling of order in the streets crowded by horse-drawn omnibuses. Svevo would travel to Devonport and Chatham on a square-shaped coach built in wood and iron, which sported vivid colours. At first, the lively air of freedom that could be felt in London had intoxicated him, however, after a while, the writer started to feel oppressed by the rigid social conventions. He could hardly wait to get back to Trieste, and complained continuously about the language barrier. According to him, communicating with the English was feasible when he had the person in front of him, but it was a nightmare to be understood over the phone. The appliance refused to convey the words pronounced by him, with the result of causing the most complete pandemonium. The person on the other end of the phone would not understand him, and would ceaselessly yell: “Who are you? Whom do you want?” Thus he would resignedly spell out the name of the person he was seeking to contact. Svevo later returned to London twelve years later. In the place of horse-drawn coaches and carts, he found automobiles and much faster traffic. Yet, when compared to Trieste, he admitted that crossing the street in front of the Bank of England was still safer than traversing that of Corso Italia, a main street of his native town. In spite of the strong stench of petrol and the fumes that made one's eyes water, the advantages of speedy transport were considerable. It would have been preferable, however, if the legislators had provided for some form of cap or regulation on traffic by order of law, before proceeding to pave the streets with tarmac, even those in the city surroundings, resulting in everyone madly rushing at high speed. Svevo was sure that also his fellow inhabitants of Trieste would have preferred something similar, and that the prospect of high speed would have stirred the desire of the drivers of his hometown. After his first stay in Russell Lane, Svevo always stayed in Church Lane, a sloping street, both clean and tidy, flanked by the brick houses of office workers, and brimming with shops. From here, he would travel by train to work in the shipyards in Plymouth. Some stretches of the city were already covered by the underground train service, were different types of passengers were seen to be transiting, depending on the time of day. At 6 o'clock in the morning, the writer tells us, public transport was full of bar workers and office cleaners. At 7, it was the turn of the office workers, who would set off to reach those offices which had been made spotless by the cleaners... 

	Another Italian, Giuseppe Verdi, arrived in London in June, 1847. He found it to be hectic and noisy, with people yelling, the laments of the poor, and coaches passing though much too fast... London, though, the composer would say, “is a city like no other in the world”.     

	Some authors from the Twentieth Century preferred the London of the past. Amongst the latter was Iris Murdoch, born in Dublin in 1919. For her, the only conceivable London was the historical and central one. In Under the Net (1954), she wrote: “There are some neighbourhoods of London which are an essential part of the city, others which are not, and the existence of which is purely a matter of chance. All that which lies West of Earl's Court is fortuitous, except for some areas of the riverside, and I do so hate that which is fortuitous...” Murdoch was stricken by the solitude of the City in the evening, after all the office workers had left. In the same book, she wrote: “If you have visited the City by night, you will have seen what mysterious solitude dominates its streets, which are so crowded and noisy during the daytime... Not even a cat or a policeman is to be seen.” Other writers were afflicted by the mediocre and insignificant aspects of everyday life. Muriel Spark, for example, in Collected Stories (1967), was dumbfounded by the markets and the banality of the items on show, which she describes as follows:  “Covered by a lining of artificial silk of a most ordinary blue is an array of teapots, which have gone from the stands to people's apartments and from the apartments back to the stands once again... There are Georgian spoons propped up against butterfly-shaped stays, miniature portraits of women made in ivory, and boxes for snuff tobacco..." For other authors, such as Norman Collins, instead, the city gets its identity from the old neighbourhoods along the south bank of the Thames. In his book London belongs to me (1945), Collins writes: "London is Mile Road, Walworth Road, Lambeth Road and Elephant and Castle. It is strange how much of the true London lies south of the river, precisely as it was in the days of Shakespeare, and earlier still, in the days of Chaucer. It is as if beyond the Thames, in the far south of London, customs and traditions have changed less than they have up in the parliamentary north..."

	Some authors have set their scenes in neighbourhoods such as Hampstead, Notting Hill, Chelsea or Chiswick, which have a literary and artistic reputation. Other writers, especially those of foreign origin, chose instead to give them a setting in the peripheral suburbs of immigrants. Such was the case of Hanif Kureishi, for example. In his tale, The Buddha of Suburbia (1990), the father of an Indian family decides to train for the yoga Olympics, and during this feat of his, ends up upsetting the balance of his life and that of those around him. His struggle against the city emphasizes a London which is fluid, without any precise form, a maze-like city with a network of intertwined streets and alleyways where it is hard to get one's bearings, where it is difficult not to lose oneself. Yet the streets become more and more incomprehensible by the day, until it has become impossible to give the suffocating mass of cement any meaning whatsoever. 

	The comedy writer Arnold Wesker, born in London in 1932, was part of the group of novelists and playwrights which went by the name of Angry Young Men. Their anger was more specifically aimed at the ruling class and the social system, condemned by them as unjust and distorted. The playwright and his comrades opened the "Centre 42" at the Round House of Chalk Farm, where they would gather fresh talents and young artists of different leanings. In the comedy Chicken Soup with Barley, Wesker describes the story of a married couple, the Kahns, both Jewish and communists, residents in London, as well as that of their children. Through their everyday life events, the author traces the fall of ideals in a changing world, the disintegration of the family which goes hand in hand with the crumbling of the communism which they believe in. 

	In his entertaining novel, Towards the End of the Morning (1967), Michael Frayn, born in 1933 in the London suburb of Mill Hill, described the building hosting The Daily Telegraph in Fleet Street as a funereal imperialist monstrosity, where an unknown journalist, a columnist, covers the least important and most boring parts of the newspaper. 

	In the novel Children in Time  (1987), Ian McEwan tells us of the disintegrating lives of many individuals, the harshness of society, and the difficult living conditions of the weakest members of society. Beggars are required to carry a license which permits them to plead for money, and in no circumstance are they allowed to do so around Westminster, Whitehall or Parliament Square. 

	The author of thrillers, as well as the creator of James Bond, Ian Fleming, born at 27, Green Street, in the elegant neighbourhood of Mayfair, the son of a Member of Parliament, prior to becoming a writer, had worked as a stock exchange operator, then later as a journalist. His most famous books, with James Bond as the main character, are Casino Royale and Live and Let Die. However, it is in the thriller Moonraker that the city of London stands at the centre of the plot. The Moonraker is the missile that a German Nazi plans to steer into Buckingham Palace.   

	The contemporary writer, Iain Sinclair described Greater London, comprised within the boundaries of the M25 motorway, in his book London Orbital. The extremely busy motorway, always congested, has become a negative term of comparison in current idioms. The writer covered the entire route on foot, dividing it into sections, gathering data, taking notes of observations, and marching through time as well as space.   

	In conclusion, both the writers of today and those of yesterday have observed the city, formed their ideas about it, and poured these notions into their books. Visitors may do the same, and perhaps attempt to reach beyond stereotypes. Thus, instead of boarding buses for tourists, from which one can see monuments but not the real London, one could instead decide to opt for a trip on one of the many double-decker public transport buses outbound to the peripheral areas of the city. From the front seats of the upper deck, as one watches the houses rush closer, rooms with furniture which is often not all that luxurious, ironing boards arranged in sitting rooms, and bicycles placed out of the rain's grasp, one can witness everyday life in London, as opposed to the polished walls of central buildings. Here we can discover the street furniture of suburban neighbourhoods and the ordinary lives of people working to pay a mortgage, people who have come from far off lands in search of a better future and a normal life.  

	A FEW ALTERNATIVE BOOKSHOPS

	As well as the famous Charing Cross Road bookshops, there are a few others which are not quite so well-known, but nevertheless extraordinary. Grant & Cutler is one of these, and is located at 55-57, Great Marlborough Street in Soho, near the underground stations of Tottenham Court Road and Oxford Circus. It was first opened in 1936, and sells books in foreign languages, reaching a total of one hundred and twenty different languages. There are books treating a variety of subjects, such as politics, literature, and history in the most well-known European languages, but also others in Albanian, Turkish, Bulgarian, Slovenian, Japanese, Polish, or Catalan. One can even find books in Chinese, Azerbaijani, Hawaiian, Ladino, Maori, Shona, Faroese, Greenlandic, and so on...

	Of course, it is also possible to come across dictionaries, language learning books, and grammar books. 

	Another exceptional bookshop is Politico's, at number 8, Artillery Row, near the underground station of St James's Park. The bookshop was opened in 1997 by a politician of the conservative party, Iain Dale, who created a homonymous publishing company the following year. As the name suggests, Politico's sells political books, and is aimed at historians, sociologists, political analysts, and in general at anyone interested in the management of public affairs. The shop also hosts a number of vintage flyers, rare manifests, badges, political party flags, and unusual banners which can be of great interest to collectors. 

	Bookmarks, which has been located at 1, Bloomsbury Street for the past thirty years, near the underground station of Tottenham Court Road, is a socialist bookshop. It resides within a building which is completely white with red frames around its doors and its vast windows. There are numerous newspapers and publications inspired by Trotskyan ideals. 

	Another unusual bookshop is French's Theatre, located at 52, Fitzroy Street, near the underground station of Warren Street. It is specialised in comedy plays, music halls, and short comedies for children. The shop has also hosted conferences for writers, artists, poets, painters, and actors, whose books are to be found in the bookshop.

	In a cross street of Charing Cross, at 13, Cecil Court, near the Leicester Square tube station, stands the Motor Books bookshop, which contains thirty-five thousand books and DVDs concerning motoring, aviation, as well as nautical, railway, tram, and bus transport. It is the oldest bookshop in the world to cover such a theme. There are huge illustrated volumes of old steam engines, and other ones concerning military transport during the wars of the past, such as the tomes covering the Panzer tanks which disembarked in Normandy. There are also many manuals on the subject of how to repair different types of engines. 

	The Atlantis Bookshop, which is at 49, Museum Street, near the Tottenham Court Road tube station, is a large bookshop of the occult which opened in 1922. Naturally, it contains all the complete works of all of the most celebrated British magicians, along with texts on anthroposophy, mysteries, fairies, and so on... Here one can initiate oneself to the belief system of Wicca, or to lifestyles based on the reconstruction of pre-Christian traditions, or even on the use of herbal medicine. This is a sanctuary of Western esotericism and initiation rituals.    

	The bookshop known as Gosh!, at number 1, Berwick Street, Soho, near Tottenham Court Road tube station, gets its name from the exclamation often seen in comic strips,  especially when the main character is dealt a moral blow. The shop is addressed to comic book and caricature fans and one can find all the latest issues, as well as rare pearls for collectors. 

	The name of the High Stakes bookshop also leaves no place for doubt, with regards to the nature of the books on offer. The shop is clearly oriented towards gamblers. Hundreds of books are to be found here, all concerning topics such as the science of gambling, tips on how to play blackjack, baccarat, backgammon, or strategies on how to improve one's emotional control and self-confidence.                 

	The most dogged of players, who also wish to become winners, may find all there is to learn about casinos, horse racing, greyhounds, roulette, risk management, and how to reap the greatest profit from the game. 

	Mysteries, at 9-11, Monmouth Street, Covent Garden underground station, is a centre for the mind and the body. As well as books, crystals, tarot cards, pendulums, this extremely well-lit shop smells of incense, and offers the assistance of clairvoyants and psychics to help people to heal from their ailments. There are courses of meditation and personal transformation. 

	The Swedenborg House is the headquarters for a publishing firm, but exhibitions, conferences, and films are also held here, and are all connected to the homonymous "jack of all trades": a philosopher, scientist, inventor, astronomer, mathematician, spiritual guide, visionary, and who knows what else!  Swedenborg continues to have many followers, not only in England, but also all over Europe and in the United States, all of which pay tribute to him with steadfast worship. The conference hall, bright and rich with plaster decorations and adornments, is quite splendid. Also the library, which is completely white, is quite enchanting. 

	In the esoteric bookshop called Watkins in Cecil Court, there are new, second-hand, and downright ancient books, all on the subjects of magic, the occult, and hermetic arts, such as alchemy and theosophy. The catalogue is unendingly huge. 

	THE CITY OF POETS

	The number of poets born or to have lived in London who also dedicated their verses to it is not belittled by the number of writers to have done so. We shall mention just a few. 

	John Donne was born in 1572, into a catholic family. In those years, the practice of such religion was illegal. Donne was nominated Dean of St Paul's Cathedral by the King, after having abandoned the catholic religion, and as a poet and essayist, he focused intensely on English society, criticising many behavioural aspects of it, such as the corruption of the legal system. 

	The poet Edmund Spenser was born in 1552 in East Smithfield and attended the Merchant Taylor School before moving on to Cambridge. During the writing of his poem The Faerie Queen and the Amoretti sonnets, Spenser drew inspiration from Petrarca's  Canzoniere, which he admired greatly. 

	Robert Herrick was born in 1591 in a house in Cheapside, the City street near the Bank of England and St Paul's Cathedral. In his verses, he evoked his childhood: "Golden Cheapside where the earth of Julia Herrick gave to me my birth..."

	John Milton was born in Bread Street on December 9th, 1608, in a house which today bears a blue ceramic plaque with a bright frame. As an adult, he moved to live in Hammersmith, at the time a semi-rural village. 

	Alexander Pope was born in 1688 in Lombard Street, in a house which stood amid the buildings of the banks. He was the son of catholic parents, and at the time Catholics were persecuted and banned from social life. They could not vote, attend university, nor teach or stand for any form of public office, with the penalty of jail if they did in fact do so. After sending him to an illegal catholic school for some years, his parents decided to leave London in order to escape the anti-catholic sentiments. They moved to a small town in Berkshire, and Pope took care of his own education by reading the classics, such as Horace, Juvenal, Homer, Virgil, as well as Chaucer, Shakespeare and Dryden. Pope even became a translator of Homer, and with the money made from this occupation, he bought a villa in Twickenham, on the Thames. He had a grotto built in his garden, and in order to obtain a strong refraction of the light entering, he decorated with pieces of alabaster, marble, mirrors, stalactites, Iceland spars, crystals, ammonites, and Cornish diamonds given to him by a friend.

	William Blake was born in 1757 at 28, Broad Street, which is now called Broadwick Street, near Golden Square. Today the house bears his name. His poetry and his paintings have such a complex and original symbolism that they induced contemporary readers to consider him completely mad. 

	William Wordsworth born in Cumberland in 1770; he immortalized the wildlife and nature of the Lake District with his poetry, but also described early nineteenth-century London. The poem written above Westminster Bridge in 1802 begins with the famous verse: "Earth has not anything to show more fair...". Wordsworth described the city as a pastoral place, although in certain moments noise and confusion prevail and the idyllic atmosphere vanishes. Wordsworth was in any case the poet who created a connection between nature and urban civilization, and in 2002 the two-hundredth anniversary of the release of his poem was celebrated. The journalist from the Evening Standard who took care of the re-publishing also accompanied it with a detailed comment, where he compared the elements pertaining to reality against Wordsworth's mix of romantic elements. 

	The essayist and poet Charles Lamb, who would write under the pseudonym of Elia, was born in Inner Temple in 1775 and lived at 122, Great Portland Street. In his most famous work, Tales from Shakespeare, Lamb maintains, amongst other things, that the Bard should be read rather than acted out, as only in such a way can one fully appreciate his genius. In a brief essay, written in the form of a short open letter to Leigh Hunt, going by the title The Londoner, he mocks his fellow citizens' attraction for the countryside and nature, passing it off as a temporary fad. 

	His friend, Samuel Coleridge, a poet and philosopher, founder of the romantic movement, lived at 71, Berner Street. It was in this house that, amongst other works, he wrote The Rime of the Ancient Mariner, the lyrics of which were later to be a source for many different metaphors used in the English language. The most quoted is that of the albatross around one's neck, meaning that an act committed keeps causing one problems or hinders one's success. The phrase refers to the legend about the mariner who had killed an albatross which had been following the ship, and who was then forced to wear the albatross around his neck by his companions, who considered the killing to be an ill-fated act and an omen of doom.

	The poet Algernon Swinburne, born on April 5th, 1837, at 7, Chester Street, was, amongst other works, the author of a series of rondeau poems, and lived for a few years (before deciding that his flatmate's lifestyle was too extravagant for him) with Dante Gabriel Rossetti, at 16, Cheyne Walk. Rossetti kept various exotic animals in the garden, such as a zebu with fearsome horns and its fatty hump, which he kept tied to a tree. 

	George Eliot, a pseudonym belonging to Mary Anne Evans, was born in 1819 in Arbury and later went to live in London in 1849, after her father's death. Because of her relationship with George Lewes, who was married, Evans was considered an adulterous sinner. In 1861, at a dinner held in her honour at the Greenwich Observatory, she found herself being the only woman present. The event was held to celebrate the publishing of her novel Silas Marner, however Victorian morality did not allow for ladies of good family to speak to her, or even sit at the same table. In London, Evans lived at 4, Cheyne Walk, in a house that is the most beautiful and also the largest of the whole row.  At 24, Cheyne Row, a parallel street to the north of Cheyne Walk, lived Thomas Carlyle from 1834 to 1881. In 1895, Carlyle's house was transformed into a museum conserving the taste of a Victorian household and the atmosphere of the period during which the writer and his wife lived there. 

	George Byron is one of the great Romantic poets. He was born in 1788 in Holles Street, near the aristocratic Cavendish Square. The first edition of his travel journal written in verses, Childe Harold's Pilgrimage, was sold out within three days. Another very famous poem of his is Don Juan. 

	John Keats was born in 1795 in an inn, as he himself never failed to mention, where his father worked as a groom in the stables. The inn went by the name of the Swan and Hoop; nowadays it is a pub known as Keats at the Globe, in Moorgate. Keats had been baptised in the church of St Botolph. As a student he had lived in Well Walk with his brother, who had died at a young age of tuberculosis. He then moved to Wentworth Place in Hampstead, where he met Fanny Brawne. Beneath the plum tree in the garden, he wrote Ode to a Nightingale, which starts with the famous words: 

	"My heart aches, and a drowsy numbness pains

	My sense, as though of hemlock I had drunk,

	Or emptied some dull opiate to the drains..."

	The poet was also hit by tuberculosis and left for Rome in order to seek health care, however he died at the age of twenty-six. In 1925, Keats' home and that of the Brawne family were joined and transformed into a museum. 

	
 Percy Bysshe Shelley was the third of the Romantic poets. He was born in 1792 at Field Place, Sussex, and was a proud detractor of London. "Hell is a city much like London, a populous and smoky city" he wrote in Peter Bell III. Amongst the flaws of the capital, he even included the fact of the streets having cobblestones which were not apt for the erection of barricades. Another of his poems, Men of England, is an exhortation containing Marxist content. After posing a rhetoric question to labourers: "Why do you waste such effort only to grant your masters greater profits?", the poet accuses them of being too cowardly for rebellion. Shelley was a vegetarian, and in one of his essays in defence of a meatless diet, he condemns the injustice and barbarity carried out by man against the poor victims, forced to lead a short unhappy life of slavery. 

	 One of the greatest English poets, T.S. Eliot, arrived in London from the United States in September 1914, and had started working in a town which he defined The Waste Land: unreal, foreign, yet hospitable, tolerant, and which did not demand to be understood as in the case of Paris. 

	On the contrary, Dylan Thomas, whilst having many friends in the capital, with whom he would entertain unending conversations, described London as a threatening place, albeit with a surreal, obscure, and visionary style to it. He had also met his wife-to-be there, Caitlin Macnamara, in the Weathsheaf pub in the Fitzrovia area. 

	The poet Robert Browning was born on May 7th, 1812 in the suburbs of Camberwell. His grandfather had made money through slave trade, whereas his father had been an abolitionist. Along with his wife, the poet Elizabeth Barrett, Browning came to live in Italy, at first in Pisa, and then later in Florence, where she died, and lastly in Asolo. He died in Venice, in the Ca' Rezzonico, which belonged to his son. 

	Let us conclude with a foreign poet, the French Paul Verlaine, who arrived in London in 1872, in the company of Arthur Rimbaud. A charcoal drawing by his friend F.A. Cazals portrays him immobile and melancholy in a street in London, with a policeman in the background. In the Sonnet Boiteux (meaning "lame sonnet"), written in 1873, he described the city as Babylon, a "city of the Bible", perpetually immersed in dirty yellow mist, where the houses seem as stiff as elderly ladies, and where the past manifests itself amid laments and whimpers which seem to come out of every corner. Throughout the long poem, the author tells us that each neighbourhood has its own peculiar character to it. Soho, for example, is an invitation to dance. The waters of Paddington, instead, paler than a dead woman, no longer bear reflections, and there is no hope that the Sun may shine above the darkened houses, barely lit by the gas lamps. Sunny weather does not suit London. The city has taken from him what was his favourite pastime, that of roaming aimlessly around the streets.

	THE CITY OF PAINTERS

	It was in the XVI Century that painting started becoming somewhat independent in England. The rich clientele of the capital attracted many talents, and brought the best artists from the continent, amongst which portraitists. One of the first was the German Hans Holbein, called over to London by Thomas More to carry out his portrait. Holbein moved to Chelsea, which at the time was a separate village compared to London. He carried out portraits for ambassadors, rich merchants, and the middle-class. A particularly beautiful one is that of Edward VI as a child. In the meantime, Flemish artists had arrived, such as Antoon Van Dyck, who set themselves up in the Blackfriars neighbourhood. Van Dyck later became the top painter of the English court, and painted Charles I of House Stuart and his family members. The triple portrait of Charles I has become particularly famous.

	Thomas Gainsborough moved to London in 1774 and lived in Hatton Garden, in the North West of the City. At a later time, he went to live in Schomberg House, in Pall Mall, before deciding to move permanently to Bath. He painted the Queen and King, but the latter was forced to nominate his rival Joshua Reynolds as court painter. Gainsborough was also a great painter of landscapes and is considered the forefather of eighteenth-century landscape portraits. 

	Reynolds settled in London in 1740, in a workshop near Leicester Square. He actively attended the group which gravitated around the academic Samuel Johnson, whom he had made a portrait of, which is now exhibited at the Royal Academy of Arts, destined to encourage young talents. He carried out many portraits, which were much sought after, in spite of his preference for historical paintings. In fulfilling some of the portraits, he retrieved the iconographic methods of the past, both those of the Renaissance and those of mythology. Belonging to the same period, are the works of William Hogarth, who lived for many years in Leicester Square with his wife and who towards the end of his life moved to Chiswick, in a country house which is a small museum today. He made a number of enemies because of the social satire contained in his works. He was formerly an engraver who later became a painter and his works were somewhat the painted transposition of works carried out for Gay, for whom he had performed the illustrations of The Beggar's Opera. His paintings portray the history of the city through images and these still today shape our perception of London in the Eighteenth Century. It is thanks to these images that we know the city, its streets, the social happenings, the crowded festivals, the improvised theatre shows, or the hectic daily life. 

	The Eighteenth Century was dominated by the landscape artists, and the views of London and the Thames found themselves competing with seascapes and mountains. This was the period during which Canaletto arrived in London and started painting the capital with his usual detailed precision with landscape hues which were to make him famous. It was Canaletto who gave new drive to other artists and induced them to imitate his work. One of his first followers was Samuel Scott, the author of a view of London Bridge from 1745, a portrait of Westminster Hall, which is found at the British Museum, and of the river Fleet, preserved at the Guildhall Art Gallery. 

	The London scenery inspired many great English painters, although never becoming the exclusive subject for any of them, as far back as the beginning of the previous century. Thus to John Constable, who was born in 1776 in a village in Suffolk and lived in London after his wedding at St Martin-in-the-Fields in 1816, we owe the depiction of Hampstead Heath and the opening of Waterloo bridge, as well as many other landscapes, portrayed in the Romantic fashion, held at the Victoria & Albert Museum. The watercolourist Thomas Girtin, born in Southwark in 1775, has left us with The White House at Chelsea, a beautiful view of the Thames with windmills on its banks, whereas Thomas Rowlandson, born in 1756 in Old Jewry in the City, has given us a depiction full of realism representing Smithfield Market, painted around 1816 and kept in the British Museum. He also carried out the portrait of Elephant and Castle and the Vauxhall Gardens, preserved within the Victoria & Albert Museum. Rowlandson was also a caricaturist and illustrator of books.

	  William Turner, who was taken under Reynolds' wing, was a precocious painter. At the early age of fifteen he had already carried out a watercolour of Lambeth Palace and a few years later, in 1805, he painted Windsor Castle, which is now considered one of his most important works. 

	Turner's favourite observation grounds were the banks of the Thames and the painter would spend hours at Chelsea, Hammersmith, and Twickenham taking in the landscapes and painting them. 

	London had already been portrayed, albeit with some degree of approximation, in medieval manuscripts. The view that can be found in the manuscript of Matthew Paris, for instance, carried out in 1250 and kept in a specific department of the British Museum, is one of the most famous examples. The depicted places are represented in a rather fantastically-enhanced fashion, however one can recognize St Paul's Cathedral, London Bridge and the Tower, although the latter has been painted on the wrong side of the river. In 1497 some of the first printed layouts of the city were released, where it appears in quite a conventional manner, surrounded by its walls. Inside the British Museum, a miniature of the end of the Fifteenth Century has been preserved, within which some poems by Charles of Orléans have been illustrated through depictions of the Tower and the banks of the Thames. 

	The pre-Raphaelites were not at all interested in landscapes and it was not until the arrival of Whistler that the Thames and London were once again given a place of honour in paintings. Whistler lived at 96, Cheyne Walk, in Chelsea, not far from Carlyle, Swinburne and Meredith. Sitting on those banks, from 1867 onwards, he painted some of his most renowned paintings, inspired by the river and its bridges, amongst which Battersea Bridge. One of his pupils was Walter Greaves, a young man who built pleasure-watercrafts near Chelsea, and whose painting of the Hammersmith Bridge regatta is now kept at the Tate Gallery. An unequalled painter as far as the realism of the scenes and thorough detail is concerned, was W.P. Frith. The painting depicting Paddington Station in 1862, preserved in the collection of the Royal Holloway College in Surrey, is a precious testimony of the Victorian Age. 

	At the end of the Nineteenth Century, Claude Monet and other French painters, who depicted a number of views during their stays in London, greatly influenced English artists. Yet another foreigner of impact was Lucien Pissarro, who was part of the Camden Town group which was formed in 1911 by Walter Sickert. The neo-impressionist painter was the author of the painting Crockers Lane Coldharbour, carried out in 1916, which shows the outskirts of the city. In 1911, S.F. Gore, a pupil of Cézanne, painted the row of houses at Mornington Crescent, near St Pancras. Starting in the Thirties, there began to be a proliferation of genres, schools, and works. In 1937, for instance, the Euston Road School was born, which included the figure of Graham Bell, the author of The Café, held at the Manchester City Gallery. Another painter who was very much tied to the London scenery was Carel Weight, who carried out a painting of the Albert Bridge. A special mention goes to the sculptor and painter Henry Moore, who poured his powerful originality into his paintings. Especially significant are those belonging to the series dedicated to underground shelters, which depict the inhabitants of London taking shelter in these reinforced areas during air raids. 

	Amongst the foreign painters who used London as their subject is Oskar Kokoschka, author of a painting of Tower Bridge in 1925, as well as Richmond Terrace in 1926, Waterloo Bridge and a number of views of the Thames. On the subject of landscape views, in 1939, upon the suggestion of the Count of Cork, the Royal Society of Marine Artists was founded, gathering artists specialized in seascape portraits. All the paintings, carried out as watercolours, oil paintings, pastels, or via acrylic technique, and all of the printed material was to follow one rule: to have the common theme of the sea. These ranged from en plein air works to topographic ones, others still were of historical nature or paintings in the style of still life. One of the exhibitions was the Sea Power, under the patronage of King George VI, in close connection with the Maritime Museum and the Royal Navy. In actual fact, marine artists had already existed in the Eighteenth Century, and one of the most well-known is William Anderson, who painted the sailings ships arriving in Deptford. 

	THE CITY OF ARCHITECTS AND ENGINEERS

	As mentioned in the introduction, London is a conglomerate of suburbs, each of which has its own distinct urban centre which is both characteristic and independent, a sort of Los Angeles of the Victorian age. Due to the fact that the Great Fire burnt down the city in 1666, there are almost no buildings belonging to previous epochs. Also, as there has never been a precise direction as far as town planning is concerned: buildings started popping up in a rather random fashion. They were built wherever there was room for them, and inhabitants have gradually decided on modifications and innovations according to their needs of the moment. An example of this phenomenon is number 12, South Norwood Hill, where the knifesmith W.F. Stanley, inventor of the homonymous utensil, designed and built the bizarre Stanley Hall. Along the straight streets of the residential areas are long lines of uniform houses with dark bricks and grey rooftops, with two rooms on the upper floor and two below, as well as a garden at the back of each one. There is no single dominating architectural style in London, although there are streets such as Upper Norwood, Church Road, Auckland Road, or Belvedere Road, which represent anthologies of Victorian architecture applied to private residencies. As far as skyscrapers are concerned, until after the war they existed only in Croydon. 

	One of the architectural styles which is most common throughout the city is the Norman style, contemporary to the Romanesque style in continental Europe, and characterized by mighty-looking pillars and long naves. Then we find the late Gothic style, which roughly dates from 1340 to 1530. Also common is the Tudor style, which peaked in the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries, and featured buildings in wood and bricks, where one can make out the Italian, Dutch, and German influence. The Italian style is also to be noted in Palladianism, the style of the Renaissance villas designed by the famous architect. The Georgian style, instead, sober and minimal, retrieves the classical elements of ancient Greek and Roman buildings, whereas the Victorian style is often marked by the presence of red bricks on the external walls. All the big buildings built in the Nineteenth Century were built in the Victorian style, which somewhat mimics the neo-Gothic style. Charles Barry, in charge of the rebuilding of the Houses of Parliament, was the precursor of such a trend in the years 1830-40. Also some of the variety shops and train stations, such as that of St Pancras, designed in 1873 by George Gilbert Scott, creator of the Albert Memorial, were built in this style. In those years, a style known as "Perpendicular" was born, and is considered native to England, bearing many pinnacles and turrets. Some ancient buildings, such as Guildhall, dating back to the Fifteenth Century, have been reshaped following the Victorian neo-Gothic style. The popularity of this style lasted for some time and, for example, inspired the construction of the Royal Court of Justice and the Natural History Museum.

	In London there are many famous examples belonging to the current of Modern Architecture, which started appearing during Virginia Woolf's lifetime, and towards which she was rather disapproving. Here is what she wrote about it: "The charm of modern London is that it is not built to last; it is built to pass. Its glassiness, its transparency, its surging waves of coloured plaster give a different pleasure and achieve a different end from that which was desired and attempted by the old builders and their patrons, the nobility of England. Their pride required the illusion of permanence. Ours, on the contrary, seems to delight in proving that we can make stone and brick as transitory as our own desires. We do not build for our descendants, but for ourselves and our own needs. We knock down and rebuild as we expect to be knocked down and rebuilt."

	Many famous architects have worked in London. The most famous of them all, who had an important role in rebuilding London after the Great Fire of 1666, is Christopher Wren. Wren had conceived a plan based on the principles of an Italian city, with large streets, vast squares, and spacious buildings. In this, he found himself in agreement with King Charles II, who desired an urban organization with the magnificence of Venice or Rome. Unfortunately, the noblemen and merchants of the City did not agree, as this would have interfered with their properties and real estate assets. However, as they wished to show off their social status and at the same time their generosity, they appointed Wren with the construction of a number of churches near the headquarters of their commercial companies. The most important of these is St Paul's Cathedral. The other nineteen churches all have different types of naves, roofs, skylights, steeples, towers and inside area designs, and were damaged or destroyed during the Blitz. Some of them (St Bride's, St Mary-le-Bow, St Clement Danes, St Dunstan-in-the-East, St Martin-within-Ludgate, St Benet Paul's Wharf, and St Stephen Walbrook, the most magnificent of them all) have been restored. 

	Another great architect was Nicholas Hawksmoor, who was a follower of  Wren's and worked with him from 1684 to 1700. Hawksmoor was the builder of the church of St Mary Woolnoth at the corner of Lombard Street, St Alfege in Greenwich, St George in Bloomsbury, St George-in-the-East in Wapping, and St Anne in Limehouse.  He worked alongside Wren at the construction of St Paul's Cathedral, the Royal Hospital in Chelsea, as well as that of Greenwich. 

	The third of the great architects of the Seventeenth Century, along with Wren and Hawksmoor, was John Vanbrugh, designer of Castle Howard and Blenheim Palace, as well as a number of country residences, such as Seaton Delaval Hall, which has the sturdy appearance of a medieval fort. Vanbrugh, a modern thinker who fought for women's rights in marriage and for parliamentary democracy in politics, was also a playwright. 

	John Nash, born in 1752 in Lambeth, son of a builder of windmill machinery, was the designer of the elegant buildings which flank Regent Street, as well as the Royal Pavilion of Brighton, Carlton House Terrace, the elegant Cumberland Terrace, the Theatre Royal of Haymarket, and the great Marble Arch, not to mention a segment of Regent's Canal. Nash, who is considered the main mind behind Regency London, also saw to the remodelling of the old building of Buckingham Palace. 

	A number of foreign architects also worked in London, such as Walter Gropius, born in Germany and founder of the Bauhaus, which followed the inspiring principle of "Form follows function". With the pretext of a temporary commitment, he had left nazi Germany and sought refuge in London, where he collaborated with Maxwell Fry and the Isokon Group. The homonymous building, in Lawn Road, Hampstead, is the most famous one. Gropius is also famous for the design of the doorknobs, which are now considered an icon of the Twentieth Century. 

	Ernö Goldfinger, born in Budapest in 1902, became a focal member of the British Modern Movement. He is famous for the towers of apartments, such as the Trellick, and for his home in Willow Road, which reaped the hostility of the neighbours to the point that he was forced to change the facade. His name inspired that of James Bond's enemy in the book by Ian Fleming, who was one of his neighbours and detested him. 

	Many architects, like for example George Dance the Elder, were also civil engineers. He himself was also a public infrastructure inspector, and his most important work was Mansion House, built in the Neo-Palladian style. Furthermore, he drafted a number of churches, such as St Botolph-without-Bishopsgate, St Leonard in Shoreditch, St Matthew's, and St Luke's in Old Street, of which he was the parishioner. Of his five sons, three followed in his footsteps. The most famous was George Dance the Younger, born in 1741, who took care of expanding and restoring buildings, amongst which Guildhall, the Billingsgate fish market, and the Royal College of Surgeons at Lincoln's Inn Fields. He also rebuilt the Newgate prison and the church of St Bartholomew-the-Less. 

	Robert Mylne, born in Edinburgh in 1734, was also an architect, as well as an engineer. He built the first Blackfriars bridge and the Hunterian school of medicine, which today is part of the Lyric Theatre. Mylne was in charge of the maintenance of St Paul's Cathedral, as well as that of various buildings and obelisks of the capital. He was also appointed surveyor to the New River Company, which supplied drinking water to the city via a canal. History has left us with a print taken from an engraving by Vincenzio Vangelisti, which depicts him in profile.

	Entire dynasties of architects have worked in London. George Gilbert Scott, born in 1811, was the forefather of one of these. It was he who brought neo-Gothic architecture to the fore, a medieval style adapted in such a way as to answer to the needs of the lifestyle of that period. Scott was the creator of school buildings and juvenile reformatories, yet his most representative works are still the Albert Memorial and the Midland Grand Hotel of the St Pancras rail station. His son, George Gilbert Scott Jr., born in 1839, built the buildings for various colleges in Dulwich and Cambridge. He designed the church of St John the Baptist, which in 1976 became the catholic cathedral of Norwich. He died of cirrhosis of the liver in a room of the Midland Hotel, designed by his father. Giles Gilbert Scott, born in 1880, was the designer of the famous red telephone boxes, as well as Waterloo Bridge and the power stations of Battersea and Bankside. He also designed the Liverpool cathedral and worked on many civilian infrastructures for residential use in Maida Vale. Other works of his are the catholic church of Our Lady and St Alphege in Bath, Somerset, and in order to build it, he drew inspiration from S. Maria in Cosmedin in Rome. 

	Another important dynasty of architects is the Barry dynasty. The forefather, Charles Barry, was the creator along with Pugin, in 1836, of the rebuilding of Westminster Palace, which had been destroyed by a fire. Barry was also the designer of the buildings of the Travellers Club and the Reform Club. He saw to redesigning the Horse Guards Parade and the Whitehall Treasury Building. He also carried out many works outside London, designing luxurious country homes. Four of his five sons followed in his footsteps. The oldest of them, Charles Barry Jr., carried forth his work in Dulwich College, rebuilt Burlington House in Piccadilly, and the Great Eastern Hotel in Liverpool Street. Another of his sons, Edward Middleton Barry, completed the Palace of Westminster and redesigned the Opera House of Covent Garden. He also designed the hotels of the stations of Charing Cross and Cannon Street, built the Sick Children Hospital in Great Ormond Street, and rebuilt Eleanor Cross. John Wolfe-Barry, born in 1865, made some gothic additions to Tower Bridge, constructed Earl's Court Station, collaborated towards the building of the Great Eastern Hotel in Liverpool Street Station, and designed the extension of the Metropolitan District Line, as well as that of many other underground stations. 

	The architect Horace Jones, born in 1819, was specialized in marketplace constructions. He designed the covered structures of the courts in Leadenhall, Smithfield, and Billingsgate. He worked alongside John Wolfe-Barry at Tower Bridge. 

	London has also seen its share of civil engineers. The best-known is certainly Joseph Bazalgette, born in 1819 at Hill Lodge in Enfield, in the north of London. Bazalgette rebuilt the three old bridges in Hammersmith, Putney, and Battersea, repaired others, and commenced the project of the free ferry in Woolwich. He was a crucial figure in the construction of modern London, designing the Thames embankments, new streets, and parks. 

	However, he is especially famous for designing the complex sewage system of the capital and the pumping stations - an especially remarkable specimen is that of Abbey Mills - which improved hygienic conditions of the city, saving it from recurring cholera outbreaks.

	Alexander Binnie, born in 1839, was the head engineer of London City Council. In 1897 he built the first Blackwall Tunnel and in 1902 the Greenwich Foot Tunnel, in order to allow workers living south of the Thames to be able to reach their workplace at the Isle of Dogs. In 1906 Binnie also built the Vauxhall Bridge and expended the sewage system. His son, William, also a civil engineer, spent much time working in Africa and Asia building dams , power stations, and drainage basins. Furthermore, he collaborated in the construction of a number of railway lines in London. 

	Marc Isambard Brunel, born in 1769, was a French engineer who was forced to leave his country and emigrated to the States. When he came back to Europe, he decided to settle in London, where he started to mass-produce pre-fabricated components for ships, hastening their production. He also designed sawmill machinery and press devices. His most famous work is the tunnel which runs under the Thames, between Rotherhithe and Wapping, still used today as a passage for the underground train route.

	His son, Isambard Kingdom Brunel, born in 1806, after having assisted his father in constructing the tunnel, built a pedestrian bridge in 1845 in Hungerford and designed the bridge suspended over the Avon river near Bristol, which was the longest in the world in its day. He later created a series of tunnels, bridges, and viaducts for the railway system and the underground network. Yet his most famous work was the construction of the ship known as the Great Eastern.

	The Cubitt family included many famous civil engineers among its ranks. The brothers Thomas and William, at the beginning of the Nineteenth Century, founded a factory which in turn generated entire neighbourhoods in Belgravia, in Pimlico, and partly in Bloomsbury. After a few years, William went solo in order to have a greater degree of autonomy. He created Cubitt Town on the Isle of Dogs and worked at the South Eastern Railway. Together with his son Joseph, born in 1811, he built part of the railway tracks of the Great Northern and South Eastern and Western lines, which connected London with the whole area of southern England. What is more, he designed Weymouth Pier and Blackfriars bridge. William Cubitt also patented a particular type of sail for windmills. In 1817, he invented a mill which was driven by manpower or by animals. The latter would walk along a large wheel with inbuilt steps, for use in prisons. Furthermore, he carried out improvements to canals and built the Shakespeare Cliff Tunnel, measuring one thousand sixty-eight metres. In order to fulfil it, over eight thousand kilos of gun powder were used, so that part of the cliff could be blown out, enabling the mouth of the Round Down to be enlarged. The Crystal Palace for the Great Exhibition of 1851 was also his work. 

	Lewis Cubitt, born in 1799, was the younger brother of Thomas and William. He was a builder of bridges in Asia and South America. In London, he designed King's Cross Station, the adjacent Great Northern Hotel, and the great dark building of the Granary, directly behind the station, which still bears the signs of the war.  

	John Rennie was an engineer born in 1761 in a Scottish village, and was in charge of a number of canals and  warehouses, however he is known mostly as a builder of bridges. He combined stone and cast iron and created absolutely revolutionary designs for bridges, such as those of Waterloo and Southwark. His last project was that of London Bridge, completed by his son John. He once refused a knighting during his lifetime, and was buried in St Paul's.

	His son George, born in London in 1791, a railway engineer, supervised the construction of many railway lines, but was also the builder of the Serpentine bridge. He elaborated many machines, including a part of the cutter used for building the tunnel beneath the Thames, the work of Marc Brunel. 

	The most famous work carried out by his other son, John Rennie Jr., born in 1794, was the construction of London Bridge, which the latter's father had begun. John Rennie also planned a good number of railway lines. 

	Frederick Trench, born in Ireland in 1775, began his military career as a soldier and went on to become a general. He was a very talented amateur architect. He maintained that the forces of nature should be contained lest they become a source of destruction and illness. In order to avoid this, he planned the Embankment project for the banks of the Thames which was later carried out by Bazalgette. The great statue of Wellington at Hyde Park Corner is his. 

	 Thomas Page, born in London in 1803, a civil engineer, worked on the tunnel beneath the Thames as an assistant for Isambard Kingdom Brunel, he designed the embankment of the Thames from Westminster to Blackfriars, which however met some obstacles along the way. He built the first bridge in Chelsea, which opened in 1858, and the Westminster bridge, completed in 1862. In 1870, during a conference, he brought up the idea for a tunnel between England and France, one hundred and twenty years before its effective construction. 

	John Hawkshaw, born in Leeds in 1811, also a civil engineer, was the mind behind the railway of Charing Cross and Cannon Street and the bridges which lead these streets to the other side of the Thames. He also completed the suspended bridge of Clifton, which had been commenced by Isambard Brunel, and he transformed Marc Brunel's Thames tunnel in order to adapt it for the passage of railway lines. He built canals in different countries, both within Europe and outside it, as well as the Buenos Aires harbour.

	Rowland Mason Ordish, born in 1824, is famous for having designed the dome of the Albert Hall, but is also the maker of the Dublin Albert Bridge, as well as the single-bay roof of St Pancras Station. He patented a system for the construction of suspended bridges, which he used in various European cities. 

	Amongst the architects and designers of today, the most well-known is probably Norman Foster, born in Manchester in 1935. He is a high-standing exponent of the so-called "high-tech" architecture. Those arriving in Stansted airport will immediately witness one of his works, seeing as the terminal was designed by him. He also constructed the roof of the Great Court of the British Museum, the Millennium Bridge, and the so-called Gherkin, headquarters for the Swiss Re company, at 30, St Mary Axe.                 

	THE MUSICAL CITY

	Londoners are animated by a veritable passion for music. It holds an important place in everyday life. Performances are always of great quality and there are many venues or concert halls to be found. The three most important ones are the Royal Festival Hall, Queen Elizabeth Hall, and Purcell Room as far as chamber music is concerned, and these are located in the Southbank Centre. On Sundays, concerts are held, also in the foyers, and are very popular. Another important centre for listening to classical music is Barbican Centre, which is also where the London Symphony Orchestra headquarters are located. From June to September the Promenade Concerts take place in the Royal Albert Hall, and are commonly known by the familiar name of the Proms. These are concerts of classical music which are not terribly expensive, and are organized by various orchestras. Two other orchestras, which have a cosy atmosphere and perfect acoustics, are Conway Hill in Red Lion Square and Wigmore Hall, at 36, Wigmore Street. For organ concerts, there is Central Hall in Storey's Gate. Also regarding organ concerts, many can be witnessed at lunch time in different churches: in that of St John's, for example, in Smith Square, in St Martin-in-the-Fields, in Trafalgar Square, in St Mary-Le-Bow's, in Cheapside, in St Michael-upon-Cornhill, in Cornhill, and in St Mary Woolnoth's in Lombard Street. 

	The opera is one of the performances which reaps great success in London. After World War II, many English companies appeared, and would sing at the London Colyseum. The Royal Opera House, built in 1858 in the Italian style, was originally called the Royal Italian Opera House. The repertoire, much like today, would range from Rossini to Verdi to Puccini. It was with Rigoletto that Enrico Caruso made his debut here on 14th March, 1902. 

	The history of English music cannot even remotely be compared to German or Italian music, in terms of richness or talent. Furthermore, albeit not having ever been isolated from European music, British music developed in a different way compared to how it did on the continent, from its beginnings all the way to our time. The names of the composers are not well known. Amongst those belonging to the medieval period and the beginning of the Renaissance, are John Dunstaple, born in 1390, and Leonel Power, born between 1370 and 1385, the two main composers of the period. The former wrote polyphonic music, with the characterizing trait of full triadic harmonies, although unfortunately a part of his manuscripts was destroyed during the Reformation. The latter of the two was the choirmaster for the singers at Christ Church, Canterbury, and also the author of many religious compositions. It was not until the Baroque period that British music acquired some importance. This period was dominated by Händel, German of birth, but adopted into a London family. 

	Also Henry Purcell, who incorporated Italian and French elements into his music, became very important. He wrote works for special occasions for the royal family, as well as theatre plays and holy music. He was particularly admired for his vocal music. The creation of the London Philharmonic Society, in 1813, which was

	also graced by the contribution of Muzio Clementi, played an important part in the development and spreading of musical life throughout the island. Clementi was born in Rome and at the age of fourteen had been brought back to England by a rich English gentleman, who had provided for his education in exchange for the musical entertainment provided by the boy for his guests. He was known for his studies on the piano. In the Nineteenth Century, also the Royal Academy of Music was created, under the guidance of Philip Cipriani Potter, author of symphonies and the first to carry out concerts by Mozart and Beethoven. The Nineteenth Century then saw the likes of Henry Bishop, author of operas and operettas, who worked frequently for theatre work, and Michael Balfe, an opera composer who lived in Italy for a long period. His most well-known work is La zingara. Also the ballad operas by Gilbert and Sullivan (the former was a librettist and the latter a composer) characterized the history of English music. The two collaborated in fifteen brilliant operas and the best known of these is H.M.S. Pinafore. The connection to modern music was made by Ralph Vaughan Williams, author of a composition named A London Symphony, dated 1914, its shifting tones introducing contrasting themes, ranging from the hustle of the city life to moments of near silence. The beginning and the end evoke the theme of a foggy, humid London, as we know it to be from the paintings of Turner and Whistler, then the melodic phrases start to be alternated with tense sequences and humorous passages. One of the composers and orchestra directors of the Twentieth Century who was most well known abroad was Benjamin Britten and his most famous work was Peter Grimes, in 1945. He composed orchestral music and chamber music. He was seduced by the influence of oriental, Indonesian, and Japanese music. 

	Music is produced everywhere - In London there are many musical clubs with a large variety on offer, and they are very well organized. Music is played in pubs, where bands offer entertainment of great professionalism. Lovers of folk music will be spoilt for choice, with bands and solo players of the country genre who renew the interest towards traditional music and succeed in filling folk clubs with customers. Music is also played in venues which are aimed at different activities, such as the Orangery of Holland Park, where musical performances take place going by the title of the Global Village: these are particularly interesting and often freely accessible. Then of course there are evenings with rock, jazz, reggae, rockabilly, punk music, and the list goes on... Furthermore, in the National Sound archives, at 96, Euston Road, there are over a million records and thousands of tapes from all over the world which contain a great variety of recorded sounds.

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	THE CITY

	Until the Middle Ages, the City used to make up most of London. In the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century there were many more people living there than there are today, as it now essentially serves as the headquarters of many offices and legal practices. Today there are eight thousand residents, however over three hundred thousand people commute there for work each day. In order to invert this tendency in what is considered the true historical centre of the metropolis, attempts are being made to encourage the residential use of the area, and to this end, hotels have been opened, as well as variety shops. Unfortunately, also a number of steel and glass skyscrapers have also been built, which look out of place beside the ancient Georgian and Victorian buildings of the neighbourhood. Virginia Woolf once said that these modern constructions have an air of impermanence about them and look like they could easily crumble from one minute to the next. Whatever the case, they most certainly appear as intruders.    

	The old square mile is packed full of buildings of significant historical, artistic, and architectural importance, all densely concentrated in one small area. Many of the religious buildings date back to Wren and the Eighteenth century. Yet with time, the white stone walls have been dirtied, and the plaster and the statues which stand in the corners have gathered layers of soot. During the Middle Ages the neighbourhood was a theatre for street shows. There would be fire breathers, bears, trained elephants, and the so called "freak shows".   

	As well as the old churches and the ancient Roman ruins, the City is full of other delightful hidden gardens where one can stop for a while. For a stroll in the neighbourhood, one can take the famous Monument as a starting point and head towards Liverpool Street Station. Whilst heading up along Lombard Street, Bishopsgate, and Finsbury Circus, one walks past a great many churches, pubs, passages, gardens, and monuments.

	ONCE FLEET RIVER, NOW FLEET STREET

	Currently Fleet Street is much too narrow for the amount of traffic that it is supposed to provide for.
There was a time, however, when this route was taken up by the homonymous river, which was later covered up. Its bed was big enough to keep a boat afloat, and this seems to be the reason of its original Saxon name.

	The river originated from two sources in Hampstead Heath and would descend along the Vale of Heath, below New Bridge Street. Then it would become a series of ponds, named Hampstead Ponds  and Highgate Ponds, which served as water reservoirs. The segment on the side of Parliament Hill flowed underground, and likewise the section just after Camden Town, where the river would reach its greatest width. It would then flow into the Thames near the Blackfriars bridge and its outlet can still be seen today. The intersection between the Fleet River and the Thames was one of the first places where people started building in London. Throughout the centuries, the Fleet has not only provided water for the inhabitants, but it has also been used as a communicating passage, and as a way to power mills. Unfortunately its bed has also been used for disposing with waste, to the point of transforming it into an open-air sewer. It was the so-called "Great Stink" that convinced administrators to close it off and link it to the sewage system. And so it was that Fleet Street was born, a street connecting the City and Westminster.

	For four centuries, the street, which goes from Temple Bar to Ludgate Circus and connects the City to Westminster, was the headquarters of the press. Amongst them, at street number 128 was the Daily Express and at 135 was the Daily Telegraph.  Even today, the street is associated with the press, even though the newspapers all have their headquarters at the Docklands and only lawyers and courts still reside here.Fleet Street is a historical street, densely packed into a small space, and also its pubs are rich with history - El Vino in Hare Place is perhaps the most renowned - lined with coffee shops, restaurants, and traditional boutiques. And just north of Fleet Street, in Chancery Lane, is the Silver Vaults shop. The ideal moment to come here is towards the end of the week, so that one can peacefully walk along the street without too much traffic.

	In Fleet Place there is also an unusual building from 1993 by Ellis O'Connell, called the Zunì-Ziamr, which represents a series arrows, their stems intertwining.

	 "When a man is tired of London, he is tired of life" Dr. Johnson used to say. And those tired of the surface of London, can visit the underground sewers, which are more beautiful than the Parisian ones, yet less accessible, although the current Mayor wishes to open them permanently to visitors. For now the problem remains that the flushers - the name given to the sewage maintenance workers - are less than fifty in number and do not have much time to dedicate to the public.  All that one can do is make a phone call to the number found on the Internet and hope to be admitted to visit what is an absolutely spectacular piece of history of the city. The stone arches, bare bricks, old Nineteenth-Century staircases, the chambers with high vaulted ceilings, and the infinite corridors, truly show the genius of Bazalgette, the engineer who created this great project, developed over fifty thousand kilometres, which thousands of men worked for sixteen years to build, using somewhere around three hundred and twenty thousand bricks.

	The tunnels are all connected to each other and have remained unchanged since 1850 until today, however the combined system of water drainage and sewers proves to be insufficient when it rains relentlessly, and especially when this coincides with high tides. It is not an easily solved problem, although presently some modifications are being made which will be ready within a few years.

	FLEET PRISON

	The prison was built around the year 1090, during the reign of William Rufus, on a cross street of Farringdon Street. The building stood on the bank of the river Fleet, and, in the Middle Ages, hosted mainly political prisoners. Later on, it was a home to the indebted and people committed by the Star Chamber. The edifice was destroyed twice, during the farmer's revolt in 1381 and during the Great Fire of 1666, yet it was rebuilt each time. In the Eighteenth Century it took in the bankrupt and their families, and prisoners whose cell overlooked the street would beg the passers-by in order to pay for their board and lodging, which had to be paid back. One also had to pay a tax to have one's chains removed, which were sometimes placed arbitrarily just to extort some extra money. Weddings were celebrated in the prison, known as Fleet Marriages, without licence or notice, often by ministers held in jail for their debts. Also the Elizabethan poet John Donne, dean of St Paul, was jailed here together with the priest who had married him, and here he stayed until he was able to prove that his marriage with Anne More was valid. The prison building was demolished in 1846.

	

	C. HOARE & CO.

	37 FLEET STREET

	METRO: BLACKFRIARS. CHANCERY

	The bank C. Hoare & Co. was the oldest in Great Britain. It was founded in 1672 by Richard Hoare and belonged to the family for almost four hundred years.

	The first location was near the Golden Bottle sign in Cheapside, then later it was transferred to Fleet Street a few years later. It is the only private bank to have survived for so many years and it was one of the first institutions (in this, preceding even the Bank of England) to pay its employees their pensions. At the beginning of the Twentieth Century this was unheard of, to the point that most people would simply work all their lives. The oldest were active until the age of eighty, in the hope of not falling ill, for this would mean that they would suddenly be lacking any means of survival.

	Modernity, with its cold and shiny materials, has never set foot in this hall, where everything is made of wood. Behind glass booths, the staff look unhurried, there are errand runners in uniform braided porters with top hats. On the first floor there is a museum.   

	The building has maintained the name of the newspaper which had headquarters here since 1931 and during the years of greatest success in sales, this was also thanks to news about gossip and the scandals of famous characters.  It is a building with black glass and metal, in Art Deco style. In a recess in the facade it bears two vast window panes with Express in red vertical writing, with the letters made of iron. The insides have become a wonderful Art Deco area, belonging to Goldman Sachs. People who work in the art world come here often. Those who are not a part of it need to contact one of the associations which have right of access, like for example the Nineteenth Century Fine Art Society based in 148, New Bond Street. Through them, one can freely witness one of the most beautiful exhibitions of sculptures, ceramics, and modern design. It really is worth the effort!

	

	AMID WAX DOLLS AND ASSASSIN BARBERS.....

	Mrs Salmon can be considered to all extents and purposes as a forerunner of the much more famous Madame Madame Tussauds. In 1787, in two rooms of a building in Fleet Street called Fountain, near the Temple entrance, she had opened a museum of wax dolls. They were reproductions of characters of the court, members of the royal family, bishops, celebrities of that time, but also of farmers, shepherds, and beggars. The visitors were plentiful, and the museum was an attraction until it was supplanted by Madame Tussauds opening in Baker Street.    

	How many famous serial killers can London boast? Everybody knows of Jack the Ripper, but there was apparently another less famous 'ripper', namely Sweeney Todd, a barber with a shop at 186, Fleet Street, near the church of St Dunstan. It is said that he would let his rich clients fall through a trapdoor from the clients' seat in the shop. If they had not already died from a fracture to the neck, he would finish them off with his razors. After, he would rob them of their goods and with the help of an accomplice he would chop them up into smaller pieces and use them as filling for the meat cakes sold by his female accomplice in a shop linked to the cellar via a secret passage. However according to scholars, the barber of this melodramatic Victorian horror story never actually existed and his demonic figure was in fact born from an urban legend.   

	ST DUNSTAN'S CHURCH- IN-THE-WEST

	184 FLEET STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	Before the Great Fire of London, the City sported a hundred churches, more than elsewhere, and many monasteries. Amongst these was the Whitefriars monastery (literally belonging to the white friars, as the Carmelites were called). Its territory included cloisters, churches, and cemeteries, and went from Fleet Street to the Thames. Nowadays all that is left is a crypt dating back to the 14th Century, located between Bouverie Street and Whitefriars Street, at the bottom of Magpie Alley. On the street tiles of this street, the story of the Fleet Street publishing houses is told.

	The old medieval building of St Dunstan's, built in the year 1000, was demolished because it blocked out Fleet Street. Near the Breams Buildings a fragment of the old cemetery remains.

	St Dunstan, whom the church is dedicated to, lived between the year 909 and 988 and was a monk and the archbishop of Canterbury, under various kings. According to legend, he was particularly skilled at negotiating with the Devil.

	Dunstan is the patron saint of clockmakers, blacksmiths, and weaponsmiths, and is celebrated on May 19th. Once a year the Company of cordwainers - the old English name for shoemakers - hold a religious meeting in this church.

	It was here that between 1624 and 1631 John Donne was vicar (vicarages did not pay feudal tithes) and Samuel Pepys would come here for the religious service, but was easily distracted. William Tyndale, translator of the Bible, would speak at conferences held here.

	The current building dates back to 1833 and, like all English churches, has many monuments commemorating the dead, plaques, urns, and busts from passed ages, of which one can deduce the citizens characteristics and the history of their families. The plaque in memory of the banker James Chandler, spokesman for the City sovereign, tells of his virtues, amongst which are his generosity in life towards his relatives, to whom he donated twenty thousand pounds. The plaque dedicated to Alexander Leyson states that he was a famous swordsman. Near the church, where today one can find a passage which borrows the same name, was Clifford's Inn, the first Inn of Chancery, which was the Court of Justice of the lord chancellor, founded within the city.  

	The clock on the church facade dates back to 1671 and was the first to have minute hands. The two statues of muscular giants, who mark each hour by beating the bells with their clubs and move their adjustable heads each quarter of an hour are perhaps a representation of Gog and Magog. Above the vicarage school door there is a statue of queen Elkizabeth I, fulfilled in 1586 by Thomas Harris. It is the most ancient statue placed outside, together with those under the colonnade, to represent King Lud and his two sons.   

	 

	KING LUD AND SONS

	ST DUNSTAN'S CHURCHYARD

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE, BLACKFRIARS

	Originally these statues of King Lud and his sons adorned Lud Gate, one of the entries to the City, near the river Fleet, where today Ludgate Circus is located. In 1833, when Ludgate was demolished, the statues were removed and after St Dunstan's church had been rebuilt, they were placed next to the external wall under the small porch.

	The large rock sitting on the corner of Pilgrim Street is a piece of the old door and was perhaps placed here to avoid the wheels of carts or-wagons from hitting the edge of the house.  

	

	THE STREETS OF CHICKENS, WINE, AND LILIES

	In the neighbourhood of newspapers and banks, the names of the streets are a sign of the rural past, such as Hen and Chicken Court, which is tied to courtyard animals. The Wine Office Court and the Wine Licence Court remind us that in this street there was an office which would provide licences for wine selling, the first registration dating back to 1677. The French name of another yard, the Fleur-de-lis Court, the "lily court", derives perhaps from the sign outside a shop or from the name of an Inn.

	DR. JOHNSON'S HOUSE

	17 GOUGH SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	This house in dark bricks is a real jewel and one of the few Eighteenth Century to have survived in London. In his attic, Dr. Johnson, helped by six amanuenses, compiled the first complete English Dictionary. For nine years, from 1748 to 1757, scribes wrote under dictation standing in front of a long table. Until then, to explain a word, synonyms were used. Johnson was the first to explain terms by reconstructing the etymology and defining them, although at times his definitions were not neutral, as they are now, but humorous and sarcastic. His Dictionary also contains - citations which have become habitual. In 1752, his beloved wife, who was twenty years older than him, died here. In 1758 he ended up in prison for debts, in spite of his merits. Once he had finished the efforts placed in compiling his dictionary and been released from jail, Dr. Johnson immediately set off on another adventure, that of founding a newspaper, Tbe Rambler, which he directed and wrote for. The English word ram- bler has several meanings. It can be said of hikers, roses that climb walls, but also of aimless wandering and digressing, speaking incoherently going from one subject to the next without any clear purpose or direction, and this is the meaning of the title.

	Up until 1911 the house remained abandoned, after also having been used as an undistinguished hotel. Later it was bought by Cecil Harmsworth who transformed it into a museum. The rooms are dressed with panels, the wooden stairs are shiny and well-restored, the simple furniture of the period give the building the atmosphere of a private house. From the windows one can view the letters, press, portraits, and books, and in the Dictionary Room of the attic there are the first two editions of the Dictionary.

	Amongst the items of furniture there is a chair which did not originally belong to the house, but to a small nearby tavern where Dr. Johnson would go. The writer would sit down to a good tankard of beer and recover from the day's struggles. The large cast iron feline represents Hodge, Dr. Johnson's beloved cat, who according to him resembled a four-legged owl, whom he would ask opinions of, regarding the controversial passages of his Dictionary.

	
ST BRIDE'S CHURCH

	ST BRIDE'S AVENUE

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	According to archaeologists, there was already a church in this area already one thousand five hundred years ago. For over five centuries this was the church of journalists and of those who worked in the media; today it is attended by agents and finance and trade workers.

	It is the most ancient Christian church in English church and the present building, the seventh so far, was designed by Christopher Wren in 1672. It is dedicated to St. Brigid of Kildare in Ireland, and was perhaps founded by a community of Celtic monks. The first session of the Parliament, held by King John in 1210 took place here.  There is also an altar commemorating the Pilgrim Fathers. During the Blitz, the Wren church was destroyed and the only part to survive was the beautiful Italian-style belfry, dating back to 1703, seventy five metres tall. Its reconstruction has been carried out closely following Wren's design.

	In Celtic mythology, Bride was the name of the pagan goddess of fire and was also called Bridget of Kildare. All that is known of her is who lived between the year 453 and 523 and who converted to the Christian religion at the age of six, inspired by the preachings of St Patrick and who, having become a nun, had founded a large monastery in her village as a base for the evangelization of the country. She is one of the patron saints of Ireland, alongside S. Patrick and St. Columba, and her figure is associated with justice and charity. Legends says that her father had decided to convert himself upon his death bed and had asked her to be baptized. Brigid then took some reeds and tied them to make a cross. Still today St. Brigid's Cross, made of sticks and straw, is placed under the roof of houses to protect them from adversity.  

	

	MUSEUM AND ST BRIDE'S CRYPT

	ST BRIDE'S AVENUE

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	The holes made by the bombs of World War II brought to light many objects buried under the church and thousands of skeletons. It was then discovered that in the Middle Ages, there was a charnel house where they would place the bones of workers from a nearby factory and the jailbirds of Fleet Street prison. In the underground vaults one can also see the foundations of the ancient buildings and the remains of Roman flooring.  There is also a small exhibition with the rich history of the local press.

	The church porch is an oasis of peace and tranquillity far from the roar of traffic, the sound of birds singing in the background. When the weather is nice, the steps of the church become densely populated with workers, who come to eat their lunch here.

	It is jokingly said that the multi-floor steeple has served as a model for the creation of modern wedding cakes. The clock, called Giant's Clock, sounds the time every quarter of an hour.

	
TEMPLE

	

	In the past this area was the abode of the Knights of the Templar, the military-monk order founded in 1118, after the first Crusade, under the name Pauperes commilitones Christitemplique Salomonis (Poor comrades in arms of Christ and the Temple of Solomon). Its members, also called the Red Templars due to the red crosses worn, were sworn to guarantee the safety of those who traveled to the Holy Land and protect the Holy Sepulchre. The order was suppressed by the Pope in 1312 and its properties passed over to the crown. Yet at the time of its greatest splendour, the company possessed many territories, such as mansions and fortress houses or harbour posts, from where they would control the English provinces and the Dalmatian coasts. In 1400, a part of the lands were rented to lawyers, who still occupy them today.

	The buildings contain shops and offices and enclose and protect the wonderful oasis of the Temple from the traffic, making it an island of silence where one can go for pleasant strolls.   

	

	PRINCE HENRY'S ROOM

	17 FLEET STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	In the 12th Century, the building containing the room known as Prince Henry's Room belonged to the Templar Knights. At the time all houses were similar to it, however nowadays it is one of the few remaining examples. The beautiful front door with the timber frame, the Inner Temple Gateway, dates back to 1611. The room that bears the name of the oldest son of James I, who died of typhus fever at the age of eighteen, is on the first floor. The dressing of oak panels on the west side, the Jacobean ceiling with ribbing and the richly ornate plasterwork, typical of the 18th Century, are all original. At the centre of the star-shaped design of the ceiling, is the plume of the prince of Wales and his crest with the initials. Prince Henry was the oldest son of James I and his nomination as Prince of Wales in 1610 was the occasion for great celebrations. The window panes are from the Twentieth Century and are a reminder of when the building was saved from being demolished in 1906. It hosts a collection of memorabilia connected with the chronicler Samuel Pepys, who was born precisely in this street in 1635. The collection includes some of his manuscripts, some paintings, and printed material dedicated to him.

	In the 16th Century, behind the house stood the Prince's Arms tavern, which continued its activity until the Nineteenth Century, although with another name.  

	

	ROUND CHURCH

	KING'S BENCH WAL

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	The model of this church with a circular layout is that of the Holy Sepulchre of Jerusalem, of which the Templars were the guardians. It was built between 1160 and 1185 in Romanesque-Gothic style and is the oldest part of Temple Church, which stood at the perimeter of the monastery. This is where the rite of initiation of the knights would take place , whose effigies have been placed on the paving.

	Some of them are portrayed in a rather bizarre position. In the choir there is a monumental wooden altar designed by Wren at the end of the Eighteenth Century, where there is an engraving in gold letters of the Creed and the Ten Comandments. The gothic part of the choir was added in 1240 and harmoniously fits in with everything else. Outside are two bronze statues of Templars on horseback. On the Norman door there are some grotesque portraits of heads.  

	In the novel The da Vinci Code by Dan Brown, the Round Church is the place where the main characters search for the answer to the final riddle.

	In William Shakespeare's Henry VI, instead, the author imagines that the Wars of the Roses had begun here and that it was set off precisely by the picking of two roses in the garden of the Temple. To commemorate this Shakespearean tradition, red roses and white roses were both planted near the wall in 2002.

	
The Da Vinci Code - For those passionate about The Da Vinci Code, let us just say that the hunt continues at Westminster Abbey, at 20, Dean Yard, where Isaac Newton's tomb, bearing an orb, which makes up the clue for the following step. Also, Jean Cocteau, author of the  Crucifixion found in the church of Notre-Dame de France at 5, Leicester Place, was Grand Master of the Priory of Sion and his painting contains occult symbols. Those interested may visit Freemasons Hall, at Covent Garden, of which the details are found in the pages dedicated to that area of the city.  

	
THE INNS OF COURT

	

	They are called Inns because of the fact that in the past they functioned as hostels, providing meals and lodging. The Inns of Court are actually professional associations which qualify professionals to practice law and forensics, and to which lawyers must necessarily belong. These associations supervise the conduct of members, which includes the category of the barristers, lawyers with rights of audience in higher courtrooms, who according to English law, do not usually have access to clients, and solicitors, to whom barristers are assigned. These locations are also used by benchers, the senior members of the Inns of Court. Each Inn has a vast hall, a chapel, and a library. In the City stand two of the four buildings of the Inns of Courts, Middle Temple and Inner Temple. The other two, Lincoln's Inn, at Inns Fields, and Grey's Inn, in a street going by the same name, are instead a little to the north.

	A route for a nice walk could start off at Grey’s Inn and move towards the river, passing by Temple Church with its stone knights. On the Knight’s Bench Walk it feels like going back in time. It should be kept in mind that the area is always open during the religious service at Inner Temple Church, built on the area of a church of the Templars in the 12th Century.

	
 

	MIDDLE TEMPLE HALL

	MIDDLE TEMPLE LANE

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	One arrives in Middle Temple Lane after having passed the Temple Bar Memorial, overlooked by a griffin, the symbol of the City. It is the only building to have survived since Shakespeare's days until now. The dining room of the Honourable Society of  Temple Hall is a real jewel of the second half of the Sixteenth Century, with a splendid Tudor ceiling with cantilevered beams in oak wood. The bench table is a nine-meter-long stone bench, a present from Elizabeth I. It is said that in February 1602, Shakespeare used this hall to act out his comedy Twelfth Night. What is more, many poets and playwrights, amongst which John Webster, John Ford and John Marston, were once students at Middle Temple and one can just imagine them here, discussing legal matters. After the last war, the ancient labyrinth of courtyards and passages was rebuilt.

	The building adjoining Middle Temple is the home to the Honourable Society of the Inner Temple, which in the Eighteenth Century, had as many as one thousand six hundred students.

	However, what one really cannot afford to miss are the gardens (which have been awarded more than a prize) between Fleet Street to the north and Victoria Embankment to the south. They are an oasis of greenery which descend towards the Thames, with rare trees and flowers to be admired. It is a peaceful place of refuge, where there are naturally a number of rules to be observed, starting from that of cleaning up one's own rubbish and taking it away with one. One of the entries is on Crown Office Row.

	

	KING'S BENCH  WALK

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	Kings Bench - when the country is governed by a queen it goes by the name Queen's Bench - is one of the most ancient courts of England. Originally the name bench stood for the benches where the judges would sat (as we would speak of the Tory benches for example, in order to indicate the members of parliament), then the meaning was extended so as to indicate the people occupying them. The court derives from that founded by William the Conqueror in the 11th Century. The royal court named curia regis, was formed by a group of nobles and lords who would solve all the King's important affairs. Today, King's Bench is a section of the High Court of Justice of England and Wales.    

	The walk gets its name from King's Ben Office, which until the Nineteenth Century, was located here.

	Along this street there are very old buildings, which have survived wars and destruction. Those between number 1 and 6 were designed by Christopher Wren. It is a magical place to walk in the evening, whether in the winter or the summer. For this reason, the street is often used as an open set for films and television programs.      

	Everybody knows that London is a city with many sundials, of all shapes and sizes. Beyond a garden gate in this street there is a most peculiar one.  It is the statue of a black child, crouching and holding a near horizontal sundial on his head. The statue and the solar clock have different dates of fabrication. The two parts were built with different purposes, and were later assembled together. There is also another sundial dated 1686 on the facade of the house with a garden just next to the Paper Buildings, in the nearby Pump Court, a small street which is evocative and enchanting.  The phrase at the bottom recites: "Shadows we are and like shadows depart".

	Temple is one of the areas which are still illuminated by gas street lights, as in other areas, such as in front of Buckingham Palace, along Queen's Walk in Green Park, in St James's Park and in front of St James's Palace, around Westminster palace and the abbey, along the Mail, at the Morse Guard Parade, in some of the streets near Covent Garden, in Charter House Square and Guildhall.

	

	FOUNTAIN COURT

	MIDDLE TEMPLE

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE, CHANCERY LANE

	At the centre of the small square stands a fountain with a single central jet of water which spurts from a goblet and falls back into a basin abundant with goldfish. This square is one of the literary settings of London. It features in Dickens' Martin Chuzzlewit and has hosted Paul Verlaine during his stay in England

	

	THE TAXI DRIVERS' SHELTERS

	TEMPLE PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	In the past, there were sixty-one little wooden huts which offered refuge and comfort to those busy all day driving taxis. They were all identical, with wooden walls made of wedged green panels, the ceilings lined in bituminized felt and the top of the roof covered in terracotta tiles. There was also a small dome for ventilation closed off with a lead cap. Of these shelters, only thirteen remain. It is interesting to visit the inside, spartan and essential, but providing all that one could need during a brief stop, like a good cup of coffee or piping hot tea, along with a sandwich or sweet snack.   This small structure is located at the back of the underground station of Temple.

	On the same street, there is another oddity, a bin for sand. In the past, and in particular during the Edwardian period, the city streets would sport many of these sand containers, which were born with a noble intention. The grains of sand would pour out of an opening at the base and those in charge would shovel it out, and spread it on the surface of the road, near any houses where there had been a death in the family or where there were severely ill people, in order to silence the sound of horse hooves and cart wheels.

	

	

	ST PAUL'S CATHEDRAL AND THE SURROUNDIG AREA

	

	ST PAUL'S CATHEDRAL

	LUDGATE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	Since the year 640 there has been a church dedicated to St Paul in this place, although the buildings have been rebuilt a number of times after being destroyed by fires. The construction of 1240 has gone down in history as a place where witches and heretics were executed. The present day baroque building, dating back to 1675-1710, was designed by Wren in 1675 and has always hosted weddings and funerals for the royal family. For its construction, the English architect drew inspiration from the small temple of S. Pietro in Montorio in Rome, erected by Bramante in 1510 in the place where , according to tradition, St. Peter had become a martyr.

	St Paul's Cathedral is a very well-known symbol in London, therefore we will only give a few words of advice. Firstly, one can visit Painters' Corner, where , amongst others, the painters Constable, Reynolds, and Turner. The latter had a statue in the southern transept, among those of generals and admirals, and he is portrayed in a frock coat, with a painting brush in his hand.

	A view from above - For anyone who feels up for it, a pleasant experience is that of climbing to the top of the dome. It is more than one thousand five hundred steps, being one of the largest in the world.

	The inside part rests on eight arches held up by pillars decorated by frescos carried out in 1719, with scenes of the life of St. Paul.

	The first two hundred and fifty steps, quite wide and low, take one to the Whispering Gallery. The name is due to the fact that, thanks to the exceptional acoustics of the corridor, any whispers spoken towards the wall can be heard on the opposite side. A macebearer carries out the experiment for visitors. Also, from here one can clearly see the details of the paintings of the Thornhill dome, as well as the inlay work and the ironwork which cannot be admired from the ground. As one continues on up the steps, one reaches the Stone Gallery, which runs above the main tambour of the dome, near the brick cone and holds up the lantern. In order to reach the Golden Gallery, the tallest of the three, one must head up the last one hundred and fifty three steps of the narrow staircase. From up there, at almost 90 metres (300 feet) from the ground, one can witness a breathtaking panorama of the Thames and the City. There is also a small hole through which one can admire the church floor.    

	 

	Alternatively, there is a less-known part of the building, albeit it really is worth visiting. It is the Triforium, the gallery above the tribune, formed within the wall. The guided visit includes a look at the attractive library, covered in wooden panels, the sculpted arches, and the geometric staircase, where each step rests only on a part of the step below, and on a small connection with the wall. From the Triforium one can also see the nave below. The visit ends in the Trophy Room, where there is an exhibition with a collection of items relating to the building of the cathedral, starting from a model of Wren's, based on an initial plan for the construction of the cathedral, with a Greek cross layout and a second dome. There are also some objects which have survived the fire which burnt the old cathedral, a beautiful bronze statue of a priest, and the bust of the dean William Ralph Inge, known by the nickname 'the sad dean' because of his pessimism. It is said that he made a habit of reading crime novels whilst attending mass.  

	As a prize for the effort, one can head over to the bar and restaurant in the church crypt. It is cosy, spacious, and well-supplied with organic food products, and ideal for a snack with an inviting slice of homemade cake and a lovely cup of tea or coffee.

	
 

	ST PAUL'S FOUNTAIN

	ST PAUL'S CHURCHYARD

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	Fountains have changed incredibly through the years! The first had a merely practical functionality; later came symbolic decorations or water pouring out of lion's jaws, others had the shape of small temples; some had many varying jets of water or were embellished with statues... they became widespread especially in the Nineteenth Century when they were used for decorating squares and gardens St Paul's Fountain is a modern fountain with drinkable water, which provides water for tourists' bottles and locals, to quench their thirst and avoid the generation of mountains of plastic bottles. The water is greatly controlled and is of the highest quality. It has been placed near the information centre, in front of the cathedral. Hopefully, other fountains with drinkable water will gradually be restored around the city.

	

	BRACKEN HOUSE

	1, FRIDAY STREET

	UNDERGROUND: MANSION HOUSE

	Until 1980 the newspaper The Financial Times, of which Bernard Bracken was the president, was published in this building, which stands in the area south of the cathedral. Bracken had also been the Information minister of  Winston Churchill's war cabinet. The building, built between 1955 and 1959, south of the cathedral, was one of the first to be catalogued amongst those to be defended, and thus, also after being restructured, it conserved its rounded facade.

	 Above the front door there is an elegant astronomical clock, which is about one metre in diameter, built by Philip Bentham, and at the centre Winston Churchill's face is portrayed, being a personal friend of Bracken's. The decorations in gilded metal, the glazed ceramics, the roman numerals, the star signs, and the signs of months remind one of the features of a sun dial.

	
 

	TEMPLE BAR

	PATERNOSTER SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	Temple Bar is a city gate in Portland stone with the symbol of a dragon above, which used to be in the point where Fleet Street became The Strand and marked the border between the City and Westminster. Once this portal was as familiar as St Paul's Cathedral is today. Perhaps its elaborate architecture made of recesses, statues, and horns of plenty around the central arch were designed by Wren and completed in 1672. After that it became a point of reference also for processions and ceremonies, as well as a place to exhibit the severed heads of traitors. In 1878 the portal was disassembled so that it could be temporarily moved to a cross street of Farrigdon Street and ten years later it was bought by the brewer Henry Meux, who had it installed in his Theobolds estate, at the centre of a clearing in the middle of the woods, where it had a rather incongruous appearance. Inside it, a time capsule was placed, with some Nineteenth Century newspapers, some coins, and a page of the Sporting Times dated January, 7th of the that year. In 1984, a good one hundred and twenty-five years later, it was relocated to its original spot, in Paternoster Square, where it makes a good show of itself.

	

	TAVERN ABOVE, PRISON BELOW

	126, NEWGATE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	In the Newgate prison, which once stood here and remained active for many a century, today all that remains is the cluster of underground cells. The Viaduct Tavern, which is above, is an example of a splendid Victorian venue, with a large curved facade. Inside there are gilded mirrors, a wooden structure  jutting into the venue, a pretty clock, the ceiling in tin-plated copper, the wooden covering and the three allegorical female figures who represent Agriculture, Trade, and the Arts.  The latter of the three, according a legend,  was once vandalized by a drunken soldier during the First World War, and one can still see the mark of the bayonet.

	The viaduct was opened the same year as the Holborn viaduct, opened by Queen Victoria in 1869.

	One reaches the old cells of the prison through a passage which has printings from past epochs hung up on its walls, and the cells are humid, cold, and dark and the iron bars are rusted.   They used to hold about twenty criminals, there were no bathrooms, thus the stench must have been unbearable, and there was a small duct leading onto the road for food to be passed down to the prisoners, thus anyone who could not pay for food would go hungry. It is said that these cells are haunted by ghosts, and the pub workers swear they have witnessed signs of this presence. To visit the cells one must ask one of them.

	On the same road we find the garden of Christchurch Greyfriars, with a rose garden which lies between the ruins of a church built by Wren in 1704 and partly destroyed by the bombing during the war. With a little imagination, the layout of the plants can remind one of that of the church. In the place of the benches there are bushes and flowerbeds, and the towers covered in roses and clematis resemble the pillars which separated the naves.

	 Many centuries ago, at the corner of the nearby Gresham Street with Aldersgate Street, stood the church of St John Zachary, later destroyed by the Great Fire. Today this area has been transformed into a garden, and upon its gate some leopard heads have been portrayed, an instalment carried out under the Company of Goldsmiths, which took care of the restoration. The company is one of the twelve large corporations of the City, which starting in 1300, when gold and silver were marked with a leopard's head, was in charge of the application of this trademark of guarantee. Still today the leopard is the mark impressed on samples to be tested and found on the Goldsmiths' crest.

	
NORTH OF LUDGATE HILL

	

	Ludgate is one of the most ancient historical areas in town, alongside Cornhill. Where St Paul's Cathedral stands today, the Romans had built an amphitheatre and a fort. In the past it was believed that Ludgate Hill, whose name derives from the legendary English monarch King Lud, was taller than Cornhill. This is confirmed by an engraving on a three-hundred-year-old stone, on the left of the entry to the Panyer Alley Steps, near the underground station of St Paul. The phrase states: "When ye have sought the City round, yet still this is the highest ground. August 27th 1688". This is however not true, because, as discovered later on, Cornhill is actually taller, albeit only by a small amount.

	Here we find the halls of a few corporations and the building which hosts the Old Bailey.

	
 

	CHURCH OF ST MARTIN-WITHIN-LUDGATE

	38-40 LUDGATE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	The church, dedicated to St. Martin of Tours, stands on the north side of Ludgate Hill, near St Paul's Cathedral. On the facade there is written notice which refers to the legendary King Cadwallon ap Cadfan, which states:  “It is maintained that Cadwallon, King of the Britons, was buried here in 677.” In 1684, Christopher Wren reconstructed the building, which has a square tower with a dome covered with a layer of lead, surmounted by a lantern within a steeple in the shape of an obelisk.  Those who decide to head up to the balcony are rewarded with a wonderful view of the river. The great chandelier which hangs from the centre of the ceiling comes from the West Indies, whereas the baptismal font, instead, has an engraving in Greek: "Cleanse my sins , not just my face". At the base is a pelican feeding its young with blood from its own chest.

	It is in this building that they conserve the shelves from the church of St Magdalene, which used to be in Old Fish Street, and upon which, in the Eighteenth and Nineteenth century, one would leave bread for the poor people of the parish. There is still bread here, but it is fake. The pulpit, the balustrades, and the altar are particularly exquisite. Above the altar there is a triptych with the figure of St Martin sharing his cape with a beggar. Some stones which come from the old walls of London have been inserted into the walls of the vestry.

	

	THE GUILDHALLS

	

	During the Middle Age, men who performed the same craft or were involved in the same line of trade were grouped in associations aimed at safeguarding their interests and regulating the conduct of their activities. London had over one hundred guilds, often tied to religious associations, which guaranteed a suitable burial for members and services for the deceased. The craft guilds decided who could enter and become a part of them, they controlled prices, salaries, working conditions, and punished those who did not work appropriately or who were disonest, and they also carried out a form of quality control. In exchange they had a right to monopoly over goods.  

	In the City the guilds absorbed political power and their wealth was immense. The most powerful was that of the Goldsmiths, already existing in at the beginning of the Fourteenth Century, which controlled the forging of coins and precious goods. It also carried out the role of a bank and guarded money before financial institutes appeared, at the beginning of the NIneteenth Century.

	The shidting of power from the  artisan to rich merchants brought about the decline of the guilds. However they did not disappear altogether, but their function changed. Today they sustain philanthropic associations and schools, and also organize dinners for fundraising in their headquarters. About forty guild halls are open to the public, usually during working days, and are worth a visit because they are magnificent to see. Also the buildings they reside in, especially those built before 1830, have excellent architectural qualities.

	

	Among books and knives - The booksellers' palace Stationers' Hall, stands in Ave Maria lane, one of the small roads around St Paul's, all of which have prayer-related names. Other examples are Amen Court, Amen Corner, Creed Lane and Paternoster Row. Ave Maria Lane was one of the places where processions would pass and stop briefly, and because of this, a number of small religious text and prayer shops were found here. The headquarters of the guilds of the four P's: print, publishing, paper, and packaging, are marked on a signpost. It has existed since the Fifteenth Century, when published books had to be registered in this location.  This procedure ceased in 1710. Today, between the wooden-covered walls of the great hall, wedding receptions and dinners take place, and their profit is given to various charities.

	At number 4 of the nearby Warwick Lane, is the knifemakers' building, Cutlers’ Hall, which is also the oldest of the City. The word cutler derives from the Latin word cultellarius and the products of the cutlers ranged from weaponry to domestic items, such as knives, scissors, and razors. Their job was based on teamwork: designers would plan the shapes of the items and the images to represent on them, and craftsmen would include gilders, sharpeners, and polishers. In the guild cemetery there stand two elephants, which hint at the ivory used in the past for precious marquetry.

 

	OLD BAILEY

	OLD BAILEY

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	The word bailey indicates the outer walls, the bastions of a city. Old Bailey is the name of the street that gives the central criminal court its name, erected in the area of Newgate prison. The dome of the building, built at the beginning of the Twentieth Century, is overlooked by the statue of Justice with the sword and scales.

	The sculpture is not blindfolded, as one usually would expect, and those condemned would often complain that this was a sign of the discrimination of the judges. One of the most famous characters to be indicted was the writer Oscar Wilde, condemned to two years of forced labour, to be carried out in Reading Prison.   

	In 2005 the initial scene of the thriller V for Vendetta was shot in front of the Old Bailey; it is based on the homonymous book by Alan Moore and David Lloyd. The film envisages a totalitarian and dystopian society set in 2038, characterized by excessive state control. The main character, the mysterious V, fights for freedom and wishes to change society, as well as fulfilling his personal revenge at the same time.  To do this he devises a plan to blow up the Old Bailey. The regime explains that this course of action had become necessary because of an emergency, yet V manages to take control of the British Television Network and demonstrate that this is in fact a lie.

	

	

	NATIONAL POSTAL MUSEUM

	KING EDWARD STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	Stamps are an English invention, as it was in fact King Charles I to open his personal postal service to the public. In 1657, under Cromwell's reign. the first General Post Office was created. The museum, which is near the Cathedral and the London Museum, was opened in 1966 in what was the headquarters of the General Post Office during the Nineteenth Century, in an area of  the church of St Martin's Le Grand. It hosts a collection of three hundred and fifty thousand stamps from all over the world, as well as illustrations by artists, books, and documents relating to stamp collecting. It was founded under the suggestion of the stamp collector Reginald M. Phillips, who donated his huge collection of stamps from the Nineteenth Century to the nation. Their arrangement is quite ingenious. Today, as the British Library does with books, the museum hosts a copy of each stamp printed in the United Kingdom, therefore one can find all those printed in current times.

	Also present is the Penny Black, issued on May 1st, 1840, the first official stamp to be used in the world, named so because at the time its value was of one penny and because the effigy of the Queen was on a black background. It was used for little more than one year, because the postmark in red ink was not easily visible and the ink was easily removed.  

	The museum also holds an extraordinary collection of old post boxes, which in this country are quite remarkable and carefully crafted. A special exhibition covers the history and evolution of transport and the distribution of post throughout past centuries.

	
POSTMAN'S PARK

	KING EDWARD STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	The small but gracious Postmans Park owes its name to the fact that during lunch breaks, it would fill up with workers from the nearby post office, which no longer exists today. The park, however, continues to be populated by workers who come here to eat lunch. This green oasis at the centre of the City, made all the more lively by a fountain, was born from the idea of the painter and philanthropist George Watts. He was a person sensitive to the terrible living conditions of poor people, and did not hold back from criticising the meanness of the upper class and who, as the good socialist he was, always refused the title of baron.  He created a small gallery along the walls of the old cemetery, formed by a series of Doulton plaques upon which the heroism of unknown men and women is commemorated, having given their lives in the attempt to save the lives of  others.  As well as their names, amid the bay leaves, the plaques tell us about what type of situation  these people acted upon.  Watts had time to put up thirteen of them, then his wife saw to adding another thirty-four.  Some of the episodes mentioned involved children in railway accidents, others instead refer to drownings or fires. The tone of the accounts is somewhat rhetorical and sentimental, One phrase pronounced by a eleven year old boy who died to save his younger brother, directed at his mother, recites: "Mother, I saved him, but I could not save myself".

	

	ST BOTOLPH'S CHURCH

	ALDERSGATE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	Very little is known about the life of St Botolph or Botulph, who died in 680. Some historical quotes connect him with Suffolk, in East Anglia, where most of the seventy churches dedicated to him reside. He is the patron saint of travellers and the four chapels of London with his name are all near the city gates. People arriving would go and thank him for having made it there safe and sound, those leaving would go and ask for his intercession for a journey without peril. The church had escaped the Great fire of 1666 unscathed, only to fall into ruin by 1790, when it was finally rebuilt in bricks, decorated with wedges of white stone all around the windows, and a small tower. Above the altar, there is a lovely glass wall from the Nineteenth Century, the only one of its kind that remains in the city.

	

	CHURCH OF ST SEPULCHRE- WITHOUT- NEWGATE

	SNOW HILL corner with HOLBORN VIADUCT

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	The church was given its name at the time of the crusades, when it was also known as the Church of the Holy Sepulchre. Without Newgate means "outside the walls". It was rebuilt halfway through the Sixteenth Century, however the fire of London in 1666 destroyed it. All that remains of the medieval period is the tower and the porch. Later, in the Nineteenth Century, a panelled ceiling was added. One of the four glass windows in the north part of the church, which was previously a chapel used for musical purposes, commemorates the opera singer Nellie Melba. In a glass shrine, a bell has been preserved, which used to be used for announcing the execution of a prisoner sentenced to death in the nearby prison of Newgate.

	The legend of Pocahontas - The church also has a connection with captain John Smith and Pocahontas. In 2003, the American writer of crime novels, Patricia Cromwell, offered to sponsor a stained glass pane dedicated to Pocahontas, and in doing so set off a hornet's nest of controversy, and in the end a more generalized subject was chosen. The Disney version of the love story featuring an indigenous princess is legendary and mostly an invention. According to this version, captain John Smith, who had set out from the quay south of the church and had founded the state of Virginia, was condemned to death by order of chief Powhatan of the Mattaponi tribe. The sentence was about to be carried out and his head crushed with an enormous boulder, when Pocahontas, eleven-year-old daughter of the tribe chief, rested her head over that of Smith, saving his life. The real Pocahontas, who married the Englishman John Rolfe and converted to Christianity, died during the journey towards London in 1617, at the age of twenty-two, and is buried in Gravesend in Kent.

	The church is also known for the quality of its music.

	

	A DISASTROUS SIN  OF GLUTTONY

	COCK LANE

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S, CHANCERY

	At the corner of Cock Lane with Giltspur Street in Smithfield there is a small golden statue of a boy. It has been placed in the most extreme region reached by the London fire of 1666. The engraving below states: “This Boy is in Memmory Put up for the late Fire of London Occasion'd by the Sin of Gluttony". Originally the statue was in front of the pub The Fortune of War, a gathering point for men who sought out cadavers from the nearby hospital of St Bartholomew's. The hunt for the guilty person had put the lives of many at risk. A crazed mob first wanted to hang a French goldsmith, then later an astrologer who had predicted the destruction of the city, and later still the Catholics. Finally and fortunately the cause was generically attributed to the sin of gluttony, for which the Great Fire was said to represent the punishment.     At number 22 of the nearby Fleet Street, in a house with a very narrow facade which used to host a bank, sits the Olde Cock Tavern, a historical pub which is worth seeing, with a nice fireplace and a mantelpiece in Seventeenth Century oak. It was famous for the first breakfasts served in the very early morning to market workers.

	

	PAST AND PRESENT AT SMITHFIELD MARKET

	CHARTERHOUSE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: FARRINGDON, BARBICAN

	Smithfield, located in the Farringdon area, was known for its meat market for centuries. Today it remains the only historical wholesale market in the centre of London. At Smithfield, fairs and tournaments would often take place as well. The most famous of these was the one organized by Geoffrey Chaucer by order of King Richard II. The contest would last two days and about sixty knights would take part. In 1381 a young King Richard II had faced the revolt of the farmers led by Wat Tyler, who was hit and killed by the lord mayor, William Walworth. After the year 1400, Smithfield also became a place where executions were carried out against heretics and political opposers, who were burned inside a barrel beneath which a fire had been lit with bundles of wood.  Also the Scottish patriot William Wallace was executed here in 1305.

	 The great Victorian structure of the covered marketplace, built in the second half of the Nineteenth Century, is by the architect Horace Jones.

	  Today's events are of quite a different kind and include, for example, a night-time bicycle race known as Smithfìeld Nocturne. In this area, there is also a great number of night clubs, amongst which the Fabric, at 77, Charterhouse Street, right in front of the market, where fashion modeling, exhibitions, and workshops take place as well. Amongst the numerous restaurants of the area, the St John, at number 26 of St John's Street has an interesting history behind it.  

	

	CLOTH FAIR

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN, FARRINGDON

	A walk between two markets - The Smithfield Market could be an arrival point for an interesting walk between two marketplaces. Starting from Leadenhall Market, in Whittington Avenue, you can head towards Postmans Park, in King Edward Street, where you can rest a little and read some of the plaques dedicated to the unknown war heroes. You can then head over to the ancient and beautiful church of St Bartholemew the Great, in  West Smithfield, and conclude the route at Smithfield Market or, if you wish, at the Jerusalem Tavern, at 55,Britton Street.
In the days of monasteries, this area was known as the green part of the market, and the enclosure formed by the textile stands was known as Our Lady's Green. The surrounding houses were all inhabited by traders of fabric, cloth and other textile products. The first textile fair took place in August 1133, near the monastery of St Bartholomew. Tailors and cloth merchants would hurry over from every corner of the country to perform their craft and trade. The I functionaries of the guild controlled the length of the pieces sold with a small rod which was one yard long. Any lawbreakers found cheating were taken to the nearby brewery Hand and Shears, judged in front of a court at the top floor, then immobilized  in wooden stocks and whipped.

	
The last market took place in 1855 and, until then, the bazaar was one of the most important ones in the city. Keeping the memory of Cloth Fair alive, is the name of the street that runs beside the church and which has some rather evocative houses, remnants which survived the bombing and the development plans of real estate agencies. The poet John Betjeman, as we are reminded by the blue sign-plate on the house, lived at number 41-42 of Cloth Fair.  The building dates back to the end of the Sixteenth Century and still today conserves its rustic appearance. At the ground floor there is an Italian vegetarian restaurant, Amico Bio. Fresh organic food is delivered directly from Italy. The dishes are quite innovative and their presentation is also pleasing.

	
 

	CHURCH OF ST BARTHOLOMEW'S THE GREAT

	WEST SMITHFIELD

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN

	It is one of the most ancient churches of London, with a Medieval entrance which is a real jewel. A third of the building was once that of a Norman monastery, founded in 1123 by the monk known as Rahere, who is buried within, and who, prior to taking his oath, had been a court jester for Henry I. The curve of the Roman arches is unusual and striking. In one of the windows, which juts outwards, the central bas-relief portrays a crossbow arrow piercing a barrel from side to side, in memory of the last Prior of this monastery, whose name was Bolton (the rebus for 'Bolton' is a play on words, where bolt is represented by the arrow, which is running through the barrel, which is tun. Another treasure found in this building is a panel with the writing: "Worshipful Company of the Art or Mystery of Butchers of the City of London".

	Rather intriguingly, the emblem on the panel is held up by a pair of bulls, a pig's head and two butcher's meat cleavers. Amongst the different plaques, one of them contains the rickety verses of a somewhat second-rate burlesque poem, written by a sailor during the period of the American Revolution, which recounts the strife suffered in his days of fighting and trading, also in the area of Levant, so that he could sustain his wife and children. The entrance, half of which is built in wood and half of which is in brickwork, now separates a shop from a West Smithfield wine bar, but in the Eighteenth Century was an entrance to the monastery.

	

	ST BARTHOLOMEW'S HOSPITAL MUSEUM

	WEST SMITHFIELD

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S, BARBICAN

	The hospital, which goes by the familiar name of Bart's, is the work of the architect James Gibbs and is the oldest and most loved in the capital. It has risked being shut down a number of times, but thanks to fierce opposition and campaigns, it still exists nine hundred years later. The museum is full of interesting relics, tools, and the tools of the trade preserved from centuries ago, which give us an idea of the progress accomplished by medicine and surgery.

	On the walls of the magnificent staircase, there are two large paintings by William Hogarth, the painter famous for scathingly attacking and mocking the corruption of morals and lifestyle. The director of the hospital decided to entrust the creation of large canvas works to a Venetian painter, but Hogarth, to beat the competition, offered to carry them out for free. In one of the paintings, which date back to 1737, a good Samaritan is shown, and in another Christ, as he cures a cripple. It is said that to paint the onlookers seen in the painting witnessing the miracle of Jesus, Hogarth used patients of the hospital as models.

	Above the entrance there is a tower of sorts, with windows between the pillars and gable. In a niche, stands a statue of Henry VIII, the only public statue of the king in the whole city.

	
CHURCH OF ST BARTHOLOMEW'S THE LESS

	SMITHFIELD GATE

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN

	The church stands on the grounds of a medieval chapel of the hospital. It is a small well-lit church and amongst the many commemorative monuments inside, is an odd one representing a married couple both in life and in death. Some of the epitaphs on the walls are moving, others are a manifestation of stoicism, steadfastness, and phlegm in the face of pain, others have a more rhetorical and self-evident content. One of these, dedicated to the ship's captain, John Millet, takes on a mournful tone: "Many a storm and tempest past / Here hee hath quiet anchor cast"
 

	THE BLACKFRIARS PUB  

	174 QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	This old pub covered with green mosaics and which bears signs with brass letters is located in an unfortunate spot, squeezed between four traffic congested roads and the grim looming figure of the railway bridge. Indoors, however, the pub is splendidly enchanting, with its collage of striped marble crossed by numerous waves and veins, its golden mosaics and bronze statues.

	Between 1905 and 1921, the architect Fuller-Clark, and the sculptors Henry Poole and Frederick Calicò, inspired by the friars' convent which once stood in this place, threw themselves into a frenzied decorative operation on the monastic theme. They included details in the Art Nouveau and Arts & Crafts styles, mixing them with Byzantine and Old English styles, for a complete jumble of patterns.   All the surfaces are richly decorated and adorned, and the area between the arches of the railway has been used to form a cove-like zone. At lunch time, on working days, the pub is quite crowded.

	

	The pillars of Blackfriars Railway Bridge -

	The groups of red pillars standing near the Blackfriars railway bridge, are the remains of a different bridge, which stood here until 1864 and had been built by Joseph Cubitt and F.T. Turner for the railway company London. Chatham & Dover. The gigantic emblem is one of the most beautiful examples of public heraldry. Proceeding clockwise, there are the coats of arms representing Kent, Dover, Rochester and the City. The motto of the railway company comes from the invincible white horse of Kent, and the first steam engine locomotive had been baptized Invicta.

	
THE MERMAIDS AND MERMEN OF UNILEVER HOUSE

	100 VICTORIA EMBANKMENT

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	This gorgeous neoclassical building with a bent-over facade stands on the side of Victoria Embankment and bears numerous Art Déco decoration details. At the fifth floor one can observe some majestic ionic pillars and the large sculpted  monogram of the Unilever company. On the imposing plinths at the angles, stand sculptures portraying a man and a woman holding back a horse. These are by Reid Dick, and go by the name of Controlled Energy. They are surrounded by other sculptures of mermaids and mermen. During the  renovation of the 1970s, other parapet statues by Nicholas Monto were added. In more recent years, a lovely hanging garden has been formed on the roof.  

	At number 130 of the nearby Queen Victoria Street there is an impressive Seventeenth-century building which hosts the institute for heraldic studies. The College of Arms is the depository of the coats of arms and the family trees of the families of British nobility.  Here one can find people specialized in genealogical research, authorized to assign the coats of arms and make decisions on the protocol. It is a corner of the past. One of the doors is open to the public and the archive can be visited by guided groups by booking.

	

	PLAYHOUSE YARD

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS  

	In the area which is now occupied by a field flanked by buildings, the Blackfriars theatre once stood, in the Seventeenth Century, created by Richard Burbage, maestro of the royal chapel choir and a precocious theatre actor.  He had rented part of the monastery, which had been closed since 1539, and had transformed it into a theatre for the choir boys. The rehearsals for shows were open to the public, but the final representation of the comedies was destined for the royal court alone. The part of the monastery which had been turned into a theatre was beyond the jurisdiction of the City, where such types of activities were banned, in that they were considered breeding grounds for uprisings and vices. Burbage was the first actor to interpret the roles of  Hamlet, Macbeth and Othello. He would use this setting for shows in the winter, whereas during summertime Shakespearian plays were held at the Globe.

	In Black Friars Lane stands the pharmacists' building, Apothecaries Hall, situated on the grounds of what was once the Dominican monastery. The Society of Apothecaries, in charge of the preparation of galenic pharmaceuticals, was founded in 1617, and in 1633 its first headquarters was opened in the monastery's lodgings. Today's building stands on the three sides of a breathtaking courtyard and many modifications have been made. The wooden staircase which leads to the chambers of the first floor is simply magnificent. In the glass dressers one can admire an array of pharmaceutical vases.

	

	CHURCH OF ST ANDREW-BY-THE-WARDROBE

	QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S, MANSION HOUSE

	"St. Andrew-by-the-wardrobe" is an odd name for a church, and is due to the fact that it is near the house where Edward III had his wardrobe kept. The king had purchased the house in 1359 in order to transfer his ceremonial robes and weapons there. The building had been destroyed in the Great Fire, but the name still preserves the memory. The church was later rebuilt upon Wren's design, yet destroyed once again by the German bombing. The building we find today dates back to 1961, and stands above the road level.

	Within its walls, many items from other churches are safeguarded. The most illustrious vicar of St Andrews was William Shakespeare, who worked at the nearby theatre of Blackfriars. Inside the church, there is a monument in his memory.

	In the nearby Deans Court stands St Paul's Deanery, a brick building from 1670 constructed by Wren, which bears a gorgeous door. Passing under an arch, one reaches the minute Wardrobe Place, slightly hidden behind an arcade, its houses dating back to the early Eighteenth Century, and amongst them is the building which used to guard the kings wardrobe.  The pedestrian crossing called Wardrobe Terrace descends towards the banks of the Thames.

	

	THE SALVATION ARMY

	101 QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	Near Blackfriars bridge, is the international headquarters of the Salvation Army, an organization founded in 1865 in the East End of London by the preacher William Booth and his wife Catherine, under the name of Christian Mission. In 1878, Booth had decided to give it an almost military structure, with himself in the role of general, and decided to call it the Salvation Army. At first, the organization encountered significant opposition because of its activities, in spite of the fact that the uniforms, ranks, and fanfare had impressed the popular imagination. Today the international headquarters of the organization continues to reside in London, however the country where it is most widespread is the USA.  However, in films - for example in the musical Guys and Dolls - we only ever see its members singing Christmas Carols, shaking a tin can to collect money in front of supermarkets, volunteers assisting the homeless or unemployed, and fighting against the human trafficking and overcrowding of prisons. The most famous work which portrays them is the theatrical comedy by George Bernard Shaw, Major Barbara, where the main character, Barbara Undershaft, who ranks as an officer, is disappointed by the fact that the organization accepts money from a weapon maker and owner of distilleries, such as her father. 

	 

	FARADAY BUILDING

	QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BLACKFRIARS

	In the minds of many, the name Michael Faraday is linked to the theories of electromagnetism, electrochemistry, and to the Faraday effect, as well as electrical capacity, measured in farads. The British physicist who tied his name to all these inventions was a poor man, and because of this, in 1848 he had been assigned one of the houses as a life concession from the sovereign at Hampton Court. Today the building bears his name, as does the street it stands on. The Faraday Building complex, instead, was the central quarters for British telephone network and for international telephones, in the Thirties and Forties.  The building, which covered the view of St Paul's Cathedral from the river, caused such a great number of protests that it led to a law which prohibits the construction of such tall buildings.  

	One statue of Faraday, with a vast cape which hangs down to his feet, is found in Savoy Place. Between 1991 and 2001 the twenty pound note bore his portrait.

	
PAINTERS AND WINE MAKERS

	9, LITTLE TRINITY LANE

	UNDERGROUND: MANSION HOUSE

	The elegant Painters' Hall, rebuilt in 1961, is also the headquarters of the Worshipful Company of Painter-Stainers, which was already notorious in 1268. In 1800 many artists and scholars, such as Reynolds and Leighton, became Livery-men, in other words members of the corporation. Courses of decorative arts and crafts and many exhibitions were held there.  In  2000 the Millennium Salon took place there, and on show were the works of artists from all over the world. On the red walls of its chambers a great  deal of beautiful portraits and paintings can be admired.

	At number 68 of the nearby Upper Thames Street stands the winemakers building, known as Vintners' Hall. Near Southwark bridge there used to be an arrival dock for French wine, which was called Garlick-hythe, because, as well as wine, also garlic would arrive from France. The company motto was “Vinum Exhilarat Animum ', meaning "wine uplifts the spirit”. The splendid Court Room is dressed in panels with ribbed and elaborate pillars and the balustrade of the charming wooden staircase is decorated with wreaths of flowers and baskets of fruit. There is also a delightful collection of wine glasses and silver chalices.  

	The nearby church of St James Garlickhythe, on Garlick Hill, which has been around since the Eleventh Century, has a gate in the shape of vine shoots. In the bell tower there is a mummified body of a man which may be up to three centuries old and perhaps once went by the name of Jimmy Garlick. It was discovered by some workers on the job, and later placed inside a tomb within the bell tower, dressed in a white shirt.

	
THE GUILDHALL AND THE SURROUNDING AREA

	

	The Guildhall is a building that has been used for centuries as headquarters for the town hall and is still today used as the administrative centre of the city; it is where the Lord Mayor is elected.  

	The most ancient part of it dates back to 1411 and was built above two crypts, then there is a medieval part, which is one of the few examples of the epoch still remaining in the city.  

	The Great Fire of 1666 damaged much of the building, which was then restored by Wren. In 1788 George Dance remade the facade, endowing it with new windows and many pinnacles. The building we see today, however, is largely the result of the post-war restructuring, assigned to Giles Gilbert Scott. There are various statues, amongst which those of Gog and Magog, sculpted in wood. The library, opened in 1873, not only contains books, but also a large collection of manuscripts, maps, printed material, portraits, photographs, and drawings of London, its history, and its inhabitants.  Right behind Guildhall, in Oat Lane, are the buildings of the Worshipful Company of Pewterers and Milliners. The southern extremity of the building overlooks Gresham Street, where at number 25, there is a small artificial garden, on the area of the old cemetery of St John Zachary's Church, destroyed by the Great Fire. Next to it, is a bizarre modern building, its shape curving inward at the upper floors. In nearby Noble Street, one can still see the foundations of a piece of a wall built by the ancient Romans.

	

	A WALK AMONG THE SCULPTURES OF THE CITY

	The City, just like London's parks, is sprinkled with a great number of statues and monuments. We shall indicate a few here. On the west side of Guildhall square, in front of the Educotion Office, there is a bronze sculpture of Karin Jonzen which goes by the title Beyond Tomorrow and represents a couple of youths sitting and staring in the same direction, towards a far-away spot. Nearby, there is another one called The Gardener,  from 1972, also by Karin Jonzen, portraying a young man stooping down with his right hand resting on his knee, having just planted a bulb and now covering it with soil. Near London Wall there is a bronze statue by Ivon Klopez, from 1992, called Unity, which is of a couple. Also at London Wall, we find the Minotaur, from 1969, by Michoel Ayrton, a bronze statue showing the fight between a man and the Minotaur. In Finsbury Square, there is a group of statues called Rush Hour,  made in 1987 by George Segai, an American artist who drew his inspiration from reality. The sculpture portrays a group of people bearing a bored and depressed expression, with the stance of people waiting for something. The monument raised a reaction of refusal in real commuters, who reacted with the words: "We already find ourselves wearing that look on our faces each day; the last thing we need is a monument to remind us of it. "

	

	GUILDHALL  ART GALLERY

	GUILDHALL YARD

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	The original gallery was opened in 1885 for the exhibition of the works of art possessed by the corporation. Unfortunately, it was destroyed by bombardments in 1941and  the building we see today dates back to 1999. The collection of paintings includes some views of London and scenes of life in the capital, ranging from 1500 to today. The  paintings owned are about four thousand and are exhibited following a rotation plan, so as  to exhibit around four hundred canvases at a time. Amongst the many subjects, there are portraits of royal characters, the Great Fire of 1666, and some scenes of navy battles in the Victorian period. There are also some paintings by Leighton, Constable, and some by Pre-Raphaelites, amongst which La Ghirlandata by Dante Gabriel Rossetti.

	Roman amphitheatre - In 1988, a vast archaeological zone was discovered by chance in the Bank area. In the underground part of the gallery, near Gresham Street in particular, are some remains that date back to a period somewhere between the 1st and 2nd century and which include an amphitheatre and an oval arena, which measure one hundred metres by eighty, and whose staircases could once contain six thousand spectators.  The size of the amphitheatre is indicated by the circle of black rocks set into what forms the pavement of the vast courtyard opposite the gallery. Also some ruins of the eastern wall remain, as well as a splendid mosaic floor. The missing parts (the building had been abandoned for centuries and a brick door had been used for other constructions) have been fulfilled evocatively with the help of digital technology, which gives us an idea of what the original must have been like, and draws us a little closer to the gladiators. The relics in the display cabinets include many objects of everyday use, such as iron tools used for engraving and cutting tablets of wax. There are also some hair clips, clay vases, a horseshoe, and some leather sandals. This is a visit not to be missed if one wishes to get an idea of Roman London.    

	The entrance is much the same as that of the art gallery in the Guildhall courtyard.

	

	CLOCKMAKERS MUSEUM

	GUILDHALL LIBRARY ALDERMANBURY

	UNDERGROUND: ST PAUL'S

	The Clockmakers Museum is in a room of the guild library and safeguards ancient manuscripts and books which date back to 1813 onwards. The clock collection began in 1814 and is the oldest in the world. It is formed by roughly seven hundred specimens gathered through the years by the Worshipful Company of Clockmakers. There are pocket watches, wrist watches, wall clocks, sandglasses, and sundials...  Another interesting item is a gas clock and some old electric pendulums. Amongst the marine chronometers is that once owned by John Harrison, from 1772, which solved the problem of measuring longitude at sea. They all represent the result of the research of many years and acquisitions made by the company, which also managed to obtain that worn by Edmund Hillary whilst climbing Mount Everest. The clocks and watches have been placed within modern display cabinets which are intensely illuminated and tell the story of clock-making in London. If one visits at midday, one can hear them chime all together.

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	NORTH OF THE WALL

	

	LONDON WALL

	FENCHURCH STREET, TOWER BRIDGE

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN

	The Roman defence wall around London once went from what is currently Blackfriars, all the way to the Tower of London. During the Middle Ages it still existed and outlined the borders of the City. It was roughly three and a half kilometres long and five kilometres high, and built in bricks and coarse slate, transported over from Kent via the river, meaning hundreds of journeys back and forth. Along the external perimeter there was a moat. The gates were located in connection with the most important pathways of communication, and their names are still used today  to indicate the area or the streets where they were once to be found: Ludgate, Newgate, Cripplegate, Bishopsgate and Aldgate.

	The most consistent parts of the wall to have survived are near the London Museum, namely in Cooper's Row and within the Barbican Estate, where one can also observe the corner bastion of an ancient Roman fort - the time span ranging from its construction to the present day estate is just one hundred years short of two whole millennia! Another area where the walls are still intact is around Tower hill, in fact one of the largest parts of the wall is just next to the entry to Tower Hill underground station, where one may also admire a copy of the statue of Emperor Trajan.   London Wall has also lent its name to the important street which leaves Aldersgate Street, leads south of  Finsbury Circus and arrives at Bishopsgate.

	St Albans Tower - In Wood Street, the street which cuts across London Wall, amidst a number of extremely modern buildings, stands the tower of St Albans, with its medieval appearance. The adjoining building was completed by Wren in 1685, although the foundations were in fact much more ancient, as indicated by the fact that it was dedicated to the country's first martyr. In 1940 the bombs damaged it severely, and it was never rebuilt. Only the four-storey tower has been preserved, along with its parapet and pinnacles, which serves as a landmark..   

	
LONDON MUSEUM

	NEAR BARBICAN CENTRE

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN

	The museum is hosted within a modern building just in front of the remains of the Wall of London, and it is quite rich with relics. The exhibited galleries are arranged into two levels and these objects reconstruct the chronology of the city. As well as archaeological finds, there are dioramas which give one the illusion of being in the wake of a true panoramic view, with all its light variations. Also the artistic reconstructions, the artefacts, and the sounds in playback are of great aid for reconstructing, in one's mind, what the environment must have been like in the days of the first

	Britons, when hunting was the main means of survival and forests would be levelled in order to cultivate the land. Here, one can observe some copies of flint and copper axes used to such ends, and the latter may also be touched. Even everyday life in the days of the Ancient Romans has been reconstructed, depicting laboratories and artisan shops selling glasswork, leather, and knives. The background sounds replicate those of the lifestyle of way back in those days.    As far as the medieval period is concerned, the blooming of commerce has been represented, but we can also witness the Black Death outbreak which the town fell victim to.   More real than real - The Great Fire of 1666 is represented in the diorama, with all its special effects, sounds and lights that really draw one into the dramatic sensation of that moment. We also see the building of boats and steam engines, and scientific tools...  Little by little, through the centuries, we are led to the bizarre barber shop of the Nineteenth Century, with its services, shampoo, and a prepared ointment for dry-washing hair. The drug store also dates back to the same period; here, metallic boxes and painted and glazed jars contained tea and paraffin used for lighting and heating. Two thousand years' history is all wrapped up in a single spot.At the eastern end of London Wall Street, stand the ruins of St Alphege, partially visible and incorporated into the modern adjoining buildings.

	BARBICAN

	
SILK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN

	The Barbican complex is formed by three large blocks, located between the underground station which goes by the same name, and that of Moorgate, and has existed for about thirty years. This area had been heavily bombarded during the last war. The style of the cement buildings, which are the work of Chamberlin, Powell and Bon, are what is defined as brutalism, and have various entries, terraces, and staggered floors, a labyrinth where one can easily get lost. One of the towers, the Shakespeare Tower, built in 1976, has twenty floors. There are many small private gardens and some islets which stand amid tiny artificial lakes.  

	Barbican is not merely cement, but an immense fantasy of crystal panes. The enormous towers sparkle as they climb towards the heavens, and there are some small brick cottages which bring to mind those of medieval London.  Something that often seems to elude the attention of the beholder is the delightful greenhouse, to be found at the entrance to Silk Street. The arboretum holds two thousand different species of plant life. Also birds and tropical fish dwell here. The greenhouse is used mainly for private receptions and is used by the people who work at the nearby theatre.

	

	CHURCH OF ST GILES-WITHOUT-CRIPPLEGATE

	FORE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN, MOORGATE

	The church commemorates St Giles, protector of beggars and cripples, and is located within Barbican Centre. It is one of the few medieval churches left in the City and dates back to 1394. The present building, with a great tower standing beside the facade, is the result of the 1950 renovation, the year during which the previous building was damaged by the bombings. One of the eastern windows was designed by the Nicholson firm, where the architects, while planning it, followed the design of medieval windows. The figures of St Giles, St Bartholomew, and St Alphege are portrayed. Another pane shows the Fortune Theatre of Golden Lane. Next to it is Edward Alleyn, the benefactor of the church, and founder of the Dulwich College in 1619. On the right, we see St Luke's Church.

	BARBICAN ARTS CENTRE

	

	SILK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BARBICAN, MOORGATE

	From outdoors, the cement blocks of the Barbican Centre seem cold and unpleasant, yet once inside, the foyers, the rooms, and halls are attractive and have a warm feeling about them. The acoustics of the concert room are not amongst the best, but thanks to a significant investment, it has been improved for reverb control and sound absorption, fulfilled via the use of acoustic panels.    
Today the structure hosts concerts of classical and contemporary music. There are also plays, art exhibitions, and films from all over the world. There is a library and there are also three restaurants. One can dine in one of the latter and then head off to enjoy one of the shows... London has much to offer!

	
ALDERSGATE AND MOORGATE

	Originally, Aldersgate was a gate within the City's walls. In Aldersgate, in front of St Botolph's church, where the pastor Jon Wesley, founder of Methodism, reconfirmed his faith, there is an interesting monument commemorating such event. It consists of an iron sheet  with rolled-up corners, much like an old scroll, embedded into the ground, and upon which some words have been engraved. Also Moorgate was a gate in the old Roman walls, and was demolished in 1762. Today the road that bears this name connects the City with the Islington and Hackney districts. The section which lies after the City, Finsbury Pavement, was once called Moor Fields and the name Moorgate derives from it.In fact the area was once a moorland where laundresses would hang their laundry; this is where Londoners sought refuge during the night of the Great Fire, bringing what little they had managed to salvage of their belongings. Today Moorgate is a financial district, the headquarters of banks as well as historical buildings.  

	

	ALL HALLOWS-ON-THE-WALL

	LONDON WALL

	METRO: MOORGATE

	Today All Hallows belongs to the guilds and until 1994 was also the headquarters for the Council for the care of churches. The medieval building, famous for an anchorite of the Sixteenth Century, was damaged heavily by fire, and in 1765 the parishioners assigned its reconstruction to the young architect George Dance. Money was scarce and the buildable area was small, so the church, built in bricks, ended up having a very simple structure. The square tower on the western corner culminates with a dome. There is a single nave lit by three large windows, and the vaulted ceiling is decorated with white and golden coffers, and has delicate motifs. The capitals of the ionic ribbed pillars are placed directly beneath the frieze which runs all around, and the coffer ceiling of the apse is coloured blue and golden. The pulpit is accessible only via the sacristy. In the west gallery there is a small organ. The painting by Nathaniel Dance-Holland is a copy of the Anania restoring the sight of St. Paul by Pietro da Cortona. In the cemetery one can admire the ancient wall art.

	LIVERPOOL STREET STATION

	LIVERPOOL STREET, BISHOPSGATE

	METRO: LIVERPOOL STREET

	Liverpool Street Station was built in 1874, following the design of E. Wilson, although the railway line that started from there had been working for more than thirty years. It was built on the Bedlam Hospital area. During World War II it was destroyed by the bombings, which caused one hundred and sixty two deaths. A funeral monument within commemorates them. In 1964 the building was once again destroyed, this time by a fire.Very near the station, at street number 230, Bishopsgate, stands the Bishopsgate Institute, designed in 1894 by Harrison Townsend. It is a building in the Arts and Crafts style, with a huge arched entrance, windows with mullions, two polygonal turrets at the corners, which bring to mind those of fairy tale castles, and there are also sculpted decorations. It also hosts a library for consultation and a remarkable collection of printed material and illustrations, which portray glimpses of a London which has now disappeared.

	

	PLAYING HOCKEY WITH A BROOM

	12 EXCHANGE SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: LIVERPOOL STREET

	The skating ring in Broadgate Circus is spartan and essential, with clay staircases. Also the surrounding buildings, which host offices, are not at all luxurious. One may come to skate all through the week, however on Monday and Thursday evening there is a peculiar event: one can play broomball, a unique version of hockey. One uses a wooden or aluminium stick, which has a rubber head at the end. The shape of this gear, shaped like a broom, is what gives the game its name. One does not use ice skates but players slide over the ice using specific shoes with special soles, made in soft rubber. Strange as it may seem, the soles are actually anti-slip, otherwise it would be difficult to brake and halt suddenly when needed during the game. Even if one does not feel up to joining in with the game, it is still most enjoyable to watch the two teams compete.

	CHURCH OF ST BOTOLPH

	BISHOPSGATE
UNDERGROUND: LIVERPOOL STREET

	The abbot Botolph, founder of a monastery in Boston, Lincolnshire, was famous for taking care of wayfarers in particular. Because of this, near the five gates of access to the city, there were churches dedicated to him. Those of Cripplegate and Billingsgate no longer exist, however Aldgate, Aldersgate and Bishopsgate continue to survive. St Botolph's church was mentioned for the first time in 1213 and managed to endure the Great Fire, but eventually ended up in ruins. It was rebuilt in 1729 by James Gould and George Dance.

	It is a large church with a brick facade, original stone decorations, and a looming tower with a circular balustrade, and a dome and urn at the top. At the sides of the entrance there are two Dorian pillars which hold up the pediment.The old church cemetery forms a peaceful green area, and includes a fountain and a tennis court. Directly behind the church, there is a small building from 1861 where there was once a school, as indicated by the two tiny statues built in Coade stone, placed in the recesses and portraying a male and female scholar. 

	BUNHILL FIELDS

	BUNHILL ROW

	UNDERGROUND: OLD STREET

	The area of Bunhill Fields overlooks a cross street of City Road and its monument ruins and gigantic plane trees give it a gothic feeling. Bunhill Fields is not a church graveyard, it is the burial place of dissenting nonconformists. In 1827 William Blake was buried here, and his tomb is often decorated with pebbles and flowers, and in 1731, Daniel Defoe as well. Also among these ranks is Eleanor Coade, owner and founder, in 1769, of the factory which produced this homonymous stone, which was used to fabricate statues, such as that of a lion on Westminster Bridge.

	In 1708, the Calvinists of French origin, nicknamed Camisards, gathered here to await the resurrection of their leader, Dr. Emms, who had passed away five months earlier. Unfortunately, they were disappointed when he failed to come back to life.

	One can enjoy picnics on the central lawn listening to the birds' songs, or head over to the vegetarian restaurant Carnevale, which stands on Whitecross Street, for a meal or to buy some of their delicacies to take away. It is a marvellous way to conclude the walk. 

	LUNARDI'S HYDROGEN BALLOON

	MOORFIELDS
UNDERGROUND: MOORGATE

	In 1796, from the land of the Artillery Fields, in the Moorfìelds, Lunardi's hydrogen balloon took flight, and was to provide passengers with the chance of a magnificent view over London. Vincenzo Lunardi had made his first ascension on 15th September 1784, along with a dog, a cat, and a pigeon, and had travelled for twenty-four miles.From that moment, he had become the hero of the day, and his balloon-shaped hat and shirts decorated with drawings of hydrogen balloons were most popular. Lunardi had also successfully launched the first hydrogen balloon in England.Today this area has been built up with skyscrapers and council housing.

	
THE HOUSE WHERE THE POET KEATS GREW UP

	85 MOORGATE

	METRO: MOORGATE

	The name on the old pub sign proclaims “Keats at the Globe”. This is in fact the very place where the romantic poet John Keats was born, in 1795. His father was a stable hand in the Swan and Hoop inn, at 199, Moorgate, at Finsbury Pavement. This type of job was a family tradition, given that his grandfather had worked in an inn.  The poet, born on 31st October 1795, was baptised in the nearby church of St Botolph of Bishopsgate.The only thing that the pub preserves of the Nineteenth Century is the name. On the inside, it is a modern setting, with pool tables and karaoke events. It serves a variety of beer, wine and liquors. There is also a large widescreen television. Near Keats' native home, at the corner of Moorgate with London Wall, stands Moorhouse, an oval building with darkened windows, which looks like the keel of a ship. It was constructed in 2005, following the design by Foster.  

	
THE BANK AND THE SURROUNDING AREA

	
THE BANK OF ENGLAND

	THREADNEEDLE

	METRO: BANK

	The crossroads in front of the Bank of England is the meeting point of eight important streets, amongst which Threadneedle, Comhill, Lombard Street, Queen Victoria Street and Poultry. They are coasted by the offices of finance, trade, and authorities.

	The Bank of England was opened in 1694 and came into state ownership in 1946, becoming the central bank of the United Kingdom. Since then, the building has been expanded twice, by Taylor and by Soane, although some parts of the previous structure have been kept. During its construction, two Roman mosaic floors were discovered, which can be seen at the foot of the main stairs. The central part of yet another item of flooring is now at the British Museum. The present building, by Herbert Baker, dates back to 1924, and has a very sober style to it. In the recesses of the facade on Threadneedle Street are two large sculptures by Charles Wheeler.

	

	THE BANK OF ENGLAND MUSEUM

	BARTHOLOMEW LANE

	METRO: BANK

	In today's world we are so used to the idea of having paper money, that we rarely stop to think about what it was like in the days when it did not exist, or when it was solely a possession for the rich. In 1600, for example, the annual wage of a citizen of London was less than twenty pounds, and the smallest note was of fifty pounds, so there was a slim chance that said citizen would ever get a chance to see one, let alone actually own one.

	The bank was born with the task of gathering funds for the costly military campaigns of William III against the French. The loans were made in exchange for redeemable gold deposits. Today, it is the second oldest central bank in the world, after the Swedish bank. The massive building by George Sampson, with a Palladian-style facade, has been embellishing Threadneedle Street since 1734. The museum recounts the story of the bank.

	On one bulletin board, for example, there is a master book with the first sum ever to be deposited, followed by those of important characters, such as William III or Queen Mary. Another board is dedicated to old one pound notes, which were partly handwritten, much like today's cheques. In the museum, one can also observe some tools for forgery, which appeared almost as soon as banknotes themselves. The penalty for forgery was death, but unfortunately many innocents also ended up on the gallows, having unknowingly used false money. One of the plaques explains that putting false notes into circulation was a strategy followed by Germany during the last world war with the aim of destabilizing the pound. Up until the post-war period, the bank would print only five pound notes, whereas the greater values were introduced only later, between 1964 and 1981. In one of the rooms, there are press machines from the Eighteenth Century, as well as a copy of the charter, along with videos which explain the history of the institution.

	CHURCH OF ST MARGARET LOTHBURY

	LOTHBURY
UNDERGROUND: BANK

	The church, almost hidden behind the Bank of England, was rebuilt by Wren in 1692, after the Great War. It is one of his most important churches, and in designing it, the architect decided to preserve the layout of the medieval church. The outer appearance is traditional, with a white Portland stone facade, a nice entrance porch with Corinthian pillars and a square tower of four floors, culminating in a pointed steeple, which was added later. The classical-style indoor area, is remarkable for its furniture, some of which comes from other churches of the City which were demolished.

	The barrier which divides the nave from the anterior part of the church has a spectacular carving and the vast entrance arch bears an eagle with spread wings. Upon the reredos of a lateral nave, which has been transformed into a chapel, there are paintings of Moses and Aaron. The pulpit is sculpted with flowers and fruit, and surmounted by cherubs and small birds. The baptismal font is also decorated with cherubs, as well as a bas-relief of Adam and Eve, Noah's Ark, and the Baptism of Jesus. The Nineteenth Century organ is one of the most beautiful in the entire country. The walls and flooring are full of commemorative monuments. A baroque festival is also held here.

	The Draper Company building - In Throgmorton Avenue, very near the church, stands the beautiful Draper Company building, and the guild has existed since 1180.  At first, it included small wool merchants, then, with the passing of centuries, it became much more powerful. Today it is a philanthropic institution caring for those in need, and for educational aid. The structure preserves the brickwork of the XVII Century. At the entrance sides, there are two bearded male figures portrayed, which serve functionally as architectural support. In what was once a garden where Macaulay would stroll, today there is a building. Also in the same area, in 1253, the Austin Friars, or in other words the Augustinian monks, had built a monastery, and today there is a street here which bears their name. The ancient church had survived the Great Fire, only to be destroyed by the bombing. The new church, designed by Arthur Bailey, dates back to 1954. Beneath the altar lies an ancient stone, which was the liturgical table upon which the monks would celebrate mass.

	

	ROYAL EXCHANGE

	THREADNEEDLE STREET AND CORNHILL

	 METRO: BANK

	The current building, located at the corner with Cornhill, is the third of those built starting from 1570, the year in which Thomas Gresham decided that the merchants needed a headquarters. The original building, swallowed up by the Great Fire, used to stand in front of a square. It had a warehouse with supplies for hundreds of shops. Also the second building, built in 1838, was obliterated by fire, and only the original turquoise flooring remains. The present building dates back to 1845 and has a vast entrance hall and a shop gallery. One can witness businessmen eating their lunch at the tables, next to the windows which overlook the courtyard.   Behind them are a series of large paintings which portray members of the royal family, nobles, members of the clergy, and common citizens, as shown in the act of stipulating contracts and making deals. The intention of these paintings is to remind us of the financial power of the City. Also the courtyard walls were once decorated with enormous paintings, however they are now covered by the structures of temporary buildings. In front of the entrance there is a statue of Wellington, and in the courtyard there is a statue of a mother with two children. The Royal Exchange weather vane depicts a golden grasshopper, considered the symbol of trade, and an amulet which is supposed to offer protection against evil and adversity.    

	At number 30, Threadneedle Street, stands the Merchant Taylors' Hall. The building has been here since 1347 and has preserved many parts of the medieval walls. The crypt of a fourteenth-century chapel has also survived. The walls of the great hall are covered with a hand-painted Chinese tapestry, which dates back to the beginning of the Nineteenth Century. There is also an admirable portrait of Henry VIII.   In this building, as in those of the other guilds, churches, gardens, and squares in the Square Mile, the City of London Festival is held from the end of June to the beginning of July. The concerts are free and the list of shows includes plays, dance shows, jazz concerts, and visual art events. There are artists and musicians from far away countries.

	
CORHILL

	Cornhill is one of the oldest names in the City. There are two churches here, St Michael's and St Peter's, which are just as old as the former, at least when considering the initial construction. The first of the two is found in Michael's Alley and the original building precedes the Norman conquest. It is said that it was Wren who rebuilt the church in 1677, but it is more likely that it was Hawksmoor, his pupil, who drew the design and supervised the works, because Wren was by then elderly. The old tower was replaced around forty years later. The new one was gigantic and enhanced with pinnacles and sculpted heads, placed at around three quarters of the tower's height. By halfway through the Nineteenth Century, Gilbert Scott had greatly altered the church, adding a gothic porch and venetian fretwork to the windows. Later on, glasswork by Clayton and Bell was added and a new reredos was added.  

	Yet the most remarkable item in the church is still the organ, along with the bells.  

	
St Peter stands at the corner of Cornhill with Gracechurch Street. Apparently, it is the oldest church in London, founded by Lucius, the first Christian king of Britannia in 179 A.D. The current building was built in 1681, as the previous one was destroyed in the Great Fire. The design is by Wren, and his daughter designed the transenna of the choir. The building is a hybrid construction, with a dome at the top of the tower, upon which there is a steeple, and above this St Peter's keys, three meters tall, shaped like a weather vane. The most noteworthy aspect of the interior is the barrier between the nave and the choir. On the reredos, a sheep's fleece has been sculpted, and represents Christ, and bears God's name engraved in Hebrew. The gallery and the organ box still preserve the original woodwork. There is also a monument dating back to 1782, dedicated to the seven Woodmason brothers; these children were burnt alive while the parents were out at a dance at St James Palace. The monument, which bears the seven heads of cherubs, was the work of the Florentine Francesco Bartolozzi. one of the greatest pressmen in Europe, who drew his inspiration from the style of the Italian masters of old.Here, the theatre group The Players of St Peter would gather, and every year they would perform the mystery plays. The little terracotta devils seen on the north side were ordered by a vicar, in order to remind everyone about his victory upon the builders of an adjacent building, who had dared to use half a meter of land belonging to the church. 

	On the organ, the score of the Passacaglia by Bach is exhibited, with an autograph by Felix Mendelssohn dated 30th September 1840, and dedicated to Miss Elizabeth Mounsey, the church's organ player. Mendelssohn had played this piece on this very organ, along with Bach's Prelude and fugue.
On the southern side of Cornhill, there is a network of alleys and narrow passages, among which Ball Court, where it is most pleasant to take a walk. In the splendid building of the Counting House, at the address of 50, Cornhill, where the Nat West Bank headquarters are located, there is now a restaurant, which still preserves elements of its financial past. The bar counter was once the bank desk, and the pretty mirror-laden ceiling is the original too. The sculpted wooden elements, the marble decorations, and the sparkling brass, are all worth a visit. At the back are some small rooms and there are tables also on the mezzanine floor. Here, one may taste the wonders of traditional and classic dishes.

	   

	THE CIRCLE LINE FANS

	KING WILLIAM STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BANK

	Nowadays we hide telephone repeaters; in the past they would cover up the fans in the underground. They were often camouflaged by a series of low, square pillars, covered in bas-reliefs, with a roof-like element jutting out at the top. At the foot of a statue in King William Street, there is a net protecting an underlying fan belonging to the Circle Line. The statue is of James Greathead, the inventor of the tunneling shield which facilitated the opening of the galleries in the London underground area for the construction of the tube. Greathead is depicted with a wide-brimmed hat, as he distractedly looks at a map and holds his jacket under his arm. The statue was erected in 1994 and sculpted by James Butler and later relocated to King William Street, which is the northbound progression of London Bridge.

	

	LOMBARD STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BANK, MONUMENT

	Lombard Street is the road that goes from the corner of the Bank of England up to a point where it crosses paths with Poultry Street, King William Street and Threadneedle Street. Already in the Middle Ages, this was an area of concentration for the main activities connected to money management. The street gets its name from the Italian bankers who dwelled there in the Fourteenth Century and were mainly from Lombardy. European monarchs would entrust them with their money. In those days, banks used to bear insignia with symbols, Lloyd’s sported a horse, the bank of Alexander an artichoke, the Coutts three crowns, the Martin a grasshopper, and the William & Glyn’s bore an anchor.The name of the street entered into idiomatic English with the old idiom: “Lombard Street to a China orange", meaning very heavily-weighted odds.

	Until 1980, the street was the headquarters of many British banks, including Lloyd’s. Yet Lombard Street is not only the road of banks, but also that of churches. One of these is St Edmund’s. The church bears the name of the monarch who became a martyr at the hands of the Danish in 870 A.D. In fact his complete name is St Edmund King and Martyr.The medieval church, where John Shute was buried, author of the first treatise on the history of architecture, was destroyed in the Great Fire. The present building dates back to 1679 and is the work of Wren. It is built in Portland stone with a square tower supporting an octagonal lantern and a steeple which is also octagonal.   On the inside, the pillars of the balustrades of the communion have an unusual shape, the organ is divided into two parts, Moses and Aaron are painted on the reredos, the baptismal font in marble bears a decoration in acanthus wood, and a wooden cover with golden statues of the apostles.

	

	CHURCH OF ST MARY WOOLNOTH

	LOMBARD STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BANK

	The name Woolnoth derives perhaps from the Saxon Wulfnoth. The church at the corner of King William Street, is one of those that William the Conqueror had built in stone. In 1727, Hawksmoor rebuilt it, with the monumental facade that we see still today. T.S. Eliot wrote the following words about it in The Waste Land, I,66-68:

	Flowed up the hill and down King William Street

	To where Saint Mary Woolnoth kept the hours

	With a dead sound on the final stroke of nine.

	The facade is unusual, with a colonnade on the first floor and two truncated towerlets for the bells.

	It has a square layout with three Corinthian pillars at each corner, and the flat ceiling is painted blue and strewn with golden stars.

	The altar is covered by an extremely elaborate canopy, the chandelier is in remembrance of Colonel Buxton, a good friend of Lawrence of Arabia. One of the funeral monuments is dedicated to John Newton, a slave trader who later became  a minister, and who preached here for quite some time. Another monument commemorates Edward Lloyd, the owner of a café which became an initial location for organizing insurance for ships, and later became a worldwide affair.There is also a monument commemorating the inventor Henry Fourdrinier, grandfather of cardinal Newman, who was in turn founder of the Oxford Movement, which was recently beatified by pope Ratzinger. On Easter week, the service and sermon is attended by the Lord Mayor and the City authorities, who dress in ceremonial robes.

	An altar of fragments – In the nearby Clement’s Lane stands the church of St Clement’s, a small building designed and built by Wren in 1687, with a brick tower in full sight. The inside, completely white, emphasizes the magnificence of the pulpit. The organ was installed at the end of the XVII Century by Renatus Harris. Henry Purcell and Jonathan Battishill were both organ players here. The altar is the work of Grinling Gibbons and is noteworthy. It was blown to bits by the bombs, but was patiently pieced together again during the early Fifties. Also the pulpit and the wooden canopy, sculpted towards the end of the Seventeenth Century, are pleasing to the eye. The bombings revealed a crypt dating back to the XIV Century.

	

	MANSION HOUSE

	WALBROOK
UNDERGROUND: MANSION HOUSE

	Mansion House is the official residency of the Lord Mayor of the City. The entrance is on Walbrook and the facade has an enormous elevated porch, supported by six impressive Corinthian pillars, which can be reached via a double staircase. Above the pediment stands a sculpture of Robert Taylor, which represents the opulence and sense of decorum of the City. In 1728 it was decided that a house be built for the Mayor, and the choice was made to do so upon the area of the old stock exchange building. Amongst the participants in the competition for the best project, also Giacomo Leoni was present, yet George Dance the Elder won. The building is made of Portland stone and the terrain was so marshy that the edifice had to be built upon pillars. At the first floor, there are delegation rooms and the Justice Room, seeing as the Lord Mayor is also the president of the City Court. There is a series of halls here, which are really quite magnificent, one of the most beautiful being the Venetian Parlour, with its marvellous chimneys, the carved wood and plasterwork.

	The pharaoh’s hall – Beyond what was once the courtyard, and is now covered, was the Egyptian Hall, built following Vitruvio’s description of what he presumed to be the style of Egypt. It is however unlikely that a pharaoh would have found much familiarity in it. Upon the four walls, there are huge pillars which climb up to the ceiling, and between them and the wall, there is the space for an ambulatory. The walls are full of niches which hold statues representing characters from English literature. Amongst these, are Egeria by Foley, Griselda by Marshall, Britomart by Wyon, and Sardanapalus by Weekes.

	There is also a collection of gold and silver items, as well as insignias and decorations connected to the office: a crystal sceptre mounted on gold, a ceremonial chain, a mace dating back to 1735, and some swords. The ceremonial sword was fabricated in Ferrara during the reign of Charles II.

	
AN EXPERIMENT FOR THE CATHEDRAL

	39, WALBROOK

	UNDERGROUND: BANK

	The church of St Stephen stands behind Mansion House, west of which a road runs, known as Walbrook. It was constructed by Wren in 1679 and in building it, the architect tried out his design for St Paul’s. In spite of the small size, it gives a feeling of vastness, also due to the dome and the effects  created by the play of light. Some of the items have been crafted to a high degree of perfection, such as the pulpit, with the cherubs dancing on the canopy, the altar and balustrade, the baptismal font and its cover.All these elements have been preserved as Wren left them. In the west gallery there is an organ installed in 1765. Once the Walbrook river used to flow in the place where today there is a street going by the same name, and it was navigable and used by the ancient Romans for reaching the temple of the God Mithras, which stood on the banks.

	
MITHRA'S TEMPLE

	QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BANK

	In 1954, on the banks of the Walbrook, the ruins of a temple dedicated to Mithra were discovered. Studies have revealed that the date of construction was around halfway through the III Century. Also a group of sculptures was found, which had perhaps been buried to hide them from Christian iconoclasts. Among these, were the heads of Mithras, Minerva, and Venus. There were also statuettes of Mercury and Dionysus, with a silver box bearing scenes of mysterious rituals. It was decided that the remains of the temple be erected once again near the original setting, on Queen Victoria Street. However, it is impossible to recreate the sense of the secret esoteric place that it once was.

	At the London Museum one can witness the complete reconstruction, with the salvaged items and sculptures inside. One of these is a bas-relief in marble with the god Mithras depicted on it, in the act of killing the bull. Also appearing on the bas-relief, are the twins Cautes and Cautopates,  assistants to Mithras, and Helios, god of the Sun, as he ascends into the sky on his chariot. On a large block of stone there are sculptures of the Moon and the gods of the winds: Boreas, the god of the cold northern wind, and Zephyr, the god of the western wind. An engraving tells us that the soldier Ulpius Silvanus had the altar built in order to fulfil a vow.

	
BISHOPSGATE

	In the north-eastern arch of the City, which escaped the devastation of the Great Fire, there are numerous medieval buildings. The name Bishopsgate, which indicates a road and a neighbourhood, derives from the name of one of the seven gates which used to lead into London through the wall. The original Roman gate had been remade in 1471 by the Hansa merchants. In 1735 the City authorities rebuilt it in its final form. This is where the head of criminals were exposed, skewered onto the ends of spears. In 1760 the gate was demolished. The place is marked by a stone strewn with symbols,  known as Bishop's Mitre, and placed upon a building at the crossing of Wormwood and Camomile Street with Bishopsgate. At its base, it shows the barrier made up by the City walls.

	A pub filled with dust and cobwebs – At number 202, Bishopsgate, in front of Liverpool Street Station, stands a historical pub known as Dirty Dick's, which has become something of an institution in the city. On the signpost is the figure of a eighteenth-century gentleman. The pub was opened in 1745 and it is thought that its name gave Miss Haversham the inspiration for Great Expectations.

	The original name of the pub was Old Jerusalem, however the owners decided to rename it after the famous warehouse on Leadenliall Street. The latter was known as Dirty Dicks because the owner, after a romantic setback which ended in disappointment, he no longer bothered to keep it clean and tidy, leaving it to gather cobwebs and dust. It seems the owner of the pub followed the same behaviour in the bar and distillery. The beautiful pub is on three floors, and beneath its cave-like arches, there are many unusual artefacts. It is famous for its fish & chips and Sunday roast.  

	CHURCH OF ST ETHELBURGA

	78, BISHOPSGATE

	UNDERGROUN: BANK, LIVERPOOL STREET

	The tiny church of the City, dedicated to St Ethelburga was mentioned for the first time in a document in 1250. The walls are made up of debris and slate, and in the western wall, there is an entrance gate dating back to the Fourteenth Century and a window from the following century. The small square tower is overlooked by a bell tower from the Eighteenth Century and a weather vane from 1671.

	It is one of the few medieval churches to have survived the Great Fire of London in 1666 and the bombs of the Second World War. Unfortunately, after having made a clean escape from these two disastrous events, it was almost completely destroyed by an I.R.A. bomb in 1993. The indoor area is quite bare, there is a wooden altar and there are a few paintings. The eastern wall is decorated by a wall painting, which depicts the Crucifixion, St. Luke with a patient and St Ethelburga with a group of children. Today the church hosts a Center for Reconciliation and Peace, which organizes a good deal of meetings between populations in conflict. On the terrain at the back, there is a tent, inside which are some benches and carpets which come from war zones. One may come here to meditate and pray. Some messages of peace are written in different languages on the walls.

	The last communion of the explorer – On 19th April, 1607, the explorer Henry Hudson and his team received their communion in this church, the day before leaving aboard the Discovery in search of the north-western passage to China and India.  Unfortunately, a tragic destiny was in store for them. In June 1611, at the mouth of the Canadian river known today as the Hudson, the crew mutinied. The explorer was abandoned to his fate on a small boat, along with his son and a handful of sailors. They were never to be found again, despite an expedition being launched to rescue them. They almost certainly died of hunger and cold. Various episodes of the unfortunate expedition are portrayed on the windows of the southern nave, carried out by Leonard Walker in 1930.

	 

	A POLYCHROME TURKISH BATH

	8, CHURCHYARD

	UNDERGROUN: LIVERPOOL STREET

	The tiny building of the Turkish Baths is a quaint, delightful gem of architecture. It was built by Harold Elphick when London was invaded by the fashion for all things Oriental, as well as the taste for exoticism. In designing it, the architect referred to a reliquary from the Nineteenth Century, which is located in the church of the Holy Sepulchre of Jerusalem, decorated with names on the walls.
During the Victorian period, as well as being a hygienic habit, Turkish baths were considered a way to relax, first off in a hot environment, and subsequently in cold water. At the end of all this, there was a massage. It was a crossover between roman thermal baths and Turkish tradition. The many-coloured tiles and vivid windows are typical of the end of the Nineteenth Century. The building survived the Blitz and presently belongs to the Gallipoli restaurants.

	

	CHURCH OF GREAT ST HELEN

	LIME STREET WARD

	UNDERGROUND: LIVERPOOL STREET

	The church of St Helen’s, which is extremely close to the Lloyd’s Building and the Gherkin, is in remembrance of Emperor Constantine's mother, who had been mysteriously guided to retrieve the cross of Jesus. In 1631, a classical entrance was installed which is pleasing to the eye, and clearly influenced by Italian style. The baptismal font dates back to 1632. Many merchants and authorities of the City chose to be buried in this church, and for this reason it was named Westminster Abbey of the City. The church contains funeral monuments and ancient tombs. On master mason Kirwin’s tomb, there is an engraving in Latin, which states: “I have adorned London with so many noble buildings, and fate has reserved this small home for me. I have built royal palaces for others, and erected this tomb for my bones.”

	
The duel of Julius Caesar – In the presbytery lies Julius’ Caesar’s tomb, judge, politician, and person in charge of state archives, and was the son of Giulio Cesare Adelmare, a physicist at the service of Queen Mary I. The third wife of Julius Caesar was the niece of the philosopher Francis Bacon. The judge died in a bizarre way at the age of eighty. He had been injured whilst fencing with Antonio Brachetta and thus tried to get his revenge by shooting his opponent while hidden from sight. Unfortunately for him, he missed the target and was beaten to death by his adversary, after a failed attempt at extracting  a sword. His death seems something of a contradiction when compared with the writing on his tomb, which states: “Julius Caesar is ready to pay God his debt in nature in any moment that He may decide so.” Next to the monument to the fallen, erected in 1921, there is a ladder leading to the monks’ dormitory, which allowed them to direct access to the area by night. If any of them were at all ill, they were therefore able to follow mass through an eyelet. In 1993, an I.R.A. bomb, which almost demolished the church of St Ethelburga, wrecked the ceiling and the two large Sixteenth-century windows of this church.

	
LEADENHALL MARKET  

	WHITTINGTON AVENUE

	UNDERGROUND: BANK, MONUMENT

	The market, which is situated in a cross street of Gracechurch Street, dates back to the  XIV Century and stands on the area of a Roman basilica, where there was a forum, shops, and flooring with mosaics. One of these represents Bacchus as he rides a tiger, and is currently in the British Museum. The structure found there today, made of glass and wrought-iron, is from the Victorian age. Its name stems from the lead roof of the great hall, which was commissioned by Hugh Neville in 1881 and designed by Horace Jones, who had also designed Billingsgate and Smithfield. This market is renowned for its wild game, courtyard animals, and fish, as well as herb, spice and grocery stores. The construction of the roof, green, yellow, and brown, makes it quite scenic and ideal for visiting on a walk. It has also become a touristic attraction, thanks to the film Harry Potter and the Philosopher’s stone, which was shot in this location. Through the years, an open market has grown all around it. This is also the place where those working in nearby offices go to shop. Because of this, at lunch time it is usually quite crowded.

	
Leadenhall Street – The street goes from Cornhill to Aldgate and is one of the most important ones in the City. It gets its name from the metal roof of the market, which was once used as a deposit for wheat. Between it and the church of Great St Helen’s, there is a large paved square, converted into a large pedestrian area. The headquarters of the Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company, abbreviated to P&O is located here. The unusual building consists of a block of ten floors of glass and steel, and rests upon a smaller platform, which is two floors high. In the courtyard stands a gigantic statue portraying Navigation and a maypole, painted in vivid colours. At number 56, we find the London Metal Exchange, whereas at number 122, there is a skyscraper nicknamed “the grater”.

	The delightful building of East India House, which was the headquarters of the Company of the Indies, used to be on this street. The Company was formed in order to encourage the trading of silk, cotton, indigo, tea, spices, and saltpetre with the Oriental Indies. Later on, it had ended up administrating and governing a large part of India, also through a use of military power. Things only changed when in 1857, what the English called the Great Mutiny took place, although by Indians this is known as the First War of Independence. From that point onwards, it was the British government which took direct control of assets, with the British Raj, the imperial phase of English domination in India.

	In 1869 the building was demolished and in 1874 the Company was disbanded. Today the area is occupied by a Lloyd's Building.

	At number 86 of the same street, we find the church of St Katharine Cree. Cree is a deformation of Christ. The church was founded by Matilda of Scotland, wife of Henry I, whereas the present building dates back to 1631. It is one of the churches of the City guilds, and the inside area is rectangular and very simple, with an arched roof and rose window which belong to the original choir. On one of the western windows, St Katherine of Alexandria is depicted, in the act of being tortured because of her faith. Henry Purcell and Georg Friedrich Handel once played the organ in this church. Amongst those buried here, is John Gayer, who had paid two hundred pounds in exchange for a sermon to be held each year, on 16th October, in memory of his being saved from a lion, when he was a young merchant travelling through Turkey. The sermon is still held today. Today the church is the headquarters of the Industrial Christian Fellowship.

	

	LLOYD'S BUILDING

	1, LIME STREET

	UNDERGROUND: MONUMENT

	Those who adore the architecture of the Paris Centre Pompidou will beam at this building built by Richard Rogers, which switches those services that would usually be situated on the inside to an outside position. Because of this, it is called the Inside-Out building. The stairs, twelve glass lifts, electrical conduits and water pipes are all in full view. The building is fourteen floors high, with a height of eighty-eight metres, and was constructed between 1978 and 1986. It is made up of three larger towers and three small ones, built around an extremely tall atrium.

	The Committee Room is on the eleventh floor, in the form of an eighteenth-century dining hall designed by Robert Adam, and was part of the previous building. Also the incredibly tall cranes have been left in their place, as decorative elements. The Lloyd’s insurance company was born in 1686 in a coffee shop on Tower Street, opened by Edward Lloyd. The venue soon became the meeting place for, ship owners and commanders, and merchants interested in providing the ships’ goods. A few decades later, the classification and insurance of ships started being formally organized, and all practices were from then on registered.   

	Lutine Bell - The Lutine Bell was fished out of the abyss of the North Sea on 17th July 1858 by the underwater divers working for Lloyd's, in the attempt of recovering everything possible of the load belonging to the frigate Lutine, which had sunk sixty years earlier, loaded with gold and silver. The bell, which weighs fifty kilos, later became the Lloyd’s symbol. It was used for announcing special events,  and while a single strike meant there was bad news, two strikes stood for good tidings. After 1989, it was used only in exceptional circumstances, as a crack had formed along its side. The bell is preserved within a small, attractive circular temple with six ribbed pillars with golden capitals in the centre of the hall. If one follows Cornhill at dawn, when the lights turn on, one may witness a magical scene. A short way to the north, in St Mary Axe, there another modern building awaits, nicknamed the Gherkin, due to its cucumber-like shape.

	

	THE MAYPOLE CHURCH

	ST MARY AXE

	UNDERGROUND: MONUMENT

	The first of St Andrew’s churches was built in 1147, the current one dates back to 1530.
The Renaissance-style entrance is noteworthy, and also the door-knocker is pretty.   The inside area is filled with precious items, amongst which the pulpit sculpted with fruit and flowers, the organ, and the windows bearing portraits of Edward VI, Elisabeth I, James I, Charles I, and Charles II. The baptismal fount in marble was paid for by the parishioners, who had taxed themselves to this purpose. In the north-eastern corner of the church, there is a monument commemorating the historian John Stow, who is buried here. Stow is the author of an important survey of the city, which accurately describes the buildings, the social conditions, and the ways of life during the reign of Elizabeth I. Stow, whose house was in Lime Street, lived in poverty, seeing as his job was not a well-paid one, but after his death, this pretty monument was dedicated to him, and is well-deserved.

	Maypole – The church is called Undershaft because of the tall maypole which once projected its shadow on the bell tower. However, it was no longer erected after the Evil May Day riots of 1517, when the apprentices violently attacked foreigners and tore down the maypole. Henry VIII had some of them hanged and the pole was left on the ground and later cut up into pieces by the parishioners of the nearby church of St Katharine Cree.

	
ALDGATE

	In the days of ancient Rome, at the corner of what is now Duke’s Place, the wall contained a gate corresponding to the road for Colchester. The opening was later widened and became the easternmost gate between the City and Whitechapel. Next to it, in 1108, Queen Matilda, wife of Henry I, founded the Augustinian convent of the Holy Trinity. Here, in 1420, also the Whitechapel Bell foundry was opened.    
Between 1374 and 1386, Geoffrey Chaucer, who was a customs officer, lived in the two rooms directly above the convent, and a blue plaque has been fitted in his memory.
Present-day Aldgate Street is only fifty metres long, and serves as a connection with Aldgate High Street. It hosts two buildings: the headquarters of an insurance company, and a school dedicated to John Cass. On the façade of the latter, a plaque reminds us of the fact that this is where the London Wall used to pass through.

	CHURCH OF ST BOTOLPH-WITHOUT-ALDGATE

	ALDGATE HIGH STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ALDGATE

	The church is situated at the junction between Houndsditch and Aldgate High Street. Although its foundations date back to the period prior to the Norman conquest, the first document which mentions it dates 1115. It was built just before the Reform, and in 1683 Daniel Defoe got married here. The church residing there currently dates back to 1744 and was designed by George Dance the Elder. It is built in the Georgian style, with bricks and stone corner ashlars, and a square tower above the entrance door. On the inside it is well-lit, and is home to a beautiful organ from 1704 by Renatus Harris. The octagonal vestibule has been transformed into a baptistery. The marvellous ceiling is the work of Bentley and in the arched sections, above the galleries, there are rows of exalting angels, which embody the spirit of the Arts and Crafts movement. Along the walls there are niches with plaques and funeral monuments. The oldest of these is represented by a an alabaster slab with a relief of a scrawny, draping figure. It seems like it could be lord Darcy, who, along with Nicholas Carew, was beheaded on Tower Hill for having opposed the religious changes ordered by Henry VIII.

	Yet another plaque looks like it represents William Symington, builder of the  Charlotte Dundas, the first steamboat. However, the real treasure of St Botolph’s is a wooden panel from the late Eighteenth Century, which portrays King David playing a harp. The church is very near Mitre Square, which is where the murder of Catherine Eddowes took place at the hands of Jack the Ripper.

	THE ALDGATE PUMP

	ALDGATE HIGH STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ALDGATE EAST

	The Aldgate Pump stands at the junction of Aldgate Street with Leadenhall Street and Fenchurch Street, and is shaped similarly to a small obelisk. It’s history goes back as far as the Sixteenth Century, during which it was erected in place of the old well. It has always been a point of reference, a landmark for measuring distances and indicating the official point where the East End began. The pump has been declared of architectural interest. It bears a small wolf’s head, which is perhaps a reminder of the last wolf hunted down here. The historian John Stow already spoke of this in his A Survey of London in 1598. The current building, however, which stands a little to the left compared to the former one, dates back to 1876, and after all these years continues to be used. Like other water pumps in London, this one too is tied to a sad story, according to which its waters were contaminated and caused the deaths of many people. The research carried out following locals’ complaints about its strange taste revealed that this was due to calcium released by the skeletons in cemeteries through which the water passed to get to the pump. Today, to make the regulator tap work, one must first press a button, yet the old handle is still in place. In Uncommercial Traveller Dickens wrote: “My interest as an uncommercial traveller invited me that day to visit the East End, so I set off in that direction, just after having passed by the Aldgate Pump.

	PETTICOAT LANE MARKET

	MIDDLESEX STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ALDGATE

	Petticoat Lane was the old name for Middlesex Street. The name was changed due to excessive prudishness, because of the fact that a petticoat was an item of underwear.  It had got its name because of the fact that this was a place where clothes and second-hand underwear would be sold or bartered. The market has existed since 1608 and is one of the traditional trading places of the eastern area of town. The area has always been associated with textile products, dyed and packaged by immigrants, starting with the Huguenots. In more recent times, it has become popular among tourists. One can even find designer clothes from the previous year. In Aldgate East merchants sell leather clothing, next to the bric-à-brac stands. It is worth coming here to take a look around even without necessarily buying anything, however it is a good idea to be on the watch for pickpockets who may attempt to pinch one's wallet.

	Next to Petticoat Lane market is Brushfield Street market. At the northern end of the market street, in Widegate Street and Artillery Lane, one may witness the remains of a few elegant eighteenth-century facades on the shops. The line of the City walls is marked by Houndsditch, which gets its name from the carcasses of animals which used to be thrown into it.

	THE BEVIS MARKS SYNAGOGUE 

	 2 HENEAGE LANE

	UNDERGROUND: ALDGATE

	The strange name of this synagogue, which stands on a street parallel to Bevis Marks, is a mangling of Bury's Marks. Before the closing of monasteries, ordered by Henry VIII, the area belonged to the abbots of Bury St Edmunds, and Marks indicated the sign of a boundary.
The synagogue, founded by sephardic Jews, dates back to 1679 and is the oldest in England. It is the only one in Europe where a religious service has been held continually for more than three hundred years. King Edward I had once expelled them, but Cromwell, who needed their capitals, allowed them to reside on English territory.

	The Quaker Joseph Avis, who was also the builder of the synagogue, had not asked for payment, as he did not deem it proper to earn money from erecting a house of God. On the inside, all the chairs face the centre. The most important item is the wonderful Echal or Ark, the sacred place which is used for preserving the Torah scrolls, in Renaissance style. At the centre of the synagogue stands a raised altar-step, also known as Tehah. There are also some splendid brass candleholders. The whole environment is extremely interesting, especially as it has not undergone any changes. One area of the hall functions as a kosher restaurant.

	

	FENCHURCH STREET STATION

	FENCHURCH PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: ALDGATE

	Fenchurch Street station is small, with only four platforms. It was built in 1841 following William Tite's design and was the first in the City. A white ornamental protrusion stands out against a pretty grey brick wall, and consists of a motif of architectural decoration formed by ledges in coving, just like those found in quaint little country stations. Above it are eleven arched windows and a clock in the centre. The two roof slopes are rounded, and some offices have been built above the tracks.

	Just north of Fenchurch Place lies Camomile Street. The street's name reminds us of the fact that once, during the Middle Ages, wild herbs used to grow here. The same goes for Wormwood Street, which is situated just opposite. "Wormwood" does not literally stand for "a wood full of worms", as one might mistakenly surmise. Instead, the name comes from the assonance with Vermouth, and indicates the aromatic plant known as Artemisia absynthium, which is used as a traditional ingredient of this particular drink, and also for distilling Absinth. Along with camomile, it is a precious therapeutic plant. The memory of the place where they once used to grow has remained in the name of the street.

	Mincing Lane is the street where the clothworkers' building is situated. Its name comes from the Anglo-Saxon word mynechene, meaning "nun". The modern building, designed by H. Austen Hall in 1938 in the neo-Georgian style, hosts the Worshipful Company of Clothworkers, which has existed since 1528, the year the fullers and shearmen guilds joined as one. The exquisite Pepys Cup is part of the superb collection of silverware, and was donated by Samuel Pepys, famous for his diary writings, in 1677, when he was the president of the company.

	

	CHURCH OF ST OLAVE

	HART STREET

	UNDERGROUND: FENCHUCRCH STREET

	The church of St Olave, at the junction between Crutched Friars, Hart Street and Seething Lane, is one of the smallest churches in the capital, with an almost square layout. The arches date back to the Fifteenth Century, and the Eighteenth-century pulpit is richly sculpted. The warrior prince Olaf's conversion to Christianity provoked a strong reaction amongst his subjects, so much as to induce them to rebel. He fell in the battle of Sticklestad on 29th July 1030 and was proclaimed a saint one year later. The church was very dear to Samuel Pepys, who was its most illustrious parishioner because of the fact that he worked at the nearby Navy Office and lived in the neighbourhood. In his Diaries he refers to it as “our church", meaning his own and of his wife, and was more than happy to sit together with her at the pew for the naval officers. Today they are both buried there. His wife, whom he married when she was only fifteen, died at the age of twenty-nine, and was buried here thirty-four years earlier than him. Amongst the funeral monuments, there is a bust painted in vivid colours representing Peter Cappone, a gentleman from Florence who died in London in 1582. He was banished from his city and left for London, however he then fell ill to the plague outbreak. There is a tablet commemorating Dr. William Turner, who died in 1568, the creator of the first English herbarium, with the names of plants catalogued in Greek, Latin, French, German, and Italian. This use of scientific botanical terms introduced England into the map of plants in Europe. Prior to this, only the common names were used to identify them.Another of Turner's merits, according to the writing on the table, is that of having fought "against the enemies of the Church and the Commonwealth, chiefly the Roman Antichrist".

	Sniggering skulls - The arched entry to the church, on Seething Lane, is surmounted by sneering stone frescos and crossed shinbones placed there in 1658, with a phrase in Latin: "Mors mihi lucrum ("death is my fortune"). Dickens was particularly moved by this and spoke of it in Uncommercial traveller. Because of the three skulls which loom over anyone who dares to enter, the writer had nicknamed this city of the dead "the cemetery of St Ghastly Grim". It is rumoured that Mary Ramsay is buried here; in popular beliefs she was thought to have brought the plague to London.

	
LONDON BRIDGE AND RIVERSIDE

	London bridge is falling down

	Falling down, falling down

	London Bridge is falling down

	My fair lady.

	In 1973, Queen Elizabeth inaugurated the new bridge of the capital, designed by four engineers. Its structure is very simple and functional, without decorations. It is often used as an outdoor setting for film shooting. For example, in the film About a Boy, filmed in 2002 and starring Hugh Grant, the actor crosses the bridge during the rush hour, walking against the steady flow of employees heading for the City.

	On 31st August 2008, instead, Amanda Cottrell, honorary citizen of the City, crossed the bridge with a sheep on a leash. She was not acting out the scene of a film, but doing it merely on a whim of her own, after having discovered that according to an old law from the Eleventh Century which had never been revoked, it was perfectly admissible.

	The old Adelaide House, which remained standing for over a century, used to be right next to London Bridge. The present-day version dates back to 1925 and is the work of Burnet and Tait, who chose a vaguely Egyptian style for it, with a touch of Art Déco. In spite of this, however, it was an extremely modern construction, with a steel structure with Portland stone built up around it, and was always kept white and clean. The building interrupted the classical tradition of other buildings of the same type, and was inspired by American ones. In fact, as well as technical facilitations, such as air conditioning and the inner postal service, there is also a small golf course on the terrace which is available to employees.

	

	THE MUSEUM AND ALCOVES OF LONDON BRIDGE

	VAULTS OF LONDON BRIDGE, ADELAIDE HOUSE

	UNDERGROUND: LONDON BRIDGE

	London owes its existence to the decision of the ancient Romans to build a bridge over the Thames, connecting the two banks. The width of the river was, at the time, five times greater than today, but its waters were not so deep. The Roman bridge was built in wood.              The first stone bridge was designed and built in 1176 by a priest and architect, Peter Colechurch. Thirty years were needed to finish the construction. Above the central pillar stood the church of St Thomas, and at its sides were shops and apartments. In 1212, a fire brought about the deaths of over three thousand people, who had been trapped on the bridge by the flames. In 1282, the ice on the surface of the water caused five of the nineteen pillars to collapse. During the Middle Ages, there used to also be a ferry and the last of the ferrymen was John Ovary, whose inheritance was used by his daughter in order to build the convent and the church of St Mary of the Ovaries, the ancestor of the Southwark Cathedral.

	Until 1750 this was the only bridge in London, and it survived until 1825. In 1831 a new one was opened, designed by the Rennie architects, father and son. In 1967, it was decided that it should be replaced, as it was showing signs of giving way. Today the Rennie bridge is in the United States, having been purchased by an American petrol company, cut into segments, and reassembled in a park in Arizona, above a cement structure. Those who wish to see this version of it must head to Lake Havasu City, not far from Las Vegas. It seems to have become the second most popular attraction in Arizona, after the Gran Canyon. One of the stone alcoves equipped with seats, which the builders had placed on each stack, has been placed in the yard of St Thomas' Hospital, and the other is in Victoria Park in Hackney.

	A museum beneath the bridge - The museum represents a tribute to London Bridge, with a narration of its history since the Roman period, all the way up to modern times. It is directly below the bridge itself, where one can still find the walls of Rennie's nineteenth-century bridge. There are representations of all the bridges built throughout the centuries, from that of Colechurch, with its houses, entrance gates, and shops, to that of the Elizabethan era, and also all those that followed.

	

	FISHMONGERS' HALL

	LONDON BRIDGE

	UNDERGROUND: LONDON BRIDGE

	The building belonging to the fishmongers, who are still active in their sector, dates back to the Nineteenth Century, yet there was already a building here in the Fifteenth Century. The current building was built in 1834 following the design of Henry Roberts, whose collaborator was George Gilbert Scott. The two facades, which face the bridge and the river, bear gigantic ionic pillars.

	High up, runs a balustrade, which conveys an elegant feeling to the building. On the inside, in a recess at the bottom of the staircase, stands a statue of William Walworth, the lord mayor who killed the head of the rebels, Wat Tyler, with a dagger. The statue was carried out in 1685 and the expression on Walworth's face seems to be saying that the deed was dictated by a matter of necessity.  

	That lethal weapon has been preserved within its walls. The works of art include a portrait of Queen Elizabeth and Prince Philip, carried out by Pietro Annigoni in 1965. There is also a collection of Flemish paintings, whose subject is, somewhat unsurprisingly, fish. The company also publishes a series of books on the subject, in particular cookbooks and recipes. One of these goes by the title The Fishmongers' Company Cook Book. Lastly, there is a statue of St Peter dating back to the Eighteenth Century, recovered from the Thames, and a bizarre seat made from the first stone of the old London Bridge. Its seatback has been sculpted in such a way as to represent a bridge and the coat of arms shows a bearded merman bearing a sword, with a mermaid by his side.

	Boat race – The company also organizes a boat race on the Thames: Doggett’s Boat and Barge Race, seven and a half kilometres long, for non-professional rowers.   It has existed since 1714, and was created by the Irish actor Thomas Doggett. The winner’s prize is a red jacket with a silver label on its sleeve, and the word “freedom” and the picture of a white bear on the inside, a symbol of the Hannovers.

	

	LONDON STONE, A MISTERIOUS ROCK

	111, CANNON STREET

	UNDERGROUND: CANNON STREET

	It is thought that the Romans used this spot as a reference point for measuring the distances of the land of Britannia. For centuries it was considered an emblematic place, connected to historical episodes. It is the London Stone, its surface rough and its shape irregular, and it is the true heart of the metropolis, a symbolic heart, or “stoneheart”. Its destiny, such as that of the Tower crows, is linked to that of the city.

	“So long as the stone of Brutus is safe, so long shall London flourish” Brutus is the legendary founder of the Londinium and, according to tradition, the stone was supposedly part of an altar built by him. It is also said that the druids of old used it for sacrificial rites. The poet William Blake, in fact, in one of his poems, imagines it as a witness to the cries of anguish of the victims of these sacrifices.

	Today the stone is smaller than in the past, has two grooves in it, and is slightly hidden, protected by a grid. It is located just in front of the underground station of Cannon Street, embedded within the wall of the Bank of China, next to a sports shop. The nearby pub has borrowed its name from it.

	The Cannon tube station opened in 1866 and was designed by Edward Barry. The land on the side of the river gave way, and it became necessary to build a massive brick viaduct, upon which the rail tracks were laid, passing through Upper Thames Street.

	The station was built over an important Roman archaeological area, where what is believed to have once been the province governor’s house used to stand, built around the year 100 A.D., when it had been decided that the capital should be moved here from Colchester. There were public rooms, rooms for meetings, with walls covered in frescos and a vast courtyard with a small ornamental lake.

	

	THE COMMEMORATIVE PLAQUES OF THE CITY

	COLLEGE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: CANNON STREET

	The City has always had its own separate development, a difference which can be noticed thanks to the plaques placed on the buildings where famous characters once lived. Unlike other neighbourhoods, these are made of porcelain and were produced in a variety of different designs and details by the ceramics firm Doulton. Two of these, situated in College Hill, for example, dedicated to Richard Whittington, lord mayor of the City, have a relief writing on the inside of the rim, reading “The Corporation of the City of London".

	Also, the first of the two states that the mayor’s house once stood in that very spot. The second, instead, affixed to the church and dating back to 1422, tells us that Richard Wittington, mayor of the city for four times in a row, is buried there.

	

	THE SKINNERS AND DYERS BUILDINGS

	DOWGATE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: BANK

	The headquarters of the guilds belonging to the candlemakers, skinners, dyers, and innkeepers stand next to each other, at Dowgate Hill. The candlemakers’ guild, the tallow chandlers, was born in order to regulate the manufacturing and sales of candles, then later it expanded to soap products, and finally to a series of food goods, such as sauces, cheese, and vinegar. Their motto was a sentence taken from Shakespeare’s The Merchant of Venice, from act V scene I: “How far that little candle throws his beams. So shines a good deed in a naughty world . The splendid Court Room of the edifice dates back to 1600 and, above a secondary entrance into Cloak Lane, there is a finely-sculpted bas-relief of a seashell. The skinners’ building stands on the area where their work started taking shape. In those days, they would prepare ermine and sable skins for the nobles and royals. Rabbit, cat, and sheep skins were destined for the less wealthy classes. The facade is from 1790, and is the work of W. Jupp. It is decorated by a pediment in Coade stone designed by John Bacon.

	

	The Cockayne Cups - The Court Room still has woodwork from the Seventeenth Century, and hosts a rich collection of silverware, amongst which the Cockayne Cups, shaped, in fact, as cockerels. A part of this collection is the Peacock Cup, so named in honour of its donor. The cup is fittingly shaped as a peacock with three chicks.

	The magnificent chandelier is Russian, manufactured in Saint Petersburg. At number 10, Dowgate Hill, near Cannon Street, stands the building of the dyers’ guild. Built in 1840, upon Charles Dyer’s design, its entrance is beneath a glass arch, and the walls are painted with birds. The Committee Room, where the management committee used to meet, bears a beautiful tapestry in Art Nouveau style. In College Street one can find the Innholders' Hall, the building of the innkeepers as the name suggests, with its seventeenth-century Court Room where the ceiling has been fulfilled in the manner of Inigo Jones.

	

	CHURCH OF ST MICHAEL PATERNOSTER ROYAL

	COLLEGE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: MANSION HOUSE

	The church, separated from Upper Thames Street by a garden, gets its name from the old denominations of the surrounding streets, Paternoster Lane and La Riole, the latter becoming deformed into "Royal". La Riole was called so because of the fact that most of its residents were wine mercants who came from the homonimous town, near Bordeaux. The first church was destroyed by the fire and rebuilt by Christopher Wren's collaborators. This building was later damaged by the bombing. Subsequent restorations managed to recover the belltower, which dates back to 1715 and is characteristic, as it is formed by three floors and surmounted by a parapet, from which a steeple climbs, formed by three sloped octagonal lanterns.

	On the inside, there is pulpit and a bookstand, and alongside the latter, a statue of Charity, as well as a magnificent brass chandelier and two unusual statues of Moses and Aaron at the sides of the altar. Four windows have Hayward window tinting. Above the altar, St. Michael is portrayed defeating Satan, while along the southern wall we can see Whittington with his cat, walking along the golden pavement of the City, where he has managed to find his fortune. There is also a large funeral plaque dedicated to him, which indicates where his tomb is located. One funeral monument brings to mind the judge Samuel Pennant, who died of “prison fever", during the mortal sessions of 1750 at the Old Bailey. In 1968, the church was reopened by the duke of Edinburgh and destined for the use of mission headquarters for the Seafarers, an organization belonging to the Anglican Church,  supporting chaplains in harbours all over the world.

	

	MONUMENT

	49, MONUMENT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BANK, MONUMENT

	The Dorian pillar in Portland stone, overlooked by a symbolic, flaming urn, stands a good eighty meters tall, and also its height is symbolic, because it is equal to its distance from the Fire. It stands at the junction between Monument Hill and Fish Street. The Monument commemorates the Great Fire which wrought havoc upon the city in 1666, destroying around fifteen thousand houses and about ninety churches.

	It is precisely here that St Margaret's Church used to be. The pillar, designed by Christopher Wren and Robert Hooke, was built in Portland stone and, at the time of its construction, in 1677, it was the highest in the world. At its base, on the western side, there is an emblematic sculpture of Caius Gabriel Cibber, with a personification of the City represented in an attitude of dismantled despair. On the opposite side, instead, stands King Charles II in Roman Armour, as he moves to rescue the city, assisted by Science, Liberty, and Architecture. The latter is depicted holding in its hand a layout of the city, a triangular ruler, and a compass. The three Latin inscriptions provide explanations on the beginning of the fire and the damage caused. The writings on the eastern side, near the door, blame the Catholics. In fact, amongst the citizens left without a home, a rumour had spread, stating that the fire had been caused by an attack by the French and the Papalists.

	A gruelling yet gratifying climb One can climb to the top of the pillar, where the view is magnificent. It is really quite worth putting in the effort of overcoming the three hundred and forty steps of black marble.

	

	THE GORILLA RACE

	MINCING LANE

	UNDERGROUND: MONUMENT

	The Great Gorilla Run, which takes place in the business part of the City beneath enormous bunches of bananas, is an event aimed at gathering funds for an association which saves mountain Gorillas in Ruanda. It is also intended to raise awareness with regards to the preservation of animal species. The participants are about one thousand, and must dress up in gorilla-like costumes, and then run along the route that starts from Mincing Lane, near Monument, passes alongside the Tate Modern Gallery, and ends at Tower Bridge. The entire marathon is seven kilometres long, and the primitive apish costumes of the runners can sometimes leave tourists somewhat bemused and disconcerted. Some take part in the race on monocycles, much like the ones used by clowns at the circus.

	The race always takes place on a Saturday, in the second half of September.

	It is not so much a sports event, as it is a show, which is meant to be as entertaining as possible. The participants giggle and whoop in their enjoyment, and some of them, such as those pushing a pram with a gorilla-like infant sucking a dummy inside, are on par with characters straight out of a comedy film.

	

	OLD BILLINGSGATE FISH MARKET

	LOWER THAMES STREET

	UNDERGROUND: MONUMENT

	The first market building was built in 1850 by John Jay and demolished twenty years later to be replaced by an arched structure which can still be seen today, designed by Horace Jones. However, it no longer hosts the market, but is a place of meetings and events. In 1982, the market was moved to a new building in the area of West India Dock, on the Isle of Dogs, near Canary Wharf. The brick structure has arches in wrought-iron sustained by pillars of white stone, with written indications above the sales stands, for assigning positions. The weather vane on the roof is surmounted by a large fish. Excavations in the surrounding area have revealed much about life on the riverside area during the Roman times and Middle Ages, starting with the almost completely intact Roman baths which came to light from the subsoils of the nearby Coal Exchange.

	Its structure is simple and elegant, with a colonnade at the entrance and a fascinating rounded tower on the corner: this acted as the headquarters of the Coal Exchange. Near Billingsgate Market, at number 20, Lower Thames Street, the first customs office was built in 1275. The building we see here today dates back to 1815 and is the fifth in the series.

	In the Eighteenth Century, the steeple of the church of St Magnus the Martyr, in Lower Thames Street, and the Monument were the two reference points of the town. On the ground floor of the bell tower, there is a small porch beneath which a short cut used to lead towards the bridge. At the height of the second floor there is a golden clock. The inside of the church is magnificent. The extraordinary splendour of  its golden and white hues was even described by T. S. Eliot. The central nave has an arched ceiling and is separated from the lateral ones by ribbed Ionic pillars. The reredos, which is still the original, bears paintings of Moses and Aaron, and above a Crucifixion has been depicted. The organ sits in the western gallery, which can be reached via two staircases with a spiral balustrade. The church cemetery contains some large block of the wall of the Old London Bridge, and a pile which once belonged to a jetty or some Roman bridge.   

	

	CHURCH OF ALL HALLOWS BY THE TOWER

	43 TRINITY SQUARE

	DLR: TOWER GATEWAY

	This was the most ancient church in London, built upon the site of a Roman house, of which the mosaic pavement of the crypt. It had managed to escape the Great Fire of 1666 thanks to measures taken by Admiral William Penn, who had ordered the demolition of all the houses in the surrounding area in order to create an empty zone. In those days, the church was known as All Hallows Barking, a name that reveals how it once belonged to the Barking Convent, which was that of St Ethelburgha. Unfortunately, on the night of December 8th, 1940, a bomb reduced the building to an empty shell. The current structure dates back to 1957 and Lord Mottistone fulfilled an excellent restoration, in the late medieval style.

	The insides are very well-lit, and above the altar, where the cold light of the river reverberates, there is a wall painting of The Last Supper, a work by Brian Thomas, who dressed the characters in clothes which cannot be placed in time, in order to symbolize the fact that splitting the bread so as to share it in a brotherly way belongs to all the epochs. On the pulpit, decorated with the heads of cherubs and wreaths of flowers, there is a wooden panel recovered from the original medieval one. Near the wall there is a small kneeling statue of Girolamo Benaglio, an Italian painter who died in London in 1583. In the lateral nave to the South stands the Mariners' Chapel, where a series of ship models have been gathered as votive offerings. There is a closed area under the organ, where visitors can sit down to read in peace and tranquillity.

	The baptismal font of the prisoner Tulipani – The sink containing the baptism water was sculpted by an Italian prisoner. The men of the 172 Tunnelling Company, assigned to gallery tunnelling, had cut out a block of hard limestone, and a Sicilian prisoner of war called Tulipani sculpted it into a delightful circular basin, which has been placed against a thin pillar. The cover dates back to 1681 and portrays  three little angels playing around a heap of flowers, sheaves of wheat, fruit, and pine cones. At the top of this stack perches a dove. The church possesses a collection of roughly twenty bronze statues, dating back to a period which ranges from the end of the XII century to the XVI century.

	

	THREE CHURCHES BY WREN

	IDOL  LANE

	UNDERGROUND: MONUMENT

	The medieval church of St Dunstan-in-the-East, which once held a monument erected by the parishioners, dedicated to the Elizabethan commander and explorer John Hawkins, whose body was buried at sea. The church was damaged by the Great Fire. It was restored and in 1695 Wren added a bell tower. In 1821, it was decided that it be rebuilt following David Laing’s design. After the severe damage endured during WWII, no further action was taken, and only Wren’s tower was restored. The land contained within the walls has been transformed into a garden. In the Spring, clematis climb through the gaps in the windows. The tower stands four storeys tall, and each corner is marked by a great pinnacle from which four vertical ribs depart to support the lantern and the thin steeple. Small angels stand above the entrance door.

	St Mary- at-Hill, Situated on a street which goes by the same name, is a somewhat hidden church, at the end of a narrow passage. It is mentioned for the first time in a 1177 document. Its inside area was rebuilt by Wren, whilst the walls and tower belong to the previous period.

	Wren’s work is perfectly preserved and without modifications, including the private  wooden fenced-in area, the reredos and pulpit. The vestibule contains a bas-relief of the Resurrection, with the dead nimbly leaping out of their tombs. The original organ (the present one is a copy) had the characteristic trait of having the black and white key colours inverted. Outside the church is a clock with a blue dial sustained by a black and golden support stand. Once, the clock’s hands were operated by small staffs connected to a mechanism located in the tower in Lovat Lane, which was about three hundred metres away. These staffs would pass through the loft of the church and the hands would jump forward every four minutes. Some of the cemetery terrain was sold for construction. Crows living in its trees found themselves without shelter or a place to perch, until the architect Henry Peek saw to it that an area was created for them on the facade of the building. He designed some circular recesses, which are still not extremely comfortable for the crows, as they are not very deep in the wall.

	St Margaret Pattens - In Rood Lane stands St Margaret Pattens church, built by Wren in 1687. It has a square tower which ends with a parapet, from which a steeple stems, dressed in lead, and is the third tallest amongst all those built by Wren.  

	The exact origin of the name is unknown. Perhaps it has something to do with the overshoes with wooden soles, manufactured and sold in the area, or perhaps it refers to the patterns of the pillars. Today the church belongs to a brotherhood and is used as a centre for meetings and conferences. The works in sculpted wood are prized and the reredos supports a small painting of Christ in Gethsemane  by Carlo Maratti (1625-1713). In the Nineteenth Century the church had scholars for its deans, such as Thomas Birch, a historian and editor of the works of Spenser, Raleigh, Bacon, and Milton.

	Mice in the cheese – In the nearby Faistcheap stands a strange building, constructed in the Italian style, which is an assembly of architectural elements which are all different from each other. There are small blue pillars which frame pink windows and on the roof cornice the heads of dogs and pigs. Just around the corner, high up in Philpot Lane, there is a sculpture of two brown mice biting into a piece of cheese. The meaning behind this sculpture is not clear, but an amusing interpretation insinuates that the local labourers, seeing their sandwiches disappear, may have wanted to commemorate the authors of this theft.    

	The small iron pillars which act as traffic dividers are a classic item of street furniture in the streets of the City. One of these stands atop a small pedestrian island, where Gracechurch Street meets Eastcheap: it is white and surrounded by others like it.These items are all covered by what looks like a lemon squeezer. The pillars actually serve a double function, serving as a ventilation duct for the bathrooms below.   

	 

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER

	

	The City of Westminster is a very vast area of the capital, which comprises  (beyond the original settlement where today we find many British institutions)  the majority of the West End, with  Piccadilly Circus, Trafalgar Square and Hyde Park.    

	Today it is difficult to imagine that  the area where there is now the Abbey was once a swampland  beaten by wind. he reason for which this place was chosen for the construction of the Abbey was really because of its isolation, far from the temptations of the city, so it was ideal for a monastery.  Moreover, it was well supplied with water.  Today, Westminster reaches from Hampstead to the Thames and from Kensington to the City.  It occupies  a great part of the center of London and a major part of the West End.  It is divided  into different locations, including the well known areas around Parliament,  Buckingham Palace and the area around 10  Downing Street.  It also comprises other areas around Oxford Street, Regent Street, Piccadilly, Bond Street and Soho. Westminster, in its original significance, meant “western church”. It’s true that it is a touristic and well-known place,  but notwithstanding this, there are many details and elements  that usually escape observation and it’s a good idea to dwell a bit on them.

	

	WESTMINSTER ABBEY
20 DEAN'S YARD
UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	Since Christmas Day in 1066, when William the Conqueror celebrated his coronation, Westminster Abbey has been the place of coronation of all the sovereigns, as well as that  of their  burial.  Given its importance, there are many monuments, the great majority of which are marble, which demonstrate almost an anthology of civil history, literature, art and British science.  In addition to the Kings, in the Northern transept are buried the statesmen Peel,  Palmerston, Disraeli and Gladstone, the scientists, Darwin, Newton, Herschel and others. In the Northern choir aisle, where we find the organ, are the tombs of  Handel, Purcell, Blow and others. In the Southern transept are the writers and poets.  There is also the statue of the actor Garrick.

	 Italian artists in Westminster - There are so many Italian works of art in the Abbey that one could dedicate an entire tour to them.

	The principal altar, in front of which are  held the Coronation ceremonies, was designed in 1867 by Gilbert Scott.  It stands out against an altar piece with a mosaic of the The Last Supper, designed by J. R.  Clayton and created by Salviati.  The image of the Last Supper is next to the statues of  Saint Peter and Saint Paul, Moses  and David.  The mosaic on the floor is covered by a carpet to protect it, and was created in 1268 by Cosmati.  It was placed by the artisan Odericus,   who the Abbot Ware had invited from Rome.  It is created in marble with stone inserts of wavy and zigzag glass, in square and circular forms (this floor is reproduced in the painting  by Holbein with the title “The Ambassadors” which is in the National Gallery). On the North side  of the presbytery there are magnificent tombs surmounted by elaborate canopies, at the bases of which are some little statues of men and women crying, similar to the hired mourners.

	In the back of the main altar there is the marble tomb of Edward the Confessor.  The mosaics were created by Peter, civis romanus, a Roman citizen who was perhaps the son of Odericus.

	

	THE POETS' CORNER

	SOUTH TRANSEPT

	WESTMINSTER ABBEY

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	Many are the writers and poets buried here, starting with Chaucer, who has been here for six hundred years. In 1599, when Edmund Spenser was buried, his friends and fellow writers gathered in this place and filled his tomb with their elegies and the pens that they had used to write them. Also here are Dryden, Milton, Coleridge, Wordsworth, Byron, Tennyson, Browning, Dickens, Kipling, T.S. Eliot, Dylan Thomas, James, and Auden. In the Poets' Corner they have been commemorated with busts, amongst which that of William Blake (honoured in death and considered crazy during his lifetime) is especially noteworthy and was sculpted by Jacob Epstein in 1957.  

	Also Thomas Hardy was buried here, except for his heart, placed in a biscuit tin and brought to Stinsford in Dorset, in order to be arranged amongst his ancestors. Also buried here are Thomas Grey and James Macpherson, the creator of the Poems of Ossian. Also present is Robert Browning, delivered here from Venice, where he passed away, and the greatest of all, George Gordon Byron.   

	

	THE WAX STATUES OF THE KINGS AND QUEENS

	20, DEAN'S YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	Beneath the vaulted crypt of St Peter's, which dates back to the Eleventh Century, there is a fascinating collection of funeral effigies of royal characters. The crypt is the most ancient part of the church, dates back to the Eleventh Century, and is situated on the East side of the cloister. The craftsmanship of the statues is excellent, and great attention has been given to detail. Some of them, the oldest, are made in wood, others are in wax, and are dressed with clothing that was once part of the royal wardrobe. The facial features were made to be as similar as possible to real life. The effigy of Edward III is the most ancient to exist in Europe, and even the eyebrows, made of tufts of dog's fur, are well conserved. It was used at his funeral in 1377. The statue of Henry VII has very similar facial features as they are based on his death mask. There are also wax statues of Elizabeth I, Charles II, who succeeded Cromwell, William III, and Queen Anne, the last member of the royal family to be buried here. Next to the queen stands her little parrot, one of the first animals to be stuffed with straw and to have been preserved until now. Also present are the statues of Nelson and William Pitt. Nearby are a series of objects which were in some way connected to these characters of the past, such as the saddle, helmet, and sword belonging to Henry V, some medieval panels of tinted glass, the coronation throne of Mary II, and some copies of ceremonial gifts. There is a Roman sarcophagus from the Fourth Century discovered in the location itself, and a retablo from the Thirteenth Century.

	
 

	THE SCHOOL FOR NOVICES

	LITTLE DEAN'S YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	Behind the abbey, surrounding Dean's Yard, stands the medieval building of the Royal College of St Peter at Westminster, better known as Westminster School. It was once the school for novices; now it is one of the most famous independent institutes in the United Kingdom, and Queen Elizabeth is considered the founder of the present-day school,  which is located in the centre of London near Westminster Abbey and whose history dates back to before the Twelfth Century. Around eight hundred pupils attend the school, both male and female. Some of its most famous students have been the poet and playwright Ben Jonson, the philosopher John Locke, the architect Christopher Wren, and in more recent times, the actors John Gielgud and Peter Ustinov. The School Hall, which is not visible, was part of the monastery dormitory.

	

	THE DUKE'S HOUSE

	LITTLE DEAN'S YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	In 1882, Ashburnham House was purchased by Westminster School, and since then has been a part of the school premises. It was designed by Inigo Jones, for the family which was to later become that of the duke of Ashburnham. Well Hall incorporates the remains of the medieval Priory House, with its wooden panelling and plaster. During the Second World War, the library hall was used by the Royal Air Force as a communication operating HQ. There is also a marvellous staircase. The garden hosts what remains of Edward the Confessor's abbey.

	In 1969, some of the scenes from the film The Magic Christian were shot here, starring Peter Sellers, Ringo Starr, and an army of other actors and famous celebrities. The beginning of the story is almost Dickensian, with a millionaire adopting an orphan whom he has met in the park, and it contains satire which often harshly addresses capitalism, greed, and human vanity

	

	THE NINE-HUNDRED-YEAR-OLD GARDEN

	LITTLE DEAN'S YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	College Garden has existed for a good nine hundred years, and is the most ancient garden of England, cultivated without interruption. At first, it consisted of therapeutic plants. The monk in charge of tending to sick and elderly companions would use the plants to heal them and would also manage a dispensary for the local population. He would decide which medicinal herbs to grow and amongst these, fennel and hyssop were always a must. There was also a grove producing apples, pears, prunes, and grapes, as well as an orchard which yielded leeks and broad beans. In the field, events are still held today in order to collect funds for cancer research. In the Sixteenth Century there were two ponds with water-lilies, cultivated because of their cardiotonic properties. A remnant of that age is an area of the perimeter wall at the back of the garden. The five sycamores, instead, date back to 1850.

	

	THE JERUSALEM CHAMBER

	WESTMINSTER ABBEY

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The Jerusalem Chamber was built at the end of the Fourteenth Century. Henry IV was brought to this room after having suddenly fallen ill whilst praying in front of the sacrarium of  St Edward in 1413, the day before his departure for the Holy Land. When he regained consciousness, he asked where he was. Once he heard the name of the room being spoken to him, he realised that he was to die there, seeing as a prophecy had told him that he would spend his last days in Jerusalem. Some of the glass panes are from the Fourteenth Century and parts of the tapestry were carried out in Brussels halfway through the Sixteenth Century.

	

	THE PALACE OF THE PARLIAMENT

	PARLIAMENT SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The building looks out onto Parliament Square, which was built by Barry in a style which was meant to reach the level of nobility of the building itself. There are many statues from the Nineteenth Century representing political figures, amongst which Lord Palmerston and Disraeli, carried out in 1883 by Mario Raggi. In the Twentieth Century, amongst others, also Churchill's was added, carried out by Robert Jones. To one side, stands that of Abraham Lincoln, a copy of the original in Chicago.

	Throughout its history, the palace of the Houses of Parliament has passed through a series of events which endangered its very existence. One of these episodes was connected to a group of British Catholics who felt oppressed by King James I, who had turned to the Protestant religion. They planned an attack which was meant to unfold on November 5th, 1605.   

	However, someone had betrayed them, and the royal guard captured Guy Fawkes in the palace cellars, as he was planting the explosives. He was subjected to torture in the Tower, and gave up the names of his accomplices, who were promptly captured and executed, their heads impaled and put on show in Parliament Square. Since that day, the Palace cellars have always undergone a thorough search before Parliament gathers. However the destruction of the palace came from a different source: a fire, which started during the night of October 16th, 1834. Charles Barry had won the bid for its reconstruction. The text of the competitive bid specified that the building was to be built in the Gothic or Elizabethan style. Barry had a distinct taste for the Italian style which he had already applied to the Travellers Club in Pall Mall. According to his project, the facade was to have an Early Tudor style. The building, completed in 1860, was the result of a collaboration between Barry and Pugin, helped by an exceptional workforce of artists, artisans, and sculptors.

	Westminster Hall, in Storey's Gate, is the most ancient part of the palace. It was the great hall of the Kings of England, commissioned by William Rufus, the son of the Conqueror, in 1099.

	This is where the courts of justice would once assemble; this is where judgment and sentences were inflicted upon the likes of Thomas More, in 1535, Guy Fawkes, in 1606, and King Charles I, in 1649. The fire of 1834 did not damage it, and today it is used as a chapelle ardente for the members of the royal family.

	

	OLIVER CROMWELL

	CROMWELL GREEN

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	In front of Westminster Hall, there is a bronze statue of Oliver Cromwell, carried out by Hamo Thornycroft, and discovered in 1899. It is rather bizarrely ironic that this puritan should have a statue in the very place where Charles I was tried, as during the eleven years of his government he proceeded to shut down theatres, ban gambling, tennis, and public monuments which he believed could lead to idolatry. Cromwell is immortalized looking towards his old enemy, King Charles, whose miniature bust has been placed in a niche just above the portal of the church of St Margaret.

	Cromwell died seven years after his victory in the Battle of Worcester in 1651, which forced Charles I to leave the country. He was buried in the chapel of Henry VII, yet in 1661, with the onset of the Restoration, Charles II had him removed. His decomposing corpse was left for a night in Red Lion Square, then taken to Tyburn, impaled on a fork for a few days, and finally exhibited on the rooftop of Westminster Hall, until a gust of wind toppled it off. It was then recovered and taken to Sidney Sussex College, where he had studied and where his corpse is still kept now.

	

	RICHARD THE LIONHEART

	OLD PALACE YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	In Old Palace Yard stands the equestrian bronze statue of Richard I, nicknamed Richard the Lionheart, born in 1157. Richard was King of England, although he barely knew English. He was also the Duke of Normandy and Count of Nantes and Anjou. The nickname derives from his reputation as a warrior. At the age of sixteen he already had his own army, in Poitou he defeated the rebels who were fighting against his father Henry II. He took part in the Third Crusade, gaining victories against the Saladin.      

	Amongst his military campaigns was the attack unleashed on the uprising in the city of Messina, on October 4th, 1190, followed by it being sacked and burnt down. He died between his mother's arms, due to the gangrene which had developed from an arrow wound. His brain is buried in the abbey of Charroux in Poitou, his heart in Rouen, Normandy, and the rest of the body in Fontevraud Abbey, in Anjou.

	His statue is the work of the sculptor Carlo Marochetti, who left Piedmont at the time of the insurrections in 1848. In London, the baron Marochetti had become an academic and a friend of the prince consort. He carried out the statue in 1860. During the Victorian epoch, King Richard was much admired for his participation in the Crusades, and was considered a man of God. The statue has a heroic pose to it, with the king brandishing his sword fiercely.

	

	JEWEL TOWER

	OLD PALACE YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	This small three-storey tower which now stands isolated is one of the few fragments to be left of the old palace of Westminster. It was built in 1366, and at first, was a prison belonging to the abbey. Subsequently, it was acquired by the royals as a place to keep their jewellery and collection of clothes. The jewellery is still kept in these rooms with panelled ceilings, which until 1540 were interconnected by a spiral stone staircase. On the ground floor there are still some stone roundels and capitals which were part of the original palace of Westminster. They bear sculpted figures of knights, eagles, lions, and birds. In a water painting one can admire the tower as it was before the Reform, with monks busy in the wall-encircled gardens. In the Eighteenth Century, the registers of the House of Lords were kept in the tower.

	For visitors there is a small exhibition on the history of the palace and the tower. The moat, still filled with water, served as a first line of defence. There were once fish swimming in it, now there are water-lilies. The water comes from a small stream, which follows the same path as it did a thousand years ago, before it disappeared underground and became an affluent of the Thames.

	

	KNIFE EDGE

	ABINGDON STREET

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	In front of the palace of the Parliament, these two bronze statues which go by the name Knife Edge Two Piece are situated in front of Victoria Tower and are the work of Henry Moore. They bear the undulated shape which is so typical of this sculptor, who is famous for his abstract and monumental works, often depicting human figures which hint at the shapes of the female body. In the Fifties, he sculpted many family groups. He introduced modernism into Great Britain, along with the concept that art should return to its pre-cultural and pre-rational origins, influenced by the Mayan and Toltec figures of the Louvre.

	

	TAXI LIGHTS

	PARLIAMENT SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	At the corner of Parliament Square with Bridge Street, at the top of a stone pillar, stands a small streetlamp. The light bulb inside starts to flicker as a sign that somebody within Parliament is in need of a taxi, and drivers passing by can stop to pick them up. A few minutes before leaving, the MPs will notify the guard at the gates to switch the flickering light on.     

	On the opposite side of the Thames are the Black Rod's steps, which get their name from the Black Rod's Garden, where they start. The pavilion is a simple porch, which could have been used as shelter by passengers of ferries waiting under the rain. It no longer holds much use and is purely decorative.

	

	CHURCH OF ST MARGARET

	20, DEAN'S YARD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The current church, in the late Gothic style, dates back to 1500 and fits in harmonically with the abbey. The original one, however, was founded at the start of the Twelfth Century by Benedictine Monks. Later on, the choir and tower were added. The church is dedicated to Margaret of Antioch, the saint who was forced by her father to act as a pig guardian in order to punish her conversion to Christianity. The saint is often  painted with a dragon under her feet, defeated with the sign of a cross placed above it.  

	During the past century, members of Parliament used to come here for the divine service in the days connected to historical commemorations, such as that in memory of the execution of Charles I, the Restoration, and Guy Fawkes' conspiracy. Still today, it is the church for MPs. Its treasure is the eastern glass pane, fabricated in the Flanders for the wedding of prince Arthur with Catherine of Aragon. It bears the representation of Christ's Crucifixion, and to the sides are Saint George and Saint Catherine of Alexandria. The various characters stand out against the blue background. Under the glass pane there is a carved reredos, dating back to 1753, which depicts the supper at Emmaus. Under the greater altar, lies buried the headless body of the soldier and explorer Walter Raleigh, executed in Old Palace Yard. Amongst the funeral monuments, there is an allegory dedicated to Peter Parker, sculpted by C. Prosperi in 1814. The southern panes are the work of John Piper and were added in 1966.      

	

	MILLBANK

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The area which runs along the Thames, east of Pimlico and south of Westminster, owes its name to a windmill which belonged to a nearby abbey. Today the area hosts numerous buildings from the Thirties, the period during which the area was rebuilt after the overflowing of the Thames. A section of twenty-five metres of the docklands wall collapsed and the river water burst the banks. There is also a large street going by such name along the north bank of the Thames, which was built halfway through the Nineteenth Century as part of the Embankment and which passes above a large cesspool.    

	 South of St Margaret's church, there is a palace which was once the headquarters of the ICI, the Imperial Chemical Industries. In 2008 the chemical industry was acquired by Akzo Nobel, a Dutch multinational specialized in the production of paints and chemical products. The building was designed in 1928 by F. Baines. The metal doors of the main entrance are decorated with panels with bas-reliefs which portray man and his relationship with science and industry. Above the door there is nineteenth-century bas-relief of Britannia, symbolized by a bearded and crowned head. These are the work of William Fagan and are considered beautiful to the point of rivalling those by Ghiberti in the Florence Baptistery.        

	

	TATE BRITAIN AND TATE MODERN

	MILLBANK

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The gallery hosts five hundred years' worth of British art, including Blake, Turner, Gainsborough, Constable, and Bacon, and the entrance is free. There are also numerous exhibitions throughout the year. On the first Friday of the month, the Tate Britain opens its doors until 10 p.m. for the Late at Tate, at half-price. The Tate Modern, instead, offers Saturday Live, a program of events with music, films, performances, discussions, and art shows until late. One should note that the two galleries are connected by the Tate to Tate, a boat service which leaves from the Marks and Barfield Millbank Pier, near the Tate Britain, and arrives at the Bankside Pier, where the Tate Modern is situated. The boats leave every forty minutes, during the opening hours of the gallery. The ticket can be bought onboard and there is one for a longer route.

	 Other galleries, such as Whitechapel Gallery, are open for the First Thursdays. There are also evocative candlelit evenings, at the Dennis Severs' House and John Soane's Museum.  

	

	WESTMINSTER WALK

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	Surrounding Westminster Abbey is a network of peaceful back roads, which have evocative historical names: Abbey Orchard stands where there was once an old medieval orchard belonging to the monks of St Peter's. Old Pyre Street is dedicated to a depute of King Charles I. Barton Street is named so in honour of the actor who built it. Another is Lord North Street, at the end of which the baroque church of St John's in Smith Square is situated. All of these roads are coasted by delightful Georgian houses, which were once built for artisans and later became much sought-after due to their position. Some of the original street signposts have remained, engraved on stone slabs, which bear the date 1722. On the facade of a few houses there is a faded arrow and the letter 'S' at the level of the road. The arrow indicates the bomb shelters in the underground which were active during the Second World War. The walk through these marvellously conserved residential streets is made all the more exciting by the fact that they are extremely close to the confusion of the adjacent touristic area.

	For those who on the contrary do not wish to walk but are interested in the modern architecture of the underground stations, one can board the trains of the Jubilee Line at Westminster and get off at any of the stations in the Greenwich-bound direction. These are the work of famous contemporary British architects: Hopkins, MacCormac, Jiricna, Foster... Canary Wharf Station, designed by Norman Foster, is three hundred and thirteen metres long, has an ellipsoidal shape, is deeply penetrated by rays of light, and is served by futuristic lifts.  

	

	SMITH SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: ST JAMES'S PARK

	Smith Square is a peaceful square in the heart of Westminster. The surrounding streets are flanked by small houses from the early Eighteenth Century, almost all inhabited by the members of Parliament, due to their proximity to it. The square bears the family name Smith because of the fact that it owned the terrain where the square was built. It was one of the family members who, in the Eighteenth Century, started its construction. At first a family house was erected, at number 1, which the descendents continued to inhabit. The houses ranging from numbers 1 to 9 are the original ones.           

	At number 17, stands Nobel House, built in 1928 for the Imperial Chemical Industries, and which now hosts the Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs. Since 1904, number 5 has been the home of the pioneer of investigative journalism, William Thomas Stead, who died onboard the Titanic in 1912. For almost fifty years, also the headquarters of the Conservative Party was situated in what is now known as the Europe House, headquarters of the European Parliament in London.

	

	CHURCH OF ST JOHN

	SMITH SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: ST JAMES'S PARK

	The church of St John, at the centre of Smith Square, was defined by Dickens in Our Mutual Friend, as "a very hideous church". In actual fact, what really subtracts the harmony from the church as a whole are the four tall towers; aside from this, the church resembles a small neo-classic temple. At the end of the Second World War, the building was reduced to a pile of rubble, but later rebuilt.  

	Thomas Archer designed it in 1728 in the baroque style following a Greek-cross plan. There is a tower in each corner and a porch with enormous Tuscan pillars at the sides of the entrances. In 1969 the church was restored by Marshall Sisson and destined for different uses. For many years it was the gathering point for political parties and offices, and today, thanks to its exceptional acoustics, it is used for concerts of classical music. Here, great executors of international fame succeeded each other allowing one to witness, as in the words of Hugh Casson, experiences impossible to find elsewhere, and hear beautiful music within its spaces.  

	It is nicknamed "Queen Anne's Footstool" because, according to legend, when the architect Archer had asked her which features the building should have, she had aimed a kick at the footstool and told him: "like so!" Because of this, the four towers were added. This is how legend would have it; in reality, the towers were built because the building needed to be stabilized.  

	

	MUSEUM OF THE LONDON SCOTTISH REGIMENT

	95, HORSEFERRY ROAD

	UNDERGROUND: ST JAMES'S PARK

	In the armoury of the regiment's headquarters, a small but complete collection has been gathered, which tells the story of the London Scottish Regiment. On the two balconies which run along the walls of the room, is a collection of medallions, uniforms, personal equipment, various types of weapons of different sizes and the greatcoat of Lord Elcho. The walls hold paintings and old photographs.  

	The Scottish regiment, made up of a battalion of voluntary soldiers, was formed in 1859. There are also medals and uniforms belonging to Colonel Ogilby, the founder of the military museums. The regiment also counted Alexander Fleming amid its ranks, as well as Eric Newby. It can be visited only via booking.      

	

	THE LIONESS AND LION OF WESTMINSTER BRIDGE

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER   

	Boudica was the queen of the Iceni and guided the rebellion of her people, dwellers of the area of Norfolk, against the Romans. After having razed Colchester and St Albans, Boudica targeted London. The Roman Governor Svetonio Paolino was in Wales suppressing a rebellion. When he returned to find that he had lost around seven thousand legionaries, he prepared for revenge. Boudica then decided to poison herself so as not to fall prisoner to the Romans. Her soldiers hurriedly left London, taking her body with them, and buried it in the open countryside, north of London. Today, King's Cross Railway Station is situated in this area.

	Although it is little more than legend, it is said that she is buried under platform 10, where the trains leave for Norfolk. The Londoners say that their city is the only one to have erected a monument to the person who razed it to the ground.

	On the other side of the bridge, towards Lambeth, stands a great statue of a lion, built in Coade Stone. In spite of its name, the material is not actually stone, but a substitute for ceramic. However, it is so realistic that even Robert Adam used it for the details of his facade.  

	

	TIDE KIOSK

	WESTMINSTER BRIDGE

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The Tide kiosk located under the statue of Boudica contains the tools used for measuring tides and periodic variations of the river surface level. Amongst the many methods used to calculate the forecasted time and height of the tide, is the method of approximate harmonic analysis, or that of the English admiralty.  

	There are indicators of level which are checked each day and were also used to forecast very choppy weather.  

	Here there is a buoy connected via cord to a nib, which over the 24 hours records variations in the tide on a sheet of paper. In the Thames, the sea currents have a variable force and direction. The numbers above the arrows show the maximum speed of the current and the circles indicate the times for the tide reflux. In fact the sea current inverts the sense of that of the river, even upstream of London, increasing its level.      

	

	WHITEHALL

	
The gentle curve of Whitehall connects Trafalgar Square with the abbey of Westminster and the palace of Parliament. This important street is flanked on both sides by a series of government and administration offices, which represent the epitome of what was the "official" architecture of the capital from the Sixteenth to the Twentieth Century. One of the most beautiful and imposing buildings is the ex-India Office, today the headquarters of the Foreign Affairs Ministry, the work of George Gilbert Scott, which is inspired by the Italian style, with the couples of Corinthian pillars, the statues in niches and the balconies. It was Palmerston who desired it to be built so, against the will of the architect.  

	Also the splendid facade of the palace of the Ministry of the Treasury is of Italian inspiration. The building stands in the place of Cockpit Passage, a mysterious tunnel that leads all the way to the Horse Guards Parade. Near to it is Tennis Court, its building still existing today, with a wall where there are remains of a brick oven. Also in the lateral streets there are noteworthy buildings, such as for example in Craig's Court, where Harrington House is located, built in 1702, with a brick facade and stone toothing.  

	

	THE PALACE OF WHITEHALL

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The construction of York Place - that is what it was called at the time - began in 1514, when cardinal Wolsey became primate. It was supposed to become his residence. Unfortunately, in 1529 he had lost the king's favour and, as a consequence, also the property of the building. Henry VIII, after having confiscated the building, went to live there, leaving the medieval buildings to the Parliament and the public employees. The palace was re-baptized Whitehall, but was completely destroyed by flames in 1698. The fire was started by a laundress, who had put her clothes in front of the fire to dry. Amongst the objects which survived, is a preparatory picture by Hans Holbein, which portrays Henry VIII in real-life scale and which is now found at the National Portrait Gallery. It was a study for the fresco which in 1537 decorated the wall of the Privy Chamber, his private chamber. The painting was lost, but we know it thanks to an accurate copy painted by Remigius van Leemput, which is now in Hampton Court. The fresco represented Henry VIII with Queen Jane Seymour and Henry VII with Elizabeth of York, who had been at war for thirty years, from 1455 to 1485.  

	In 1960 a stretch of the Tudor wall was discovered and is now incorporated in the southern side of the palace of the Ministry of the Treasury.  

	Also the docking stairs designed by Christopher Wren for Mary II have been preserved, and are no longer found on the side of the river but in front of the building of the Ministry of Defence. Observing its distance from the bank, one can realise just how much the Embankment reduced the width of the Thames.

	Henry VIII died in this palace, and Queen Mary received the declaration of obedience of his subjects after the rebellion of Wyatts. Elizabeth I held her court here.            

	

	THE CELLAR OF HENRY VIII

	WHITEHALL, MINISTRY OF DEFENCE

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The English, not being great producers of wine, never reached the perfection of Italians or French in constructing this type of space, with the differentiation between the cellar for ageing, which has a constant ideal temperature, and the "bottle cellar", a section of the cellar with shelves made especially for bottles. Certainly, this type of subtlety was far from the minds of those who dug out these cells, which are now located in the underground section of the Ministry of Defence. The vaulted rooms were built in 1520 by Cardinal Wolsey, archbishop of York and lord chancellor of England for a cellar to be made. Today it is tied to the name of Henry VIII, because he had taken possession of Whitehall Palace. The cellar survived the fire in the palace, which took place in 1698. The palace had a thousand rooms, but being built in wood, it was completely destroyed.

	The cellar was then left relatively undisturbed until 1946, when it was decided that a new Ministry be set up and it was realised that the room was a hindrance to this end. Therefore, instead of destroying it, it was decided that it be moved. It was enclosed between cement walls, with a platform of sturdy beams slipped underneath it, and it was lifted with a winch, one centimetre at a time.   

	It was then shifted in this harness three metres north of its original position and lowered six metres into the ground into the terrain which had been dug out to this purpose, and laid onto a series of steel cylinders. And so it is that today the flooring where the bottles and barrels of Henry VIII is unchanged and the same as it once was; the bricks are the same ones as four centuries ago, as are the arches which rest on octagonal pillars at the centre of the room. The only addition are the tubes for the heating, which run along the walls. Above the cellar, stands the looming Ministry building. Unfortunately today, for security reasons, it is quite difficult to visit it, however there are guided visits for groups; children are excluded.  

	

	RUBENS AT THE BANQUETING HOUSE

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER  

	Many people are not aware of the fresco on the ceiling of the hall that was once part of the pre-existing palace of Whitehall, completed in 1622 by Inigo Jones. This architect, who had travelled and studied architecture in Italy, was the first to bring the Italian Renaissance to England. He began as a theatre designer, preparing the backdrop for the court masques in collaboration with Ben Jonson, an allegorical representation which was mostly musical and choreographic, rehearsed by patricians at court and in their castles during the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries.  

	The Banqueting House, in 1619, along with the cellar which we have spoken about in the previous chapter, is a part of the Whitehall palace which has been saved. It represents the greatest example of this architectural style, and the hall is a milestone in the history of English architecture. The windows of the first floor, which have alternating rounded and triangular gables, are separated by Ionic pillars. Those of the second floor are squared-off at the top, and separated by Corinthian pillars, which uphold a frieze of garlands and sculpted heads. Along the upper edge runs a balustrade.  

	The hall of the fresco is the same height of the building. A gallery upheld by Ionic pillars runs all around the room and the ceiling is divided into nine compartments.  

	

	A painter and diplomat - Pieter Paul Rubens, who was a diplomat as well as a painter, was sent here in 1629 to try and improve relations between England and Spain. During his stay, Charles I asked him to carry out a series of paintings in order to fill the vast compartments of the ceiling of this hall. The theme was to be that of the union between England and Scotland, at the time under the benevolent sovereignty of his father James I, who died in 1625. The work was completed in 1634 and shows the Apotheosis of James I, namely the solemn ceremony through which dead heroes were deified, with the scene in which the monarch is taken into the sky by Justice.  

	The cherubs, symbols of prosperity, crowd the nearby compartments, whereas at the southern extremities the benefits granted under the reign of James I are represented in a symbolic fashion. Amongst them are Peace and Wisdom, who chase off the enemies of the king. In the two nearby ovals, we can see Abundance undermining Greed and Reason curbing Discord. At the northern extremity the king is portrayed, smiling, as he hands his sceptre to a naked child, who represents the union between the two reigns which had just been formed. Britannia holds two crowns above his head. In the side ovals, one can see Hercules, symbol of heroic virtue, as he strikes out with his club against Envy, and Minerva piercing Ignorance.   

	Part of the work on the fresco was carried out by Rubens' assistants, however the painter stated that he was the author of the main figures and the result is magnificent. Not quite so magnificent was the destiny met by Charles I, the commissioner of this masterpiece. After having spent seven years far away in the attempt of subjugating the rebels, he passed through this room which celebrates his father one last time to make his way to the guillotine.  

	The nearby Cockpit Passage and the wall with a tympanum above it, which once bordered the tennis pitch of Henry VIII, are two other parts which survived the fire of Whitehall Palace.  

	

	SCOTLAND YARD

	4 WHITEHALL PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	Until the Eighteenth Century, this was the London residence of the King of Scotland and of the diplomats whenever they would come to London on a mission. After the two reigns united, the building was turned into a series of offices, until in 1829, the Police force established its headquarters here. The rear entrance lead onto Scotland Yard, whose rather picturesque name attracted the interest of newspapers and the public. Because of this, it was decided that it be officially named so, which stuck even when the headquarters were moved to a different location, and used to indicate the police department.  

	Today the base of the New Scotland Yard, namely the metropolitan police, is in Westminster. The old headquarters still holds the database of committed crimes via a system called Home Office Large Major Enquiry System, which is abbreviated into the acronym HOLMES. The internship program is called Elementary. Thanks to the films and stories by Conan Doyle and Agatha Christie, the name Scotland Yard is now a synonym, although somewhat improper, of the Police force.

	

	DOWNING STREET

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	For almost three centuries, since 1731, the building at 10, Downing Street has been the official residence of the Prime Minister. In 1997 Tony Blair, winner of the elections and father of four, moved to the larger apartment at number 11 and left number 10 to Gordon Brown. Ever since Margaret Thatcher became the target of the IRA attacks, the street has not been accessible for transit for security reasons. Gates have also been set up at the two extremities, behind which police cordons are posted.   

	Before this, it was possible to enter the street and use it as a short cut to St James Park. On the other side of the street stands the Foreign Office.  

	The street got its name from George Downing, who started his career as army chaplain. During the civil war of the Seventeenth Century, he fought for the Parliament but as soon as he realised that the Restoration of the King was certain, he changed sides.  

	

	DOVER HOUSE

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER, CHARING CROSS  

	Dover House was built between 1754 and 1758 by James Paine as a private house for Matthew Featherstonehaugh, a member of Parliament for Portsmouth. Since 1885, it has been the headquarters of the Scottish Office, since 1999 for the Scotland Office, with the Secretary of State and the Ministry offices. It is a beautiful building, declared as being of immense architectural interest. Its rear facade faces the Horse Guards Parade.  

	In 1788, Dover House was acquired by the duke of York, then later it belonged to the Melbourne family. The wife of the first viscount of Melbourne, Lady Caroline Lamb, a brilliant and eccentric woman, had an affair with Lord Byron. She died here in 1828. The name of the house derives from the last private owner, the Baron Dover.  

	The entrance has a rounded shape which is rather unusual. Like almost all the rest of the building, it was built after the bombardment and reinforced with a structure of hidden steel.  

	

	HORSE GUARDS

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The palace of the Horse Guards is a building which dates back to halfway through the Eighteenth Century and was designed by William Kent. It was built by John Vardy on three sides of a vast courtyard, with sentry boxes in which the soldiers of the Royal Guard are seated immobile on the mounts. The guard changes at 11a.m. and is inspected at 4 p.m.

	At the centre of the longest side, there is an arched passage which leads to the Horse Guards Parade, a gravelly stretch where each year in June the Queen receives the salute of the guards on her birthday. It is worth thoroughly exploring the square in order to see the posterior facades of the buildings and to dwell on the cannons, which are remarkable, even by the standards of anyone not particularly interested in such matters. One of these was fabricated in 1524 by Murad, son of Abdullah, in Turkey, and then brought to Europe in 1801.  

	The other is a French mortar used in the siege of Cádiz in 1812. The wagon upon which it leans is decorated with three marine monsters covered with scales and the crests of the Prince of Wales, to whom it had been gifted. In the north-western corner of the square there is the extraordinary building of the Admiralty Citadel, built during the Second World War as a stronghold for government communications. It resembles a solid rock all covered by Russian vine.  

	The low colonnade of the courtyard - The outer facade of the building, on the west side, is well known to everyone. It is more interesting to go round the corner and enter the courtyard. The inside area does not have the elegance and the pomposity of the outer area, but with its blended hues and reduced proportions, it is an evocative place to be. The courtyard was built in 1751 by William Kent and John Vardy, responsible for many royal palaces of the epoch. Kent had in fact designed the royal stables of Charing Cross and the palace of the Ministry of the Treasury in Whitehall.  

	Vardy had instead designed the Greenwich Hospital, the Hampton Court palaces, Whitehall, Westminster, and St James. Together, the two architects worked at the Horse Guards.  

	The painter Hogarth, in a caricature illustration of his, had mocked the entrance arch, seen to be too low for those entering the courtyard on horseback or seated on the coachman's seat. The image showed a coachman about to have his head taken off by the arch...

	

	PAYMASTER - GENERAL OFFICE

	1, HORSE GUARDS ROAD

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER  

	The building where the office of the Paymaster-General (the minister at the head of the Treasury department responsible for payments of pensions and treasurer for most areas), built in 1732 by John Lane, is north of that of Horse Guards. It is a brick building with a window equipped with a lunette above the gable, with a slightly different style to that of the nearby ones. The important posterior facade, with its Venetian-style windows, was added in 1910, and brought here from number 37, Great George Street.  

	

	CABINET WAR ROOMS

	CLIVE STEPS,

	KING CHARLES STREET

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	At the corner of Horse Guards Street, in front of St James's Park, there is a small door around which sacks of sand are heaped. It leads to a labyrinth of underground rooms, the maze of tunnels from where the British government organized the war on Hitler.  

	On the maps, there are still coloured pins which mark the shifting luck of the conflict. In 1980 the rooms were re-opened to the public, intact and including the area of the typewriters, the dormitory and beds, the table which would host the components of the restricted government organ composed of the main ministers (the Cabinet Room), and Churchill's bedroom... The atmosphere of the place remains unchanged since those days long ago.  

	

	AN ADMIRALTY WHICH NO LONGER EXISTS

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: TRAFALGAR SQUARE, CHARING CROSS

	Before the Fifteenth Century there was only one person in command of the Royal Navy. Only during the following centuries was the responsibility of its management shared by a committee. The British Admiralty, which since 1964 has been a part of the Ministry of Defence, which was based in the spectacular Admiralty palace, has a glorious but bloody story, as can be gleaned from Kipling's verses: "If blood the price of admiralty, Lord God, we ha' paid in full!". As we have already mentioned, the Admiralty no longer exists as a department, as it did in the past, when it occupied five buildings located between Whitehall, Horse Guards Parade, and The Mall. The oldest building, still known as Old Admiralty, was built by Ripley in 1726. The three floors shaped as a U are now taken up by the heads of the main government departments. The building is protected from the street by a screen surmounted by representations of beings which are half fish and half horse, a work by Robert Adam. The rooms are solemn and imposing, and the fireplace of the Meeting Room has a splendid decoration in sculpted wood, with branches of flowers and fruit intertwined together with obsolete nautical instruments.  

	

	TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	With its pigeons, the spurts of the fountain deviated by the wind, and the padding of peanut shells on which one walks, Trafalgar Square is one of the most renowned and photographed squares in the world.  

	It is dedicated to the memory of the Battle of Trafalgar, where the Horatio Nelson's Royal Navy defeated the French and Spanish fleets. It is a sloped square, with a discreet difference in height between the two extremities, to the point that, before building the National Gallery there, it was necessary to build a level terrace. At its feet, is a marking of the imperial measurements of the inch, foot, and yard. Until 1830, the royal stables were located here, the King's Mews. On the western side one can find the buildings of the Canada House, built in 1827 by Robert Smirke for the Union Club, and of the Royal College of Physicians. To the east, instead, is the South Africa House by Herbert Baker; its facade is decorated by sculptures of wild African animals.

	Through the years, the square has heard the resounding voices of protests. It is a "political" square, a place for demonstrations and processions, ranging from those against the apartheid in South Africa in the 1980s, to those against war and injustice in the world.

	In the winter, an enormous Christmas tree is set up in the square, twinned by the one in Grand-Place in Brussels.  

	From the Trafalgar Hotel café, which stands at the south-western corner of the square (2, Spring Gardens), one can enjoy a pleasant view of the square.

	The café stands at the same height as the statue of Nelson, and is open only during summertime, yet it is worth visiting.  

	

	STATUE OF CHARLES I

	TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The contrast between Charles I, the king executed in 1625, and Cromwell brought the country to a civil war which lasted six years. Cromwell emerged as the victor of the confrontation and as well as reigning for eleven years, he had the statue of Charles I removed. The bronze monument had been sculpted by Hubert le Sueur, once removed it had been handed over to a brazier in order to be melted. The artisan, however, had buried it in his garden and eleven years later, after the Restoration, he offered it back to the son of Charles I, who compensated him and placed the statue back in its original place.  

	Still today a group of monarchists recreate, with solemnity and dedication, the last journey of the king (from the Mall, in front of St James's Palace, to the Banqueting House and to Whitehall), which took place on the cold day of January 30th, 1649. The procession takes place with traditional costumes and armour, and happens on the Sunday closest to this date. It proceeds silently, with just the beating of a drum. Once the square is reached, the participants place a bay wreath at the base of the statue and repeat the last word of the king: "Remember!"

	Another memory of the execution is to be found on the clock of the Horse Guards Parade facade. Just next to the Roman numeral II, the hour of his execution, there is a small black dot. Near the statue there is a spot from which one calculates the distances to and from London.  

	

	NELSON'S PILLAR

	TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The extremely tall Nelson's Pillar, which looms at the centre of the square, is made of Devonshire granite and is forty-six metres tall. It was erected in 1843, and the lions at its base were drawn by Edwin Landseer and cast almost contemporarily by Baron Marochetti, but installed only in 1868. The capital above it is made with the bronze of cannons subtracted from the French and with that of the rifles of the Royal George. The bronze was also used for the four bas-reliefs at its base, where we can see the representations of Nelson's victories, the battle of Egypt, and that of Trafalgar. On the walls of the pedestal are the busts of the admirals Jellicoe, Cunningham, and Beatty.  

	Nelson has an interesting biography. He was taken onboard a ship at the tender age of twelve, despite his suffering from seasickness, under the command of his uncle, who was the captain. He later became a captain himself, then a commodore, and finally an admiral. He fought against Napoleon, destroying the latter's fleet in the battle of the Nile, and once again bested the French fleet in the battle of Trafalgar, where he lost his life. In the state apartments of Windsor Castle, the bullet shot by the French sharpshooter which took his life is still preserved.   

	

	At sea with a coffin - In order to avoid a sea burial, which consisted of one's body being thrown into the ocean, Nelson always travelled with a coffin. Upon his death in Trafalgar, his body was placed inside it and drenched in rum in order to conserve it.  In Gibraltar, the coffin was replaced along with the rum. Nelson was buried under the dome of St Paul's, in a black sarcophagus which had been built for Cardinal Wolsey. The sarcophagus had remained abandoned for almost three-hundred years, until it was decided that it be used for Nelson. The mitre was removed from within, but the purple cushion in velvet which sustains the crown was left inside it. His last wishes, namely that his titles and honour should be passed down to Emma Hamilton, were not followed. Nelson had met Emma in Naples, and she had become his lover and had given him a daughter, Horatia. Through the years, many people have climbed the tower in order to bring the attention of the public to focus on certain social or political issues. One of these was a stuntman who launched himself off the top with a parachute, hoping to stir public opinion regarding the occupation of Tibet.  

	

	THE POLICE STATION IN TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	Today auxiliary police stations have all but vanished almost everywhere, however in the past metropolitan police agents who were on patrol would maintain contact with the local police station through a number of miniature offices which were distributed throughout the city in strategic spots, and which could be used as backup bases. At the top of these small stations there is a blue light similar to those found on police cars.  

	The one in Trafalgar Square, built into the base of a lamp post, of which it resembles the pillar, is very well camouflaged. It was installed in the 1930s, in order to supervise protesters. There was room for one policeman, providing he were not too robust, and in the sentry box there was also a telephone in case events ended up getting out of hand. Today this space has other uses, amongst which the deposit of materials for cleaning the square.  

	

	NATIONAL GALLERY

	TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS  

	The building which hosts the National Gallery was built in 1832 following the design of William Wilkins. For the porch, the pillars of Carlton House were recovered and re-used. The collection of paintings is one of the most beautiful in the world and did not start with a donation, as is often the case, but through a purchase. The first thirty-eight paintings were bought in 1824 by the banker John Angerstein. Through the two following centuries, the collection grew in size, until it included more than two thousand paintings of all the European schools. The countries and periods which were best represented, however, were the Italian Renaissance and the Dutch Eighteenth Century. There are almost more paintings here by Italian artists than at the Uffizi Gallery.  

	Amongst them, are the works of Duccio, Giotto, Masaccio, Piero della Francesca, and Paolo Uccello. It is said that The Battle of San Romano, which portrays the people of Florence chasing the fleeing people of Siena during a conflict, was hung up in the bedroom of Lorenzo De' Medici. On the piano nobile, there is one of the two versions of the Virgin of the Rocks (the other is in the Louvre). It has been inserted into a frame which has been made by joining the fragments of a framework from that epoch. It was purchased by the English painter Gavin Hamilton, who in 1880 sold it to the museum. Also by Leonardo, is the The Virgin and Child with St Anne and St John the Baptist, the preparatory drawing created with black chalk, white lead and a blending stump, which shows the characters mentioned in its title. By Michelangelo, instead, is The Deposition, an unfinished painting which shows Christ being taken to the Sepulchre and the disciples' effort to hold up the weight of his body.  There are also many paintings by Titian, in different rooms: The Bacchus and Ariadne, the Noli me tangere, Madonna and Child,  Portrait of the Vendramin Family, The Tribute,  The Allegory of Prudence, The Death of Actaeon, The Holy Family with a Shepherd, Portrait of a man, and  La Schiavona. By Botticelli, there is the painting of Venus and Mars, with the latter asleep by her side, and some small fauns who have got hold of the spear belonging to the god of war. Also by Botticelli is the Adoration of the Magi. In Bellini's portrait of Leonardo Loredan, the peaceful dignity of the Doge of Venice comes to life through his strict stare. One of the most sought after paintings, which is sometimes the object of exhibitions, is the Supper at Emmaus by Caravaggio. The emotional reactions of the apostles as they recognize the resurrected Jesus (one of them stretches his arms wide open, another grips the armrest of his chair as if he were about to bound forward) impress the idea of miracles in the context of daily life. Also some accurate details, such as the glass jug, the scrawny-legged chicken, the fruit basket precariously sitting on the edge of the tabletop, and the chairs all around, all bring the painted world to life and transport us into it.

	Also French art is well represented, with paintings by Poussin, Watteau, Ingres, Delacroix, Manet, Cézanne, Monet, and Renoir.

	

	THE AWAKENING OF THE MODERN MUSES  

	HALL OF THE NATIONAL GALLERY

	TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	The floor of the main entrance and of the lateral vestibules of the National Gallery is covered in mosaics, carried out between 1928 and 1952 by Boris Anrep, who is also the author of the mosaics in the Blake Room at the Tate Britain, along with others in Westminster Cathedral. Using a particular technique and colours inspired by the Byzantine hues, Anrep depicted The Awakening of the Muses, symbolized by modern characters.

	The goddesses of Greek-Roman mythology protected the arts and literature, and the women represented by Anrep are their personification. The writer Virginia Woolf represents Clio, whereas the actress Greta Garbo is Melpomene, the muse of Tragedy. Upon the floor of the northern vestibule, there are reproductions of the modern virtues. The Russian poetess Anna Achmatova represents Compassion. Churchill is shown warding off a monster in the shape of a swastika and represents Defiance, whereas the dancer Margot Fonteyn is the incarnation of Delectation. Lest we forget that these mosaics have an ironic undertone to them, the poet T.S. Eliot has been represented as the symbol of Leisure, and is shown as he ponders one of Einstein's formulas, whilst behind him a young girl brawls with the Loch Ness Monster. Finally, the philosopher Bertrand Russell incorporates mental Lucidity.

	An interesting fact is that the artist did not create the mosaics on the spot, but assembled the tiles on drawings that he had prepared in his private study. He then transported them here and plastered them to the floor.   

	At the bottom of the staircase which leads to the museum, there are some small copper plaques which bear the engravings of the British measurement units of the inch, foot, and yard.  

	

	NATIONAL PORTRAIT GALLERY

	2, ST MARTIN'S PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS   

	A visit to the National Portrait Gallery allows one to get an idea of British history through the characters who determined it. The gallery was founded in 1856 with the aim of gathering the portraits of writers, painters, politicians, sports celebrities, and actors, even ranging to today's rock stars. It was redesigned by the Dixon Jones studio, the architects of the Royal Opera House. Some of the paintings are very formal, others are caricatures. There are around ten thousand portraits and since 1968 photographs have been added too. They are displayed in chronological order, starting from the top floor down to the basement.  

	The first portrait is that of King Henry VII and was carried out in 1505. Amongst the most moving works is the portrait of the three Brontë sisters, carried out by their brother. One of the smaller paintings is that of Francis Drake. A thorough visit requires half a day's time. One can then make one's way to the restaurant on the top floor, where one can enjoy a pleasant view of the Parliament palace. In front of the gallery stands a statue of Edith Cavell, the nurse who saved so many lives and was killed by the Germans in Schaerbeek, in Belgium.

	At number 35, St Martin's Street, just behind the National Portrait Gallery, is the Westminster Art Reference Library for those operating professionally in the field of art and design, but it can also be visited by people who are simply passionate about art... It is not all that huge, however it contains collections of books on the subjects of art, design, show business, and is open to the general public.

	

	CHURCH OF ST MARTIN-IN-THE-FIELDS

	2, ST MARTIN'S PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS   

	The name refers to the position of the church which in 1222, the date of its first construction,  stood in the middle of the fields. Centuries later, the parish was expanded by Henry VIII, who did not wish for funerals to cross Whitehall on their way to St Margaret's cemetery. St Martin's was rebuilt for the last time in 1726. Dating back to such a date are the magnificent colonnade  with six great Corinthian pillars, the remarkable gable, the great bell tower, and the elaborate steeple, which together reach a height of fifty-six metres.  

	The inside area includes three naves with a barrel vault, the Corinthian pillars are gigantic, and there are galleries above the lateral naves. A huge organ is present. The plaster decoration which forms the relief ornamentation and the frames are of Italian taste, and were carried out by Artari and Bugatti. The alms tray, of extraordinary beauty, is preserved at the Victoria & Albert Museum.   

	The church hosts many classical concerts and one may happen to witness a live exhibition of the Academy of St Martin-in-the-Fields, whose recordings are famous worldwide. At lunchtime, emerging artists often play.  

	On Easter Monday, baptisms are celebrated. It is entertaining  to see such a number of newborn wrapped up in white lace dresses, who are then brought from the wooden alcoves at the sides of the church to the baptismal fount, and to watch their expressions as the water touches their foreheads. Some cry desperately, others seem more interested in trying to seize the spectacles of the celebrant...

	Do not miss out on descending into the crypt for a drink of coffee, a sandwich, or to recover your energy with a delicious hot dish of soup. Just nearby, there is a laboratory open to the public, where one can purchase sheets of paper and colours so that one can make some so-called rubbings, which are images reproduced  on the paper by rubbing through it onto items from the splendid collection of engraved objects, incisions, and small wooden blocks. Children will absolutely adore this. In the courtyard at the back of the church, there is a small open-air market, with stands selling jewellery, posters, and other trinkets.  

	

	STRAND

	The Strand's function was that of connecting the City to Westminster, through the village of Charing. Already during the Middle Ages, but also in the Tudor and Stuart epoch, prelates and nobles had built their houses along this lush street, with many orchards and gardens descending down towards the Thames, where the salmon would swim. In old maps, one can see how each residence on the Strand (the name meaning "the edge") was made up of a series of houses encircling a courtyard. Later, at the end of the Seventeenth Century, the nobles began to sell their properties in order to move to St James. The houses and lands were subdivided and smaller houses were built. Only the names of the streets kept their connection with the aristocratic families. Thence the names George Street, Villiers Street, Duke Street, York Place, and Buckingham Street, the latter clearly connected to the royal family. Number 10, Villiers Street, was inhabited in 1766 by the philosophers David Hume and Jean-Jacques Rousseau. Number 43, which at the time was actually number 9, was Rudyard Kipling's home, and is where he wrote The Light that Failed.  During the Victorian Age, the street was filled with theatres, such as the Romano, the Gatti, and the Gaiety, as well as restaurants, and luxury boutiques. It was an extremely lively street, always trodden, both at day and by night, by the hooves of horses pulling coaches.    

	Today Strand is a mixture of buildings from the Nineteenth and Twentieth Century, which host  shops, offices, banks, hotels, and theatres. On the northern side stands the Lyceum Theatre, whose remodelled gallery saw the triumph of Henry Irving. Today it is used as a dance hall. Nearby are the Vaudeville and Adelphi Theatre. At number 39, the company Stanley Gibbons sells stamps, whereas at the nearby post office, at numbers 24-28, William IV Street, one can find stamps for collectors and those issued on occasion of special events and commemorations. If you are collectors, a trip there is a must.   

	CHARING CROSS STATION AND THE SURROUNDING AREA

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The original station stood on the area of the Hungerford market. It had been designed by John Hawkshaw and opened in 1864. Hawkshaw built it with a single-bay roof for all of the six platforms. Unfortunately, forty years later, it collapsed. The present building is extremely modern and its walls are covered in wall art which retraces its history. The name is a mangling of the French Chère Reine (Dear Queen). At the time, French was the language of the court, and although the Queen was of Spanish origin, the French name was used.   

	At number 25, Northumberland Avenue, the great arterial road built in 1874 at the corner with the station, stands the Commonwealth Society. It was born as a colonial society, with particular attention placed on India. Today it promotes diversity, tolerance, freedom, justice, democracy, and human rights through international meetings. Moreover, it helps young people to develop their skills in the fields of art, writing, and cinema. It has an excellent library with an important collection of photographs.  

	At number 10 of the nearby Northumberland Street, there is a pub called The Sherlock Holmes. The pub is full of  souvenirs regarding the famous detective, which give it the atmosphere of a small museum. They are mostly objects which were part of a travelling exhibit, and were then bought by the pub owner. It is a reproduction of the living room, completely furnished according to the taste of the Nineteenth Century. It can be seen from the restaurant, behind the glass wall.  

	
ELEANOR CROSS

	CHARING CROSS

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	In 1865, in the courtyard in front of the station, a replica of the Eleanor Cross was built, based on the Whitehall Cross which dates back to the Eighteenth Century and was demolished in 1647 and stood where the statue of Charles I now stands, from where distances to and from London are measured. It was comprised of twelve sculpted stone monuments, three of which have survived intact, placed along a path to the east of England. King Edward I had them erected between 1291 and 1294 as a memory of his wife Eleanor of Castille, by marking the nocturnal stops of the funeral procession which took place while her body was being transported to London. There is also one rather macabre detail: The Queen died in 1290 near Lincoln, where she was embalmed. Her guts were buried in the Angel Choir of the city cathedral, whereas the rest of her body was buried in Westminster, at the feet of her father-in-law, Henry III. Her heart, instead, was buried in the abbey church of Blackfriars. The funeral monuments had the purpose of places of prayer for pilgrims and travellers.  

	

	DAVENPORTS MAGIC SHOP

	7, CHARING CROSS

	UNDERGROUND SHOPPING ARCADE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	On Strand, in the crowded trade gallery, there is a magic shop. The small store, which opened in 1898, bears the name of the forefather of the dynasty, the illusionist and juggler, Lewis Davenport, who amongst his successful acts, would juggle with flaming balls. The shop is aimed at amateur magicians who wish to dazzle their friends in household shows, but also at professional conjurers. There is truly every type of product, from the basic tools of the trade (coins and magic cards, for example), to videos and books for learning, as well as parlour or table games. There are even courses that can be attended.   

	

	THE BRITISH OPTICAL ASSOCIATION MUSEUM

	AND THE BENJAMIN FRANKLIN MUSEUM

	42, CRAVEN STREET

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS   

	The collection of objects related to optical science and healthcare is vast. There are as many as thirteen thousand of them, and amongst them are many small treasures of historical importance. The opticians' association was founded in 1895, and the museum was opened six years later. There are spectacles with sidepieces, springs, for the short-sighted or far-sighted, prismatic glasses, sunglasses, underwater glasses, smoked glass spectacles, protective wear, coloured types, monocles, binoculars, wig spectacles, lorgnettes, pince-nez, and the list goes on...

	There is also an Egyptian talisman: an Eye of Horus which according to tradition allows one to see into the afterlife.  

	At number 36 in the same street, one can visit the House-museum of Benjamin Franklin, who invented the lightning rod as well as bifocal lenses. Built in 1730, the building with its simple facade in dark bricks hosted Franklin from 1757 to 1775.  

	Students may attend scientific experiments being carried out. Visitors are invited to offer their personal interpretations of a famous phrase by the scientist, who was also a diplomat, philosopher, inventor, and founding father of the United States. The phrase is changed each year. The last one to appear was "Light often arises from a collision of opinions, as fire from flint and steel".

	In 1827, in a cold apartment near Craven Street, lived the German poet Heinrich Heine, who had been reduced to the bleakest misery. On the subject of misery, just next to the nearby Hungerford Stairs, there was a shoe polish factory where Charles Dickens worked when his father was in prison for debts. This experience is described in the eleventh chapter of David Copperfield.

	

	ADELPHI

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT, CHARING CROSS

	The adelphi, meaning the "brothers", according to the Greek meaning of the word, were the architects Robert and James Adam. In 1774, they decided to improve the appearance of the neighbourhood of Strand, at the time rather degraded, and to give their constructions such title. The latter were made up of two rows of eleven houses each. Due to a lack of money during the course of the construction, the two brothers decide to resort to the lottery. The facades of the houses between the Thames and Strand were adorned with statues and pillars, in accordance with the Georgian style. Unfortunately, in 1936, the statues were mutilated. One can get an idea of how these buildings that no longer exist must have been, by observing the building at number 7, Adam Street, where the offices of  Lancet are today, the important medical magazine which is popular all over the world.     

	
YORK WATERGATE

	THAMES EMBANKMENT GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT

	Watergate, or as it should be pronounced, "water-gate", with the literal meaning of a sluice gate, was the jetty for the docking of the Duke of Buckingham's barge. It was built in 1626 by Nicholas Stone, and placed in front of York House. Today it is situated in the Victoria Embankment Gardens and no longer on the banks, as the Thames has become narrower in this spot. The structure has three bays with large pillars, formed by bossage, structures of carved protruding stone used in Roman, medieval, and Renaissance architecture. At the centre there is a coat of arms, belonging to the Duke of Buckingham.   

	

	THE ROYAL SOCIETY OF ARTS

	8, JOHN ADAM STREET

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT

	The palace which hosts the Society of Arts is the only part of the architectural design by the Adam brothers to have survived intact. It gives an idea of the original magnificence of the buildings

	The society was founded in 1754 under the title Society for the Encouragement of the Arts, Manufacturers and Commerce. The aim was that of improving the level of arts, industry, and trade, through competition and the organization of contests. The house the Adam brothers built in 1772 for the association has a large entrance, a reading hall, and a library. On the frieze of the facade one reads the words "Arts and Commerce are promoted", to which the association continues to be loyal. In the reading hall, a written maxim declares: "Happiness, as well individual as public, depends on cultivating the human faculties". One can hardly disagree.  

	

	GORDON'S WINE BAR

	47, VILLIERS STREET

	(A CROSS STREET OF STRAND)

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT, CHARING CROSS

	Gordon's Wine Bar, which is situated in a cross street of The Strand, is the oldest winery in London. It was opened in 1890 and has remained the same as it was then. The underground space, accessible via a narrow flight of steps, oozes with atmosphere and has nothing to do with the vivid colours and shimmering metal of modern pubs. From the opposite side of the entrance, one exits onto a shadowy boulevard, where one can stop to sip a glass of good wine or sherry. In the Summer, in this eighteenth-century environment, amid candles which toss their feeble light against the dark, damp arches, one may listen to live jazz ensembles. On the walls, posters are hung, dating back to the Forties and Fifties, as well as printed material.  

	

	STATUE OF OSCAR WILDE

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	In his comedies, Oscar Wilde struck out against the hypocrisy of the Victorian Society. The great writer of comedies had in fact been a victim of such hypocrisy, having been seen at first as an idol, only to later become a scapegoat. He was tried and condemned for homosexuality to two years of forced labour. When he finally got out of Reading prison, his health was compromised. Gone and far in the past were the days when he would keep lobsters in his room as pets, and use teacups only if white and light blue and made in porcelain. His sufferings are told in the Ballad of Reading Gaol. Wilde then went to live in Paris, under the false name of  Sebastian Melmouth, and lived there until his death, inside a squalid hotel.   

	His statue at Strand is the work of Maggi Hambling. It was discovered by the writer's son, Cyril, and his nephew, Merlin Holland. It is one of the ugliest sculptures conceivable. Such a great comedy writer would have deserved better.   

	

	THE STATUE OF HENRY IRVING

	CHARING CROSS ROAD

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The Shakespearean actor, Henry Irving, who was famous during the Victorian Age, was in truth John Henry Bodribb. He is the only actor to have his own statue in London. He was also knighted, although at first he refused this honour. He stated that he was above such tributes, only to change his mind later, accepting to be fitted with this certificate of merit. He died on stage, pronouncing the words: "Into thy Hands, O  Lord..." from Tennyson's Becket.

	Each year, on February 11th, on his birthday, the Irving Society commemorates him by placing a bay wreath on the statue's head. As the sculpture is rather tall, this feat is not quite so simple. The statue was carried out by Thomas Brock and discovered in 1910. The actor, with his fine features and strict expression, is portrayed with a vast cape over his frock coat. His right hand rests on his hip with a flexed elbow jutting out to the side.  

	

	SEWER GAS VENTILATION LAMPS

	CARTING LANE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS  

	The history of gas illumination is most interesting. Through the centuries, the materials used to develop it were many, depending on the country. At first, gas was obtained by distilling bituminous coal, the fossil carbon found in nature and in particular within bones. Also the systems for transporting it varied from state to state. In China, the combustible gases given by natural emissions were carried great distances within bamboo.

	The lamp in Carting Lane allowed the gas in the sewers to rise up into the lamp. Here these gases were burned safely, whilst illuminating the street. Today only one of these remains, and is connected to the gas network, therefore having a greenish light.     

	

	SAVOY CHAPEL

	SAVOY HILL

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	Savoy Chapel is located within the Adelphi, near the great Shell-Mex House. It was here that Peter of Savoy, the maternal uncle of Eleanor of Provence, wife of King Henry III, built  a great palace. It was later demolished in 1817, when the Waterloo bridge construction commenced. The Savoy House descended from Humbert I, Count of Sabaudia or Maurienne, who had become count in 1032.  

	Piedmont was annexed to Sabaudia subsequently. The name then evolved into Savoy, Savoie, and Savoia, depending on the country. Count Peter of Savoy, who had accompanied his niece to London was also nominated Count of Richmond by the King of England. This also involved a donation of the land between Strand and the Thames, where he built his palace.   

	

	SAVOY THEATRE

	SAVOY COURT, STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	Of the sacred sixteenth-century building, which was originally the Queen's private chapel, not much remains. Unfortunately, halfway through the Nineteenth Century it was almost destroyed by a fire. In 1937, the small church became the chapel of the Royal Victorian Order, founded in 1896, and which still uses it to date. The walls are covered by wooden panels, and there is a Florentine painting inside. High-level concerts are held inside.        

	 The theatre was opened on October 10th of the same year, with an opera by Gilbert and Sullivan, Patience, transferred from the Opera Comique. It was the first public building to have incandescent electrical lighting. The theatre was then rebuilt in 1929 and once again opened with an opera by Gilbert and Sullivan: this time The Gondoliers. In 1990, the theatre caught fire once more and was yet again rebuilt. Since then, there have been concerts and other events, such as chess encounters and prose.  

	

	SAVOY HOTEL

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The Savoy is a prestigious five-star hotel and staying the night is a tad on the costly side. However its beauty and opulence can be admired from the outside, and if the porter allows it, one may get to admire the hall. The hotel was built in 1889 by the owner of the next-door theatre, upon the land owned by Count Peter of Savoy. For this reason, the hotel goes by this name. The Savoy was the first hotel to have electric lifts and bathrooms in each and every room.

	The first director was César Ritz, who later became famous for the hotel which he opened naming it after himself. During the Second World War, Winston Churchill and his ministers would come to eat here. Here, Queen Elizabeth II showed herself for the first time in public with Prince Philip, her future husband. Some of the most illustrious guests to ever have visited include the painter Claude Monet, and the writer Oscar Wilde, who used to visit the place in the company of Lord Douglas. In time, the hotel has been visited by actors, singers, and show business celebrities. Some of the latter are Sarah Bernhardt, Charlie Chaplin, Marilyn Monroe, and Jimi Hendrix. In the kitchen, the Savoy Grill, the chef Escoffier created Melba Peaches, in honour of the famous singer Nellie Melba.    

	One may come here for a high tea or for Sunday brunch, or why not, for dinner on Christmas Eve. If on such an occasion, one happens to form a party of thirteen at the table, in order to keep the bad luck away, a fourteenth dinner guest is placed at the table, namely Kaspar, a black alabaster cat who is almost a meter tall. On Savoy Street, the short dead-end street between Strand and the hotel, one drives on the right. This was decided in order to make life more simple for taxi and limousine drivers, who therefore do not have to walk all the way around the car in order to open the back door.

	   
SOMERSET HOUSE

	150, STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE, EMBANKMENT   

	Somerset House was built in 1776 on the area of the ancient sixteenth-century palace belonging to the Duke of Somerset. In order to erect his palace, the duke had razed many private and religious buildings. The neo-classical facade, almost twenty-five meters in length, with Victorian-style wings to the north and south, was designed by William Chambers. It is supported by dark arches, inspired by Piranesi, and until the previous century was touched by the waters of the Thames.  

	The London Treaty, which brought an end to the Anglo-Hispanic war which had lasted twenty years, was signed here on 28th August, 1604. Because of this, the negotiation is known as The Conference of Somerset House. At the entrance, there are audio-visual guides with the history of the building, which through the centuries, has had various destinations and hosted important cultural associations.

	The paved courtyard is named Fountain Court and has been  restored with great care. It contains a statue of George III and one of the river Thames, by John Bacon. On the northern facade there are arches over the pavement, and in the central keystone, the Ocean is depicted with the rivers that flow into it. One can make out the Severn, the Tyne, the Tweed, and the Medway on the left, and the Thames, the Humber, the Mersey, and the Dee on the right. The rivers were engraved by Joseph Wilton and Agostino Carlini.  

	Through the courtyard one can access Waterloo Bridge directly, to the east. Just outside the palace, there stands a café with a pleasant outside table area, where one can sip some tea whilst allowing one's gaze to wander over the waters of the Thames.  

	

	THE COURTAULD GALLERY

	SOMERSET HOUSE STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE    

	The Courtauld collection, hosted by Somerset House, is not exceedingly vast, however the paintings which comprise it are all of great quality. It is the result of donations and bequests. The paintings range from the Renaissance to the Twentieth Century, from the old masters to impressionists and post-impressionists. There are paintings by Michelangelo, Rubens, Rembrandt, Turner, Van Gogh (the famous Self-portrait with Bandaged  Ear), Renoir, Monet, and Picasso. As well as the paintings, there are drawings, printed material, bas-reliefs, and statues. There are sculptures by Rodin and Moore. A whole room is dedicated to paintings of ballerinas, bathers, and horses carried out by Degas. There are even sculptures in African wood, such as that portraying the guardian of a reliquary carried out by the Kota of Gabon.  

	Next to the gallery, is the Courtauld Institute of Art, an international centre for the study of art and its preservation, which is famous for its professionalism and the depth of its teaching, which ranges from ancient times to the contemporary age.  

	
ICE SKATING AT SOMERSET HOUSE

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	In the winter, the paved courtyard of Somerset House, surrounded by the elegant neo-classical facades of the nearby buildings, transforms to become an incredibly popular ice-skating rink. It is surrounded by the warm gazebos of cafés, where one may drink a piping-hot beverage to bolster one's energy. During the Christmas period, there is a huge Christmas tree. It is a most enjoyable experience because many of those who throw themselves onto the icy floor are not experienced skaters, thus engaging in antics such as falling over or flinging their arms forward in search of some form of support. Everyone is willing to have a laugh at their own expense, and the atmosphere is a happy one. The children often wear hefty mittens and one may happen to see men wearing a suit and tie, perhaps having just left the office. At night, the blue lighting turns it into a magical and romantic place, which makes London a place to be loved even during the winter.   

	
ROMAN BATH

	5, STRAND LANE

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	Some say that David Copperfield is the only man to have ever bathed here. Dickens does in fact describe David's dives into the cold water as being "in the Roman bath at the end of a cross street of the Strand". However, in spite of Dickens' historical endorsement of the bath, its origin remains uncertain. Its measurements are typical of the Tudor period, therefore it is likely that it dates back to the Eighteenth Century. Today it belongs to The National Trust and is rather neglected. One can switch the light on from the outside - the switch is indicated by a light bulb drawn on the wall - and one will see an old, empty bath, which is rather shabby. Within it, cold water flows from a natural source.  

	

	THE CHURCHES OF THE  WOMEN OF THE NAVY

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE     

	The church of St Mary-le-Strand is the official one for the Women Royal Naval Service. A book preserved within it reminds us of all the women who died in service. The building dates back to 1717, although at the eastern extremity of The Strand, there was already a church in 1150. It is nicknamed Island Church because of the fact that it stands upon a pedestrian island. In 1809, Dickens' parents were married here. The windows on the lower floor are blank, and the balustrade at the top of the building is decorated with vases. The eastern apse is inspired by the Church of the Twelve Holy Apostles and the church of Santi Luca e Martina, both in Rome. The ceiling is decorated with a pattern of alternating rhombuses and squares, in gold and white hues.  

	At its origins, there was a maypole in front of the church, a pole adorned with flowers, where one would dance during the May Day festival. When it was torn down, due to its being old and worn, Isaac Newton asked for it, so that he could mount a telescope atop it. The loss of the maypole was even captured in a couplet by James Bramston:

	"What's not destroyed by Time's devouring Hand?

	Where's Troy and where's the Maypole in the Strand?"  

	Robert Devereux, to whom the street is dedicated, was born in 1565 and was the second count of Essex. His bust decorates the facade of the homonymous pub, located at the end of a side street behind Strand, in a small courtyard. The Building has been declared of historical interest. There is a restaurant on the ground floor, and a restaurant on the first.

	 

	DEVEREUX STREET

	UNDERGROUND: WANDSWORTH COMMON

	Devereux was a personable man, as well as being the favourite of Queen Elizabeth. He was part of Francis Drake's English Armada and took part in numerous campaigns against the Irish. When he was condemned to death for treason, in order to avoid being executed, he sent the Queen back a ring that she had given him as token of loyalty. Unfortunately, the delivery, a symbol of the obligation of gratitude, was intercepted, and he went on to become the last condemned man to be beheaded in the Tower of London, on Tower Green. Gaetano Donizzetti makes him speak the words "Oh reo destin crudel!" (Oh cruel destiny!), in his 1837 opera on this historical character, with the booklet by Salvadore Cammarano.

	The plot was based on the Elisabeth D'Angleterre by François d'Ancelot. With this opera, the composer, who had written the Anna Bolena, and the Maria Stuarda, closed the cycle of the Tudor queens.   

	

	TWININGS TEA

	216, STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	The tea room and the storehouse of the Twinings Tea and Coffee were already here, at the same address, in 1710. Thomas Twining, supplier of the Royal House, was the very first contributor to the City of Westminster. His company, as well as being the oldest to operate in that same place, has belonged to the same family for three hundred years. Considering that the period of time that separates two consecutive generations is around twenty-five years, three centuries amounts to about ten generations. The society also founded the Ethical Tea Partnership which operates in the sense of fair trade.  

	On the facade of the shop there are two statuettes of Chinese men sitting with their legs out, which have been here since 1787. The one on the left has a blue tunic and a skullcap, whereas the one on the right has a yellow garment and a large straw hat. At the centre there is a lion, which serves as a reminder that the original shop used to stand just next to the sign known as the Sign of the Golden Lion. The definition was born with King Henry I, known as the "Lion of Justice", who started up a small zoo in Woodstock. The enclosure also hosted lions, animals which had never been seen before in England. The reason for the two Chinese statuettes is that, in those times, tea was imported from China. Nowadays it is imported from many other countries as well, in order to offer a wider range of choice.

	On Strand, west of the Temple Bar, we also find the palace of the Royal Court of Justice. Its construction began in 1866 following the design of George Edmund Street and required about twenty years, to the point that the architect had died by the time the building was complete.  

	The facade overlooking the Strand is in the Gothic style of the Thirteenth Century and spans around one hundred and fifty metres in length, which on the inside corresponds with the great hall where lawyers meet with clients. On the eastern corner there is a clock tower.  

	

	ST CLEMENT DANES AND THE RAF

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	The name of St Clement Danes derives from that of a previous church, founded by Danes who were descendents of the invaders in the days of King Alfred. St Clement is considered the patron of sailors, as he suffered martyrdom tied to an anchor and was then cast into the Black Sea.  

	  The church stands on a pedestrian island in the middle of Strand. Wren rebuilt it in 1682, conserving the sixteenth-century tower. He enclosed it within new walling and added an entrance with a dome next to it. In 1941 the church was ravaged by a bomb, which uncovered a medieval crypt. Since 1958, this has been the church of the Royal Air Force. Within its vast nave, over seven hundred air team badges are exhibited.

	A musical box plays the Old Hundredth, the Air Force march. An old chain is placed inside the wall, and was used for fixing the covers of coffins after burial. This way, it was possible to prevent body snatchers from stealing cadavers to sell them. In fact, during the Nineteenth Century, stealing dead bodies for doctors and scientists was a way like any other to make a living.  

	The church bells are mentioned in the nursery rhyme Oranges and Lemons. Each year, during the Lent service, each child who takes part is given a lemon and an orange to take home. In the presbytery there are two thrones upon which lie some cushions with sixteenth-century Italian embroidery.  

	

	MARCONI HOUSE

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	At its origin, the building hosted the Gaiety Restaurant, which was found next to the homonymous theatre. It was later purchased by the electrical energy company and transformed. The inside has been completely emptied and only the weight-bearing walls have been left standing. Today it hosts the headquarters of a bank. Above the entrance door, there is an engraving of Guglielmo Marconi's name, and just next to it a plaque which states: "From this site Guglielmo Marconi made the first public transmission of wireless signals on 27th January 1896". That year, on March 5th, Marconi had in fact followed his mother's advice, and presented the English government with a description of his device. On June 2nd, he deposited a final plan for a system of wireless telegraphy at the London Patents Office. The title of the project was: Development in the transmission of impulses and electrical signals and the relative devices. The first official experiment took place in front of the chief engineer of the Post Office, William H. Preece, and had established a connection between the Post Office and the Saving Bank in Queen Victoria Street, which was little more than a kilometre away. The bank had been fitted with a printing Morse code device.

	On 12th December 1901, the first transoceanic radio signal arrived from St John's, in the Terra Nova islands. The wireless telegraph system was ready.

	In Aldwych, near Marconi House, stands India House, headquarters of the Indian Commission. One comes here for visas, but also to obtain information and brochures about the country.

	The building is located between the London School of Economics and King's College. It was designed in 1930 by Herbert Baker, who had already designed the Delhi Parliament House. It was opened on 8th July by George V with an impressive ceremony, whereby the king opened the door with a massive gold key. The beautiful wall art on the inside was carried out by Indian artists who had been sent to Rome and Venice before starting on the work. The commissioners insisted that they draw inspiration from Italian masterpieces. There are representations of the cycle of life and the offerings to the divinities. The vividly coloured figures painted on a gold background are quite splendid. There are also sculptures and bas-reliefs of Indian gods.   

	

	ZIMBABWE HOUSE

	429, STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE   

	From  1923 to 1980, the house on the corner where Trafalgar Square meets Agar Street was the headquarters of the Rhodesia House. From the Independence onwards, it hosted the embassy of Zimbabwe. In 2003 the state exited the Commonwealth as a protest towards the criticism against Mugabe's regime. The building was built in 1907 for the Association of British Medics. The latter had in fact decided to commission Epstein with the decoration of the facades. The sculptor assigned Charles Holden with the drawings, and he himself sculpted eighteen nudes, both female and male, which today are in a terrible state. Epstein used a very porous stone, which absorbs water and freezes inside during the winter, causing the stone to crack and break. One day, a falling penis narrowly missed a passer-by. Thus, the authorities officially decided that all male nudes be emasculated. The figures are at the level of the second floor, next to the windows, and represent the ages of Man. On the opening day, they created a scandal, which was blown up by the newspapers. The articles on the daily papers encouraged passers-by to cover the eyes of children and fiancées when nearing the building. The directors of the biblical association, whose offices stood directly opposite, installed frosted window panes in order to avoid exposing their employees to the scandalous sight.

	

	THE FLYING FISH OF LLOYD'S BANK

	STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE

	The naked bodies caused much criticism, as the public felt offended by nudity.

	However all Epstein's works had always challenged the taboos of the age. His sculptures and bas-reliefs, so vigorous and realistic, which seem as if roughly cut out with an axe, represent a rebellion against a more "gracious" art, rich with adornments. Unfortunately, no restoration work has ever been carried out on the figures on Zimbabwe House, and their survival is compromised.   

	The vestibule of the branch of the Lloyd's Bank Law Courts was designed and painted by J.H. McLennan in a style in-between baroque and oriental. It was conceived in 1883 for the Palgrave Hotel, which occupied the building at the time.  

	The portal bears some beautiful squiggles in cast iron which are quite peculiar. At the centre of the door, there is a shining golden relief of a hive, with bees flying all around it. The atrium is really quite impressive. It feels much like being within an oriental temple, with its elaborate multicolour decorations, in hues of blue, white, and brown.

	There are geometric illustrations in the shapes of stars, arabesque recurring floral patterns, and small figures of animals spread on different floors. There are flying fish, lion heads, acanthus leaves, and half-naked male figures flexing their muscles in a show of strength. The ceramics have been fulfilled with a refined technique, with attention not only to the knowledgeable juxtaposition of colours, but also the alternation between shiny and opaque tiles. The pillars are built in various types of marble and the fountain has a base shaped like a goblet.  

	

	BUSH HOUSE

	KINGSWAY

	UNDERGROUND: TEMPLE  

	It is one of the four great palaces, arranged in a semi-circle, which stand between Aldwych and Strand, at one end of Kingsway. Aldwych is the arch-shaped street which "leans on" Strand and most likely gets its name from an ancient Dane settlement. At one time, here there were small picturesque streets flanked by run-down houses which, at the beginning of the Twentieth Century, were demolished in order to construct the buildings which now stand in their place. Amongst the latter, is Bush House. The pretty building dates back to 1919 and was designed by the American architect, Harvey Corbett. It hosts the overseas services of the BBC World Service, which broadcasts all over the world "every hour by the hour", as the famous slogan goes. Above the door there is an engraved phrase: "To the Friendship of English Speaking People" and in the lunette of the colonnade, there are two statues symbolizing England and America.

	The television, however, does not only broadcast in English, but in forty-two different languages. The first owner of the building, which now belongs to a Japanese company, was Irving T. Bush, and the building got its name from him. In 1930, during the excavation which took place in order to build the eastern wing, a bas-relief in Carrara marble was unearthed, and is now exhibited near the stairwell. It bears the sculpted effigy of an ancient Roman wearing a stern expression. Perhaps there was once a Roman villa here once, and if so this finding may be all that is left of it.

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	COVENT GARDEN

	The name Covent Garden derives from the use that was made of this area, namely a garden for the abbey of St Paul's. The expression convent garden contracted to become covent. The name garden then came to signify the market of orchard products which would take place there, of which there are still many traces. The doors of what were once warehouses, for example, are very tall. Also still present today, in many spots, are lifting winches, which have been restored and become an object of design. Today Covent Garden is a tourist attraction with many pubs and restaurants, artisan shops and organic food, as well as ethnic stores, bookshops, and art galleries.

	In order to build the square, the architect Inigo Jones used the square in Livorno (or Leghorn) as a model, after the work of transformation undertaken under the auspices of Ferdinando de' Medici, who had become the duke of Tuscany in 1587. At the time, Livorno was an international port, with a great square and a cathedral. Inigo Jones, assigned with tasks by the duke of Bedford, had seen them at the end of the Sixteenth Century during his visit in Italy, and had decided to include a church and two lines of colonnades at the sides, with  some houses bearing elegant facades. Unfortunately, of such project, only a few houses were left standing.

	Those between numbers 1 and 8 of Godwin's Court, for example, have remained unchanged since the beginning of the XVIII Century. Walking through this short but utterly beautiful street, where the Theatre Goers Club stands, gives one the impression of being hurled back in time. Upon the black shiny doors are bronze knockers, and just in front stand some large gas lamps. The wide bow windows tell the tale of these ground floor rooms, which once used to belong to shops. A plaque reveals that, in the past, this street was known as Fishers Alley.

	At number 90 of the adjoining St Martin's Lane, we can find the Salisbury Pub, with its beautiful Victorian insides, its mirrors and decorations of a time gone by, where one can enjoy a glass of wine or a pint of beer.        

	

	THE CHURCH OF ARTISTS

	THE PIAZZA
UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	The church of St Paul, which stands on the Western side of the square, is known as "the actors' church", due to its close relationship with the two nearby theatres, the Royal Opera House and the Theatre Royal. On the walls, many plaques have been affixed, with the names of actors, playwrights, and illustrators, who would once come here to the services, and whose ashes rest inside the niches within. Amongst them, is the theatre actress Ellen Terry, a great Shakespearean performer, who started acting on stage as a child, and Ivor Novello, the Welsh actor and composer who was very famous after the war for his interpretations of musical comedies.

	The client, namely the duke of Bedford, had told the architect that he did not wish to spend too much on the religious building, having already invested great part of his wealth on rebuilding the square. Therefore the church could not become much more than a granary. "In that case, Sir, you shall have the finest granary in England!", was Inigo Jones' reply. The house at number 43, King Street, built in 1716 for the admiral Russell, was the first to alter the style, until then mostly uniform, of the facades. Since then, little by little, the original design has been gradually abandoned. The original building of the church was destroyed in a fire in 1795, and the entrance is now at the back. One must cross a small graveyard, which in actual fact is a wonderful garden, where, as early as 1665, victims of the Plague used to be buried. The first of them was Margaret Ponteous, the daughter of a doctor. There are many benches underneath the cherry trees, which flower during the months of May and June. Often there are conservatory students playing classical music on the flute or violin.

	
The colonnade of Pygmalion and Pulcinella - Today actors and street musicians perform in front of the church or under its colonnade. On 9th May 1662, Samuel Pepys wrote in his Diary that the first Italian Puppet Play had taken place under the colonnade. This is the first annotation we have regarding the Punch and Judy Show, which is commemorated every year at the May Fayre. Inside the church, concerts of chamber music are held. The first scene of the comedy Pygmalion by George Bernard Shaw - later adapted and transformed into the musical My Fair Lady - namely the encounter between Higgins and the female florist, is set precisely beneath this colonnade.

	On 10th May each year, in the church garden, which can be accessed through Bedford Street, the puppeteer "masters" of Punch and Judy reunite for the Covent Garden Puppet Festival. Samuel Pepys recounts of what great fun he had watching the amusing adventures of Pulcinella, whose voice was produced by an Italian street artist. Pulcinella is in fact the ancestor of Punch.  
 

	THE MARKET PLACE AND THE STREET ARTISTS

	From 1500 to 1974, in the building that now hosts many shops and restaurants, a flower, fruit, and vegetable market would take place. However, due to the fact that the large lorries carrying goods would create a traffic jam, it was decided that it should be transferred to Nine Elms.

	Today the Covent Garden Piazza has become a large commercial centre for tourists, its most famous part being the Apple Market, with restaurants and cafés in the basement.

	In the area surrounding the market, street artists perform, and in order to do so must undertake an audition. On 27th March 2008, buskers crowded the square, this time not in order to perform, but to protest against the decision that was being made, regarding the reduction in the number of street shows. Their protest was supported by famous artists and politicians.

	In case any of the readers may be interested in performing, it is necessary to request a specific form upon which one must write down the time slot that one intends to occupy (but which is often assigned instead) and the duration of the show, which however should not exceed thirty or forty minutes. The shows go on all through the year, except for on the whole of Christmas Day.

	Since August 2007, there has been a delightful initiative: the Food Night Market, a night completely dedicated to food. Its purpose is to take the area back to a time when it used to be London's larder. There are hundreds of stands with fresh products, there are special traditional cheeses from Neal's Yard, mushroom sandwiches from the Spore Boys, sweets from the company Gourmet Candy with football lollipops, much loved by children, and soft caramel in various flavours.

	THE LONDON TRANSPORT MUSEUM

	41 COVENT GARDEN PIAZZA

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	In the Victorian building, built in glass and iron, which hosts the London Transport Museum, and which was designed in 1871 by William Rogers, a flower market has taken place since 1980. In the museum, the attempt has been made to preserve the heritage of the city in the transport sector and explain the evolution and the history since the days, back in 1933, when the whole system of Greater London and the adjoining counties were unified, and which was to become, years later, one of the most extended cities of the world.

	Here sits a collection of old buses, which have been sent into retirement and replaced by faster, more modern ones, along with a number of trams, and some metropolitan trains, which all give the idea of the changes which have been applied to the inside of the carriages. There are also some lovely steam engines in hues of red and yellow, all slick and shiny. After the renovation of 2005, the museum became one of the main tourist attractions of Covent Garden, which also attracts many children. The shop at the entrance sells many publications on the subject.

	
THEATRE ROYAL

	DRURY LANE

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	The first theatre of the capital was built in 1663 on Catherine Street and destroyed by a fire. The second one, designed by Wren, was left standing for one hundred and twenty years and hosted the great David Garrick from 1747 to 1775. In 1794 a third one was built, even larger still. The current one can hold over two thousand people. It is the property of the composer Lloyd Webber and, for the most part, musicals are shown.

	Until a short while ago, it hosted the United Kingdom's National Museum of the Performing Arts with the archive of Henry Irving and Gabrielle Enthoven, as well as a collection of posters, fliers, theatre programs, paintings, scripts, costumes, prompter scripts, photographs, and relics from the past, such as old tickets and leaflets.
It is said that the theatre is haunted by the ghost of the  clown Grimaldi and by that of a man with a grey knight's jacket and a cocked hat on his head, who appears at the opening evening and brings good luck to the show. He has supposedly been sighted by the actors, as well as by firemen and cleaning staff, who apparently stopped to have a chat with him. On the wall of the nearby Fortune Theatre, in Russell Street, there is a female Art Déco nude, which leans against a frieze with some diamond-shaped illustrations. The woman is gazing downwards whilst rubbing her right foot against her left leg. The theatre was designed by the architect Ernest Schaufelberg and opened in 1924. Dryden Street, much like Drury Lane, is a street of theatres, and is somewhat London's Broadway. On the facade of one of these, there is a bas-relief which depicts a sleeping princess, and symbolizes a muse.

	

	ROYAL OPERA HOUSE

	BOW STREET

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	The Royal Opera House, which hosts the opera and ballet, is part of the history of Covent Garden, much like the theatre. The building dates back to 1858, but most of it, starting with the inside area, was rebuilt between 1997 and 1999. The facade has an elegant porch with six gigantic Corinthian pillars, and a frieze representing Tragedy and Comedy. In the two lateral niches, stand the statues of Melpomene and Talia, the muses who respectively presided over tragedy and comedy, which were carried out by C. Rossi, well-known as a modeller at the Coade stone factory.

	In front of the facade of Bow Street, next to the line of red telephones, there is a statue of a young dancer sitting on a stool, the work of Enzo Plazzotta, an Italian sculptor who had always lived in London, and whose bronze works are scattered all over the city. On the Waterside Terrace of Barbican Centre, one can observe the Camargue Horses, in Belgrave Square we find his Homage to Leonardo, and in Westminster, at the corner of 47, Millbank, stands the statue known as the Jeté, portraying the acrobatic leap of a ballet dancer.

	Starting in 1735, Friedrich Händel, who was the theatre director, presented some of his works here, such as The Faithfull Shepherd, Ariodante, Alcina, and Atalanta.

	In 1743 the Messiah was performed in front of the royal family. Starting in the Nineteenth Century, the clown Joseph Grimaldi would perform there with great success. His father Giuseppe had died when he was only just nine and had left him and his mother full of debts to pay back. On the stage, he would recite the role of Harlequin, but with visual tricks and innovative clown antics. He would mock the spectators and amuse them by including them in his pranks and humorous songs. He introduced the pantomime dame, the Christmas show aimed mainly at children, where the male role is carried out by a woman, and that of a funny old woman, the dame, is performed by a man. On the subject of Grimaldi: in the church of All Saints in Haggerston, Hackney, on the first Sunday of each February, every year hundreds of clowns from all over the world meet up in his memory. At the end of the service, there is a show for children.

	Floral Hall - If one is not interested in theatre shows, alternatively one may visit Floral Hall for a drink. The name of the gigantic glass structure next to the theatre is in truth Paul Hamlyn Hall, however seeing as it was once part of the flower market, the old name has stuck. It now serves as an entrance hall for the public and many restaurants stand just opposite. One may take the great glass elevator which passes through the glass-panelled veranda and reach the bar at the top, where one can observe the London's silhouette against the sky. At lunch time, there are free concerts with music by Mozart, Debussy, Wagner, and others. They start at 1 p.m., and are usually held in the exceedingly beautiful baroque-style Crush Room, or in the Lindbury Studio. It is necessary to head to the box office half an hour beforehand to withdraw tickets. Some are also available on Internet and can be booked in advance. On the subject of free events, another is the yearly Ignite Festival, which includes jazz music, artistic events, dancing and film shows, which does not only take place here. The festival also gives one the opportunity to visit the theatre and terrace. For anyone into the genre, on Friday afternoons, in the brightly-lit Paul Hamlin Hall, one can dance waltz, tango, and cha-cha-chà. Bear in mind that one may also buy the tickets for the Royal Opera House at a reduced price: in this case one must ask for a restricted view seat, where one does not get quite such a complete view of the stage.

	
LONG ACRE

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN,

	LEICESTER SQUARE      

	The name refers to the unit of measurement of the acre, which is equivalent to four thousand forty-six square metres. This is a reminder of the fact that there were once fields here. Oliver Cromwell lived here from 1637 to 1643. At the corner of Long Acre with Mercer Street, just in front of Stanfords bookshop, there is a large vertical sign, with the words "Armstrong Siddeley" and "Connaught Coachworks". In post-war England, the Siddeley Sapphires were extremely elegant six-cylinder automobiles, manufactured in Coventry. The name Armstrong was added after the company merged with the American Armstrong company. Beneath the sign, there is a hall for exhibitions and Siddeley car sales.

	Nutopia - In the parallel street, Shelton Street, there is a cyber hall like none other! Visitors are submerged in a relaxing aquamarine light, which is present in all the rooms, and it gives one the feeling of being inside a spacecraft of some sort, floating through the endless abyss. The environment is completed by a series of luminous abstract sculptures. Also, as Nutopia is also a place for art, there are exhibitions by digital artists, who present artwork created on computers. The computers glow in the dim light of the laboratories, whilst thirsty internauts consume organic fruit juice. The aim is to create a worldwide net with a database for computer artists. At number 16 of the nearby Neal's Yard, very near Seven Dials, there is a New Age shop selling soothing music, stress-busting crystals, Ayurveda products, joss sticks, and perfumes which have been conceived with the aim of bringing about peace of mind...

	
STANFORDS, THE BIGGEST TRAVEL BOOKSHOP IN THE WORLD

	7 MERCER WALK

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN, LEICESTER SQUARE

	Behind the looming Edwardian facade of this building, there is a huge bookshop with maps and books on the subject of globetrotting. Stanfords opened way back in 1901, and since then has continued to develop, reaching an incredibly vast choice of maps, books, travel accessories, globe maps, and planispheres. On the ground floor, one can find travel literature, stationary, children's books, and toys. At the back of the shop is the Sacred Café, selling fair-trade tea and coffee, along with delicious Muffins. On the lower floor, one can find guides and maps of London, historical maps, mountaineering manuals, books about cycling, food, and wine, guides for any destination one can think of, as well as clothing for activities out in the open. Also, on the wall is the biggest map of the world by National Geographic, whereas the ceiling bears a map of our solar system.   

	At 27, Monmouth Street, one can find the bar managed by the Monmouth Coffee Company, where one can enjoy a good cup of coffee. If one wishes to buy some quality bacon, it is enough to pop just around the corner to Portwine's, at number 24, Earlham Street.
Instead, where Endell Street finishes, at number 32, we find a famous sports' centre with a huge open swimming pool, which goes by the name Oasis.
 

	GARRICK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: LEICESTER SQUARE

	This street was built in 1860 through Long Acre, when administrators decided to clean out the slums in the area. The most famous building is located at numbers 13 and 15, and hosts the Garrick Club, a rather exclusive club counting 1500 members, which does not admit women within its ranks. The only exception that has ever been made was for a conference given by two female travellers who had climbed the Kilimanjaro. Charles Dickens, J.M. Barrie, Dante Gabriel Rossetti, Laurence Olivier, John Gielgud, and Noël Coward were once members, and presently Stephen Fry is a member. The club hosts an excellent theatre bookshop and a significant collection of paintings and sculptures connected to the theatre.

	The unusual name refers to the column with sundials which used to stand at the junction of seven roads, in an almost circular spot, which was removed in 1773. The consistent number of roads, according to the original plan, was supposed to provide the greatest possible number of buildings along their sides. However, unfortunately the area deteriorated and became a conglomerate of hovels and shacks, with a high crime rate.

	Dickens described it effectively in Bleak House and in Sketches by Boz: "The stranger who finds himself in the Dials for the first time...at the entrance of Seven obscure passages, uncertain which to take, will see enough around him to keep his curiosity awake for no inconsiderable time..." In 1929, Agatha Christie chose this place as the setting of her detective story The Seven Dials Mystery, wherein the neighbourhood appears as a synonym of urban misery. The horrors of this criminal area are also represented in the Gin Lane print, by Hogarth.

	
Still today, at the centre of the neighbourhood, which has become a commercial area, there is a column built in 1988 which is an accurate reconstruction of the original. Left standing is also a grey lamp post which bears the red and white emblem of the Holborn Council district, an office which has no longer existed for the past fifty years.

	On Saturday morning, it is a pleasant place to come to do some shopping, as it is rich with boutiques and independent shops, filled with bizarre items which make for good presents, which are both original and fun. Also, one can come here for the theatres, bars, and restaurants. Inside the Dial, the history of the neighbourhood is explained.

	

	SEVEN DIALS

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	Inside the Seven Dials Warehouse, for those who appreciate artisan products, the Tibet Dreams represents a lovely alternative to mass-produced items, with items of Tibetan craftsmanship, for example hand-made teacups made by potters, or unique specimens of a small piece of furniture, that can all give one far greater pleasure than items that are produced as exact copies of each other. At number 41 of the same street, stands the Donmar Warehouse, which has been transformed into a theatre, capable of holding 250 people. The group, created by Sam Mendes, has earned the fame of excellence. Alongside the classics, many new dramas are enacted by emerging playwrights.

	

	AMID DREAMS OF TIBET AND BRASILIAN CINNAMON

	50, EARLHAM STREET

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	In the same street, at number 33, there is a quaint Brazilian restaurant, The Canela, where one can taste the typical dish, Feijoada, a stew of meat and beans served with rice. Also on the menu are cheese bread, salted cod which goes by the name of bacalhau, and the Pasteis de nata, a cake with a custard filling. One can drink the famous caipirinha, made with Cachaça, as well as mohito or the juice of the açai fruit. The aromatic cinnamon coffee is also delightful.

	 

	NEAL STREET

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	It is a famous street in Covent Garden, where every day thousands of people pass by. Very few, however, know the origin of its name. It is named in memory of Thomas Neale, who in 1693 prepared the plan for the round square of Seven Dials, including the central column. He was a member of parliament for over thirty years, he occupied the post of Master of the Mint, and as well as Seven Dials, he also planned the development of Shadwell and Turnbridge Wells. Amongst some of the oddities which he was involved in, is the design of a pair of cheat-proof dice.

	This street is also where the shop Neal's Yard is located, where one can buy traditionally-made organic cheese. This shop is the London equivalent of the Slow Food concept of Italian brands, such as Eataly, a way of defending products prepared in a natural and artisanal way. Neal's Yard was the precursor of the wholemeal trend, starting with bread.

	At number 14, Neal's Yard, on the first floor, we find the Neal's Yard World Food Café. The menu includes edible roots, a chickpea masala served with brown rice, and a selection of turkish hors d'oeuvres, meze, tabulé, and pita bread.

	

	PHOTOGRAPHER'S GALLERY

	5-8 GREAT NEWPORT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: LEICESTER SQUARE

	The two storey building, with black tiles, hosts the largest gallery in London covering photography. Historical archives are kept here, but excellent exhibitions are also held here, dedicated to famous artists or emerging talents, who, dissatisfied with the traditional function of photography as a reproduction of the outside world, move on to explore its various dimensions, on a journey seeking new and undiscovered potential.

	After having explored each and every aspect of photography, one can enjoy a pleasant cup of coffee along with a slice of homemade cake or a freshly made sandwich in an extremely modern bar, its walls understandably covered with many beautiful photographs.

	

	ST MARTIN'S LANE

	UNDERGROUND: LEICESTER SQUARE

	Between 1753 and 1813, at number 60-61 of this street, which today is known mainly for its theatres, there is a laboratory where Thomas Chippendale and his son used to design and build their rococo furniture. This was the headquarters of the Academy founded by Hogarth, which included a group of artists who would gather at Slaughter's Coffee House. It was they who introduced the rococo style into the country's furniture sector, which Thomas Chippendale, a great ebony carpenter and furniture designer, then moved on to fulfil.

	There are as many as three theatres overlooking the street. The Noël Coward, before bearing the name of one of the country's best-known playwrights, used to be called Albery, in honour of its original director. The outside has been built in a classical style, whereas the inside area is delightfully rococo. Together with Shakespeare, also Pinter and Beckett are represented. The Coliseum, with its great tower, which includes a balcony on the facade and a rotating globe at the top, is the biggest and most noticeable of all. It was opened in 1904, when the nearby Duke of York's had already been active for twelve years. It has often hosted musical comedies, such as the Rocky Horror Picture Show in 1995. In this theatre, Giacomo Puccini assisted the performance of Madame Butterfly by David Belasco, the American playwright born in San Francisco during the years of the Gold Rush, of which he later told the story. From Belasco, Puccini also took the content of a second comedy, La fanciulla del West (The Girl of the West).


	EMBANKMENT

	

	The Thames embankment was a milestone in health and safety measures laid forth for the city's benefit, as well as a great feat of Victorian engineering.

	It was decided that it be built at the end of summer, 1858, when the unbearable stench coming from the Houses of Parliament had underlined the need for a sewage system. In truth, the proposal to embank the Thames at the level of central London dated back to 1660, and had been carried out by the architect Wren. The currently operative works were designed by Bazalgette in 1862, and carried out in three phases: firstly the Victoria Embankment was built at the northern end, then the Albert Embankment to the south, and lastly the Chelsea Embankment in 1874. This work subtracted a vast area of marshy land from the river, and part of the sewage system of the western area of the city was incorporated into it.

	A walk along the banks of the Thames - The walk along the river starting from the Westminster bridge all the way to the Blackfriars bridge is extremely pleasant. One can stop to admire the Banqueting House or make a deviation in order to enter the Victoria Embankment Gardens to admire the statue and fountain. After passing the Hungerford bridge, one reaches Cleopatra's Needle. As one draws nearer to Waterloo Bridge, one can observe the complex of the South Bank on the opposite side of the river, with the Royal Festival Hall and the National Theatre. Further ahead, near Blackfriars Bridge, built in 1869 following the design by James Cubitt, the jetties and cranes of the old docks can be seen.  

	After crossing the bridge to return to Westminster on the other side of the river, one encounters a huge portcullis with an engraving which says that in 1935 this section of the Thames was called King's Reach, in memory of the Silver Jubilee of George V. A short way ahead, a bronze plaque commemorates the men who lost their life on submarines during the First and Second World Wars. The bas-relief depicts a crew inside a submarine, about to be dragged downwards by nets towards their destruction, pulled by sinister figures. On the lateral panels, the names of the ships lost during the world conflicts are listed. On the wall next to Waterloo Bridge, which was the first cement bridge, one can admire the vast facade of Somerset House. Behind this palace, there is another small garden area with a bronze, life-size statue of the engineer Brunel, created by Carlo Marochetti. The empty pedestal once supported the statue of a little girl holding a jug of water. The monument was erected in memory of Lady Somerset, who preached the virtues of restraint. Unfortunately the statue was stolen.    

	 

	VICTORIA TOWER GARDENS

	ABINGDON STREET

	UNDEGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	This peaceful area along the banks of the Thames, rich with fields and trees, just south of the Houses of Parliament, is shaped like a long overturned triangle, its tip pointing towards the Lambeth bridge. It is enjoyable to sit on the bank wall and allow one's gaze to stray over the passing boats, the towers of the Lambeth palace, the park, and the docks just opposite.

	The gardens, which get their name from the Victoria Tower, once part of the Westminster Palace, were created in 1870, when the platform on which they lie was built. Before this, they were part of the Thames Embankment created by Bazalgette, and were smaller.

	They were expanded towards the end of the century via the purchase of a series of docks which were then transformed. One of these was the Dorset, which belonged to Charles Taverner Miller and his son George. Theirs was the ownership of the patent for the manufacturing of candles, prepared through the refinement of spermaceti, the oily substance found in certain cavities of the sperm whale, which after the death of the cetacean, solidifies into a white mass. To give an idea of the personality of the industrialist, a brief anecdote: in 1831, a nineteen-year-old lad who had stolen his silk handkerchief was processed at the Old Bailey and condemned to deportation for fourteen years, to Miller’s great satisfaction.

	The bench camels – Some of the benches of Victoria Embankment, decorated with wrought iron, have one particularly unique quality: at the two extremities, in the place of legs, they have two sitting camels, loaded with packs, and each bearing a ribbon around their necks, hanging like a pendant. It would seem that they were created in memory of the troops known as the Imperial Camel Corps, formed in 1916, derived from the troops who fought at Gallipoli.

	

	THE STATUE OF EMMELINE PANKHURST

	VICTORIA TOWER GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The female statue built in bronze which stands in front of Millbank in Edwardian clothing portrays the figure of Mrs Pankhurst, the leader of the suffragist movement. It was carried out in 1930 by A.G. Walker, and the medallion of a little girl sculpted at her feet represents her daughter Christabel, who did not hesitate to be jailed alongside her, in order to fight not only for women’s right to vote, but also for their right to work. Christabel had been a brilliant student of law, but being a woman, she could not enter the profession. On the left, there is also the symbol of the Prisoner’s Badge, which had been created especially for them. The WSPU, the acronym which stands for Women Social & Political Union, which can be seen to the left, represents the bars of a prison cell, and was carried by women who had been in jail “for the cause”.

	Her followers would chain themselves to gates, and when they were jailed, they would go on hunger strikes, and were then force fed. They would sometimes go a little over the top, by vandalizing works of art in order to attract attention and obtain publicity for themselves.

	 

	THE CITIZENS OF CALAIS

	VICTORIA TOWER GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The group of statues in the Victoria Garden Towers is a copy of the one found in Rodin, in Calais. The copy was purchased by the British government in 1911. The statues have slip knots around their necks, and each has a huge key in one hand. When Calais had fallen to the English, after the Battle of Crecy, Edward III wished to hang the male citizens in order to punish them for their long resistance. However queen Filippa of Hainault, originally from Flanders, forced him to desist from his intent and saved their lives. The sculpted group which depicts them hunched over, skinny, and with their gaze fixed on the ground yet not defeated, is quite moving. They are still ready to sacrifice themselves for their city and refuse to turn themselves in to the King of England.

	 

	THE BUXTON FOUNTAIN

	VICTORIA TOWER GARDEN

	UNDERGROUND: WESTMINSTER

	The fountain was built in 1865, the year slavery was abolished in America. It commemorates the emancipation of slaves in the British Empire, which had taken place around thirty years earlier, in 1834. The fountain was erected in memory of Fowell Buxton, William Wilbeforce, and the members of Parliament who had contributed to the abolishment of slavery. It has a very elaborate Victorian structure, with statues of kings, mosaics, and coloured tiles.

	

	NEW SCOTLAND YARD

	8-10 BROADWAY

	UNDERGROUND: ST JAMES'S PARK

	The Metropolitan Police Service, founded in 1829 by Robert Peel, answers directly to the Ministry of Internal Affairs. Its headquarters is an austere three-storey building built in 1890 following Norman Shaw's design. The facade is in granite on the ground floor and built with bricks at the higher floors. The circular turrets which decorate the corners make it seem somewhat like a medieval castle. Since 1967 the building which is New Scotland Yard has stood on the Embankment, while the old building offers lodging to the Members of Parliament.
 

	QUEEN MARY'S STEPS

	WHITEHALL

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT

	The building of the Ministry of Defence, designed in 1898 by William Young, stands on the edge of the Richmond Terrace, which was built by Wren for Queen Mary II.

	Today, the two flights of steps in front of the palace, which were once on the water's edge, give us an idea of how much space was subtracted from the river in order to build the Embankment.

	In the first strip of the gardens, stand the statues of Lord Trenchard and General Gordon. On the road that flanks the river, there is a monument to the Royal Air Force, with a golden eagle at the top of a stele of stone.

	

	THE PANELS OF NORTHUMBERLAND HOUSE

	8, NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	Northumberland House used to stand where Northumberland Avenue, built in 1847, cuts across Charing Cross towards the river bank. In 1874 it had to be demolished to make room for Northumberland Avenue. Elizabeth Smithson, daughter of the duke of Somerset and wife of the duke of Northumberland, had assigned Robert Adam to build a living room decorated with glass. As well as red, green and sparkling glass panes, framed with gilded metal, and many mirrors, Adam placed paintings above the doors and in the oval windows, carried out by Cipriani.

	It is perhaps the most sophisticated inside area ever created by Adam. At the time of the Great Exhibition, the palace was opened to the public, following the request of Prince Albert. Adam’s style, however, was not greatly admired at the time and considered rather intricate and discordant. In 1873, the duke had adhered, although reluctantly, to the administrator’s request to sell the house, in order to build in its place a new access to the Thames embankment. The hall panels were removed and sold to an antique dealer, who would rent them as decorations for novice ballet dancers. In 1955, they were purchased by the Victoria & Albert Museum, where they have been reconstructed as if forming a room, and one can now admire them there.

	

	THE OLD LAMPS OF THE VICTORIA EMBANKMENT GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT, TEMPLE

	The Victoria Embankment Gardens are a peaceful oasis where one can stay and go for a walk in the heart of the city. Scattered around them are statues, dedicated to characters such as Arthur Sullivan, portrayed in the act of staring into the distance, over the garden and into the distance. He seems to be ignoring the young girl, naked from the waist upwards, leaning against his plinth. The funeral monument was designed in 1903 by William Goscombe John to celebrate the component of the famous duo Gilbert and Sullivan, an author of musical comedies. Amongst the statues, one of them is dedicated to the engineer Bazalgette, as might be expected, who was responsible for the construction of the embankment itself, the impoundment of the Thames which restricted its riverbed. Among the funeral monuments is that of William Tyndale, who in 1520 was one of the first sustainers of the Reform, and this made him a controversial figure. He was ahead of his time in maintaining that God’s word should be available to all in an English version, and not only in Greek, a language understood only by the clergy, which could therefore exert a greater amount of control on followers. However, his work of translation, which started with the New Testament, forced him to leave the country to go to Worms, where he was encouraged by Erasmus and Luther. Later on, he went to Antwerp, where he was arrested for having attempted to translate the Old Testament. In the Vilvorde Castle he was strangled and burnt on the stake. One year after Tyndale had paid for his ideas with his life, the Bible had begun to circulate in English, as he had maintained that it should. The monument shows him with his right hand resting on an open copy of the Holy Bible, which in turn is resting on an ancient printing press. One of the most interesting things to see along the side of the road and along the riverside parapet, is the array of Victorian gas lamps with their metallic reticules of bright green hues. Great dolphins are twisted around some of the posts; others are decorated with roses. This is where Cleopatra’s Needle stands, an Egyptian stele, which, despite its name, has no historical connection with the queen, considering that the hieroglyphics refer to the pharaoh Thutmose III. It was transported to London in 1878. Underneath it, a time capsule is buried, which consists of a trunk containing various artefacts from the Victorian epoch. In 1917 it was slightly damaged by a bomb, and one can still see the signs on its base.          

	 

	WHITEHALL COURT

	WHITEHALL COURT

	UNDERGROUND: EMBANKMENT

	Its towers look like those of a castle of the Loire o Rhine areas, however in actual fact they are in the pure neo-gothic style, and date back to 1884. The palace is made up of two separate buildings, and amongst others include designs by Alfred Waterhouse, known for the Natural History Museum. A part of it is occupied by the Royal Horseguards Hotel, whereas the remaining part hosts a number of private residencies.

	From here, one can get a charming view of the Horse Guard Parade. In the garden opposite, which faces the river, there are three bronze statues. Some of the famous residents have included George Bernard Shaw and H.G. Wells. One of the extremities hosts the National Liberal Club, founded by William Gladstone in 1882 and named with a political connotation of progressive character and vaguely bohemian. Also the Intelligence Service was born here.

	This monument appears in the background of any photos that happen to be taken from the bridge of St James’s Park, often unbeknownst to the photographers themselves, and it enhances the romantic perspective of these scenic compositions.

	In 1951 the architects Clyde, Young, and Engel added a marble staircase which leads all the way up to the third floor, without any form of bannister.

	

	ST JAMES’S 

	

	The area of St James extends to the south of Piccadilly, reaching through the Mall and St James’s Park, all the way to Birdcage Walk. It is an area of royal residencies, elegant houses, delightful shops, and trade galleries. Bond Street is the street of reference for women’s shopping, and Jermyn Street likewise but for men’s items. Here one can find shirts tailored to size, handmade ties, leather bags and belts, vintage wine... In St James’s Street there are a number of exclusive eighteenth-century clubs, such as Brook’s, the Carlton, White’s, and Boodle’s.

	The neighbourhood is filled with fascinating things, not only inside the shops but also outside, like for example the Tobacco Indians of St James’s Street. These two coloured wooden statues, which have been placed on the pavement in front of the cigar shop James J. Fox and Robert Lewis, represent two native Americans. The inside of the shop is similar to that of a club. There are leather armchairs, lampshades which give off green light, carpets, and other charming features.

	There are famous tobacco brands, such as Bolivar and Partagas. Winston Churchill would visit from time to time, and sit on one of the shop’s armchairs to enjoy a Romeo y Julieta or an Aroma de Cuba.

	In the area of St James’s Park, there are many galleries, which are especially concentrated in Duke Street. One of the better-known ones is the one located at number 41. It exhibits the works of British, European, and International painters, and provides expert advisors who are well-versed in international art markets. The most famous street in the area is Pall Mall, the name of which derives from the game of pall-mall, which used to be practiced in the Seventeenth Century. The street is famous for its clubs, to the point that Conan Doyle chose it for the imaginary Diogenes Club, inserted into the Sherlock Holmes book, the Greek Interpreter. With his usual irony, the author describes it as a club created for men who, due to shyness and misanthropy, have little love for the company of other men and none at all that of women.

	This is a club where one may not talk and one is expelled if one coughs, however one can spend the afternoon on a comfortable armchair with a newspaper, which is what the members appreciate the most. The southern part of the street is property of the Crown. Number 100, between 1824 and 1834, once held the headquarters of the National Gallery. After the Restoration, the Mall was built, which runs alongside the park, and provides an extraordinary approach to Buckingham Palace, reminding one a little of the Champs- Élisées in Paris.

	

	ST JAMES'S PALACE

	PALL MALL

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	St James’s Palace is located a short way north of St James’s Park and is one of the oldest in London. It was built in 1530, commissioned by Henry VIII, on the grounds of a hospital for lepers, which was dedicated to St James the Less, from whom the palace and the park got their name. It encloses four courtyards, with a facade of red bricks and polygonal towers at the sides of the entrance gate. It was once a royal residence. Queen Mary Tudor died here, Charles I attended his execution here, and Charles II made it his main residence, and had a pitch built for pall-mall, as well as a garden crossed by the waters of a canal, later opened to the public. Cromwell transformed it into a barracks. In spite of the fires that erupted, a number of structures have survived, as well as some decorations by Wren and others. Most of the Palace was restructured during the Nineteenth Century and stopped being a royal residence when  Buckingham Palace took its place. William Morris and his collaborators restored the Armoury and Tapestry room. The palace is still operative today, and is part of a complex, which also includes York House, where princes Harry and William live, and Clarence House, where the Queen Mother used to live, and where the Prince of Wales moved after her death. It is possible to enter the yards, where one can admire the building.

	The stamps of the kings – One of the most interesting curiosities of St James’s Palace is the royal family’s stamp collection. It is the most complete in the whole of the United Kingdom and Commonwealth, and includes many rare or unique stamps, such as the Mauritius Two Pence blue, which was paid for by the King with an amount of one thousand five hundred pounds, an important amount of money at the time. Some stamps date back to 1854, the year of the twenty-fifth anniversary of their introduction. Obviously the royal family has made use of expert advisors, collaborators, and curators in order to put together such a huge collection and preserve it with care. After having been preserved for a century in Buckingham Palace, it was brought here, where exhibitions are organized by the Royal Philatelic Society, which has been around since 1869 and is the most ancient in the world. It has the purpose of promoting progress and the knowledge of philately, by means of conferences, research and news.    

	 

	QUEEN’S CHAPEL

	SAVOY HILL, STRAND

	UNDERGROUND: COVENT GARDEN

	It was designed by Inigo Jones for the French wife of Charles I, Henrietta Maria, and built in 1623, as part of St James’s Palace. It was originally a Catholic church, when the construction of such churches was forbidden in the country. It has an extremely elaborate wooden ceiling. The fire which burnt down the adjoining building and the building on Marlborough Road isolated it from the rest of the palace.

	The psalm of the Queen Mother was kept here for a few days whilst awaiting the state funeral and subsequent burial in Westminster Abbey. It has a wooden ceiling with inlaid panels and a gallery for the Royal Enslosure. It seems like the colour of the walls is more or less the same as the original. In the summer months it is occasionally open to the public, on certain Sundays.

	  

	KIWIFRUITS

	7, ROYAL OPERA ARCADE

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	This shop is a reminiscence of the Empire, a headquarters for selling products typical of New Zealand: from patriotic T-shirts and exotic fruit marmalades to Manuka honey beauty cream, oil extract from sheep’s wool, or Pohutukawa hand cream, but also items of Maori art, such as Paua jewellery with Pounamu jade pendants. One can find all sorts of things here, including books which delve into the identity of the aborigines.

	

	ST JAMES'S PARK

	THE MALL

	UNDERGROUND: ST JAMES'S PARK

	It is the most ancient of all the royal parks in London. In 1532 Henry VIII of England purchased the area, which was marshy because it was continuously flooded by the waters of the Tyburn. The king intended to reclaim it, also because it was close to York Palace, which he wished to transform into a royal palace. In 1603 King James I introduced exotic animals, such as camels, crocodiles, tropical birds, and an elephant. Charles II opened it to the public, after improving it, following the projects of the gardener of the king of France, who he had met during his exile. There is a small lake with two islands, namely Duck Island, so-called because there was once a duck reserve there, and West Island. Along with the ducks, Duck Island has also had an illustrious guest. During the regency of cardinal Mazarin, the French poet Charles de Saint-Evremond had been forced into exile, and had chosen to flee to London. King Charles II did not wish to make an enemy of the French government by offering him hospitality, yet neither did he wish to upset him. As a compromise, he decided to nominate him governor of Duck Island, a title he held until his death. In the lake, there are also some likeable pelicans, some swans, and herons. Behind the weeping willows which stand  all along the river, there are small paths which one can take for pleasant walks. From the bridge, built in 1957 following the design of Eric Bedford, one can see Buckingham Palace, surrounded by trees and fountains. On the opposite side, are the towers and the grey rooftops of the government buildings which stand next to Whitehall.

	If you feel like a tasting some Japanese cuisine, at number 23, St James’s Street, where until just a few years ago there was an elegant restaurant called Che, in honour of Guevara, there is now an equally refined Japanese restaurant, the Sake No Hana. It has good reason for its name, as one can choose from over fifty types of sake, including some very unusual ones.

	  

	THE DUNHILL PIPE MUSEUM

	50, JERMYN STREET

	UNDERGROUND: ST JAMES'S PARK

	The small museum of Dunhill is full of rare pieces which are priceless, and can be appreciated both by experts and the general public. It is located in the area of the great museums and a small deviation is sufficient to include it in a round of visits. One then comes to discover that the pipe, used by native Americans during religious ceremonies, was introduced to England in the Fifteenth Century by travellers who had smoked it on the other side of the ocean.

	Tobacco also came from America. The true origin of the pipe, however, is lost in the past centuries, due to the fact that almost all populations came to know of it in all its different forms and built with very different materials. It seems that it was in use already before the use of tobacco itself, when opium, oregano, and other herbs were dried out and used to this end. Here in Europe, the use of the chamber pipe developed, unlike Islamic countries where the hookah, or water pipe, is used. In any case, also Portuguese and Spanish sailors, who had learnt the use of the calumet, adopted it, and in doing so transformed it. Many poets and writers, such as Baudelaire, Flaubert, Simenon, Pavese, and amongst the women, George Sand, all smoked a pipe.

	At the Dunhill Museum, there are many pipes on show, some in briar root, others in rosewood or foam. There are also old illustrated catalogues, posters, and lighters of the strangest shapes and sizes. One of them is built with a varnished golf ball.

	

	LANCASTER HOUSE  

	STABLE YARD

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK  

	The building was constructed in 1827 by Benjamin Wyatt for the duke of York, though he died before his construction was finished. The house was then sold to the duke of Sutherland , a supporter of social reform, who turned it into an important cultural centre of activity and initiatives, such as the abolition of slavery. In 1848 Queen Victoria, who at his arrival stated: “I have left my house to come to your palace”, would often come here to hear Chopin play the piano. In 1864 also Garibaldi was the duke’s guest, and people would stop him on the streets to greet him. In 1912 the house was sold to the viscount Leverhulme, who donated it to the nation for the creation of the headquarters of the London Museum. Today it is used for official meetings. The facade of the house, aside from the Corinthian porch at the entrance, is quite simple. Its greatness can be witness on the inside, with a majestic hall which leads to a series of state apartments. The most important of these is known as the Grand Gallery, and hosts a painting by Guercino, brought here by the church of San Grisogono of Trastevere in Rome, and placed on the ceiling.

	 

	MALBOROUGH HOUSE

	PALL MALL

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The building was built in 1709 by Wren for the duchess of Malborough, the wife of the general. The noblewoman had asked him to pull up a solid, simple, and comfortable building. She also had Louis Laguerre fresco the walls of the hall rooms and those of the great staircase with scenes of the battle where her husband had defeated the French and stopped them from conquering Vienna. The dome is surrounded by frescos that were painted by Gentileschi for the entrance to the Queen’s House at Greenwich. The nine panels, which mimicked the geometric layout of the marble pavement have been detached from their original place and inserted into the compartments of the ceiling. The central panel portrays the nine muses and the liberal arts. Painting, Music, Geometry, and Sculpture decorate the medallions in the corners; the mutilated rectangles, instead, bear Comedy and Tragedy. In 1817 the building became the royal residence and remained so for almost a century and a half. Nowadays it is used by the government for official receptions.

	Behind Marlborough Gate, next to St James’s Palace, there is a pretty monument in the Art Nouveau style dedicated to Queen Alexandra, wife of Edward VII. The sculpture, which overlooks Marlborough Road, was carried out by Alfred Gilbert, the same sculptor who created the statue of Eros in Piccadilly Circus. Originally the monument was situated in the wall of the gardens of Marlborough House, where the Queen lived. The statue, commissioned in 1926, is built in bronze enamelled in black, and has a style which resembles Neo-Gothic. The queen sits behind the allegorical figures of Faith, Hope, and Charity.

	 

	ST JAMES’S SQUARE   

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK, PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	North-east of the homonymous palace lies the rectangle of streets bordered by Pall Mall, Haymarket, Piccadilly, and St James’s Street. St James’s Square is at the heart of this rectangle. The land was handed down to Henry Jermyn, duke of St Albans, who wished the square to be surrounded by elegant buildings. He set the good example by building his own house, Jermyn House. It stood on the southern side and was demolished in 1938, in order to make room for Norfolk House. The duchess of Norfolk, a catholic, favoured the continental style and called a painter from Turin, Giovanni Battista Borra, to decorate the music hall. The frescos on the ceiling contained the depictions of Painting, Sculpture, Music, Science, Astronomy, Literature, Geometry, and Architecture, the latter wielding the plan for Norfolk House. Borra also designed golden friezes which adorned the mirrors and the chimney, with musical instruments for their subjects. The house, which had hosted the allied troops and General Eisenhower during the Second World War, was later demolished. Only the music room, all painted in white and golden hues, was saved, and can be admired at the Victoria & Albert Museum. House number 4 in Charles II Street is of great architectural interest. It was built by the duke of Kent, who was greatly interested in architecture. It would seem that also the Italian architect Giacomo Leoni worked on it too, and the result is splendid.

	At number 20 of the nearby King Street, today belonging to the Distillers Company, which has also purchased the next-door property, stands the most beautiful house. It was built in 1775 by Robert Adam , who embellished it with two Ionic pillars. On the inside, there is plastering of a refined taste on the hall’s ceiling, whereas the chimney bears a pleasing bas-relief and a frieze representing some dancing female figures and a warlord on his chariot. On the opening day, a musical breakfast and a lively country dance were organized. At number 26, King Street, we find the Golden Lion pub: its licence dates all the way back to 1732, and it has preserved an elegant vintage interior design.

	

	LONDON LIBRARY

	14 ST JAMES’S SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY, GREEN PARK  

	The London Library was founded in 1841 by Thomas Carlyle. The writer was not happy with the content of the British Library, directed by Anthony Panizzi. He defined it as being full of people who sniffle and spit, whilst he wished for a silent place where one might read in peace and quiet. To better clarify his thoughts on the matter, he had stated that because of a certain “subhuman” librarian, he had been refused a private room to read in.

	Therefore he had launched a subscription in order to create a new structure. It received replies from Dickens, Darwin, Conan Doyle, Henry James, and Agatha Christie. The first auditor was Thackeray. It contains more than one million books, most of which are on display. The volumes are in alphabetical order, organized by subject, and their number increases by roughly eight thousand titles every year. The richest collections are those of literature, history, art, architecture, philosophy, religion, and travel books. The periodic ones date back to the Eighteenth Century. It is a charitable institution which has the aim of increasing literature, education, and knowledge. The subscription is open to all, and books can be lent to all European citizens. It has the atmosphere of a club.

	 

	AT CHRISTIE’S TO THE HIGHEST BIDDER   

	8 KING STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The auction house Christie’s, which belongs to François Pinault, is one of the most famous in the world, and certainly the oldest. Already in 1766, James Christie was organizing sales on behalf of prominent artists in the pubs in Pall Mall, or releasing on the market important art collections belonging to nobles or sovereigns. One of the richest collections ever sold was that of Catherine of Russia. One of the reasons for the great success of sales in London was due to the fact that , when the French Revolution broke out, all trade of works of art moved from Paris to the British capital. Twenty years after opening, the gallery moved to King Street, where it still stands today, although the original building had to be reconstructed because it had been damaged by bombs. Today Christie’s has branches and sorting points all over the world, even in Hong Kong, Singapore, and Bangkok. In Italy it is present in Milan and Rome. Today one can not only find works of art, but also personal objects belonging to famous characters. Not long ago Lady Diana’s clothes were put up for sale.

	 

	THE WINES OF PICKERING PLACE

	ST JAMES’S STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	 The narrow street opens onto a square with a sundial in the centre.

	Behind number 7 of St James’s Street, after having moved beyond a narrow arched passage which still bears the original covering, one finds oneself in a small internal courtyard which has remained intact since the Georgian epoch, with the original lamp posts. It bears the name of William Pickering, who had a café in the space where, since 1698, the wine merchants Berry Bros. & Rudd have been stationed. In the Seventeenth Century, there were many gambling houses and it seems that many duels were carried out here. The small size of the square, however, must have greatly limited movement, and it is difficult to see how these duels managed to take place at all. Legends say that also the dandy Beau Brummell once fought here.

	The shop of Berry Bros. & Rudd, which is found at number 3 of St James’s Street, had underground canteens which reached all the way to Pall Mall, extending for eight thousand acres, where about ten thousand bottles were stored. They were part of the palace of Henry VIII, and Napoleon III also hid there during his exile. The wooden pavement is sloped, the walls are covered in oak panels, and there is a fascinating little wooden armchair with seats for two people, which has withstood the weight of characters such as Lord Byron and Evelyn Waugh.

	

	THE HATS OF LOCK HATTER & CO.

	6, ST JAMES’S STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The Lock Hatter has been situated in this building since 1765, and its facade was done over halfway through the Nineteenth Century. It tailors hats of extremely high quality for men, women, and children, including tweed hats for the winter, or cotton and straw for the summer. Depending on the occasion they are needed for, their shape changes completely. There are top hats, panama hats, bowler hats, wide-brimmed hats, and hats for ceremonies...

	The factory was founded in 1676 by Charles Davise, and given that is now part of the history of London, one can go and visit it as a museum. Their most famous hat is the Coke, better known as the Bowler, from the name of the person who invented it in 1849. Edward Coke, a land owner from Holkham, in Norfolk, wanted a hat that could serve as a protective helmet for his workers. The hat that ensued was dome-shaped, with shellac applied to it in order to make it more rigid and protect the head of gamekeepers from the branches of trees. It was also very adherent to the wearer’s head, so that it could not be whisked off with ease. The Straw Boater, instead, got its origin from the hats of midshipmen serving in the Royal Navy, and were conceived to protect them from the sunlight of the Tropics. For many years it was worn by fruit and vegetable peddlers in East End. During the school period, one often sees students wearing them, as it is  part of their uniform. Another famous hat from Lock is the Trilby, which gets its name from the heroin of the novel by George du Maurier. It is a soft felt hat, also worn by men.

	The Panama of the Incas – The Panama hat produced by Lock has the peculiarity of being manufactured exclusively in Ecuador, with hand-woven palm fibres, just as the Incas once used to make in the Sixteenth Century. It gets its name from the workers of the Panama Canal, who used to wear it. The top hat, invented by the French, has become the status symbol for gentlemen of the Nineteenth Century. In the past it was made out of beaver hide, which was then replaced with a furry fabric obtained from silk. It is obligatory at Ascot, for men invited into the Royal Enclosure. Also in the past, inhaling the fumes of mercury nitrate, once used in the process of hat manufacturing, could cause a disease of the nervous system known as “mad hatter disease” which led to paralysis, loss of memory, and finally to madness. Lewis Carroll, in his book Alice in Wonderland, turned the figure of the Mad Hatter into something of an icon.

	 

	THE CHEESES OF PAXTON AND WHITFIELD

	93, JERMYN STREET

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS  

	Paxton and Whitfield are cheesemongers, and have been since 1797. They navigated through a period of crisis about halfway through the Nineteenth Century, when the cheese coming from the continent was deemed more exotic and tasteful than that of the British factories, and during a period when small farmers seemed to prefer to sell their milk to the industry. Behind the pretty Victorian facade, beneath the sign that says “for exceptional cheese” there is a vast array of traditionally-made cheeses and cheesecakes. Here one can find Marlborough, Riviera, La Manche, and much more...  There are delicate-tasting cheeses, those with a stronger twang to them, to which one can have walnuts or other dried fruit added, if one so desires...
After the war, the shop was expanded, and became a delicatessen, and therefore the choice of products is now even greater. Also the crackers (meant to be eaten with the cheese) are very tasty.

	 

	HAYMARKET

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	It is often the case, especially with foreign names of places, that they are taken as a given fact, without a thought for the original meaning of the name. Today Haymarket, the street of theatres, which runs from Piccadilly Circus to Pall Mall, is an upper class neighbourhood, however its literal meaning tells another story. The reason for this name is that until 1830, in this area, forage for horses used to be sold. Carts filled with straw and hay would park along the sides of the main street and the forage would be sold without being subjected to duties. Also typical country products were sold here. On 29th June 2007, a car bomb was parked in this street. The police managed to intervene in time and disarm the bomb.

	The Haymarket theatre was built in 1720 by the architect John Nash, on the area of an inn which was called King’s Head. It is the third oldest theatre of the metropolis to still be operational. It was also the first to launch the tradition of the matinee, in 1873. Many French operas were performed here, as well as satiric comedies, burlesque shows, and shows by Pasquin and Carey. The most famous comedies were brought on stage for the first time in 1893 and 1895. These were namely A Woman of No Importance and An Ideal Husband. by Oscar Wilde.

	One of the theatre directors was the comedian John Sleeper Clarke, brother-in-law of John Wilkes Booth, who was also an actor, as well as being the murderer of President Lincoln. A short while after this deed took place, Clarke left his wife and moved to London.

	

	THE MONUMENT FOR FLORENCE NIGHTINGALE  

	LOWER REGENT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: TOWER HILL

	In the place where the monument of Florence Nightingale stands today, there was once another one, formed by the statues of three royal guards, with an allegorical female figure representing Honour, designed by John Bell and officially presented in 1859. It was made with the bronze of cannons captured in the siege of Sevastopol. Then, in 1914, the monument was removed and moved to the corner of Lower Regent Street and Pall Mall, in order to make room for the statue of Nightingale and that of Sidney Herbert. The author of the latter, Arthur Walker, portrayed the nurse holding a lamp in her hand, something that formed the definition of her that was passed on to history. Nightingale is considered the founder of modern nursing healthcare, which follows a scientific method and was founded on the premises of clean air, pure water, an efficient sewage system, cleanliness, and lighting for the soldiers’ camps.

	

	THE VICTORIAN STATUES OF WATERLOO PLACE

	The square was created by John Nash, as part of his impressive approach to Carlton House, later demolished in 1829, when the Via Triumphalis was completed (this was how the architectural historian Peysner had defined Nash’s project to connect Regent’s Palace to Carlton House by building a holiday palace in the park).

	  There are six bronze statues on stone pedestals, one of which portrays Captain Robert Falcon Scott, dressed in polar clothing with a ski pole in his right hand. There is a plaque which bears the names of his companions who died at his side in 1912 in the unfortunate expedition. As a naval officer, he conducted two expeditions towards the Antarctic, the Discovery and the Terra Nova. During the second adventure, after reaching the South Pole, where they discovered that they had been preceded by Amundsen, Scott and his four companions met their ends due to hunger, fatigue and extremely low temperatures. Blinded by the snow, with his limbs frozen, blocked for ten days of bad weather at a mere eighteen kilometres from the food deposit, on the 29th March, Scott wrote the last phrase on his diary and his last message: “We knew the risks we were taking, yet events have gone against us; however we have no reason to complain, we bow before the will of Providence...”

	She left on 21st October 1854 for Istanbul, from where news had arrived about the terrible conditions in which the wounded were cared for, and there she suggested the organization of camp hospitals, where attention was also given to a correct diet. Nearby, there is a monument to the fallen of the Crimean war, where Nightingale developed her precious work.

	 CLUB ATHENAEUM

	107, PALL MALL

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The splendid building of the Athenaeum club, which overlooks Waterloo Place, was designed by Decimus Burton in 1824. The club had literary and scientific purposes, and was a gathering place for men involved in the fine Arts. The Dorian porch is surmounted by a great golden statue of Pallas Athena, the Greek goddess of wisdom.Above the windows of the first floor, runs a frieze by John Henning, painted blue and white. Inside are the statues of Apollo, Venus, and Diana. Amongst its members, this club has included some of the greatest names in English literature, art, and science. Some of them are for example Joseph Conrad, Charles Dickens, Rudyard Kipling, John Ruskin, and Charles Darwin. There are sixty thousand volumes distributed on the shelves which cover the walls of the five rooms.At first, a cap had been set at one thousand members. Then, through the years, the maintenance costs of the building and other factors made it necessary to increase the number of subscriptions. In 1838 forty members were admitted all at once, and were promptly nicknamed “the forty thieves”. Dickens and Darwin were among them. Fifty of the members of the Athenaeum have won Nobel prizes. Today the club has two thousand members, many of which are women. On Monday evenings conferences have been held since 1830.

	TRAVELLERS’ CLUB

	106 PALL MALL

	UNDERGROUND: CHARING CROSS

	The travellers club was founded in 1819 upon the suggestion of Castlereagh, at the time minister of Foreign Affairs. It was a meeting point for those who had travelled abroad and for foreign diplomats of the capital. In order to be admitted, however, aspiring English had to prove they had travelled abroad at least five hundred miles from London measured as the crow flies. The building was designed by Charles Barry, who for this project drew inspiration from the style of the Italian Renaissance. Today, in order to enter, one must be introduced by a member and have a great passion for travelling. The Italian members are around twenty in number.

	The club has one of the most important geographical libraries, and the halls are adorned with marble reproductions of the temple of Apollo at Bassae.

	At numbers 69-91, Pall Mall we find the Automobile Club, created in 1897, which throughout the years has organized many car and motorbike competitions. The building was designed by the French architect Mewès, who won the Prix de Rome in 1885, and also by his partner, Davis. It has a Turkish bath , a pool in Carrara marble, squash pitches, a snooker and pool room, and three restaurants. Some of the scenes from the film Where Eagles Dare were filmed here.

	CARLTON HOUSE TERRACE

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	The current buildings stand on the grounds of Carlton House, built in 1783 for the prince regent. However, as soon as the works ended, the prince was elected as king and moved to Buckingham Palace. In 1825, Carlton House was demolished. The paintings and furniture were moved to the royal home. Amongst them, there was a “prototype” of a desk, with thin legs, a leather surface, drawers to place paper in, and powder for blotting.

	Carlton House Terrace is made up of two rows of elegant, majestic houses, with facades in white plaster. The buildings were built in 1832 following the design by John Nash, with the contribution of other architects, such as Decimus Burton. They have hosted illustrious characters and embassies. Today they host associations such as the Royal Society, the British Academy, the Institute of Contemporary Arts, the Photographic Department, and the archives of the National Portrait Gallery. During the Second World War, General De Gaulle and his staff lived in the building on the corner with Carlton Gardens.

	GIRO’S GRAVE

	9, CARLTON HOUSE TERRACE

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	Through the gate at the top of the steps known as the Duke of York’s Steps, at the foot of a centuries-old tree, sits a box built in wood and glass. It protects the grave of a famous dog, called Giro. On the stone, there is an engraving in German: “Giro; ein treuer Begleiter!” (“Giro, a faithful companion”). The date 1934 and the name Hoesch are marked below.Dr. Leopold Von Hoesch was the German ambassador in London from 1932 to 1936, and the engraving is in memory of his Alsatian, who died after running into a cable and getting electrocuted. This was the garden of the house at number 9 of Carlton House Terrace, the headquarters of the German embassy. Hoesch was the last ambassador of the Republic of Weimar, just before Hitler and the Nazis rose to power. Today the building hosts the Royal Society.

	

	 THE QUEEN’S GALLERY IN BUCKINGHAM PALACE

	BUCKINGHAM PALACE

	UNDERGROUND: VICTORIA

	The Queen’s art gallery was opened to the public in 1962. There are rotating exhibitions of the works of art chosen from the royal collection, and especially those that belong personally to the Queen. There are almost always at least five hundred works exhibited. The gallery is situated in the western wing of the palace, where a chapel stands, that was bombed during the Second World War. In 2002, the gallery was renewed by the architect John Simpson, who added a Dorian porch at the entrance. The Queen then opened the inauguration ceremony herself. Something not to be missed, especially in the Summer is the garden, with its great variety of birds and wild flowers.

	
THE BUCKINGHAM PALACE MEWS

	ROYAL MEWS

	UNDERGROUND: VICTORIA

	The royal mews that we see today were built upon the grounds of Buckingham Palace, near Grosvenor Place, in 1732. The word mew comes from the building where since 1377 the royal falcons were kept in the period of the moulting. In 1534, the building was destroyed by fire and rebuilt for keeping horses, but its name was not changed. The architect Nash rebuilt the royal mews, but they were modified and expanded subsequently. In fact, also the royal coaches are parked here. The most recent is the State Coach Britannia, weighing three tons, built in 2007 in Australia by Jim Frecklington and transported to London by plane to be donated to Queen Elizabeth II. The idea of the builder was to make a vehicle that incorporated the history of the English royal family and that of the United Kingdom. With this in mind, he used materials taken from historical buildings and ships. The crown on the roof, for example, is made with the beams of Nelson’s flagship. The handles are decorated with diamonds and sapphires. On the inside, there is air conditioning and the electric opening system of the windows is functional. One of the oldest is the Gold State Coach, built in Dublin in 1762 and used for the coronation of sovereigns.

	The visit to the horses, all kept impeccably, exceedingly shiny and perfectly groomed, completes the tour pleasingly.

	GREEN PARK

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	Unlike other parks, Green Park does not contain small lakes, waterways, statues, nor monuments of any sort, but simply fields and areas with trees. Perhaps it is precisely because of the exclusive prevalence of green that one has the feeling of floating amid its fifty-three uninterrupted acres of fields and trees.  Along with the park of Buckingham Palace and that of Kensington Gardens, Green Park forms a woody area which is almost uninterrupted from Whitehall to Notting Hill, and allows one to walk for kilometres through the green. It is strange to think that this was once a marshland, a place where lepers from the nearby hospital of St James were buried.

	Along Queen’s Walk, the pedestrian street which outlines the eastern boundary, Queen Caroline, wife of King George II, had her own private library built within a small pavilion. From here one can admire the facades of Bridgewater House and Spencer House.

	 

	CANADA GATE

	GREEN PARK

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	Canada Gate, at the southern area of Green Park, is particularly beautiful. It was given by the state of Canada as a monument in memory of Queen Victoria, who died in 1901. It was designed by Aston Webb and carried out by Bromsgrove Guild in 1911. It is located on the route between Trafalgar Square and Buckingham Palace. It is built in wrought iron in black and gold hues, in the same style as the gates of Buckingham Palace. On the five portals there are stems and emblems corresponding to the seven provinces of Canada.

	Inside the park, near the gate, there is a monument of red granite, sculpted by Pierre Granche, in memory of the thousands of Canadian soldiers who died in the war. It is a sloping square, divided in two by a sunken walkway. The two parts symbolize Great Britain and Canada, who fought alongside each other in both world wars. Bronze maple leaves, an emblem of Canada, have been inset into the sloping plane, and the water that runs over it, gives one the impression that the leaves are in fact floating on the water.

	  

	SPENCER HOUSE

	27, ST JAMES’S PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	Spencer House is the palace of Lady Diana’s family. It was commissioned by the first count of Spencer to the architect Vardy in 1756. It is one of the few buildings of the epoch to have survived. Vardy designed the facades that we still see today, then in 1758, he was replaced by James Stuart, who had studied Greek architecture and was therefore so enthusiastic that he was nicknamed Athenian. The result was that the inside area, used for receptions and entertainment, has a great deal of detail in a perfect Palladian Neoclassical style. There is, however, a room on the ground floor which is entirely the work of Vardy, namely the Palm Room, where men would retire after dinner. The pillars, dressed in gold, have been sculpted to resemble palm trunks, upon which leaves stand out. The frieze, also in relief and golden, portrays gryphons and candle holders and was inspired by the Roman temple of Antonino and Faustina. The architect who substituted Vardy was instead fascinated and charmed by the Pompeii style, by the great scenic richness of those paintings, the ochre squaring, the fantastical architecture, the imitations of marble covering, the trompe l’oeil, the scenes which were sometimes tragic and at other times comical, the landscapes, the rich ornamentation with winged figures, and the mythological fables... and thus, at Spencer House, he recreated a room in pure Pompeian style. The palace remained uninhabited for a long time and was abandoned by the Spencer family. Then, under the initiative of a Rotchild, the building was restored, used as a series of offices as well as for reception events. A visit to this splendid eighteenth-century palace is an enjoyable way to end a walk through Green Park. The extraordinary front garden, with flowers and bushes that change appearance with the passing of seasons, is almost an extension of the park.

	

	

	

	

	 




	PICCADILLY

	

	If you asked a foreigner to name the first place in the city that springs to mind, the answer would probably be Piccadilly. The name not only stands for the square and the fountain at its centre, but also indicates the long street that heads westward and runs along the side of Green Park. During summer Sundays, it is really rather pleasant to spend the morning walking along its gentle slope until one reaches the park.

	The origin of the name (hearing Mediterranean people  pronounce it is an immediate give away as to their origin) comes from the profession of one of its first inhabitants, Robert Baker. The latter was a tailor who in the early Seventeenth Century, had a shop on the street and there he would sell pickadils, the scalloped cutwork for collars, similar to those worn by Shakespeare in portraits of the man. The nobility started to build their houses there, being surrounded at the time by fields, and simultaneously merchants began to open the first shops. Today Piccadilly is the most important artery of communication towards the western side of the city.   

	

	PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	It is certainly the most famous area of London, a famous place worldwide. Not quite so well-known is the fact that the statue at the centre of the square, dedicated to the philanthropist Ashley, count of Shaftesbury, depicts  charitable love and not Eros, as instead most are led to believe. The sculptor Alfred Gilbert decided on the use of emblematic representations to represent the great generosity of the noble, who must evidently have been such not only by name, but also in character. This was achieved through the symbolic figure of a god, his wings spread wide, and an arrow just released from his bow. The statue was made of aluminium, a metal which was only just starting to be used for such manner of work. At the base, there was a fountain with statues of children and fish placed at the centre of the water display.

	Unfortunately, Gilbert’s work was unlucky from the very start. The City Council almost immediately closed off the water, which had been flowing out onto the street. Therefore the sculptor’s idea, according to which the statue was to be seen through a veil of water, fell flat. Moreover, the material he had used had cost him two and a half times as much as the money he had received for the job. Thus, depressed and bankrupt, he moved to Bruges after asking that the fountain be disassembled, sold as spare parts, and the profit given to the poor.

	Until halfway through the Nineteenth Century, Piccadilly Circus had been a magnificent square, designed by John Nash as part of his plan for Regent Street.

	It could be accessed via four places corresponding to the cardinal points. One could admire Carlton House, the residence of the prince regent, later demolished in 1827. The quadrant at the southern curve of Regent Street was decorated by a row of arches and columns.

	The colonnade was demolished in 1848, when Shaftesbury Avenue was built, cut right across the quadrant. Ever since then, the harmony of the square has been ruined.

	Crazy Traffic – Unfortunately today the streets that cross the square passing next to the fountain are always suffocated by traffic. The situation was already critical in 1956, when Rose Macaulay, in her book The towers of Trebizond, wrote: “we drove from Folkstone in time to enter the slow-paced traffic of Sunday evening. Everyone had come up with the same plan: to leave early in order to avoid the rush hour, but precisely for that reason, it was impossible to avoid. People were on edge, and were tooting their horns, cutting across each other’s paths, and I was behaving no differently. Buses seemed to be passing through traffic lights a good ten seconds after they had turned red, a habit which has always filled me with rage, as it is of the utmost meanness because this way one steals other people’s right to pass through...”

	 

	WATERSTONES  BOOKSHOP

	202-206, PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	The building where Waterstones has been since 1999 is the work of Joseph Emberton and has a wonderful facade covered in Portland stone. The shop was the first to have a long hollowed pane of glass, something made possible by novel techniques in submerged arc wielding. It is worth the effort of passing it by, just to witness its striking effect. The facade on Jermyn Street was once that of the Museum of Practical Geology.

	The vast rooms of the library used to host Simpson’s Department Store. It was a clothes shop for wealthy men, members of the “tweed set”. The customers were important politicians, land owners, and dignitaries, who would often wear the expensive tweed clothes.

	There is a strange connection between the Simpson headquarters and the current use of the place. One of the tailor’s shop assistants, who went by the name Jeremy Lloyd, later became a writer and a successful playwright. In one of his more famous works, which later became a television series, going by the title Are you being served?, he used his previous work experience to great effect with an exhilarating outcome.

	 One of the extraordinary and pleasant things to be done in this bookshop is to choose books, head up to the bar on the fifth floor by taking the old lift with its unique buttons, and tuck into one’s reading in front of a nice cup of tea or coffee. Before leaving, one can stand at the windows, and take in the wonderful view of the London Eye, the Big Ben, and the tower of Westminster Cathedral, which are all enchanting when the sun sets.

	 

	ST JAMES CHURCH

	197, PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS, GREEN PARK

	It is the parish of the Royal Academy and hosts artists both alive and dead, seeing as many of them, after having taken part in the religious services here during their life, were also buried here. For example, this was the case for Willem van de Velde, both father and son, marine painters of Dutch origin. Others are the Flemish James Huysmans, also from the Seventeenth Century, an author of portraits, and the Nineteenth Century cartoonist James Gillray. Also James Christie lies here, the owner of the famous auction house.

	 The original building, which dates back to 1684, was designed by Sir Christopher Wren, but was partially remade after the damage from the Second World War. That of today is in red bricks with decorations in Portland stone. On the inside, the lateral galleries are sustained by square pillars, whereas the barrel vault of the central nave is held up by Corinthian pillars. The monumental baptismal font of refined marble dates back to 1757 and is the work of Grinling Gibbons. The stem which holds it up is the sculpted shape of the tree of knowledge, with wreaths of flowers and fruits, a serpent wrapped around it, and the figures of Adam and Eve on the sides.

	William Blake in an Adamitic costume – William Blake was baptised at this baptismal font and it could be said that the figures of Adam and Eve marked him for life, due to the fact that as an adult he would come here with his wife and would sit with her on a bench in the garden. They would both be naked, and explained the gesture by claiming that they were role-playing Adam and Eve.

	The statues of the angels and cherubs in the act of sounding the trumpets, which decorate the organ built by the great organ manufacturer Renatus Harris in 1685, come from the Catholic chapel of James II in Whitehall. In more recent years, namely between 1902 and 1905, Leopold Stokowski was the choir master in this church, before setting off for New York. The southern nave has been transformed into a chapel and on the wall it bears a Pieta by the painter and lithographer Francis Ernest Jackson. The church cemetery has become a garden in memory of the strength of will of Londoners during the Second World War.

	The attractive fence which runs along Piccadilly was designed by Reginald Blomfield. In this church concerts of classical, opera, and folk music are often held, and the timetable is shown on the posters which hang on the outer side of the fence. In the courtyard there are some tables which belong to a café-restaurant. Just next to it, is a market selling small paintings, jewellery, scarves, clothing, and rather unusual hats. Every Tuesday there are stands selling antique items, whereas during the Christmas period, items are sold on the theme of the festivity. 

	 

	HATCHARDS BOOKSHOP

	187, PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	Hatchards Bookshop, which is next to the Fortnum & Mason Emporium and opposite the Royal Academy, is the oldest in the United Kingdom and one of the most pleasing to the eye. Since 1797 its shelves in shiny black wood have contained rich series of bibliographies, books on the subjects and genres of art, narrative, travel, gardening, history, or economy and finance. Amongst its most important clients have been the likes of Queen Charlotte, the Prime Minister Disraeli, General Wellington, the writer Rudyard Kipling, the playwright Oscar Wilde, and the poet George Byron. Today many writers, actors, politicians, and scientists come to the bookshop to present their books and sign autographs on them. Just before Christmas, an evening encounter between writers and readers is organized.

	 

	FORTNUM & MASON

	181, PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY, GREEN PARK

	Just above the door at the entrance of the famous emporium, there is an enormous clock, installed in 1964, and its tolls mark the passing of hours accompanied by background music, and the statues of Fortnum and Mason  just outside the lateral sentry boxes, where they are portrayed in the act of greeting each other with a slight bow. The bells of the music box chime every quarter of an hour. The emporium has existed since 1707, and is known worldwide for the high quality of its products. In particular, it is worth visiting the splendid Food Hall, where the attentive care with which the array of gastronomy delicacies has been laid out gives one the impression of being at an exhibition.

	In the Eighteenth Century, Fortnum & Mason would supply the Royal house with game meat in gelatine, which was very much the fashion at the time. During the Napoleonic wars, the company would send spices, nuts and dried fruit, and  preserved food to the posts of British officers all over the world. During the Crimean war, it would send stock cubes of meat extract for broth to Florence Nightingale for the wounded soldiers. In 1851, it created a dish based on egg yolk mixed up with mincemeat, cooked in a casing made of the crumb of bread. In 1886, the company was selling Mr Heinz’s first canned baked beans in tomato sauce. The shop is also famous for the picnic hamper containing Stilton cheese, which is somewhat similar to Gorgonzola, smoked salmon, tea, and for those who pay no heed to expenses, also Champagne. Many purchase the hamper around Christmas time, as a present. Still today, one can have it delivered to one’s doorstep, by means of horse and cart with a coachman dressed in Victorian clothing. The Soda Fountain in its pastel hues, was restored in 1980, and distributes gigantic ice-creams with pieces of fruit , whipped cream, and syrup.   

	

	For gourmands – If one wishes to choose something typical to take home, one may opt for a jar of chutney - an Anglo-Indian sauce based on fruit, vegetables, and spices – or else some delicious mango or mustard sauce which literally leaves one breathless.   

	Between 3 p.m. and 6 p.m. there is a light afternoon meal, with a wide choice of desserts, small rhubarb cakes, vanilla croissants, chocolate éclairs, and small mandarin-flavoured iced cakes. On special occasions such as exhibitions and unusual ceremonies, there are theme cakes, such as chocolate cakes covered with sugar sunflowers for an exhibition on Van Gogh, or confectionary reproductions of some of the Wimbledon  tennis tournament symbols, and the list goes on... Some traditional dishes have also been brought back. There are a good five restaurants to be found.

	 

	HOTEL RITZ

	55, PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	It was built in 1906 by Mewès and Davis, the same ones who had erected the homonymous French version, and who had made use of Norwegian granite. The building has a colonnade similar to that of rue de Rivoli, and from the window one can take in a lovely view which looks out over Green Park.

	Coming here to drink some tea is an experience which is even more unique than Fortnum & Mason.

	
For gourmands – The ritual involves being greeted at the entrance by two porters who with one hand thrust the doors open, and with the other touch their top hats in a welcoming gesture. After this, a waitress deposits a silver tray on the table with some small triangular sandwiches with a filling of ham or salmon and eggs on the lowest tier, hot bread with cream and strawberry jam on the middle tier, and filled meringues and multicolour mini-cakes on the highest tier. Unfortunately one must book in advance.

	 

	BURLINGTON ARCADE

	32-33, BURLINGTON ARCADE

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY

	The arcades with the shops were once the shopping centres of the past. In London there were many: Burlington, Piccadilly, Royal Opera House, Halkin... They are all extremely beautiful, and one can avoid the rain with an excuse to gaze through the windows of shops. Burlington Arcade, which runs from Piccadilly to Burlington Gardens, was opened in 1819. Its construction was ordered by Lord Cavendish following the design of the architect Samuel Ware. Having been the first, it inspired many other European galleries, starting with that of Victor Emanuel II, in Milan. In origin, there were seventy-two shops beneath the arcade, whereas now there are around forty. There are boutiques for clothing, footwear, accessories, art, and antiques, although the specialty for which they are best known is antique silver. The facade facing Piccadilly was added in the early Twentieth Century, and was inspired by Victorian Mannerism. Beneath the glass ceiling, which allows a vast amount of light to pass through, the Beadles patrol in their traditional uniforms and wearing tails and a top hat, enforcing the rules and the code of conduct. The original ones were members of Lord Cavendish’s hussar regiment.

	
Piccadilly Arcade – It is located between Piccadilly and Jermyn Street, at the level of address number 53, and was opened in 1909. The architect Thrale Jell built it upon the area of the Egyptian Hall. Piccadilly Arcade starts just in front of the latter and has sixteen shops, most of which sell clothing. Here one can find the handmade shirts of the nearby Jermyn Street.  

	There is also a charming display window with the famous Wedgewood porcelains. At number 17, stands an unusual shop, the Armoury of St James, which sells military medals, of the Orders of Cavalry, hand-painted toy soldiers, military models, nautical antique items, small bronze  reproductions of statues, such as that of the Duke of Wellington, for example. On the southern side of Piccadilly, just next to the Church of St James, is the Princes Arcade, which crosses Jermyn Street.
 

	 ARLINGTON STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	Horace Walpole was born in this street on 24th September, 1717. Walpole was a writer and a historian – author of the Gothic novel The Castle of Otranto – yet he was also a political man, who ruled for a longer period than any other as Prime Minister. He was the inventor, in 1754, of the term serendipity, which indicates an unexpected fortune, the discovery of things that one was not previously seeking. He drew the term from an ancient Persian fable, whose protagonists were three travelling princes. Serendipity has recently been included in the list of names that are most difficult to translate into other languages. He too had set off for the Grand Tour, and had come to Italy with his friend Thomas Gray. In Florence he had encountered Lady Montagu and had later written about her in an ironic fashion.

	At number 16, entering from Park Place, stands the Royal Over-Seas League, a non-profit organization which arranges many activities for members and supports the Commonwealth with social and cultural initiatives, with exhibitions and concerts. It also organizes guided visits to Buckingham Palace and the Clock tower, as well as teatime on the terrace of the Palace of the Parliament.
Cayman Isles – At number 6 in the same street, there is a tourist agency known as the Cayman Tourist Office. If you should ever get the idea of going for a holiday in one of these Caribbean Isles, discovered by Christopher Columbus in 1503, and populated by pirates before falling under English domination, now famous for being a tax haven, here one can get information about deep-sea diving and snorkelling. One of the main attractions is a beach with extremely fine white sand which spreads out over for a good seven miles, near to which there are some turtle and sting ray breeding farms.              

	 

	THE IMPENITENT BACHELORS OF ALBANY  

	ALBANY COURT YARD

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	This elegant palace was built in 1770 by William Chambers for Peniston Lamb, viscount of Melbourne and first Prime Minister for Queen Victoria. In 1791 the property of the building passed over to the Duke of York and Albany, who  named it. In 1802, the three-storey palace was transformed and divided into roughly seventy apartments, which became extremely famous for being rented only to bachelors. Amongst the unmarried men who lived here, there were many poets and writers, such as Lord Byron, who would complain about the small amount of room at his disposal. During the following years, J.B. Priestley lived here, as well as the photographer Antony Armstrong-Jones, count of Snowdon, when he had not yet married princess Margaret, sister of Queen Elizabeth. Today the restriction regarding the leasing recipients has been lifted, and the apartments are rented also to married couples. The palace is mentioned in various different works of English authors, such as Oscar Wilde and Charles Dickens.       

	

	ROYAL ACADEMY OF ARTS  

	BURLINGTON HOUSE

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS, GREEN PARK

	It was founded in 1768 by George III, and Joshua Reynolds was its first president. Above each of the seven windows, there is a niche, separated from the others by Corinthian pillars bearing a statue each, two of which portray Michelangelo and Titian, and are the work of Calder Marshall. One represents Leonardo Da Vinci, and is the work of Edward Stephens, whereas yet another depicts Raphael, and is by Henry Weekes. At the back of the building, we find the great thinkers, such as the philosopher David Hume.    

	Michelangelo’s Taddei Tondo – The most famous piece of the collection is kept in a different room. It consists of a small bas-relief in Carrara marble, made by Michelangelo and representing the Madonna with Child and Saint John the Baptist. The Taddei was sculpted in 1504-1505. It belonged to a Florentine patron, Tondo Taddei, and in 1823 George Beaumont purchased it from the man’s descendants and left it to the Academy in his will. It is one of the four sculptures by Michelangelo which are located outside of Italy. S. John is portrayed in the act of offering a gold finch to Christ , as a symbol of Passion.

	Baby Jesus is withdrawing and seeking protection between the arms of his mother.
 

	The Meeting Hall, its ceiling decorated by Sebastiano Ricci’s fresco The meeting of Bacchus and Arianna, was painted by Ware in order to host gala lunches. In recent years, a staircase and a glass lift, designed by Norman Foster, have been installed between the two buildings which are the headquarters of the Academy. They both lead to a vast entrance with windows, beyond which one can see the original facade by leaning out from the parapet.

	From this hall, one can access the previous Diploma galleries (which have now been replaced by the brightly lit Sackler Wing, decorated with statues) which were added during the Victorian epoch above the building. The rooms, which have been completely renovated, have ceilings with barrel vaults and host high-profile temporary exhibitions.

	
SEBASTIANO RICCI AT THE BURLINGTON HOUSE

	PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The construction of the house began in 1664, an undertaking of the poet and architect John Denman. Later, in 1715, the building was renovated following the Palladian style, with triangular gables and pointed arches on the windows. The flooring of the halls on the ground floor is similar to that of Queen’s House of Greenwich, that of the large halls on the first floor is similar to that of Banqueting House in Whitehall.

	William Kent frescoed these walls and ceilings alongside Sebastiano Ricci. The latter, born in 1659, was an artist of great genius and with a remarkable ability of execution, and was one of the first Venetian travelling painters. For Burlington House he also carried out eight canvases with mythological subjects, as well as frescos on the walls of the staircase, with the Triumph of Galatea on one side, and Diana and the nymphs on the other. On the ceiling of the Council Hall, he painted the gods of Mount Olympus. Also Giovanni Antonio Pellegrini, who emigrated to England in 1708, contributed towards the decoration of Burlington House with a number of paintings, although these have been moved to Chiswick House. In 1867 the building was sold to the government and risked being demolished, in order to make room for the university. The stables, the pretty colonnade which connects the street, and the majestic entrance portal were effectively eliminated, but fortunately the building was saved. Today it hosts a series of important societies, starting with the renowned Royal Academy of the Arts, the Geological Society, and the Astronomical Society. Here too, is the Society of Antiquaries, which amongst its masterpieces, owns a diptych dating back to 1616 by John Gipkyn which portrays the old cathedral of St Paul. In the diptych, beyond the tower, one can see the preaching cross, erected on the land just in front of the church, where there is also a pulpit where sermons were held.

	
A CAT WITH A HAT AT BATES

	JERMYN STREET

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS    

	Customers who visit Bates in order to purchase an Ecuador Coffee Planters hat, a Fischer Fedoras, or a Henley Boaters, can try on these hats under the vigilant stare of Binks. Binks is a cat who entered the shop way back in 1921 and who lived there until his death, in 1926. After being stuffed, the cat was placed within a glass display, with a hat on its head and a cigar in its mouth. It is surrounded by columns of tweed hats, and piles of hat boxes bearing plaques which indicate their contents. There is also a plaque on the animal’s glass crate, warning those who stare at the beast with curiosity, and inviting them to leave a small donation.

	Jermyn Street, at the centre of Piccadilly, bears the name of the first count of St Albans. That it is a street of great elegance is apparent also due to the statue of Beau Brummell, who is portrayed in a pose which reveals how conscious he was of being the incarnation of refinement and good taste. Even if one does not wish to buy anything at all, nor have suits or shirts tailor-made for oneself, it is pleasant to come here for a walk to take a look at the old shop windows selling tailor-made shoes and boots, perfumes, beard brushes, cigars, and so on…

	There is even a Beretta shop, with competition pistols, rifles, and hunting wear. There are many attractions, events, forms of entertainment, and restaurants, amongst which a Russian one, called Abracadabra.

	 

	APSLEY HOUSE, THE NUMBER ONE

	HYDE PARK CORNER

	UNDERGROUND: HYDE PARK CORNER (3RD EXIT)        

	It is one of the finest houses in the capital. It is known as the Number One, due to the fact that it was once the first building which one would come across when arriving from the countryside, after the border. It was designed by Robert Adam in 1771 for the baron Apsley. The Duke of Wellington purchased it in 1817 and applied some significant changes to it. He enhanced it with elegant halls for his splendid receptions, the most famous of which was the Waterloo Banquet, to which he invited the officers who had taken part in the battle, and who would eat in the long Waterloo Gallery.

	The duke had had it covered up, much to the horror of his wife, who found that the colour did not much fit the paintings which were hanging there. The set of dishes used for that banquet was the same one as that used by Napoleon for his Josephine, renamed Egyptian Sèvres.

	In 1947, the house and all that it contained were donated to the nation. Its collection of Spanish paintings had a bizarre history. When Joseph Bonaparte, nominated by his brother as King of Spain, was captured by the English, he had somewhere around two hundred of them with him. The Duke of Wellington seized them, had them restored, and then offered them to the new king who had been restored to the throne. However the monarch of Spain left them to him. Amongst the paintings of greatest value are those of Velàsquez, others by Bruegel, Vermeer, Rubens, Murillo, Correggio, and two from the school of Caravaggio.        

	The Bony nude – At the base of the staircase, there is a gigantic nude statue known as Bony. It is none other than Napoleon, going by his nickname as given to him by the English. The statue was sculpted in Canova in 1803 and took six years to be finished. It was donated by Luis XVIII to the English government, after Waterloo. Napoleon is portrayed as a pacifying god, dressed in a Roman chlamys resting on his left shoulder. The emperor had come to dislike this statue, though he himself had commissioned it. It seemed to him that it was somehow a bad omen, and he had the feeling that the figure of winged victory, which rests its foot on Earth’s globe which he holds in his hand, might be on the verge of flying off.       

	 
PORTER’S REST

	PICCADILLY

	UNDERGROUND: HYDE PARK CORNER

	Just before the pedestrian underpass in Piccadilly, in the spot where there is a junction with Hyde Park Corner, stands the last exemplary specimen of a supporting structure which was once present in many points of the city. These supports were usually found along the streets with numerous hotels. They were used by porters, who could rest their load on them without actually removing it from their shoulders, but by standing just next to them. In this manner, it was not even necessary for them to remove their porter’s knot, a small cushion that they would use to protect their shoulders. The job of carrying loads or baggage in stations or harbours has almost disappeared, and so have the horses and mules transporting goods on their carts. These supports would have also disappeared, if not for an MP who opposed  disassembling them, seeing as they represented, in his words, “the keepsake of a vanished world, a testimony of the history of the city”. Today this surviving object is used by travellers with their rucksacks for laying down their weight for a moment, and by people drinking beverages as a place to rest their glass or coffee cup.

	

	MAYFAIR

	

	The name of this aristocratic neighbourhood, made up of elegant houses dating back to the Nineteenth Century in the Victorian style, derives from that of a market place.  In fact in this area, from 1686 to 1764, a cow market was regularly held.

	The area of the Forum Boarium corresponds to that of Shepherd Market, the name of which is not truly referred to a shepherd, but rather to its builder, Edward Shepherd, who along with his brother was responsible for many of the streets in the neighbourhood.

	Shepherd had purchased the lands from Nathaniel Curzon and had created the market, and the streets which lead into it, Shepherd Mews and Shepherd Street, still bear his name. In the Conduit Fields there is a water source known as Shepherd’s Well, which once fed into a stone duct that transported its extremely pure water. Until the end of the Nineteenth Century it was an important reserve for the inhabitants of Mayfair.

	In the past, the houses in Mayfair were inhabited by aristocrats and land owners, and today many of them host embassies, airline companies, and real estate agencies. There are many beautiful shops in the area, and it is great fun to do some window shopping here, especially as the products on sale are anything but cheap. There are also restaurants and luxury hotels, such as Claridge’s.

	
Walking through Mayfair – A pleasant walk could include Brook Street, Grosvenor Square, Hanover Square, and Hanover Street. The height of the buildings which stand along these streets is uniform, and the modern facades even manage to fit in rather well amid the older ones. The reticule of small streets west of New Bond Street has survived without suffering many alterations in time, and is definitely worth seeing.

	 

	BOND STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET  

	This is the street of elegant shopping, the most exclusive in West End, at the extreme opposite of Oxford Street. It bears the name of Thomas Bond, a real estate operator who purchased the elegant Clarendon House, demolished it, and built a series of apartments over it. The street is also known for the art boutiques and antique sellers, which are grouped around the auction house Sotheby’s. The highest concentration of art galleries is in Old Bond Street. The oldest of them is that of Paul Colnaghi, which is at number 15 and was opened way back in 1783. Within its halls, adorned with red silks, are the paintings of the Old Masters, which are on sale and date back to 1800. At number 43 stands the Agnew’s gallery, which was founded in 1817, and where paintings by British painters are sold.

	On the West side of Bond Street, at number 167, are Asprey’s shop windows. The shop was opened in 1781 and at the time it manufactured travel utilities as it still does today. In time, other luxury products have been added, such as jewellery and prized books. The street has a bizarre numbering, which rotates, as the numbers are in increasing order on the East side up to Burlington Gardens, and in decreasing order on the other side.

	When it reaches Tiffany, the street becomes New Bond Street and at number 153, stands the Time-Life building, designed by Michael Rosenauer. On its facade, there is a pretty frieze sculpted by Henry Moore, which unfortunately is placed so high up that it is not all that visible. It is an abstract sculpture, formed by four pieces.  When Moore saw that they were placing it at such a height, he offered to buy it back, but it was not sold back to him.

	Bond Street is a literary place par excellence, and it is mentioned in Pride and Prejudice by Jane Austen and also in Mrs Dalloway by Virginia Woolf. Queen Victoria would regularly visit a shop underwear in order to purchase her knickers.

	Churchill and Roosevelt - In the street there stands an unusual group of statues, created by the sculptor Lawrence Holofcener, where Winston Churchill and Franklin Delano Roosevelt are portrayed sitting on a bench with a very relaxed demeanour, immersed in their conversation. The statue is called Allies and is a very human depiction of the two statesmen. It was discovered by Princess Margaret and has now become a tourist attraction.

	 

	SOTHEBY’S PAINTINGS

	34-35 NEW BOND STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	Sotheby’s auction house was founded in 1744 by Samuel Baker and for many decades it took care of the sales of rare books. Only in 1913 did it also start selling works of art, along with nicely presented catalogues. Today the society belongs to the American Taubman, and has a remarkable amount of dealings and a branch in Manhattan, as well as internet services, such as a wish-list for customers.

	It is interesting to visit it so that one may observe the items on sale,  as well as the faces and expressions of the buyers.

	Here one can see the sale of items such as a self-portrait of Van Dyck, a Portrait of a young lady by P.Rubens, or the enormous painting by the eighteenth-century painter Samuel Scott going by the title Ships anchored at the Thames estuary, near Wapping, which portrays the watercraft of a time gone by.

	The Egyptian Lioness - Above the entrance, there is a very ancient bas-relief in black basalt, which is a representation of the goddess Sekhmet, considered the muse of good fortune for the household. The statue, which dates back to at least three thousand years ago, was sold in 1880, but the buyer never came to collect it.

	
THE CHINTZ OF COLEFAX & FOWLER

	39 BROOK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	Colefax & Fowler is a shop where chintz is sold, the typical English fabric which is made to look shiny by a special type of finishing. It is an article of internal decoration which inspires very extreme sentiments. In fact, people tend to either hate it or love it. It comes from India, in particular Calcutta, known for its fabrics (in Hindu, the word means “varied”), where it was a calico of vivid colours. It was later produced in Europe for bed covering and sofas, with original designs, especially flower-themed ones. Today, some of the best internal designers leave their own mark in terms of personal style with an eye to tradition, and dedicate a great deal of attention to details, and to matching the chintz to carpets and tapestries, which are supposed to look harmonious alongside each other.

	
FROM HÄNDEL TO HENDRIX

	25, BROOK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	 Between 1723 and 1759, the German composer Georg Friedrich Händel lived in the three-storey house with a dark facade which is located at number 25, Brook Street, after a period during which he lived in Italy. Here, he composed the Oratorios, the Concerti Grossi, the Operas, and also his Water Music, which was executed for the first time on 17th July 1717.

	It was King George I who asked him to compose a concert to be performed on the Thames, which was then carried out by fifty musicians perched on a barge in proximity of the Royal barge. The performance included only wind instruments. There were flutes, oboes, bassoons, horns, and trumpets, which are able to produce enough sound to be heard out in the open. The harpsichord had to be left out due to it not fitting on the barge. The king listened to the performance in the company of a few close friends, amongst which the Duchess of Bolton, the Duchess of Newcastle, the Countess of Godolphin, and George Douglas-Hamilton, Count of Orkney. It is said that the king enjoyed the melody so much, that he ordered the musicians, who were exhausted, to repeat the performance three whole times.

	Today this masterpiece is often accompanied by the Music for the Royal Fireworks, also written for outdoor performances. A part of the score has also been adapted for smaller orchestras, and it includes the strings, which are not suitable for outdoor playing because their sound does not carry far or loud enough.

	Händel’s house has been restored to make it appear as it was in his day and age. It was a typical building from the Eighteenth Century, in the spartan style of the Georgian period.

	Händel was its first resident, and lived there for nearly forty years. He also died there, after a life of merrymaking, on the night of 14th April, 1759. He asked his assistant to send the guests away, because he was “done with the world”. Händel was bulimic, and therefore had the habit of gorging himself and downing a lot of alcohol. This had given him gout, blindness, and paralysis and aphasia attacks. In the museum there are collections of memorabilia, including the Byrne collection, purchased in 1998. Musical events, conferences, and children’s events are held here. Within its chambers, shows are performed with Baroque music and recitals, especially in the evening, when the museum is closed.

	

	Hendrix’s room – The museum also incorporates the first storey of the next-door house, where in 1968-1969, the rock guitar musician Jimi Hendrix lived. However, unfortunately this part of the museum is only open from time to time, about twice a year, via booking. On the facades of both houses, there are the so-called blue plaques, which bear the names of their occupants.

	There is a shop selling musical items on the ground floor.

	Avery Row is a small pedestrian street which cuts across Brook Street diagonally. It is very pleasant to go for a stroll here and gaze into the windows of the old shops which look out onto the street.

	
HANOVER SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	The square was created at the beginning of the XVIII Century and is bordered by residencies for aristocrats. Today, very few houses remain which date back to that period, especially in the south-western corner. A few other eighteenth-century houses can be found on St George Street, a street which has a bizarre funnel shape and which leads onto the square. It is not known why the street was built in such a way, however the view from the square is magnificent.

	The houses of Hanover Square are three floors tall, the facades are in red or grey bricks, and the windows are joined together by vertical strips of white stone.
Albeit bearing a certain general uniformity, many buildings have been built in different periods and styles. Part of the square has been converted into a lawn. On the southern side there is a statue of William Pitt the Younger, the English statesman who introduced important reforms in administration and finance. Pitt was a pragmatic man, who wanted administration to be honest and efficient. Furthermore, like his father before him, he prepared England for the war against Napoleon’s France .

	 

	CHURCH OF ST GEORGE

	HANOVER SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	This eighteenth-century church was designed by John James in 1721-25. Today it is very well-known for the weddings of the rich and famous, a tradition which began a long time ago, with the Duke of Sussex, in 1793. On 24th March, 1814, the poet Percy Bysshe Shelley married Harriet Westbrook, only to abandon her four months later, to run off with Mary Godwin. The tradition went on with Benjamin Disraeli, who was later to become prime minister, and who married Mary Ann Lewis, a very rich woman who was ten years his elder. George Eliot, the pseudonym of Mary Ann Evans, and Theodore Roosevelt, to name but a few, also married in this church. It is mentioned in many novels precisely with regard to its reputation for being the church where the rich and famous get married. The central nave has a barrel vault, and the galleries on the sides are supported by square pillars which become circular towards the upper extremity, and end with Corinthian capitals. The Last Supper is depicted on the reredos, painted by William Kent, and is surrounded by a number of panels with sculpted fruit and flowers.

	On the outside, the great hexagonal porch is formed by six Corinthian columns and has a wonderful panelled ceiling. Beneath it are the statues of two iron dogs, created perhaps by Landseer. They were brought here in 1940 from a shop in Conduit Street, which had been bombarded, and then placed on the sides. The animals are staring dreamily as if awaiting something or someone. There are some obelisks here which were used as support for streetlamps.

	Händel’s Organ – One of the best things about the church is its organ, which is contained in a huge chassis, golden and decorated with five ribbed pillars, built by Gerard Smith in 1725 and remade in 1972. Georg Friedrich Händel, who lived in the nearby Brook Street, was a parishioner of this church and came regularly to services and also to play. Today recitals are held here (usually on Thursday evenings) and between February and April, there is a festival in Händel’s memory. The choir is made up by professionals.

	
CONDUIT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	The street crosses what was once Conduit Mead, a field where a wooden conduit used to pass through: this is the reason for the name; in the Middle Ages it brought water from Tyburn to London city. At the time, the owners of the land where the conduits passed would ask for a very high toll in return for conceding the right to pass through. The resupplying of water is mentioned for the first time in a document from 1236. The source used to be in the area where Stratford Place is today. There were also other sources in the area, all equipped with gates to protect them. The presence of water sources has remained, for example, in the names Conduit Mews, whose tubes started from Ox Close, and Conduit Place.

	 
THE QUEEN’S STATIONERY SHOP

	40, NEW BOND STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	Smithson is the Queen’s stationery preference, and this just goes to show the high quality level of the shop, as well as implying very steep prices. Here, marvellous boxes of many shapes and colours can be found, as well as refined paper for writing letters, elegant fountain pens, some diaries for adolescents, but also many items in leather, leather paper, bound diaries, bags, coin purses, pouches for spectacles, key rings, and the list goes on…  It is pleasant even just to take a look at the shop window and see the prized items on sale (one of the cheapest is a sleek gold pen) and visit the small museum, where diaries from the beginning of the Twentieth Century are sold, along with some old stamps, stationery used by an Indian maharajah, books of condolences used for John Kennedy and Grace of Monaco, some old tickets and Christmas postcards and telegrams from the time of war.

	
SAVILE ROW, THE TAILORS’ STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	Savile Row is the famous street of tailors who create clothing to suit one’s needs. It was built in 1732 on the land belonging to the third count of Burlington, whose wife was Dorothy Savile. The English term which indicates a custom-made item is bespoke. It seems that this expression was born in this very place, when the fabric of clothing was said to “be spoken for”. The street is nicknamed “the golden mile of tailors” and through the years Napoleon III, Lord Nelson, Winston Churchill, and Prince Charles all came here. The traditional style has been gradually modernized, but the work continues to be totally crafted by hand. The competition of the industry has made things more difficult, yet as long as there are people willing to come from every corner of the world to have an item of clothing tailored for them, work will go on.

	The shops of the tailors are on the ground floor of the eighteenth-century houses which have survived on the southern side of the street. On the upper floors, there are galleries, such as that of Matthew Brown and that of Laurent Delaye, both at number 11. At number 1, Savile Row, stands the headquarters of the Royal Geographical Society. Here, the burial chamber of Dr. Livingstone has been set up, before later moving it to Westminster Abbey for burial.

	
THE PALACE BY LEONI AND BONOMI

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The core of the current building at number 7, Burlington Gardens is formed by the skeleton of a house built in 1723, designed by Giacomo Leoni for the count of Queensbury and inspired by Palladio. In the XVII and XVIII Century, Andrea Palladio’s architecture was a source of emulation and appropriation for architects, who have built a number of buildings which are now perceived as English. Palladio was the model for buildings of different types with different uses, and Leoni too drew inspiration from him. From reading his notes and observing his sketches, it is clear how the work of an architect must have been frustrating, already at the time as it is still today, due to the fact that, in the end, a great deal depended on the desires and whims of the client, ill-chosen and improper as their requests might be.

	The building with a rectangular layout faces West on what today is Old Burlington Street. To the North is a large courtyard, and in the basement there used to be kitchens and lodging for the servants.
Following Leoni’s design, the facade was intended to be quite elaborate, however his project was not well received. It was Joseph Bonomi who many years later followed what had been the frustrated intentions of Leoni, and fulfilled it for the Count of Uxbridge. When the Bank of England bought the building, in 1876, it modified the indoor area, in order to make it suitable for housing spacious offices. Only the western part of the house has remained intact, including the main stairway, the antechambers to the North and South, part of the sitting room, and the first floor. Today the building belongs to the Bank of Scotland.

THE ROYAL INSTITUTION-SCIENCE LIVES HERE

	21, ALBEMARLE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	The building’s facade, which is the headquarters of the Royal Institution has conserved the imposing classical colonnade, although the construction has been expanded and modified throughout the centuries. The institute was founded in 1799 by a few famous scientists, amongst which Cavendish and Wilberforce, in order to promote science, spread knowledge, and provide support to new inventions with the aim of applying science more and more to the needs of everyday life.

	The philanthropist Thomas Bernard and the scientist Benjamin Thompson thus followed this nineteenth-century utopia and wished to target the funds towards discoveries that might improve the quality of life of poor people. In any case, the institute has contributed in time to scientific progress. Within its walls many discoveries have taken place, such as the electric generator and the atomic structure of crystal, and many of the scientists who have worked here have gone on to receive a Nobel prize. Today the association continues to spread scientific awareness by means of education programs in schools, by supporting research, and with conferences on Friday evenings.
It is precisely because of the traffic and crowding created by these conferences that the street has become one-way, and was the first ever in the capital for which such a choice was made.
The basement floor hosts Michael Faraday’s laboratory, which has been turned into a museum (see below), with all the equipment used by him. In these rooms, the scientist started the tradition of the Christmas Conferences, which still take place today in the Faraday Lecture Theatre and are broadcast on television.              

	In 1864, in this very street, Thomas Huxley founded the X Club. Its members would gather at St George’s Hotel and supported the ideas of Charles Darwin.
 
FARADAY’S MUSEUM

	21, ALBEMARLE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	In 1973 the Royal Institution opened a museum within its quarters, dedicated to the scientist Michael Faraday, a chemist and physicist, a researcher of the magnetic field, of which he laid out the foundations for subsequent studies. As a chemist, Faraday had discovered benzene. Yet he had never received an appropriate education, and perhaps because of this he remained a great experimenter, a pioneer in the uses of electricity.

	The great building is open to the public during normal office hours and also includes the reconstruction of one of Faraday’s labs. A second room contains many tools of historical value, which are all in some way connected to him. One of these is the first electric engine, which was a trampoline for the development of the transport industry, the first stage for the induction engine, at the base of electric power supply, and the first example of benzene ever to be isolated, which was at the core of the chemical industry.  

	Faraday was extremely religious. He belonged to the church of Sandemanian, a Christian sect founded in 1730, which required a complete and absolute faith and dedication. His biographers have written that “a strong sense of unity with God and nature pervaded his life and his work”. Evidently his life was not quite so imbued by the beauty of the Italian countryside. In his travel journal, during his time in Italy, he had written off the strip of coast between Genoa and Lerici as unremarkable, whereas it is one of the most beautiful in the world. Too many hours passed in his underground laboratory had evidently robbed him of his sense of admiration for beauty.

	 

	ALBEMARLE CLUB

	13, ALBEMARLE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The Albemarle Club was founded in 1874 in order to welcome both men and women and because of this was considered more open and bohemian compared to other more traditional clubs. Albemarle is connected to Oscar Wilde due to the scandals which derived from it. It was in fact here that in 1895 the writer received the card belonging to the Marquise of Queensberry, which bore the words (including a spelling mistake): “For Oscar Wilde, posing as a somdomite”. The marquise was the father of Oscar Wilde’s lover, Alfred Douglas. The writer had reported him, however this had unfortunately been his ruin. The club, whose name had been mentioned a number of times at the trial, lost its reputation and was forced to close due to the fact that the customers no longer frequented it.    

	It may not be a bad idea to visit this address, as there is now an Italian restaurant there, the Dolada, famous for its carbonara pasta dish.
In Albemarle Street one can find the seventeenth-century Clarendon House, a splendid residence purchased by a real estate agency with the sole purpose of demolishing it to build it up with apartments, following the development and growth demands of the metropolis.
 
MARLBOROUGH FINE ART

	SCANDIA HOUSE, 6 ALBEMARLE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The Marlborough gallery was founded in 1946 by Frank Lloyd and is one of the most important at an international level, with six to eight exhibitions every year. Edgar Degas’ bronzes, the paintings by Monet, Pissarro, Renoir, and Van Gogh have all passed through it since after the war, along with many others. In the Sixties, the gallery hosted a number of German artists, as well as Kandinsky and the Bauhaus painters. Later on, it hosted the works of Francis Bacon, Henry Moore, Pollock, Egon Schiele, Lucian Freud, and Magritte. Often the artists on exhibition have then been invited to the events in museums and their works have been bought by galleries.

	The graphic arts section, specialized in Modern Master and Contemporary Prints, was born forty years ago in order to encourage artists to produce original prints. The gallery is amongst the most important for the sale of etchings, a point of reference for famous artists, but also for young people, amongst which for example Daniela Gullotta from Bologna, who takes photographs of abandoned buildings, “architectural relics” renamed Forgotten Spaces, which she then elaborates and transforms. Marlborough was also the first gallery to propose Chinese artists.      

	Nearby there are other galleries: the Grosvenor at number 37, the John Martin at 38, Belgravia at 45, the homonymous Albemarle at 49, and the Faggionato Fine Arts, also at number 49 on the first floor.

	
MEDICI GALLERY

	5 CORK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	The Medici Gallery was opened in 1908 by two English partners with the intent of bringing art to the larger public. The paintings, the choice of which would take place depending on their artistic value and the sentiments that they evoked in the beholder, were sold at the lowest possible price. The reason for the name lies in the fact that the Florentine family, which had made so much effort to encourage art during the Renaissance, was a good source of inspiration for taking on a similar task. Furthermore, their trademark logo, until a short while ago, featured the face of Lorenzo the Magnificent.

	At first, this was a sort of cooperative company, whose members had the right to a certain number of print copies. For over a century reproductions of works of art with splendid colours were sold here. Some illustrations continue to be published after over seventy years, along with birthday postcards, paper for letters, and calendars with the images of works of art, which are sold in shops such as Paperchase. Amongst the productions of the Medici Gallery are  illustrated books for children.

	The building at number 37 of the nearby Dover Street was built in 1772 and was the residence of the bishops of Ely. It has a beautiful Palladian facade, with a balustrade above the windows of the first floor and three sculpted medallions. On the central one, a mitre is portrayed.
Until halfway through the Nineteenth Century, there were snuffers for torches affixed to the gate, which have since then been replaced by small sculptures of sitting lions.

	
 
BERKELEY SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	The square was created halfway through the Eighteenth Century by the architect William Kent. It bears the name of the family of aristocrats originally from Gloucestershire, who had their family residence here in the city. It is a pretty square with many trees, which the houses of well-off people look out onto. Its sycamores were planted in 1789 and are amongst the oldest in the capital. They are still standing, whereas many of the ancient houses, such as that of Walpole, have been demolished. In the south-western corner of the square, at Fitzmaurice Place, Lansdowne House still stands, designed in 1768 by Robert Adam for the marquise from whom it gets its name, and until 1930 it hosted the homonymous club. When the latter was closed, the living room and the dining room were disassembled and reassembled in the United States.

	Amid the square’s centuries-old sycamores, there is a small building with a Chinese roof. Behind it is a pump which sucks up the water from the nearby fountain next to the grating. The fountain has a small monument, the statue of a nymph holding a jug, carried out in 1858 by Alexander Munro, a sculptor who was a follower of the Pre-Raphaelite principles, and whose most famous work is the Paolo e Francesca, portrayed with a kind, languid expression. Immediately after the Berkeley Square statue, he sculpted those of as many as seventeen scientists for the Oxford Museum of Natural History.

	The house at number 50 of the square, where the Maggs Bros. bookshop is located, is haunted by ghosts. Or at least it was in the fourth episode of the paranormal investigator Ben Jordan, going by the title Horror at Number 50. The readers of P.G. Wodehouse will remember that Bertie Wooster lived in an apartment which looked out over this square with the butler Jeeves. Nearby, at 12, St George Street is the Drones Club, frequented also by cinema celebrities, such as John Malkovich and Jack Nicholson.

	Berkeley Castle – The castle, which stands on Mount Row, was built at the beginning of the Twentieth Century by the artist Frederick Etchells, who was passionate about Medieval architecture. The windows have coloured panes, the chimneys are in stone, and the moulding of the doors is decorated with bas-reliefs of trees and birds. There are hand-written documents by Einstein, Darwin, Wilde, Hemingway, and Freud, an ancestor of the owner, who put it up for sale. The Gothic portal can be seen through an electric blind from a small street between Berkeley Square and Grosvenor Square.

	 

	GUNTER’S TEA SHOP

	50, BERKELEY SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET           

	The shop was opened in 1757 by an Italian, Domenico Negri, under a different name and activity. At the time it sold food products and was called Pot and Pine Apple. It also sold sweets following the old English, French, and Italian recipes. In 1797, Negri’s partner, James Gunter, became the sole owner. In the Nineteenth Century, it was transformed into a famous ice cream shop, with a great number of customers who would visit it to consume their ice cream under the shade of the sycamores, forcing the waiters to cross the street hundreds of times a day to serve them. One may also have a light snack and a drink of one’s choice.

	
GROSVENOR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	The street that leads into Grosvenor Square through Carlos Place and Mount Street is flanked by unusual shops and two houses with red bricks and ornamental tiles.

	The gracious tree-lined square once represented the centre of the property belonging to the dukes of Westminster, whose nickname was Grosvenor. Until the Second World War, this was one of the prettiest areas in the capital, with buildings built in different styles, which had stables at the back of them. The buildings were demolished to make place for apartments and blocks of flats, able to account for a more efficient use of the space. Some buildings, such as that at number 44, have a historical value because it was at that address that on 21st June 1815, the war council had received the dispatch of Wellington with the news of his victory at Waterloo.

	Along the walls of the stairway there is a trompe l’oeil with groups of elegant-looking people leaning out over a balustrade. It has been moved to the Victoria & Albert Museum and placed along the stairs which lead from the rooms where Raphael’s preparatory sketches for the Sistine Chapel are to be found, to the British Galleries.

	The western side of Grosvenor Square is taken up by the American Embassy, with its entrance at number 24. All around the building there are passage restrictions for security reasons. Also the street which passes in front of it is closed off. The building, namely Chancery Building, is modern and dates back to 1960, and was designed by Eero Saarinen. Its construction brought about some controversy, because its style, with dozens of framed windows, does not fit the Georgian style of the other buildings. The American presence on the square, however, is not recent. As early as 1785, President John Adams had established the quarters for the first United States mission there. These are the final years during which the embassy is to remain there, as the Congress is now deciding where the new headquarters will be moved to.

	In the nearby North Audley Street, the street which joins Grosvenor Square to Oxford Street, stands the church of St Mark, built in 1828. Hudson Lowe is buried here, and was Napoleon’s guardian on St Helena.

	
GROSVENOR CHAPEL

	SOUTH AUDLEY STREET

	UNDERGROUND: BOND STREET

	The first stone of the foundation was laid for the chapel on the 7th April, 1730 by Richard Grosvenor, the owner of the land. It had the classical parallelepiped shape with two rows of arched  windows on the sides, a porch with four columns to the West, as well as a small tower with a clock and bells for summoning believers. The great organ built in the eighteenth-century style was placed in 1990 and concerts are often held here. The small church choir sing musical selections that range from the Renaissance to the present day. Lady Mary Montagu and Florence Nightingale used to come here often.

	Behind the church there is a peaceful green area, Mount Street Gardens, at the end of which, in Farm Street, there is a Catholic church of the Immaculate Conception, which was built halfway through the Nineteenth Century in the Medieval style. Pugin designed the main altar and the candelabra.

	 

	SHEPHERD MARKET SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: GREEN PARK

	This is a small attractive square with many pubs, which make it lively also in the evening. It is the centre of Mayfair and bears the name of Edward Shepherd, who designed it and in doing so provided for the needs of the future residents by designing the shops, the market, a chapel, and a tavern. Because of this, it continues to look somewhat like a small village. Before a government act removed prostitutes from the streets, it had also become a red light district. It can be reached via Half Moon Street, which bears the shape that its name describes. In the square, there are also very unusual restaurants, such as a Lebanese eatery and a Polish-Mexican fast bistro restaurant, where one can eat at any time of the day or the night. There are also boutique shops, galleries, and specialty shops, such as the one selling toy soldiers. In the place where the May Fair used to be held, in 1735, the architect Shepherd was assigned with organizing the space in a different manner: paved avenues, a duck pond, a theatre, and a covered two-floor market, following the needs of the nearby houses.

	Bordered by Piccadilly and Curzon Street, the market takes place in the afternoon and evening.
At number 7, Shepherd Street, stands the Market Tavern pub, with its dark door and window frames and the indoor Baroque style, providing home cooking and good beer. Curzon Street is nearby and in it, the bookshop Heywood Hill.
 

	Dover Market – At number 17-18 of Dover Street, there is a very fascinating market, namely Dover Market, which includes six floors of a building. Its function is that of an innovative and artistic space. Signed clothing and accessories are sold here, as well as object and furniture, all of which are rather dear. However the environment and the installation which the items are exhibited in is so original (especially the shop windows) that it truly does deserve a visit. It feels almost akin to an artistic gallery, where fashion coexists alongside art and design. Behind it is the direction of Rei Kawakubo, a Japanese stylist who founded Comme des Garcons, and who wished to create an area where artists and style designers could gather to create an atmosphere of beauty and chaos. On the last floor is the little Rose Bakery, where it is quite a task to find a place during peak hours, but where it is possible to enjoy a delicious slice of carrot cake or quiche.

	

	REGENT STREET AND THE SURROUNDING AREA

	

	REGENT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS, OXFORD CIRCUS

	Along with the nearby Oxford Street, it is the shopping street par excellence. The large windows of the shops are simply wonderful, however it is during the Christmas period that the lighting and the decorations reach their greatest level of perfection. It has kept its English style, just as much as the nearby Soho feels foreign. In fact, Regent Street once had the precise task of setting a clear distinction between the neighbourhood of the rich aristocrats from that of the more modest houses of Soho, which had welcomed in waves of immigrants through the years. Regent Street gets its name from the prince regent, who later became King George IV, and was built to connect Westminster to the Royal Palace in Regent’s Park.

	The street is associated with the name and work of the architect John Nash, although his buildings, with the exception of the church of All Souls, have all been replaced. The street, completed in 1825, represented the first attempt to arrange and organize the buildings both rationally and aesthetically, by using scientific, artistic, and social regulations and cognition which had been acquired at that time. In other words, it is a first example of urban planning, somewhat similar to what was carried out by the baron Haussman in Paris, who demolished thousands of decaying houses in order to construct the wide avenues which cut across the centre.     

	The graceful curvature of the Quadrant, which is still known as the southern extremity of the street, and goes from Vigo Street and Brewer Street to Piccadilly Circus, was one of the more prized elements of Nash’s design. Unfortunately the beautiful plaster facades and especially the porch have been destroyed. The former have been replaced with stone versions, which have a more lasting duration, whereas the colonnade has been eliminated because, according to the local merchants, it blocked the view of their shop windows, and in the more sheltered parts, seediness and squalor would prosper and undesirable characters would set up camp.

	The shopping festival – During the month of September, the street hosts a festival which commemorates the origins of shopping. Every year brings with it a different theme. There is dancing and music; there are stands with food and beverages, as well as a reconstruction of a marketplace, tasting, special promotions in shops, and best of all, not a trace of a single car, as only pedestrians are allowed.

	 

	THE BRITISH DENTAL MUSEUM

	64, WIMPOLE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	The complete name of the tooth museum is the British Dental Association Museum. It is part of the Library of British dentists. Apparently it was only in 1921 that the dentist profession was regulated. One can only be happy about the progress made in the field of dentistry upon witnessing the rudimental tools, appliances, and materials once used: prosthetics were for example sculpted out of walrus or hippopotamus teeth. The collection includes over twenty thousand items, and tell the story of the evolution of this field, starting from the time when the only cure for teeth was extraction, often carried out on the market square, all the way to the complex procedures of our day and age, as well as the hygiene practice of tooth floss, pills for tooth pain, anaesthetics, and sophisticated drills. There are also some films on how dental hygiene has changed over time.

	 

	LIBERTY

	REGENT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS         

	The activity of Liberty began in 1875 with a small emporium at 218, Regent Street, where oriental furniture and Chinese porcelain were sold. It had been opened by Arthur Lasenby Liberty, who amongst his clients counted celebrities such as Burne-Jones and Dante Gabriel Rossetti. The latter contributed towards making exotic objects become a fashion amongst rich Londoners, who were always on the lookout for eccentric novelty. When the business increased, Liberty started to sell unusual types of fabric which were to be matched with the exotic furniture. The furniture fabric which was used for dressing sofas, cushions, and other items was manufactured directly in his workshop.

	In 1925, Captain Stewart Liberty, who had taken charge of its management, decided to assign the construction of a new building to the Hall architects, with the facade built in Portland stone. The building has large windows which face Regent Street. Yet the most unusual building belonging to Liberty is the one built in the Tudor style, which stands behind the first building, has black beams, and faces Great Marlborough Street. The two buildings are separated by Kingly Street, but are joined by an arched passage which hangs above the narrow street. The facade is decorated with a great clock bearing the figure of St George and the dragon. The inner cladding of this building has been recovered from the planking and cladding of the last two ships of the Royal Navy to have been built in this material, the HMS Hindustan, launched in 1824, and the HMS Impregnable, launched in 1865, the biggest in circulation. The inside area is structured in such a way as to have a great central hall and galleries on all sides which rest on thin pillars.

	 
A BARBER SHOP FROM A TIME GONE BY

	103, REGENT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCU   

	In the basement of Austin Reed, there is a barber shop with a charming Art Déco indoor design. This shop is filled with marble and metal plating, starting with those of the comfortable armchairs, and with its lamps in frosted glass, it has a dark and austere charm to it. Its enchanting appearance is further increased by the light which weaves in and around it, making it look somewhat like the set of a Hollywood musical. Well protected within the building’s core, it has survived almost completely intact throughout the years.

	 

	CARNABY STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	Today Carnaby Street is a street like any other, coasted by clothes shops with a rather casual and scruffy style to them. Its best asset is the fact of being a pedestrian street. The magic of the Sixties has all but disappeared, a time during which its name evoked a new culture, young and rebellious. At its extremities, there are arch-shaped signs with the name of the street in capital letters. The boutiques of modern clothing indicate that rather than being independent, they belong to the big brands and chains.

	The name comes from Karnaby House, which stood here in 1683, although it is not clear exactly why it bore such a name. It was after the end of the Fifties that strangely-named boutiques started to pop up in the street: His Clothes, I Was Lord Kitchener’s Valet, Mr Fish, Kleptomania, Mates… In the Sixties, the hippies and the Vespa-riding mods would come here to resupply, having created a new clothing fashion of their own.

	The winning idea of stylists at the time was that of providing men’s fashion with the same amount of attention that was given to female fashion, by rejuvenating it and enriching it with clothing items which were not part of the traditional outfit. Also Mary Quant, the inventor of the miniskirt, had a shop here. The success of these new trends in clothing styles went hand in hand with that of emergent musical bands, such as the Beatles, the Rolling Stones, and the Who, who would all be scheduled to play at the Marquee Club in Wardour Street. This was how the famed Swinging London got its name, the lively city of the Sixties.

	It is a neighbourhood where it is pleasant to wander about taking in the surrounding sights. Many shops have changed their image and modernized, but the facades of many houses, on the first and second floor, have maintained their appearance of long ago. Here, there are none of the elegant buildings of Regent Street, but only small and modest houses, which tell the story of those who arrived here desperate and needy, with the necessity to create a new life for themselves.

	The bizarre name Soho appeared for the first time in 1636 in the price lists of the parish of St Martin. It would seem to derive from a hunting call used when a hare was flushed out of its den. It is a neighbourhood which throughout the centuries has welcomed immigrants from France, Italy, India, China, and Ireland. The latter, in 1693, built the church of St Patrick, with a tall and imposing bell tower. Many have opened restaurants and artisan activities such as bookbinding, typography, framing laboratories, or manufacturing of musical instruments, which can still be found today. Soho has always been a different place and not a very English one, and has also welcomed in political refugees. The French community increased enormously after 1685, when Louis XIV revoked the Nantes edict, which had guaranteed freedom of cult to Huguenots.  Charles II declared that they were to have the same rights to live and trade in England, and so it was that fifty thousand of them crossed over the Channel to reach England. Soho is a neighbourhood where there is a lot of movement and in order to enjoy a little peace, one should go there on a Saturday or Sunday morning.

	A long time ago, Soho Square was called King’s Square, perhaps in honour of King Charles II, who is portrayed in the centre of a group of sculptures, surrounded by the statues of the Thames, the Severn, the Tyne, and the Humber. It is a tree-lined square, and in the summer free concerts are held in the garden.

	The French refugees had their Protestant church here, near the Catholic church of St Patrick. The small pseudo-Tudor building built in wood, both picturesque and clearly from time long gone, looks like it was taken from a fable written by the Brothers Grimm, and is used as shelter for the guardian of the park, as well as a deposit for tools.

	In the month of July, the Soho Festival takes place, and is rather old-fashioned, seeming more like a country market fair. It takes place in the gardens of St Anne’s Square, near Wardour Street. There are some plays enacted by male actors dressed as women and vice versa, Chinese food, and musical bands…

	
SHAFTESBURY AVENUE

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS

	Shaftesbury Avenue was opened during the second half of the Nineteenth Century by the engineer Bazalgette and the architect Vulliamy, in order to connect New Oxford Street with Piccadilly. It was the result of an act to clean out the slums, which had the result of pushing the poorer people further away from the centre, relocating them to more peripheral areas. Today the avenue is the centre of West End, a street of theatres. Right next to each other are the Lyric, the Apollo, the Gielgud, and the Queen’s, as well as the homonymous theatre, which stands at the north-eastern extremity. In the spot where Shaftesbury Avenue connects with Charing Cross Road, stands the Palace Theatre.

	The street also borders London’s Chinatown, with its numerous Chinese medical facilities, restaurants, supermarkets, travel agencies, cellular phone outlets, bakeries, hairdressers, fishmongers, newsagents, exchange offices, and banks…

	In the evening, on the pavement in front of the Nat West bank, towards Piccadilly, there are street artists and painters portraying passers-by in charcoal drawings.

	The street is dedicated to Anthony Ashley Cooper, count of Shaftesbury, also an industrial entrepreneur, politician, and philanthropist. No sooner was he elected in Parliament amid the ranks of the Tories, than he commenced a series reforms in factories and mines. One of his main preoccupations was the well-being of children. He was a fervid supporter of Florence Nightingale. The Eros of Piccadilly Circus, which is in fact The Angel of Christian Charity, is dedicated to him.

	
Chinese Cuisine – In Gerrard Street, at number 9, stands the New Loon Moon, which offers a wide choice of Asian dishes. At number 42 in the same street, there is an oriental supermarket, known as Loon Fung, where it is most fascinating to browse through the products on sale. The same can be said for the Good Harvest Fish Market at 65, Shaftesbury Avenue. Furthermore, at number 25 of the nearby Newport Court, with its rather kitsch interior, one can purchase some excellent “street food” for a cheap price, such as baozi, which consists of steamed bread filled with meat and vegetables, with an optional side dish of soup or noodles which have been freshly made on the premises.

	 The small red-brick building at number 136, Shaftesbury Avenue, which now hosts the Walkabout bar, has an unusual history to it. It was built in 1890 to host a Welsh Presbyterian church. In the Eighties it was reconverted into a dance club, the Limelight. In 2003 its popularity abated, and it was then reconverted into a pub, where a crowd of regular customers gather to watch matches on the big screen.

	One may also visit Oscar Wilde’s favourite restaurant, the Kettner’s, in Romilly Street 29, founded in 1867 by Auguste Kettner, the personal chef of Napoleon III, and here one may also drink a glass of champagne.

	
THE HOUSE OF ST BARNABAS

	1, GREEK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD

	This charity house (Barnabas was the “Son of Consolation”) was formed in 1846 for assisting the poor and homeless of London. The indoor area is magnificent, with splendid ceilings decorated with plaster bas-reliefs portraying cherubs and flower themes. There is also a chapel, and it is mentioned in the sixth chapter of Dickens’ work A Story of Two Cities, where he mentions a sycamore tree which is in the courtyard still today. The institution continues its meritorious work to date.

	
GREEK STREET

	UNDERGROUND: TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD

	The Greek Orthodox refugees arrived here at the end of 1700, in an attempt to flee the Turkish. A church was built for them upon the area where St Martin’s School of Art now stands. Today the street is famous for its oriental, middle-eastern, Italian, and French restaurants (L’Escargot, at number 48, which can be found on the Michelin Guide), as well as pizzerias, bars, and art galleries. It was originally called Hogs Lane, then in 1679 it took on its current name. It is believed that the name derives from a Greek church which was here, and which was painted by William Hogarth in a painting of his. At number 1, there used to be headquarters for the sewage commission, where Bazalgette worked, which later became a shelter the homeless. Even the writer and essayist Thomas de Quincy sought refuge here in misery.

	Maison Bertaux – At number 28, Greek Street, stands Maison Bertaux. Whoever sets foot here ends up returning. The reason why? This French patisserie, the oldest in London, sells cakes, tarts, and salted snacks which are of absolutely superior quality. Some of the irresistible treats here include chestnut flavour meringues with cream, Dijon pudding fresh from the oven, Black Forest gateau, cheesecakes, flans, quiches, piping hot croissants, and chocolate éclairs. Mass-produced industrial food has not reached this place, and the atmosphere is that of a time long gone. The patisserie was opened in 1871 by the communards. It is also the official quarters of the Theatre Club and small plays are rehearsed here. Every year, on 14th July, in the area in front, a living painting is enacted inspired by the French Revolution, and includes a guillotine. The film Greek Street was filmed in the street here, directed by Sinclair Hill, with Sari Maritza and William Freshman.

	
FRITH STREET AND THE BAR ITALIA

	UNDERGROUND: LEICESTER SQUARE

	The name of the street derives from that of its builder, Richard Frith, owner of the land around Soho Fields. For a time, the painter John Constable lived here. At number 6 lived the essayist and critic William Hazlitt, who also died here whilst uttering the words “Good, I have had a happy life”, despite the fact that his life had also been rather argumentative. In Autumn 1764, Mozart, who was eight years old, stayed at number 20.          

	He succeeded in surprising the King and high society with his talent delivered at 21 Dean Street.

	If you are nostalgic for a great espresso coffee, then this is the place to come. It is usually rather crowded when the Italian soccer team is playing in a match. The blue plaque on the facade is in memory of the fact that on 27th January 1926, John Logie Baird gave the first demonstration of a television at number 22 of this street, exactly in the place where the Bar Italia is today. The bar is open till late, and one can taste some good ice cream and pizza here.

	The famous venue called Ronnie Scott’s Jazz Club can be found at number 47.

	
DEAN STREET AND MARX’S HOUSE

	UNDERGROUND: TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD

	This street is rich with history, and the French House is located here, headquarters of the French resistance during the Second World War. In this street, between 1851 and 1856, Karl Marx also lived here, with his wife, who was a baroness, and their five children. Their two rooms were above the restaurant Quo Vadis, which still exists today. It was in a house in this very street that Admiral Nelson spent his last night before the battle of Trafalgar, where he lost his life. At number 88 there stands a pretty shop facade, with small pillars dividing it into four parts. Above them, there is a curved strip decorated with panels which have been inserted into rococo frames.

	
SOHO THEATRE

	21, DEAN STREET

	UNDERGROUND: TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD

	This small theatre, restored in modern times, presents new theatrical works, comedies which are entertaining or politically and socially active, educational programs, and cabaret. It is the headquarters of a centre which aids and prepares young writers to become theatre authors and playwrights. There are one hundred and fifty wooden seats with cushions, the atmosphere is informal, and the environment cosy. The stage has quite a depth to it, and can be easily transformed. With a ticket for a show, one also receives a 10% discount at the bar, which is above the restaurant. If one purchases a theatre package, one may dine at the Indian Lazeez restaurant in the underground area, which offers delicious fusion cuisine amid modern deco with music in the background. At number 55 in the same street, stands St Anne’s church, consecrated in 1686, but almost destroyed by the bombing in 1940.              

	We mention it due to its connection with the writer of detective stories, Dorothy Sayers, who was its churchwarden. Amongst the tombs of the small cemetery lies that of Theodore, known as King of Corsica, whose epitaph was composed by none other than Horace Walpole.

	
WARDOUR STREET

	UNDERGROUND: OXFORD CIRCUS

	The street bears the name of Archibald Wardour, the architect who built a number of buildings upon it. At numbers 152-160 there is a pretty building which was designed in 1906 by Pearson for Novello & Co, the music publishers. Along the trabeation one can make out the name intertwined with leaves. The company moved in 1965. The marble statue of Händel, carried out by Roubiliac, which used to be within a recess at the top of the stairway, is now held at the Victoria & Albert Museum. There are a great deal of music shops on this street and in the vicinity. At number 142, one can find the headquarters of the London branch of the Pathé Film.

	Amid the dozens of restaurants to be found in this street, we shall mention the Chinese Wong Kei, which stands at number 41-43, and which can seat up to five hundred customers. The building which it is part of has a pretty facade in bricks and stones in hues of green and white, which combines the Baroque style with Art Nouveau. It once belonged to Willy Clarkson, a costume designer and manufacturer of theatrical wigs, as stated by the plaque on the facade. Another plaque reminds us of the fact that in 1904 Sarah Bernhardt laid down its founding stone.

	If one prefers middle-eastern cuisine, at number 88 one can visit Hummus Bros, where the famous chick pea cream is served on pita bread and comes with mushrooms, guacamole, meat, and beans. The dessert known as baklava, which consists of walnuts wrapped in crunchy flaky pastry and covered in honey, can also be found here.

	 The name of the street has even entered the English language with the expression Wardour Street prose, which indicates the use of rather obsolete terms, such as anent, for example, which refers to the great number of antiquary shops in the area.

	
A PINT IN A CELL

	UNDERGROUND: PICCADILLY CIRCUS, OXFORD CIRCUS

	Berwick Street, which further south becomes Rupert Street, was built in 1687 on land conceded by James Pollett, a Catholic who in all likelihood gave it such a name in honour of the royal catholic house of the Stuarts. The Duke of Berwick, in fact, was the youngest son of James II of House Stuart. For over three hundred years, from Monday to Saturday, a small and quaint fruit market has been held in this street. The flower stands, with their old-fashioned signs, give it a sense of nostalgia. Two pleasant little stalls are the one selling nuts and Japanese crackers, and another which sells Malaysian fast food, including chicken rice. The market was born together with the street, in the early Eighteenth Century, although it was not recognized until the end of the Nineteenth Century. There are also some wonderful gastronomy shops, with a number of delicacies on offer. The street also hosts a number of recording studios, in fact it is even featured on the cover of the Oasis album (What’s the Story), Morning Glory?

	The court cells – The café of the Courthouse Hotel, which is at number 19-21 of Great Marlborough Street, is situated at the back of the building. Especially interesting is the fact that it has been setup within what were once the cells of the court custody. The venue is quite spartan, with white walls, a stone bed (the so-called hard bunk), which has been turned into a sofa with the aid of some large dark brown cushions, and a cold and extremely powerful neon light.   The door still has a peephole on it, through which guards would supervise prisoners awaiting judgement. One can order a pint of beer, a cocktail, or a glass of wine along with a snack or some delicious sandwiches.

	The nearby Beak Street, to the south, bears the name of Thomas Beak, who in 1673 purchased the land between what is now Regent Street and Kingly Street, where the street was later built. Canaletto once lived at number 41, Beak Street, during the ten years of his stay in London.

	
LEICESTER SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: LEICESTER SQUARE

	It is one of the areas of greatest passage for tourists, and therefore many street sellers can be found here, pitching hot dogs and chips. The smell of vinegar and ketchup which they are dressed with in their paper cornet is one of the first things that one perceives as one exits the tube station. Even sparrows and crows follow this odorous trail, and unabashedly approach people to have their part of the meal. Another reason for this square being so crowded is the presence of so many cinemas. Because of this, in order to make the most of it, it is advisable to visit the square in the morning, when the long lines of customers waiting to enter the cinemas have not yet formed, and one has some hope of getting to sit in the gardens for a little. The square gets its name from the Leicester House, the construction of which was ordered in 1631 by the Duke of Leicester in the spot where the Empire cinema now stands. At the time it was a Lammas Land, that is to say a grassy area where those belonging to a parish would bring their cattle to graze, and where women would hang the laundry. The origin of the square also explains its rather irregular shape. At the beginning of the Nineteenth Century, it was in a state of abandon, however the minister Disraeli and his government restored it and had elms planted in it, which are still those found there today.

	

	William Shakespeare and the dolphins – Amongst the statues that decorate the garden, there is one especially attractive one dedicated to William Shakespeare, who is surrounded by dolphins. At its four corners, where the entrance gates stand, there are four busts. One of them portrays Joshua Reynolds, the great painter of portraits from the time of King George III, as well as the first president of the Royal Academy of Arts. Reynolds lived in number 47 of the square and on the ground floor of this address he had opened a gallery where he would exhibit his paintings, which was often visited by important characters such as James Boswell, David Garrick, Fanny Burney, and Edmund Burke. Unfortunately, his statue was ruined by a flawed restoration intervention and the lines of the face were partly erased. To blame for the corrosion was a stain remover liquid, which also contained an acid. Beneath it a motto recites: “Learn to forget that you ever remembered”. Also the painter William Hogarth lived here, at number 30, and he too is commemorated with a statue, as is the scientist Isaac Newton, also a resident in this square. The last bust represents John Hunter, a pioneer in the field of surgery. There is also a bronze statue of Charlot, which is surrounded by a few peculiar plaques, which show the distance in miles from a number of countries which used to belong to the British Empire. One learns, for instance, that Leicester Square and Dhaka, in Bangladesh, are eight thousand kilometres apart.

	
JEAN COCTEAU AT THE NOTRE DAME CHURCH

	5, LEICESTER PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: LEICESTER PLACE

	In the spot where the church now stands, there was once the panorama building, carried out by Robert Barker, a travelling painter who used to exhibit large paintings of cities and natural landscapes here. He would arrange the canvases in a circular fashion and his idea met with great success. The spectators would stand at the centre of the iron structure and slowly be turned so that they could admire the great views of cities such as Edinburgh and English landscapes. The effect was similar to what we might experience nowadays by looking at a photograph taken with a wide-angle lens and placed in such a way as to form a ring. These large canvases were very popular still at the beginning of the Twentieth Century, and a painter by the name of John James Story from Nottingham, even painted the life and career of Giuseppe Garibaldi in forty-two scenes of his life and battles, later arranged in chronological order.

	The current building was reconstructed in 1955 by the architects Corfiato and Lloyd Thomason, who conserved the ring-shaped structure. The interior is tall and spacious and decorated by panels, like those placed above the pillars between the door compartments, which contain scenes of the life of the Virgin Mary carried out by the students of the Beaux-Arts of Paris. There are bas-reliefs and, above the main entrance, a statue made by Georges Saupique which depicts the Mater Misericordiae. There is also an enormous tapestry by Robert de Chaunac portraying Mary, Our Lady of Creation. Yet the most famous paintings are those which date back to 1960 on the walls of the chapel of the Madonna by Jean Cocteau. There are various themes: the Assumption and the Crucifixion, where only Christ’s feet can be seen, while beneath the cross, the soldiers play to win Jesus’ tunic in a game of dice.        

	  

	CHARING CROSS,

	THE STREET OF BOOKSHOPS

	Charing Cross Road is the street which marks the border of Soho to the East, and leads to the cross which used to be at the crossroads between Strand and Northumberland Avenue. Under the grid at the centre of the junction between Charing Cross Road and Old Compton Street there are still some old traffic signs of Little Compton Street, a street which no longer exists. Charing Cross Road is known by readers for its numerous bookshops, both of the generalized and specialized type, which offer books about art, second hand books, or antique items. Amongst them are Quinto, Pordes, and Any Amount of Books. A few years ago, the construction cooperatives which own the shops’ premises decided to raise the rents of many of these buildings. This forced many shops, such as Silver Moon, the women’s book shop, to move to the last floor of Foyles.

	In the pedestrian cross street of Cecil Court, there are antique book shops, amongst which one selling Italian books. In the northern part of the street stands Foyles (at numbers 113-119) and Blackwell’s, while to the south is Zwemmers, specialized in art books. The street has been even described in a book of great success, of which a film was made, namely 84, Charing Cross Road, written in 1970, which tells of the long correspondence between the American Helene Hanff and the employees of the book shop Marks & Co.

	If you desire a good espresso, you can visit Caffé Vergnano, at 62, Charing Cross Road, which opened in 1882. An excellent Italian coffee is served here, and it attracts people from all over the world.

	A designer school – Number 102, Charing Cross Road hosts the St Martins College of Art and Design, the most important school of Art and Design in all of Great Britain, which also gives a substantial contribution to the fashion industry. The school was founded in 1896, as an emanation of the Arts and Crafts movement, sponsored by William Morris and John Ruskin.

	The great building that hosts it has many decorations engraved in the stone of its facade.

	Within its halls, contemporary and historical collections are held, and include books, printed material, and works of art and design. Two of its more famous pupils are Lucian Freud and Eduardo Paolozzi.

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	HYDE PARK AND KENSINGTON GARDEN

	In London’s West End, there is a long, almost uninterrupted strip of green made up by the parks of St James, Green Park, Hyde Park, and Kensington, which allows one to walk for kilometres on end amidst the green. As one gradually ventures into their territories, the sound of traffic grows fainter and fainter until it fades away altogether. The spirit finds joy in hiding away in the plant world, and there is pleasure in finding oneself in a place where natural beauty has been enhanced by that of Man’s creations. Hyde Park is in fact sprinkled with statues, which belong to different periods and styles. On June 21st, a summer solstice, Hyde Park hosts a music festival. Thanks to the funding from great cultural institutions of British, French, and German origin, there are international music events which range from modern electronic music to the ancient Sufi songs, with Exhibition Road closed off for traffic.

	At number 18 of the nearby Wilton Row, at the corner of Old Barrack Yard, at the end of a small paved one-way street where there were once stables, stands the patriotic Grenadier pub, painted in red, white, and blue. In front of its facade, there is a gas lamp, a sentry box, and some hanging flower baskets. A small flight of stairs leads to a cosy and comfortable room with a chrome-plated bar full of stains, which is four hundred years old. The pub is filled with military memorabilia, and haunted by the ghost of a soldier who was whipped to death by his fellow players upon being caught cheating at a card game. An excellent Bloody Mary is served here, and at the back there is a graceful little restaurant room.

	
Statue – In Hyde Park there are a great number of sculptures and the area is something of an open-air museum. Near to the old Wellington house, known as Apsley House (the post code was once: Number 1, London), there is a colossal bronze statue of Achilles.

	It was carried out in 1822 by Westmacott in memory of the Duke of Wellington. The metal used for constructing it was recovered from twelve French cannons captured in the battles of Salamanca, Victoria, Toulouse, and Waterloo. For Wellington’s pose, the sculptor drew inspiration from the statues of the Horse Tamers at the Quirinale, however the nudity of the muscular figure was quite a scandal for public opinion at the time.

	On the pedestal there is a citation dedicated to the general and his companions. Along the South Carriage Drive, which runs parallel to Knightsbridge, there is a statue of Byron discovered in 1880 and carried out by Richard Belt. The great poet is represented in the company of his faithful dog.

	The marble pedestal of the statue was provided by the Greek government, and weighs fifty-seven tons. Beneath the trees of Park Lane, stands the fountain of Huxley Jones, known as The Joy of Life, a concept expressed by the statues which are portrayed in the act of hopping between the spurts of water.

	
HYDE PARK CORNER

	PARK LANE, BAYSWATER ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: MARBLE ARCH, LANCASTER GATE

	In 1637, Charles I was the first king to open Hyde Park to the public and create the Ring, the rough and sandy track trodden by horses and carts. In the north-eastern corner of the park stands Marble Arch, an arch built in 1827 by John Nash and inspired by the arch of Constantine in Rome. Marble Arch was supposed to be located in front of Buckingham Palace, which had just been built for George IV. In the spot where Carriage Drive veers southwards and takes on the name of The Ring, and where the stretch of water known as Long Water begins, stands the eighteenth-century Queen Anne’s Alcove, which has been moved here from Marlborough Gate. This gracious little temple was probably designed by Wren and was destined for the garden of a country house. It has four great Corinthian pillars, and on the inside it is covered with curved panels in dark wood.

	
Speakers’ Corner – There are those who maintain that the bizarre habit of coming here to express one’s opinion on a plethora of subjects, with a tone that may vary from mild-mannered to furious, derives from the fact that the condemned who were about to be executed at the nearby Tyburn gallows were allowed to make a final speech before they perished. This apparently gave way to a one-hundred-and-fifty-year-old tradition, whereby on a Sunday morning anyone may come to this “speaker’s corner”, located in the north-eastern part of the park, get up on the stand and start giving a speech. Most of the debates and public speeches are centred on politics or religion, and the speakers express ideas which are usually quite distant from the common opinion of most people. It has hosted many famous characters, such as Karl Marx, who would come here to address onlookers about the failings of capitalism. Also Lenin, George Orwell, and William Morris came here, and still today many socialists pay this spot a visit, especially during electoral campaigns. It is a good example of what can be defined as “freedom of opinion”, given that anyone may come here without being announced beforehand and speak about any subject he or she wishes, within certain limits of course, due to the fact that this does not grant total immunity to the law. Police officers will check in from time to time and keep an ear trained on the content of the speeches, to make sure that eccentric as they may be, they are not subversive or against the law, however the police are tolerant and intervene only upon demand, when there has been a crime of severe irreverence. Amongst the audience, there are regulars who like to have fun by mock and make things difficult for the speaker. When this culminates in a duet edging on irony, it becomes a real treat to be a part of the audience.

	If one starts to feel thirsty after listening to the speeches, at number 29 of the nearby Crawford Place, one can seek a quenching in the Windsor Castle Pub. The name indicates the fact that the indoor area is full of memorabilia connected to the royal family, which are boasted with outright ostentation.

	Because of this, it tends to feel a little kitsch, yet at the same time, it is peculiar and unique. It was opened by a TV actress, Wendy Richard. Today, as well as the traditional fish and chips, there are also some Thai dishes: from one monarchy to another

	
THE BIRD RESERVE

	HYDE PARK,

	UNDERGROUND STATION: MARBLE ARCH

	The reserve was created in 1925 in memory of W.H. Hudson, who died in 1922. There is also a great parallelepiped in stone, with a bas-relief by Epstein, which represents Rima, a being which is half man, half spirit of the woods. This too is a homage to Hudson, due to the fact that Rima is one of the characters of his book Green Mansions. The central sculpture of the bas-relief by Epstein, which portrays a maid surrounded by birds, was not greatly appreciated at the time, and was smeared a number of times with green paint. Today it is judged that Epstein’s work expresses the power and ferocity of nature. There are dozens of different types of birds in the reserve, such as herons, ducks of all sizes, and great crested grebes.   

	
THE PET CEMETERY

	VICTORIA GATE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: LANCASTER GATE

	Near Victoria Gate’s western exit, at the corner with Bayswater, there lies a pet cemetery, where family animals were buried between 1880 and the Great War. Behind the gates one can still see the tombstones covered in moss. The cemetery has been closed since 1915, although an exception was made in 1967 for a small dog, as she was the mascot of a company of Royal Marines. There are many cultures where  it was and still is a custom to bury animals with a ceremony and in reserved areas when they are considered important or have an emotional or sacred significance. The Egyptians used to do so, and they would erect funeral monuments for cats, which were considered to be sacred animals. Here, along with dogs and cats, also some birds and a monkey lie buried as well. Some of the inscriptions on the tombs are similar to those that one might write out for a dead relative.

	
ON THE LAKE ON A SOLAR SHUTTLE

	HYDE PARK

	UNDERGROUND STATION:

	It was Queen Caroline, wife of George II, who decided that the park needed a lake in order to enhance its beauty, and as the Westbourne river was nearby, an affluent of the Thames which passed through the park, works were commenced to excavate it and build a dam. Thus, Lake Serpentine was created in 1736, and caused a flood in the Knightsbridge and Belgravia neighbourhoods. The Thames boatmen, taking advantage of the situation, started to offer boat rides through the flooded but elegant neighbourhoods of the wealthy. Today, as well as the chance to rent a paddle boat or a rowing boat in order to move around on the lake, there is also the option of going for a ride on the Solar Shuttle. The latter is a watercraft which is powered by solar panels installed on the rooftop and via a solar engine. The cruising speed only reaches eight kilometres per hour, however during the half hour needed to go from one bank to the other, one can admire the countryside at one’s leisure, and it really is worth it.

	This is a form of technology which is harmless for the environment, and offers rest, amusement, and relaxation in a friendly and safe environment. Since 2008, there has also been an area for boat storage.

	
THE INDIAN CARRIAGES OF THE RATHA YATRA FESTIVAL

	HYDE PARK CORNER, TRAFALGAR SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: LANCASTER GATE

	This spectacular Indian festival which is in honour of Krishna, and has been celebrated for as many as five thousand years in Orissa, usually takes place between the second and third Sunday of June, and lasts all day. The parade, organized by the International Society for Krishna Consciousness, celebrates Indian culture and spiritual life. The three great wooden carriages are towed by hand by a crowd of pilgrims and followers, and on them the Hindu divinities stand wearing togas, and are said to have “come out of the temple to grace everyone with their loving gaze.”  Other followers of the faith accompany the parade with songs, music, and dances. Along the way, many of the devoted attempt to tug on the ropes that hang down the sides of the carriage, as it is believed that this act will grant them eternal service to the Creator in the afterlife.

	In Trafalgar Square there are many stands selling books and products of craftwork, as well as musical workshops and stands where one may learn to drape sari. There are special offers on the prasadam and other vegetarian dishes for participants.

	
LIBRARY BAR

	LANESBOROUGH HOTEL

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HYDE PARK CORNER

	Celebrities often come here to refresh their general knowledge and culture, as well as to enjoy the live music, armed with a cocktail to sip slowly. Unfortunately, anyone not dressed elegantly enough may not enter.

	

	THE B SIDE OF DAVID

	In memory of the Machine Gun Corps of World War I, Francis Derwent Wood chose David, the biblical hero, who defeated the giant, Goliath. The naked body is a reminder of Michelangelo and Donatello’s David, whose casts are exhibited  along with all the other chalk models at the Victoria & Albert Museum. David is portrayed in the act of leaning on Goliath’s sword, and on the pedestal there are two Vickers machine guns bearing wreaths. The statue also bears the terrifying motto: “Saul hath slain his thousands, but David his tens of thousands”.

	The statue was discovered in 1925 by the Duke of Connaught and from that moment it began to attract much more interest than other monuments. In fact, despite being considered as the finest-looking pair of buttocks in London, not everyone was pleased to be met with such nudity whilst going to work. First and foremost was the Women’s Society of Purity, whose members did not want the statue in front of Park Lane and therefore launched a campaign for its removal. They were not successful, however an honorable compromise was found: the statue has been turned to face the opposite direction.

	

	KENSINGTON

	

	The ancient Latin name of what was once the vast land property of Abingdon Abbey was Chenesitone. The area has its commercial heart in Kensington High Street and its cultural heart in the musical district of South Kensington.

	The Kensington Gardens park is west of Hyde Park, and separated from it by the Serpentine. On a cross street of High Street Kensington, runs the Kensington Church Walk. The path entrance is next to the old town hall, and it leads to a peaceful pedestrian passage in York stone, where there stands a row of little shops, selling antique furniture and books, with a delightful little courtyard at the back. There are also a few benches to sit on and take in the sound of the birds singing.

	

	AMIDST GORGES AND ROTTEN ROADS

	HYDE PARK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HYDE PARK CORNER

	The street that runs across Hyde Park and heads towards the Flower Walk is called Rotten Row, meaning “rotten street”. In truth, the name is in fact a deformation of the French route du roi, meaning “the king’s path”. It used to connect Kensington Palace with Hyde Park and was large enough for carts to travel on.

	It was Queen Caroline, wife of George II, who had the river Westbourne barred, had a series of ponds linked together, and who created the Serpentine. An engraving reminds us that there was once a water source here, which was one of the points of water supply for Westminster. It existed as early as 1066, before the Norman invasion, and remained in use until 1861. At the extremity of the Serpentine stands the Dell bar, which is a granite monolith which weighs seven tons and was originally part of a fountain. A nearby stone bears the inscription in memory of the Westminster monks who once used to get their water from a source which gushed forth in this spot.  A garden has now been grown around it.

	The bridge between Long Water and the Serpentine was designed by John and George Rennie in 1826.

	

	SERPENTINE GALLERY

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: LANCASTER GATE, SOUTH KENSINGTON

	The gallery was opened in 1970 in order to exhibit the work of young artists, not only of English origin.

	The Pavilion, instead, dates back to 2008 and was designed by Frank Gehry. It is a spectacular building, formed by large beams, steel pillars, and a network of overlapping glasswork. All these elements, seemingly casual, create a multidimensional space. In the daytime, one can relax and ponder, whereas in the evening one can attend debates and shows. Each year the model of the structure changes.      

	

	FLOWER WALK

	VICTORIA GATE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HYDE PARK CORNER

	When the writer Henry James used to come for walks in Hyde Park, one could hear the bleating of lambs, as he himself recounts. Today the herds of sheep are no longer to be found, but there are some wonderful paths such as this one for some pleasant walks. Along this particular path, one can often see young people having fun climbing up the crooked branches of

	strangely-shaped ancient trees.

	

	THE GOD PAN

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: KNIGHTSBRIDGE

	Near Edinburgh Gate, there is a work in bronze carried out by Epstein which represents the god Pan, intent on playing a pipe in front of a family bearing the appearance of people who have somehow grown accustomed to living in the wild. Also present is a dog, portrayed in the act of bounding and barking. For Pagan cults, Pan was a divinity who appeared in a goat-like form, with furry hind legs and hooves, a bearded face, and horns. This work was placed here in 1961. Its meaning lies in this divinity’s role as a guide, to whom the family happily submit their will, surrounded by the freedom of the park. This happiness is also shared by the dog, who follows them, rolling and lolloping. The author, Epstein, was American by birth, although the son of Polish refugees. He was a pioneer of modern sculpture and worked mainly in England.

	

	SUNKEN GARDENS

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HIGH STREET KENSINGTON

	Despite the literal wording of “sunken garden”, the name actually indicates an artificial garden, often including rocks and stones. That of Kensington, in particular, has been created from an area where there were once sheds for tools, and it is now an oasis of tranquillity. It was created in 1909, during the reign of King Edward VII, and is based on a Tudor garden in Hampton Court. The vividly coloured flowers in the ornamental flowerbeds are replaced with each new season. In Spring there are tulips and pansies, whilst the Summer brings geraniums and begonias, which surround the little lake with the spurting of fountains. At its origin, the garden was encircled by an elevated trellis known as Cradle Walk, from which one can look down onto the flowers and the water’s surface. Unfortunately, on 16th October, 1987, it was damaged irreversibly by a storm, and had to be cut down. Pepys described it as: “a fine cool place with a great layer of water in the middle”.   

	

	ORANGERY

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HIGH STREET KENSINGTON

	The Eighteenth-century Orangery by Nicholas Hawksmoor now hosts a restaurant.

	Within its airy building, with an extremely high ceiling and stone flooring, the tables and chairs are black, made in iron, and the starched napkins are of an immaculate white. If one sits at a long table along the back wall, one can take in the beautiful sight of the perfectly arranged baroque garden. The restaurant is expensive, and if one does not wish to spend much, one can come here to enjoy a tea along with a couple of delicious tarts, whilst reading a book. Then, if the weather is nice, one may continue one’s reading on one of the deck chairs near the Round Pond, and gaze up from time to time to admire the graceful swans which glide by.

	
KENSINGTON PALACE

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HIGH STREET KENSINGTON

	Today Kensington Palace is mostly known for having been the home of Lady Diana. However, until the construction of Buckingham Palace, it was a royal residence. It was acquired by King William and Queen Mary in 1689, as a country residence, following his respiratory ailments. It was originally a manor house, and it was later modified by Christopher Wren and Hawksmoor, who redesigned its architecture. It stood in the village of Kensington and was the birthplace of Queen Victoria.

	One of the most beautiful and important rooms is the Cupola Room, designed by William Kent in 1722, which has a ceiling simulating the coffered type. The most important part is the monumental musical clock, upon which arias by Händel, Corelli, and Geminiani were once played. The King’s Gallery, painted by William Kent in 1725 with scenes taken from the Odyssey, and the public rooms, painted by Colin Campbell for George I in 1718 are also open to the public. Inside, there is a collection of ceremonial and court clothing. It is interesting to reach it via Kensington Palace Green, where an ancient entrance stands, dating back to the XVIII Century.

	Statues - Amongst the statues of Kensington Gardens, there is a bronze by G. Watts, dated 1908, which goes by the title Phisical Energy and portrays a man on a horse, the latter stamping its hoof on the ground, impatient to set off. The statue, of which this is a copy, forms the central part of the monument dedicated to Cecil Rhodes on Table Mountain, near Cape Town. The copy was placed here in 1904.

	South of the Flower Walk is also the Albert Memorial, a funeral monument which is both imposing and elaborate. It is something of a gigantic medieval reliquary, each of its details inspiring one of the interests of Prince Albert of Saxony. At its centre, beneath the steeple, there is a statue of the prince depicted as he reads the catalogue of the Great Exhibition. At its corners, there are four groups symbolizing the continents. Along its base, there is a frieze made up of dozens of figures in the form of a bas-relief. There are sculptors, musicians, poets, and painters, such as Raphael, Michelangelo, Giotto, and Cimabue. Also present, are Ghiberti and Luca della Robbia. Female figures are completely absent.

	

	PARK LANE

	BETWEEN HYDE PARK CORNER AND MARBLE ARCH

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HYDE PARK CORNER

	There was a time when Park Lane was the place where all the elegant noble residences once stood, whereas today it is mostly an area of hotels. Grosvenor House and Dorchester House used to be there, built half way through the Nineteenth Century with a facade modelled by following that of the Villa Farnesina by Peruzzi, in Rome. It took fifteen years to carry out the decorations of the dining room. When the house was later demolished, a part of it was moved to the Walker Art Gallery in Liverpool. The chimney was instead, with its caryatides inspired by Michelangelo’s work, is to be found in the Gamble Room of the Victoria & Albert Museum. In a nearby villa, some of Canova’s statues were exhibited to the public until 1962, then they were sold on auction by Sotheby’s when the house was demolished.

	On the greener side of Park Lane stands the fountain of Huxley Jones, with an enormous bowl, which holds the bronze figures of many adults and children portrayed in the act of skipping and jumping with joy. It is aptly known as The Joy of Life.

	

	THE GNOMES ON THE STUMP  

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HIGH STREET KENSINGTON

	If one walks north until the extremity of Broad Walk, one will come across the Elfin Oak. In 1911, the sculptor Ivor Innes carved the natural knots and bulges of the enormous stump belonging to a nine-hundred-year-old tree, in such a way as to depict the shapes evoked by his imagination. There are elves, witches, frogs, foxes, rabbits, fairies, and gnomes, all of them enclosed in a large aviary. There are also mysterious doors which open up on the tree trunk.

	The sculptor took care of its maintenance for over forty years. In 1996, the wee tree was restored.

	This sculpture appeared in the background of David Gilmour’s photo on the inside cover of Pink Floyd’s Ummagumma album, dated 1969 (aside from the extremely young, many will remember this).

	

	BELGRAVIA

	

	Its name derives from that of the Viscount of Belgrave, as this is in fact a village belonging to Cheshire. Most of the constructions consist of rows of houses of a most immaculate white, with pillars between the first and second floors. Belgrave Square and Eaton Square are its centres. The former was once part of the property belonging to Richard Grosvenor, who was the Marquise of Westminster. His rows of white houses were built by Thomas Cubitt; they are not interrupted by the streets which lead in from the corners of the square. This is one of the prettiest residential areas in the capital, extremely peaceful and quiet. In its centre are some very tall trees, which do not allow for a complete view of the building’s facades.

	Shadows on Belgrave Square is the name of a detective story, written by Anne Perry, which was Juliet Marion Hulme’s pseudonym. She was born in London in 1938, and in her youth had been sentenced to jail for sixteen years for the murder of the mother of a friend of hers, the latter being also an accomplice.

	It is definitely pleasant to walk amid the complex of lanes which weave around Groom place and along the cross streets of Kinnerton Street. These are known as mews because the old stables used to stand there, but they were later transformed into cottages. Inside these looming buildings, there are embassies and big trade company headquarters, seeing as the maintenance costs are by now much too steep to be sustained by private owners. Towards Hyde Park Corner, there is an area where St George’s Hospital used to stand, after being opened in 1733. Dr Hunter’s bust once decorated the spot above its entrance: he had died suddenly from a heart attack after a particularly argumentative meeting. In his right hand, he held an anatomical statue, which was said to have been created by Michelangelo. The hospital became famous thanks to one of its students, Dr Henry Gray, author of the book Gray’s Anatomy, who via the method of dissection had discovered the nervous connections in the eye.   

	

	CHURCH OF ST PAUL

	WILTON PLACE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HYDE PARK CORNER

	This church is hardly known of at all (and because of this, is peaceful and quiet), albeit being one of the most beautiful Victorian churches in London. It is the work of Thomas Cundy the Younger, who built it in 1843, and it was designed in the neo-Gothic style. The vast galleries are sustained by pillars of cast iron, the choir is separated by an elaborate reredos, and the walls bear panels depicting the life of Christ. The most impressive part, however, is the painted wooden ceiling. The church stands at the centre of the Grosvenor Estate and is definitely worth a visit.

	The second, Eaton Square, is one of the three garden squares built by the Grosvenor family. It is not exactly an actual square, as it is long and narrow. Over one hundred houses look out onto it, all designed by Cubitt and completed in 1855. Some of them are in white plaster, others in brick, all with a view looking out onto a common garden. At the eastern end of the square stands St Peter’s church, designed in 1824 by Henry Hakewill, and it was the first building to be completed.

	

	PIMLICO

	

	The Pimlico area is the most modest one in Belgravia. It was once a marsh, described in Trollope’s novel, The Small House at Allington. It is said that the name comes from that of Ben Pimlico, who once produced a kind of nut-coloured ale, the recipe for which has been lost with the passing of the centuries.

	Pimlico has an unusual atmosphere; it is easy-going and unconventional. South of Victoria Station, its Regency architecture is very pleasing to behold. At its centre is the so-called Grid, a pretty residential area. Many of the houses have become small hotels or B&Bs, and the plaster is no longer white, but has vivid and varied hues. Thomas Cubitt designed the network of streets at an angle of 45° to the river, and at each corner he placed a curved facade, acting as a pivot for each of the streets projecting away from it. In Denbigh Street there is a beautiful statue dedicated to him, which portrays him holding the tools of the trade. The statue was created by William Fawke. There are a number of great tree-laden squares, such as Warwick Square, where the church of St Gabriel stands, its extremely tall steeple standing out  between the leafy branches of the trees.

	

	PIMLICO SQUARE

	ST GEORGE’S SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PIMLICO

	Next to the Thames, there is a statue of William Huskisson, the unfortunate politician who in 1830, at the opening ceremony of the rail line running between Manchester and Liverpool, was run over and killed by Stephenson’s Rocket train. The sculptor decided to dress him in a robe, considered to be suitable to the dramatic nature of the event.

	Lupus Street (Lupus was a Latin nickname, which became a name in the Imperial age), gets its name from Hugh Lupus Grosvenor, a man of politics, as well as the owner of the famous racing horses. He owned some vast properties in Mayfair, Belgravia, and Pimlico, and it was said that he was the richest man in the reign. It is also thought that the character of Colonel Ross, created by Conan Doyle for the story  called Silver Blaze, may be based on Grosvenor.

	Dolphin Square is one of the first examples of apartment blocks (there are over a thousand) and houses, built in 1935 and now listed buildings. It is a small town, with shops, garages, restaurants, and a central garden. Thirteen houses have been transformed into residences with the names of navigators: Grenville, Drake, Raleigh, Hawkins, Nelson, Howard, Beatty, Duncan, Rodney, Keyes, Hood, Collingwood, and Frobisher.  Many MPs reside here, due to its proximity to Westminster.

	

	CHURCHILL GARDENS

	CHURCHILL GARDENS ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PIMLICO

	It is not actually a park, but an immense block of public housing apartments, built with poor materials from after the war. Victorian houses once stood in this spot, and were greatly damaged by the bombings. There are one thousand six hundred apartments, located within thirty-two skyscrapers of either ten or twelve floors each, where tens of thousands of people live. In a glass tower, a heat accumulator was placed, which gathered the exhaust warm water from the electric power station of Battersea.

	Much like the Lillington Gardens, they too are protected, as they represent one of the first examples of council housing of that type.

	

	VICTORIA

	

	The best-known spot in the area is Victoria Station, which is at the address of 115, Buckingham Palace Road, and whose red-brick building appears in  many films. The construction of the station began in 1860 and was taken care of by London, Chatham, and Dover Railway, yet it met with a strong opposition on behalf of the residents, who feared it would bring noise and dirt along with it. The Parliament authorised the works, but only on the condition that the trains should pass through a tunnel made of glass and steel until they reached the Thames. The cost of this add-on was such that the facade was sacrificed, and rebuilt in all its glory only forty years later. Upon it, there are two mermaids supporting a split pediment, and next to it a frieze with the phrase: “The Gateway to the Continent”.

	Victoria Square is a small square, just west of Buckingham Palace. There are around twenty houses here which are of historical interest, all five floors high, with a facade in white plaster designed by the architect Wyatt. They were built around 1830, at the beginning of Queen Victoria’s reign. There is a statue of her, which portrays her in her youth.

	Ian Fleming, the famous journalist and writer who created James Bond (code name: 007), originally from Hampstead, lived here, at number 16, until his death in 1964. However, he would write the novels and stories of the James Bond series in his Jamaican house, called Goldeneye. Unfortunately, as the years passed, his great international success brought him to resemble the character he had created, with ravaging effects on his health. He would drink a lot of alcohol and ceaselessly smoke cigarettes made especially for him. He died at a mere fifty-six years of age, followed shortly by his son, who died of an overdose.

	The hectic Victoria Street, always crammed full of traffic, was opened halfway through the Nineteenth Century in the very middle of the slums.   

	

	LITTLE BEN

	VAUXHALL BRIDGE ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: VICTORIA

	Everybody has heard of the Big Ben and ends up visiting it at some stage. Very few know that there is a miniature version of it on an emplacement at the crossroads between Vauxhall Bridge Road and Victoria Street. It consists of a tower in cast iron with a clock at the top, and effectively reproduces the design of the Big Ben which stands in Westminster Palace. It was placed here in 1892 by the company Gillett & Johnston, from Croydon, who built it. There are some verses engraved in it:

	My hands you may retard or may advance,

	As my heart beats true for England and for France*

	In Victoria, in the Seychelles, there is a copy of it which was placed in memory of Queen Victoria’s Golden Jubilee of 1897.

	

	NEW SCOTLAND YARD

	8-10 BROADWAY

	UNDERGROUND STATION: ST JAMES

	Scotland Yard is no longer to be found in this pretty house on the Embankment, and today what was once the original location is known as Norman Shaw Buildings. The name is that of an architect who built these two attractive buildings, which have a dignified air about them, at the beginning of the Twentieth Century for the Metropolitan Police. They are built in red bricks and white stone upon a granite base, in the Gothic-Victorian style. Since 1979, the two buildings, North and South, which were once connected by a bridge, have been used as offices for Members of Parliament. To this end, they have been restructured and readapted.

	

	THE ARMY AND NAVY SHOPS

	101 VICTORIA STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: VICTORIA

	These shops have an interesting history, and were a group of department stores which had their main quarters in Victoria Street. They started as a cooperative, built in 1871 by a group of army and navy officers, with the aim of providing articles of common use to those belonging to both military bodies. The price was intended to be as low as possible. At first it was only a grocery store, then later the sale of fabrics was added, along with spices and rifles. Today the shop is called House of Fraser and is a department store.

	
WESTMINSTER CATHEDRAL

	42, FRANCIS STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: VICTORIA

	At the end of the Nineteenth Century, the archbishop of Westminster, cardinal Vaughan, decided to build a cathedral upon the spot where previously there stood a prison. He called for the architect John Francis Bentley, who had turned to Catholicism shortly after turning twenty. He was assigned with differentiating the style from that of Westminster Abbey, in order to avoid it resembling an imitation of the latter. The architect drew his inspiration from the Byzantine style. Its facade, on Ashley Place, is built in red bricks, with a series of decorations in white stone and a large arched portal. The majestic bell tower is almost as tall as that of the cathedral in Siena, to which it is inspired, and bears some strips of red bricks which alternate with others in white stone. The indoor area is rich and imposing. The walls and pillars are covered with mosaics and marble of a hundred different varieties from all over the world. In the south-western corner, there is a baptistery, with an enormous marble baptismal font, above which there is a mosaic which represents the four rivers of Heaven: the Tigris, the Euphrates, the Gihon, and the Pison. Together, they symbolize the waters of baptism. The mosaics on the wall, instead, portray the English saints, amongst which the venerable Bede.

	In the southern nave, there is a chapel dedicated to St Paul, its pavement bearing a scholastic imitation of the work of the Cosmati. The pulpit has a number of marble inlay works and is adorned with the figures of the four Evangelists, which were carried out in Rome in 1899 by Leonori. They were donated to the cathedral in 1934 by the cardinal Bourne, in order to commemorate his thirty years of service here. On a pillar to the left, there is a bronze panel portraying Saint Therese of Lisieux, carried out by Giacomo Manzù. The altar is made of Cornish granite, and nearby stands the archbishop’s throne, inspired by that of the Pope in the Basilica of Laterano. Above it, there is a canopy, supported by eight pillars in Verona marble. All around the walls, there are bas-reliefs with the fourteen stations of the Way of the Cross, the work of the English sculptor Eric Gill. The bas-reliefs are so shallow that they give the impression of being mere engravings. A large dome looms above.

	
The city seen from above – The bell tower has a small platform from which one can enjoy a remarkable view. For those who wish to admire the city from above (a height of eighty-five metres) without facing the hundreds of steps which make up the staircase, as is the case at the dome in St Paul’s and at Monument, here we are presented with a conveniently-placed lift, installed in 1929. The starting point is slightly hidden, behind a small souvenir shop in the north-western corner. From the small overlook, one can see Buckingham Palace, the cathedral of St Paul’s, the towering building of British Telecom, the Canary Wharf skyscraper, and the Battersea power plant. In a film by Alfred Hitchcock, Foreign Correspondent, an assassin throws himself off this very bell tower whilst a requiem is being held inside.

	

	FROM PRISON TO PITCH

	UNDERGROUND STATION: VICTORIA

	Vincent Square is the only part left of what was once Tothill Fields and today is used as a pitch for games. It is a large grassy square, used by students of Westminster School for sports activities. There is even a cricket pavilion. Vincent Square was created by the deacon Vincent, who used to teach in the adjacent school. When he realised that the buildings were starting to eat up all the available space, he purchased it, and today it is part of the school’s property, although it is almost always open.

	This land was once occupied by the prison of Tothill Fields, which has been operative since 1618. The prison was rebuilt in 1834, in a four-leaf clover layout. Each “leaf” hosted roughly three hundred prisoners, both men and women, who were authorized to mingle. In the centre, there was a tree-lined yard.  

	

	THE GARDENER’S SOCIETY

	80, VINCENT SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: VICTORIA

	The Royal Horticultural Society was founded in 1804. It was John Wedgwood who suggested its creation, with the purpose of planning regular meetings and presenting paperwork on one’s activities and discoveries. At first, these meetings would take place in the Hatchards library. The society promotes the garden through exhibitions, also through the use of mini-models of the garden itself.   

	The most famous exhibition to be partly organized by the association is the Chelsea Flower, however there are many others, amongst which the London Flower Show, which is held eight times a year, and where one can receive advice from experts, as well as purchase flowers and plants. Gardening is in fact greatly encouraged in England and there are campaigns aimed at involving a growing number of people, for the benefit of the community.

	Furthermore, the society awards medals to those who have distinguished themselves in this field, such as the Victoria Medal of Honour. The headquarters contains a library, and its main core is made up of books donated by John Lindley.      

	

	TATE GALLERY

	5, ATTERBURY STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PIMLICO, VAUXHALL

	Four galleries are grouped under the ‘Tate’ name, two of which are in London. The one standing on Millbank was built in 1897, thanks to the donation of the sugar magnate, Henry Tate. On its lands stood a prison, the Penitentiary, which was demolished in 1890. The gallery hosts some collections of antique paintings (the oldest, by Bettes, dates back to 1515), as well as various works by Hogarth, Gainsborough, Reynolds, Constable, Blake, and the group of pre-Raphaelites, along with most of Turner’s works.

	It is famous for the beautiful exhibitions which are held there. The restaurant has an enchanting graffiti, The Expedition in Pursuit of Rare Meats, carried out by Rex Whistler in 1927, which gives the place a very original feel to it. Also the café brims with style.

	It is enjoyable to reach the gallery with the Tate boat, which circulates between the Tate Modern, London Eye, and Tate Britain every forty minutes.

	

	MARYLEBONE

	

	The area of Marylebone got its name from the church which once stood on the banks of a brook, the Tyburn, which provided the city with its water. This is testified by the plaque at number 50 of Marylebone Lane, which refers to a conduit dating back as far as 1776. Today this is a residential area and the only memory of this agricultural past is the weaving route taken by High Street, which follows the Tyburn, as did the road that once ran through the old village

	During the Nineteenth Century, writers and artists used to live here, one of which was Turner, who lived in Queen Anne Street at number 23. In Marylebone lies the beautiful Cavendish Square, which was named after Henrietta Cavendish-Hollace, wife of the count of Oxford, who began its development. It is a tree-lined square, and one of its buildings bears a blue plaque, signifying that this was once the home of the founder of Westminster University. Cavendish square appears in the novel by Stevenson called Dr. Jekyll and Mr Hyde, in which it is the home of Dr. Lanyon, Jekyll’s best friend.

	
The century of Asia – The square is a good starting point for exploring the neighbourhood. At number 63, New Cavendish Street, stands Asia House, which has the purpose of “preparing the citizens of the United Kingdom for the century of Asia, by promoting the understanding between various cultures, religions, and forms of art, and favouring trade opportunities.” Among the hundreds of events that are held in its vast halls are exhibitions, seminars, shows, and festivals.

	Park Square East contains one of the last hatches with a cover in cast iron, which used to be found at the sides of the street above the charcoal kilns. They were used to slide coal into the basement, where it was then stored. Another fascinating element that comes from the past is a small pillar, which is almost entirely covered in ivy, and is located in Peto Place. It is black and shiny, and stands out against the background of flowers, behind the gate. It marks the boundary between the parishes of St Marylebone and St Pancras.

	

	THE CHURCH OF ST MARELYBONE

	17, MARYLEBONE ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BAKER STREET

	The church was built in 1817 following Thomas Hardwick’s design. It stands near the crossroads of the extremely busy Marylebone Road with Marylebone High Street. It is a huge building, with a looming Corinthian porch. The same area had already been the home of two previous churches. The layout is cross-shaped and the walls and ceiling, which are of a delicate tone of watery green, are rich with golden plasterwork. The bell tower is surmounted by a dome, which in turn is held up by golden caryatides cast by Charles Rossi.

	

	Two poets on the run – There is a small separate room dedicated to the memory of Elizabeth Barrett and Robert Browning. After sending each other hundreds of letters, they had finally met and fallen in love. She was almost forty years old, and virtually disabled, whereas he was thirty-six. On 12th September 1846, they managed to elude the strict surveillance of her father, and headed to the church to get married secretly. One week later, they fled to Italy, never to return again to their country. Here, a document of their marriage is conserved. Today the room is used as a ceremonial hall. On the wall, there are some portraits of the two poets, and on the coloured glass panes of the windows, there are two angelical figures, with a black circle in between them, bearing the words: “In this church was solemnised the marriage of Robert Browning and Elizabeth Barrett on 12th September 1846”.

	At its base, their initials are intertwined. On Sunday mornings, in the paved square just next to the church alongside High Street, there is a market, where one can also find delicious hot Sicilian sausages. This corner was chosen by Hogarth as a background for his painting of the wedding between Tom Rakewell and the Old Lady.

	

	BBC BROADCASTING HOUSE

	PORTLAND PLACE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: REGENT’S PARK, OXFORD CIRCUS

	The building, headquarters of radio BBC, is rather bizarre. It has a narrow facade with a rounded entrance, making it somewhat resemble a ship, with its prow facing the centre of the city. High above, there is a clock tower. It was designed by Colonel G. Val Myer in 1932. It is built in Portland stone and is nine stories high. The central tower has is encircled by a protective steel structure, which has been nicknamed “the tower of Babel”, which deflects sounds and provides a better acoustic effect in general.

	The statue above the entrance portrays Prospero and Ariel, two characters in Shakespeare’s comedy The Tempest. It was carried out by Eric Gill. The boy, Ariel, is naked, and at the time there were protests on account of the excessive size of his penis. Therefore John Reith, the general director of the BBC, ordered the sculptor to rectify the matter. The first programme to be broadcast from this site was Henry’s Hall’s show with his BBC dance orchestra.

	The architect’s association – At number 66, Portland Place, stands the headquarters of the Royal Institute of British Architects, also known as the RIBA, for the sake of conciseness. It was founded in 1834 by a few architects, amongst which John Buonarrotti Papworth, born in Marylebone in 1775. Today it includes more than forty-thousand members. The building that hosts it has a simple white facade, which is smooth and shiny and was designed by George Grey Wornum in 1930. The sculpture above the window high above the main entrance goes by the title Architectural Aspiration, and is Copnall’s work. Part of the building is open to the public. The library is one of the most important in the world in this field. As well as books and magazines, there are photographs, drawings (including some by Palladium and Wren), and manuscripts. There are a café and some galleries used for exhibitions. The association assigns various awards, such as that for the best building of the year. It also awards a gold medal to those who have distinguished themselves for their work, or to those who have managed to prepare a low-cost project.           

	

	WALLACE COLLECTION

	HERTFORD HOUSE - MANCHESTER SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BOND STREET

	The museum’s collection includes many paintings from the golden period of Dutch painting and French art of the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century, which are considered its main assets. It contains a work by Titian, the Perseus and Andromeda, two portraits of Van Dyck, and two panoramic views of Venice by Canaletto. It is a receptacle of the Ancien Régime, filled with furniture from the XVIII century, Sèvres porcelain, gilded bronze works, and many items of art. The collection of paintings includes two by Fragonard, as well as others by Delacroix, Géricault, Corot, and the delicate hand of Boucher and Watteau.

	There are also nine paintings by Rubens, two by Velàsquez, eight by Murillo, and five by Rembrandt, including one of his son Titus. It does not receive very many visits and would deserve to be more renowned, as there are few galleries in the world that can boast such a wealth of masterpieces.

	

	THE MUSEUM OF THE ROYAL ACADEMY OF MUSIC

	MARYLEBONE ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BAKER STREET

	The museum is connected to the building of the music academy by an underground passage, which also links together the rooms where the students practice. The building was designed in 1822 by John Nash, however the inside area was destroyed by a bomb in 1940. The precious collection is made up of two hundred string instruments, whose maintenance is assigned to the tuning experts of the academy.

	There are a few Stradivari models, some Amati, and some Guarneri (del Gesù). In 2005, the academy purchased the famous violin Viotti ex-Bruce. Also exhibited, are some archive documents, with letters, musical manuscripts, photographs, images, and illustrations. There are also some conductor’s batons, some scores for orchestra and piano, a number of instruments and forms of percussion, and an Alexander horn, restored from the damage wrought by the accident which took the player Dennis Brain’s life.

	

	WIGMORE HALL

	36 WIGMORE STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BOND STREET

	At first it was called Bechstein Hall. It was built by the German piano builder whose shop used to be next door. It has a Renaissance style, with marble and alabaster cladding, and a dome upon which the Soul of Music has been painted.

	The opening concert, which took place on 31st May 1901, was held by the pianist Ferruccio Busoni and by the violinist Eugène Ysaÿe. It immediately became a place of international fame, specialized in concerts for chamber music, in particular piano music, with players of top calibre, such as Rubinstein, Saint-Saëns, Richter, Ashkenazy, and Prokofiev. During the First World War, the building was confiscated by the enemy, then, after the war, reopened with its new name. The entrance is crowned by an iron and glass canopy, and supported by white pillars. Wigmore Hall is both cosy and majestic, with an acoustic environment which nears perfection, and which has made its name, and through the years has attracted artists from all over the world. An average of four hundred concerts are held here every year, and there is even a weekly one broadcasted by BBC Radio 3. The concerts are recorded live and become published records of the Wigmore Hall Live. There is also an intense programme for schools, including concerts for children under the age of five.

	

	THE MOSQUE AT REGENT’S PARK

	146, PARK ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BAKER STREET

	The London Central Mosque is also known as the Islamic Cultural Centre.

	It was designed by the architect Frederick Gibberd and was completed in 1978. The large hall of the main building can host up to five thousand people. The women pray in the upper gallery.

	The indoor area is decorated with the shapes of Islamic tradition, and the golden dome shines amid the tree branches. In the lateral wings, there are a library with a reading room, some offices, and the minaret. What is more, there is a pretty library and a café.

	

	THE FOUNDERS OF THE ZOO

	REGENT’S PARK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: REGENT’S PARK

	The Zoological Society of London was founded in 1826 by a group of naturalists and scientists, for studying and cultivating natural history, with particular attention to botany. It is known by the acronym of ZSL. It has followed the path of the Jardin des Plantes in Paris. At the time of founding, it was also decided that an animal collection be started, in such a way as to pique the curiosity of the public. The society had initially rented a small plot of land in the park and had begun the construction of some houses to host them. However they soon became too many to handle. The houses, which were of exquisite quality from the architectural point of view (the giraffe and camel houses still exist today) were opened to the public in 1848. There is also an attractive clock tower. The penguin’s pool, dating back to 1934, was the work of Berthold Lubetkin, the aviary is by Lord Snowdon, and the elephant house was designed by Hugh Casson, all of them members of the association.

	

	THE LONDON ZOO

	REGENT’S PARK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: CAMDEN TOWN, CHALK FARM

	The public opinion with regards to animals held in captivity has changed over time. It cannot be forgotten, in fact, that the zoo is a prison for the animals, no matter how well they are treated and cared for. Children, however, continue to adore the place. Waiting for them at the London Zoo, are animals who have been named. Some examples are Thug, the pygmy hippopotamus, Lumpur the Sumatra tiger, Ricky the jumping penguin, Lucifer the lion, Mjukuu the gorilla, Ellis the giraffe, Raja the Komodo dragon, and Bounty the monkey. There are a reptilery, an aquarium, an insect house, and even a zoo area for children.

	There are a number of theme-driven paths, such as In Africa or The butterflies’ paradise. The bird house is a sort of charming, melodic tropical forest, with kookaburras, lovebirds, humming birds, and a dove which is the last specimen of an extinct breed. The penguin house, built in 1934 by Berthold Lubetkin, is an icon of modern architecture, almost a sculpture.

	The fish in the aquarium have been bred in the context of a conservation project and there is a rebuilt coral reef, with vividly coloured tropical fish swimming in and around it. Another tank contains electric eels and lungfish. It is the oldest zoo in the world, and the collection at that time included some of the animals which are now extinct. It is also one of the largest. One department of the aquarium, called the Big Fish Tank, hosts fish from the private homes of people who realize that they are no longer able to care for them. Unlike New York, where it would seem that crocodiles are thrown into the drains by their owners and grow to reach gigantic proportions in the sewers, here they are brought to the zoo.

	

	THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS

	ST ANDREWS PLACE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: GREAT PORTLAND STREET

	The institution of the Royal College of Physicians was founded in 1518, with the aim of offering the right of practice to those with a medical qualification, as well as punishing unauthorized practice. It is still today one of the most active medical organizations. Its first headquarters, near the St Paul’s cathedral, in Amen Corner, was destroyed in the Great Fire of 1666. The school has always taken care of the publishing of volumes such as the London Pharmacopoeia, written in Latin, aimed at regulating the composition of medicines and texts with the nomenclature of illnesses. The place hosts a noteworthy collection connected to the history of medicine. There are portraits, surgical tools, especially dating back to the Eighteenth and Nineteenth century, commemorative medals, anatomical tables with arteries and veins painted red and blue.

	Each object shows how the average health of mankind is continuously improving. The present office dates back to 1964 and has a fascinating T-shape to it, with two floors supported by pillars. The top floor is wider than the bottom. There is a lecture hall for conferences, and the most important of them has been held regularly since 1582, and is called Lumleian Lecture.

	Collections are open to the public through booking.

	In the square stands a beautiful statue of the philanthropist Quintin Hogg, depicted in the act of reading a book to two boys, one of which is holding a ball under his arm. It suggests that also sport is important and should not be neglected.

	

	LORD’S CRICKET MUSEUM

	ST JOHN’S WOOD ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: ST JOHN’S WOOD

	The cricket pitch Lord’s, which bears the name of its founder, the wine merchant Thomas Lord, is one of the oldest stadiums in the world. It was created in 1814 around a stagnant water well. It is also one of the most prestigious pitches, having hosted the finals of the World Cup on four occasions. The "cricket house" is built in bricks, has two large lateral towers, and is quite peculiar. It is owned by the Marylebone Cricket Club. The club also possesses a small art gallery and a sports museum, which is the oldest of its kind to exist in the whole world. A number of guided visits can be followed amid the souvenirs.

	There are some important paintings, one of which, a Flemish work, portrays David and Bathsheba, and shows tennis being played in the background. There is also a painting by Pietro Fabris, which depicts a game of football, a portrait of Thomas Hope playing cricket by Jacques-Henri Sablet, painted while the future connoisseur was on the Grand Tour in Amsterdam. Another attraction is the collection of bats signed by the champions who once used them, along with photos, and printed material regarding the matches of the past. In the Memorial Gallery there is also a fascinating item: a stuffed sparrow chick which died on the pitch has been placed above the ball that took its life. The creature had been unlucky enough to pass through the trajectory of a balled thrown by Jehangir Khan in 1936. It is worth taking a look at the Long Room, where the “rich and famous” meet when there is an important meeting. The Queen, instead, follows the matches from the Committee Room. Sports journalists follow the match from a cabin placed high above the pitch.

	

	A PANORAMIC DIORAMA

	PETO PLACE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: REGENT’S PARK

	The diorama was a form of show made up of paintings or views of great size, which were illuminated via various technical mechanisms, giving the spectator the illusion of being in the wake of a real panorama and its shifting play of lights. The subjects of the diorama could be military or biblical themes, such as the battle of Trafalgar. Louis-Jacques-Mandé Daguerre was its inventor.

	The Peto Place Diorama was designed at the end of 1823 for an audience of two hundred people and cost nine thousand pounds. Spectators would watch the screen as if they were at the end of a tunnel, and every quarter of an hour a bell would announce that a change of scene was about to take place. The building is quite a sight, with its enormous windows, and today still stands in Peto Place. It closed as a diorama in 1851. After that, it was used as a baptism chapel and as a clinic. The street is dedicated to Samuel Morton Peto, who was a railway engineer. He was a Baptist and a generous benefactor of the church.

	

	THE STATION AND THE SHERLOCK HOLMES MUSEUM

	BAKER STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BAKER STREET

	The underground station of Baker Street was built in 1863 and is the oldest in the world. It is extremely well preserved in its original style, with brick and wooden covering. In front of the station there is a gigantic statue of Sherlock Holmes, paid for  by the insurance company, which owns the house corresponding to the fictional address of the famous detective, in memory of his connection to this street. Unfortunately it was demolished by bombings and many of its buildings are modern ones.

	The museum is hosted in a house dating back to 1815, similar to that of the fictional story, and the address used is the same as that of the book, although there have been a number of bureaucratic difficulties and a long disagreement with the insurance company Abbey National before this became possible. The persistent claim of imposing this address was targeted a number of times by satirical writers. The museum, which finally opened in 1990, recreates the Victorian indoor style, with red velvet, Damascus silk, solid dark furniture, wooden floorboards covered with rugs, a chimney place, and a pendulum which loudly and incessantly marks the passing of time... Along with other items from the epoch, there are wax statues and Holmes’ personal memorabilia.     

	

	THE THREE JEWELS OF REGENT’S PARK

	

	QUEEN MARY’S ROSE GARDEN

	AT THE CENTRE OF THE INNER CIRCLE

	The rose garden was fulfilled in order to celebrate the anniversary of George V and Queen Mary in 1935. It has been arranged following a circular design, which was that of the available space. The plants renewed in the Nineties of the previous century by the garden architects Colvin and Moggridge. A number of new ones have been added, to the point that there are now over thirty thousand of at least four hundred different varieties.

	Their wonderful sweet-smelling buds decorate and give a pleasant scent to this area, which is the quintessence of an English garden. The ideal moment to visit it is halfway through June, when the different varieties are in full bloom. It is ideal for passing an afternoon or two, surrounded by flowers and fountains, whilst taking a stroll along the boulevards. If flowers, trees, animals, and London parks are one’s passion, and one wishes to take part in a good deed, here one may adopt a flower, a deer, or a duck belonging to another park, and help with their upkeep.

	

	OPEN AIR THEATRE

	NORTH WEST OF THE INNER CIRCLE

	The open air theatre was founded in 1932 by Sydney Carroll and Robert Atkins. The season lasts four to five months, from May to September, with the rotation of four shows. One of them is A Midsummer Night’s Dream, another is Shakespeare’s second work, a third is a musical, and a fourth is a children’s show. The stage is made up of a stone platform, with two crooked walls at the back, behind which are the rooms hosting the  laboratories and the sound and light technicians.

	Being out in the open, the shows all depend on the weather conditions. Sometimes the plays are suspended and then later continued, as soon as the rainy spell ends. It is said that the spectators’ restaurant has the longest counter ever to be seen in a theatre. Meals are served starting from one and a half hours before shows, during the intervals and after the shows. There is even a barbecue, and for those bringing their food from home, there is a nearby picnic area, equipped with tables and chairs. It is an experience that should definitely not be passed up.

	

	INNER CIRCLE

	SOUTHERN-CENTRAL AREA OF REGENT’S PARK

	The Inner Circle unsurprisingly forms a circle, within which the Queen’s gardens and a lake are enclosed. It is enjoyable to go for a picnic on the eastern side of St John’s Ledge, amid its flower compositions, stone fountains, and velvety fields. One might then continue with a walk along the Outer Circle, towards Primrose Hill, along Regent’s Canal.

	From the top of the hill one can enjoy a pretty view of London, starting with St Paul’s cathedral. The roads that climb up towards the top are flanked by small houses in the Georgian or Edwardian style. Some of them bear blue plaques. The famous poet Sylvia Plath once lived at number 3, Chalcot Square. Unfortunately many great trees that used to stand in this area were blown down by the hurricane of 1978, however those that were planted as a replacement have now reached a remarkable size. The hill’s summit is the preferred place of kite flyers. There was a time when deadly duels would take place here. In the distance, one can make out the animals in the zoo.

	To recover from the hike up the hill, one may drink some excellent coffee at Cachao, at number 140, Regent’s Park Road, and nibble at a pancake. Weather permitting, it is lovely to sit outdoors. Just nearby, there is also a shop selling toys and chocolate.

	

	Engels’ House – At number 134, Regent’s Park Road stands the Primrose Hill Books bookshop. It is the best sales point for new and second-hand books. Here one can find old books of precious content, which are impossible to find elsewhere. The nearby house bears a blue plaque which indicates that Engels once lived here. As far as restaurants go, here one can find Odette’s, a refined place with an outside area. For vegetarians, at number 4, Erksine Road, there is a restaurant called Manna, which serves dishes which resemble sculptures, such is their sophistication.

	

	PADDINGTON

	

	The canal which used to surround the inhabited area and extend from Paddington Basin to Uxbridge was built in 1805. Later on, the arrival of the Great Western railway in 1838 brought about the construction of many new houses along Warwick Avenue, Clifton Gardens, and Maida Vale, north of the canal, however this was destined to lose its importance.

	Paddington Station was built by Isambard Brunel. On 13th June 1842 Queen Victoria arrived, after having travelled seventeen miles in twenty-three minutes, from Slough. Brunel awaited her on the platform. The queen was arriving from a temporary terminal, whereas the final terminal was built in 1854, also following Brunel’s design, with three long arches in steel and iron. Up above, near platform number 1, there used to be an iron balcony belonging to Brunel’s office, from which the engineer would observe the activity going on below.

	In Willesden Green stands St Magdalen’s church. It was built in 1878 on the steep slope of the canal. It is small, with a round tower, and a choir which curves inwards deeply. Because of the steepness of the bank, one of the lateral naves is missing, yet this asymmetric indoor layout grants it near perfect acoustic properties, which greatly benefits John Comper’s organ, which dates back to 1933, and the church is rightly famous for its high-quality concerts. In the crypt, there is a chapel, built in 1895. 4.50 from Paddington is a famous detective story by Agatha Christie.

	

	TYBURN

	UNDERGROUND STATION: MARBLE ARCH

	At the beginning of the Nineteenth Century, the name Tyburnia used to indicate the south-western corner of the parish. The name was probably adopted because it was already very well known as a reference to the gallows beneath the Tyburn tree. The exact spot where it used to stand is commemorated by a metal triangle fixed to the base of the street in Marble Arch, near the park. This spot was chosen due to the fact that here, at the entrance of the two main roads into London, there used to be a group of elms. It was from their robust branches that, starting in 1196, the condemned would be hung, well in sight of passers-by. This place of hanging was known as Triple Tree and those who walked up its steps were mostly criminals or petty wrongdoers, however at times it was innocent people who would meet their doom.

	During the Reformation, many Catholic martyrs were hanged here. In 1571, a proper gallows was built in the form of a triangular structure. Often there would be a great crowd attending the executions. For example, there were two hundred thousand present at Jack Sheppard's excecution. Sheppard had been a very promising twenty-one-year-old carpenter, who had been condemned to death for having escaped from prison six times. The first of these escapes had taken place just three hours after his capture. It is likely that his craft had aided him, considering that he had escaped through a hole in the ceiling, and then lowered himself using a knotted sheet. For one of the following escapes he had disguised himself as a woman.

	He became something of a legend and a number of ballads and musical comedies have been dedicated to him. Seeing an engraving of him which has survived is somewhat endearing: he looks so young and afraid, wearing an elegant shirt with a bow tie and a jacket with a folded seam at the back....

	Also the unearthed corpse of Cromwell had been exhibited in Tyburn. In 1783, the gallows was moved to Newgate.

	A memorial museum – At numbers 8-12 of Hyde Park Place, where the gallows once stood, there was once a Benedictine seclusion convent, the Tyburn Convent. It is the house founded in 1901 by Marie Adèle Garnier who ordered that the relics of the martyrs of Tyburn be placed in the crypt: bones, hair, and blood-stained clothing.

	There are three guided visits each day. The gallows, which used to be located where the streets of Bayswater Road and Edgware Road now meet, was assembled above the altar. Also part of the convent, is a house that barely exceeds one meter in width, which was built at the start of the Nineteenth Century.

	In 1827, in Edgware Road, an elegant group of buildings was built, and named Tyburnia, despite the sinister association of such a name.   

	

	HORSEMAN’S SUNDAY

	HYDE PARK CRESCENT

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PADDINGTON, MARBLE ARCH

	In the lush, green area in front of St John’s church, every next-to-last Sunday in September at midday, a fascinating ceremony known as Horseman’s Sunday takes place. At the end of the service, the vicar blesses the knights, who have gathered in front of the church. Then, after having donned a long green cape with a yellow lining, he too mounts a steed and guides a procession of knights and horses (usually around a hundred of them) of all different sizes and colours, ranging from small ponies with lightly coloured fur to stallions with an imposing build.

	The vicar then goes on to thank all the animals, who "make our stay on this Earth all the more pleasant". The origin of this ceremony dates back to 1968, when there was a desire to bring people’s attention to the need to maintain the function of the stables along the north side of Hyde Park. It has now become more of a festival which attracts residents and newcomers, also thanks to the fact that after the ride, there are a good many sweet things to be eaten.     

	Along Hyde Park Gate, stand a great many tall, elegant houses, decorated with wreaths and plaster festoons, which envelop the walls and facades. Number 22 of this very street is where Virginia Woolf was born.  

	

	AN ARCHITECT SERVING GOD AT ST JAMES

	SUSSEX GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PADDINGTON

	The architect George Edmund Street was a very religious person, who was specialized in designing clerical buildings. His belief was that an architect should be at the service of God, who had endowed him with such creativity. Because of this, his style must be synonymous with his moral dignity. The church of St James is located in the south-western corner of Sussex Gardens, in a spectacular place. Baden-Powell was baptised in this spot. The indoor area has a truly splendid lighting which is incredibly evocative.

	In the nearby hospital of St Mary’s, in Praed Street, Alexander Fleming discovered penicillin. Bayswater Road is a pretty street which it is worth following on foot, from Marble Arch to Notting Hill Gate. At number 100 there is a house where James Barrie used to live, the creator of Peter Pan. It is occasionally open to the public. The construction of Orme Square, which was devised by the architect Edward Orme, began in 1816, when Tsar Alexander was visiting England, after the end of the wars against Napoleon. Because of this, the surrounding streets have names such as Petersburg Place and Moscow Road.

	In the latter, stands the Greek-Orthodox cathedral of St Sophia, built in 1922. It is built in the Byzantine style, made of bricks, and following a Greek cross plan, with a central dome covered by mosaics. All are welcome here, and it is quite worth the effort of attending a service, if only to witness the choir’s impressive singing.

	

	ALEXANDER FLEMING’S LABORATORY

	PRAED STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PADDINGTON

	Within St Mary’s Hospital there is a small museum which is a reconstruction of what was once the laboratory belonging to the Scottish doctor Alexander Fleming. Here, in 1928, the doctor discovered the effects of the mushroom extract to which he gave the name of penicillin. It is an extremely effective ingredient against bacterial infections, one of the most potent to exist, and which has defeated illnesses such as tuberculosis, gangrene, and syphilis. There is also a video which retells the story of this discovery which revolutionized the history of medicine and gave birth to an enormous expansion of the pharmaceutical industry.      

	In order to reach the laboratory-museum, one must pass through Norfolk Place.

	

	PADDINGTON WATERSIDE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: PADDINGTON, EDGWARE ROAD

	The Paddington Basin was the terminus of the canal known as Paddington Arm, which opened in 1801. The place was chosen for its position on the New Road, in order to activate the eastbound transport. In its golden period, Paddington was a centre of great activity. Later on, in the year 2000, British Waterways decided that a good percentage of the basin should be drained. Today, it is at the centre of a large restructuring operation.

	The project is called Paddington Waterside and is an incentive for the construction of buildings at its borders. These tall buildings are extremely modern, and have an original design. Amid them, are some groups of sculptures and sports facilities.

	This is the place where, in 2004, the Rolling Bridge was built, after having been designed by Thomas Heatherwick. It is a bridge which is capable of extending itself in order to allow pedestrians to cross the Grand Union Canal.

	On foot or by boat – An itinerary for a pleasant walk could be the one starting in Hayes, which can be reached by train. From there, one can walk towards the canal. The first place one reaches is the Nestlé factory, just after Bull’s Bridge, wherefrom a pleasing scent of coffee spreads out. It is at the end of the Paddington Canal. The path passes through a number of rural areas, as well as others which are more dense with industrial archaeology. A very pretty feature is the aqueduct, which transports the canal water over the North Circular Road, near the underpass of Hanger Lane.

	One arrives in view of Wembley stadium, amid the factories of Park Royal. Then one reaches the Kensal Green cemetery, and continuing under the Westway flyover, one arrives at the basin, near the train station. Another option, during the summer months, is to take some trips from Paddington Basin to Camden Lock aboard one of the barges, two of which are named Jason and Jenny Wren. Between 1862 and 1887, the poet Robert Browning lived in the nearby Warwick Crescent, at number 19, and it is said that it was he who suggested planting the willows that surround the little island at the centre of the basin.

	

	THE GASOMETER OF KENSAL GREEN

	GRAND UNION CANAL

	UNDERGROUND STATION: KENSAL GREEN

	For those who are interested in industrial archaeology, the vestiges of this gasometer, which has now been eroded by rust, are quite interesting, as they are the testimony of an epoch. Pickaxes have not yet reached this spot, and there is some discussion about installing a museum that could tell of the history of the place, and recover and transform the gasometers. Their construction began at the end of the Nineteenth century, near the canals. Each one consisted of an actual plant for the production of gas and a number of cylindrical tanks, upon which a series of large quadrants indicated the amount of gas contained at that time. The diameter of the gasometers is around seventy meters, whereas their height is of forty. The tanks were capable of containing nearly one hundred thousand cubic metres of gas. This was produced by gas which was given off by coal, when the latter was heavily heated without being burnt.

	In early times, the gas was needed for the lighting of streets and public buildings. Only after a few years did the gas also start to be used for the purpose of cooking.

	

	A MONUMENTAL CEMETERY

	HARROW ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: KENSAL GREEN

	Kensal Green Cemetery is one of the seven monumental cemeteries in London, and also the oldest. It was opened in 1833 and fulfilled following the canons of the French cemetery of Père Lachaise. The designs for its project were later used for the construction of other cemeteries throughout the British Empire. There are angels along the northern bank, which contribute to making it look somewhat like a country graveyard.

	Somewhere near two hundred and fifty people have been buried here, of which one thousand belong to the London nobility or are celebrities. This is the resting place of the engineer Brunel and the writers Thackeray and Trollope.

	The duke of Sussex was its first guest in 1843, and set the good example for many to come. In December 2008, the great playwright who won the Nobel Prize, Harold Pinter, was buried here, and also here is Freddy Mercury, the leader of the rock band Queen. Along with the beautiful mausoleums and funeral monuments on the surface, there are catacombs below the Anglican chapel, where guides accompany the visitors.

	It is advisable to bring along a torch so that one can make out the finer details, which are sometimes a little macabre, other times quite interesting. There is a winch for lowering coffins down from the chapel, after the funeral service. There are also some fake flowers in copper and porcelain. Each Sunday there is a guided visit, and books can be bought which tell of the history of the cemetery. At the end of the tour tea and biscuits await.

	

	CROCKER’S FOLLY

	24 ABERDEEN PLACE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: WARWICK AVENUE

	It is a beautiful house with the saddest of stories. By the end of the Nineteenth century, the construction of the Great Central Railway line was almost complete. Someone had told Frank Croker that the line would end at Aberdeen Place, in Lisson Grove, therefore he decided to build a hotel for travellers precisely on the corner of that square. It was an ornate building with many frills to it, with decorations built in bricks and freestones, windows in white plaster and arches in the Moorish style.

	He had marble chimneys installed in the indoor area, cherubs painted on the ceiling, inlaid glasswork added, and the rooms furnished with prized items in mahogany. However, unfortunately the terminal ended up being built almost a mile away, in Marylebone. As soon as he found out, Frank headed up to one of the richly-decorated rooms and hanged himself. In the beautiful house, located in the heart of the elegant neighbourhood of St John’s Wood, a pub-restaurant has been opened.

	 




	CAMDEN TOWN

	
Camden Town is a neighbourhood situated in the Camden borough. It gets its name from Charles Pratt, the Marquis of Camden, who lived here until 1974, and whose property occupied the centre of the area. During the Victorian age it was far from being a safe neighbourhood, and was connected to the criminal underworld. Dickens too, lived here as a child, more precisely in Bayham Street. As far back as 1981, it had less than two hundred thousand inhabitants. In time, thanks to the stations of Euston, St Pancras and King's Cross, urbanization has gradually increased. Today Camden is a multiethnic neighbourhood, a trendy location, much loved by young people and a gathering spot for artists and students. It is well-known for its markets and for being a place of liberality and a home to popular culture venues and associations. In 1960 the Roundhouse, which was a previously a steam-engine repair shed, was converted into a theatre and a centre for alternative culture. The main attraction however, is still the huge marketplace known as Camden Market, where one may find just about anything, in particular items of leather clothing. In 1873, when Paul Verlaine and Rimbaud arrived in London, they went to stay at the Lodging House, which was at the time located at the address of 8, Royal College Street. The building was a shambles and gave an idea of the extremely poor conditions of the two poets, who nonetheless used to muster their keep by offering the odd French lesson.   

	Boat transit on Regent's Canal  One can reach Camden by boat from Little Venice  and vice versa - via Regent's Canal. The route winds by the large pontoons anchored along the canal and between arrays of charming villas. It also passes through a tunnel where the handrails bear the deep marks etched by towing hawsers dating back to earlier than 1950, when watercraft used to be pulled along by horses. From here, one can also observe flights of steps used for leading horses back onto the road when they had fallen into the water.

	There is a bridge on the canal, called Macclesfield Bridge which goes by the nickname Blow-out bridge. The name refers to it hosting the biggest explosion to ever take place before the Great War, when a barge loaded with gun powder exploded in 1874. Silence and tranquillity can be found amid the trees in Regent's Park, where they grow on the banks of the canal, their foliage stooping down towards the water, as the boat glides gently along  enveloped in silence.

	In addition to the fascinating scenery, one can witness the lock system in action, which allows vessels to overcome the difference in height between different segments of the canal; the whole system is still manually driven, in the traditional way. In the stretch of canal which crosses through the zoo, one can admire gazelles as they sprint away, and hear the birdsongs of tropical species. A floating Chinese restaurant, just a little way up ahead, gives us the impression of being in Asia. Then, one is dropped off in the centre of the market in Camden Lock. The Modena City Ramblers, a popular Italian folk-rock band,  have written a charming song about this canal: “I want stay here sitting down for a while / to finish up my glass / and watch the sleeping boats /on the banks of Regent's canal / here, one cannot hear the traffic / which bustles along Camden High Street. / Only the wind brings the voices of men / as they return from the last pub. / Silence brings the great city to its slumber / cradled beneath the Moon / it closes the eyes of tramps in their sleeping bags / under the shelter of Waterloo Bridge...”

	Camden Lock  The most well-known part here is the market place, specialized in clothing, handcrafted objects, and antique items, all shrouded by the exotic perfume of incense and joss sticks which smoulder ceaselessly. It has existed since 1975 and one may also find board games and films for sale. Camden Lock Village is another interesting spot. There are many shops, some of them quite unusual, such as that selling various types of percussions, or a small workshop which carries out engraving on glass. The buildings of the old warehouses, the system of locks which has remained intact, and the distinctive old pubs all contribute towards making this spot a unique and fascinating location.

	
JEWISH MUSEUM

	129 -131 ALBERT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: CAMDEN TOWN

	This museum is just a few minutes away from the Camden Underground, and inside, over six centuries of Hebrew culture and lifestyle are exhibited in the form of paintings, clothes, silverware, photographs, items of ritual art, embroidery, manuscripts, documents, and recorded interviews. It also hosts an interesting photo archive, showing the life of the Jewish community in London throughout history, the roots of daily life in East End, the ordeal of the refugees and the survivors of the Holocaust.

	A place of honour has been given to an Ark, crafted in Venice in the Seventeenth Century, gilded and decorated with inlaid symbols, which harbours the Torah scrolls. The museum has been here since 1995. Some very compelling events are often organized here, as well as contemporary exhibitions.

	

	BLOOMSBURY
 

	Bloomsbury gets its name from the Blemond family, which once owned a vast portion of its lands. Here, during the Eleventh Century there used to be vineyards and woods, where dozens of pigs would scour the earth for truffles. Later, King Edward III gave these lands to the Carthusian monks and the area became monastery grounds. After Henry VIII ordered its disbandment, the land was acquired by the count of Southampton. His son then built Southhampton House there, including a lovely garden in its centre, and also the surrounding servants' houses. The old garden later became Bloomsbury Square, and in the following years other important families came to live here, such as the Bedford, the Russell, and the Montagu families, whom the streets and squares in the neighbourhood were named after.

	On the corner of Russell Square, which now hosts a school for oriental studies, there is a building which bears a plaque reminding us of the fact that the poet T.S. Eliot once worked here as the editor of Faber & Faber. On the eastern side of the square we can admire a looming building with red bricks, which is Russell Hotel. On the second Sunday of January,

	The Bloomsbury Book Fair is held within the building's magnificent ballroom. To one side of the garden in the centre of the square, we find the taxi drivers' shelter, one of the small green houses where drivers can stop for a quick bite and some tea. Bloomsbury is famous for being an intellectual neighbourhood and this is also due to the fact that a group of writers, artists and scholars  the Bloomsbury Group  once used to gather at 46, Gordon Square, around the year 1910, at Virginia Woolf's home. At number 2, Percy Street, (now moved to Southwark Street) there is a fascinating gallery which goes by the name of Contemporary Applied Arts. Ordinary objects can be seen here too, such as a pair of earrings or a teapot, yet they are presented with an engraved plaque as if they were relics being exhibited in a museum.  

	
BRITISH MUSEUM

	GREAT RUSSELL STREET

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN, RUSSELL SQUARE

	The façade of the building, austere and imposing in its ionic style, transforms at night, thanks to the lighting, which makes it look like a pagan temple.

	One can almost lose oneself among the antiquities held within , as one wanders through ancient Rome, Greece, the Middle Ages, Oriental relics, printed material, illustrations, coins, medals, and more... When visiting for the first time, it is advisable to walk slowly through the vast arcades and halls, in order to get a general idea of the sheer amount of things to see. One may then return a second time to concentrate on the objects that have piqued one's interest.

	It had all begun in 1753, with the acquisition of the Hans Sloane library, as well as the manuscripts and the collector's items of botany and natural history. Then, the 19th century brought a number of prized and rich additions: the Rosetta Stone, Egyptian sculptures, the Parthenon friezes, a Syrian bas-relief, the remains of various tombs, and fragments of the temple of Arthemis. At that point, it became necessary to build a new location of a much larger size. Also the gallery of Mexican and pre-Columbian art is quite something. Amongst the relics of the Roman period, we find some silver remains found by a farmer who was ploughing his field in Suffolk.

	The courtyard of the museum, known as Great Court, had its roofing built by Norman Foster.

	At 49, Great Russell Street, we find the Museum Tavern, an old-style pub, with coloured and adorned windows, wooden sculpted decorations, carpets, curtains, and velvet. It is said that Karl Marx, who was a regular customer, once broke one of the mirrors with a punch, during a heated discussion about politics. Both the varieties of beer and the food served here follow tradition: fish and chips, sausages, potato purée, and meat pies.

	
ANTHONY PANIZZI'S BRITISH LIBRARY

	96 EUSTON ROAD

	UNDERGROUND: KING'S CROSS, ST. PANCRAS

	Antonio Genesio Panizzi, better-known as Anthony Panizzi, was Italian by birth, but then became a naturalized British citizen. Panizzi was born in Brescello, in the province of Reggio Emilia. He had got his degree in Law at the University of Parma in 1818. He was part of a secret society which had the objective of unifying Italy and helping it to achieve independence. During that period, Reggio Emilia was governed by Francis IV, Duke of Modena. In 1820, the wave of arrests which ensued after the assassination of the head of Police of the Duchy of Modena led him to expatriate to Switzerland, where he published a book, exposing and condemning the repression. This volume was the reason for him being brought before a court and sentenced to death in absentia. After receiving strong pressures in favour of his expulsion, Panizzi decided to move to England. In London, Ugo Foscolo, who was living in the city, having been exiled from Italy, gave him a presentation letter for the banker William Roscoe, based in Liverpool. He was working as an Italian teacher; however the wages left much to be desired. In 1826, Panizzi met with the lawyer and politician Henry Brougham and when the latter became chancellor of the Kingdom, he assigned Panizzi to the position of Italian professor at the University of London and gave him a job at the library of the British Museum.

	Here Panizzi made his career, going from the position of library assistant to director. Under his guide, the number of books went from two hundred and thirty thousand to more than half a million. He was also involved in a few controversial incidents, such as that involving Thomas Carlyle. He created a new catalogue and in 1841, established ninety new rules for indexing, which became the basis for the system which is still used today and which even lies at the origin of digital indexing. Panizzi reinforced the system for copyrighting and ensured that editors were required by law to deposit one copy in the library of each and every book published in Great Britain. In 1869 he was knighted by Queen Victoria.

	The circular Reading Room was designed and built by the architect Sydney Smirke, starting from a rough sketch drawn by Panizzi. It had been opened in 1857. The Reading Room was used until 1997, and then the library was transferred to St Pancras.

	
THE HORSE HOSPITAL

	COLONNADE

	UNDERGROUND: RUSSELL SQUARE

	The building that hosts the horse Hospital and stands in the middle of a lovely little paved lane between Bernard Street and Guilford Street was in fact a shelter for horses. In 1993 it was converted into a contemporary art gallery and auction house. It is a rather unusual gallery, and the exhibitions that are held there often have specific aims, such as protest, such as, for example the demonstration in favour of nuclear disarmament. There is also a room dedicated to pop culture. The gallery was founded in 1993 by Richard Burton who has worked with Vivienne Westwood, whose creations were shown in a retrospective exhibition. In the basement of the building there is a collection of modern clothing, which is rented for films.

	
A LIFE SCHOOL

	70, MARCHMONT STREET

	UNDERGROUND: RUSSELL SQUARE

	The School of life may look like just another shop, but in actual fact it proposes a philosophy of life. It was founded by Sophie Howarth, who has a team of collaborators which includes writers, artists, actors, and intellectuals. In this place, one can receive medicine for one's mind, with writers and artists acting as the pharmacists. At the back of the shop, courses are held on life's central themes: work, free time, family, politics, and love. There are also consultations, meditation lessons, and particular psychotherapy sessions, as well as evening dinners to revive the skills of conversation, and activities which take place in improbable settings, forcing the participants to tap into unknown resources which lie deep within themselves. Written works are used to help one to meditate. These activities take place in the team conferences, and all this is aimed at stimulating the creativity of all those attending.

	
POLLOCK'S TOY MUSEUM  

	SCALA STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GOODGE STREET

	Benjamin Pollock was a shopkeeper in Hoxton who tried to keep the toy theatre tradition alive, namely a miniature type of theatre made of printed cardboard, featuring characters from literary works or comedies. His shop would welcome illustrious visitors, such as Robert Louis Stevenson and Serge Diaghilev.   In 1950, as well as the clichés and the slabs used to construct the theatre, other elements were added as well, such as toys and Victorian playthings from another museum, and so it was that Pollock's Toy Museum was born.

	It is worth seeing it, if only from the outside. An enchanting trompe l'oeuil on the facade forms a blend of various peculiarities in the fake painted windows:  this goes from Harlequin to Russian dolls, from the circus arena to clowns and seahorses, and many more details... These windows, together with the real one in the centre are part of an enormous painted rococo curtain, with golden bows and edges, which also holds a plaque with an inscription.

	
THE EISENHOWER BOMB SHELTER

	CHENIES STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GOODGE STREET

	When in London, you will come across a great number of bizarre forms of architecture, and you may often wonder what it is that you are admiring. Amongst them, is the imposing fort, built during the Second World War, which stands on a side street of Tottenham Court Road, directly in front of Goodge Street Station. It somewhat resembles a huge cake with icing sugar, possibly due to its strawberry-red and whipped-cream white hues. It was once one of the two entrances to the headquarters of General Eisenhower, and it was from here that the latter, as supreme commander of the allied forces, directed the D-Day landing. This refuge was linked to the Cabinet War Rooms, where Churchill and the members of his government would gather. This connection took place via pneumatic tube transport, a system of pipes, working by means of compressed air.  A provision effective to-date establishes that if these refuges were ever necessary for national security, the government could still requisition them with immediate effect.

	
A THEATRE IN THE DRILL HALL

	16, CHENIES STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GOODGE STREET

	The name 'Drill Hall' is a reminder of the original military function of these rooms, where the Bloomsbury riflemen would train. For some time now, however, they have hosted a theatre, rehearsal rooms, and areas for courses.  Diaghilev performed here too, with his Russian ballet. Present day shows go from Shakespeare's Macbeth  to avant-garde productions. The café opens one hour before the shows start, and has a relaxing atmosphere about it. There is a children's corner, which has been fulfilled with a great deal of consideration, with particular regards to children under five. There is a wide variety of toys available and an actor who reads out stories.

	At 21, Foley street we find the restaurant Back to Basics, a simple and charming spot, with a menu which changes every day and fifteen different fish-based dishes. In the summer, there are tables outside and small folk groups perform. The seagulls who live here and the setting of the restaurant give one the impression of being very near the sea. If one prefers Indian cuisine, the nearby Rasa Express, at 5, Rathbone Street, with its lilac facade, serves a delicious and unusual dish. It goes by the name of Rasa Meal Box and it is in fact the same meal that is served in a small lunchbox on Kerala trains. There is also a vegetarian version with rice and spicy vegetables.

	
THE WAX STATUE OF JEREMY

	GOWER STREET

	UNDERGROUND: GOODGE STREET

	The University College, founded in 1826, later led to the creation of the University of London, the first English institution not to require a religious qualification in order to enrol. The gigantic light-grey structure with a beautiful arcade was fulfilled in Soviet-style architecture. During the war, it was the headquarters for the Ministry of Information and inspired George Orwell for his novel 1984.   

	Jeremy Bentham was a philosopher, and the creator of the theory of utilitarianism. He also fought for the separation of Church from State, the freedom of expression, women's rights, the end of slavery, the abolition of physical punishment, the right to divorce, the decriminalization of homosexuality, and the abolition of the death penalty.  Although he was already elderly by the time the university was created, there is no denying that his idea that education needed to be more widespread was at the root of the creation of the institution.  Bentham asked that after death his body be used for dissection for an anatomy lesson. His skeleton, provided with a wax head and fully dressed, had been placed at the entrance, however it was subjected to practical jokes by the students, and was therefore moved into a wardrobe to be taken out only during special occasions.

	
THE FOUNDLING SHELTER

	40, BRUNSWICK SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: RUSSELL SQUARE

	The sad scene of illegitimate children born into poverty, foundlings who lived on the streets eating leftovers, struck a chord in the heart of Thomas Coram, who decided to have a refuge erected for them. On 17th October 1739, King George II authorized the opening of the institute for the raising and education of abandoned children, the Foundling Hospital. Coram bought a strip of land at Lamb's Conduit Field and constructed the building on it. The remaining part was used for building playgrounds.           

	
HOLBORN VIADUCT

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN

	This is the name given to the great bridge which connects Holborn with Newgate Street in the City, and crosses over Farringdon Street. It was built between 1863 and 1869, following the design carried out by the architect William Heywood, in order to allow the street to continue at the same level without it having to descend down to the bottom of the valley which lies between Holborn and the City. It cost over two million pounds and the official opening was hosted by Queen Victoria, simultaneously to that of Blackfriar's Bridge.  

	From Farringdon Street, its decorations appear much like classic Victorian adornments. At the extremities of the bulwarks there are the four bronze statues representing Commerce, Agriculture, Science and Fine Art. Beneath the  bulwarks one can make out two silver griffins portrayed as they flicker their tongues and make up the rear side of a stem.

	At the corners of the bridge there are four buildings, which used to host the flights of stone steps once used for reaching  the street overhead. At the tops of these buildings  a few winged lions stand proudly.

	Arriving from Ludgate Circus, if one happened to walk down the middle of Farringdon Street  a little risky, perhaps!  one would find oneself proceeding along the underground tracts of the river Fleet.

	
LINCOLN'S FIELDS

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN

	In 1638, William Newton had obtained permission to build thirty-two houses along the green area of Lincoln's Inn Fields. One of the original buildings still survives  to date between street numbers 59-60, possibly drafted and planned by Inigo Jones. At the north-western corner lies Newcastle House, which still bears some traits of the Seventeenth-century building which was constructed by Captain Winde.

	At 120, Lincoln's Inn, a metal plate commemorates Thomas Ernshaw's invention: the naval chronometer, which helped make long-distance journeys much more manageable. Until 1992, the London Weather Centre was to be found on this street as well.

	In Lincoln's Inn, there is also a tool hut, built for the gardener, Temple, especially in honour of the occasion of Queen Victoria's visit in 1852. It is a wonderful pavilion made in red bricks, with a stone stem in relief.

	The park makes for a great opportunity to enjoy a pleasant stop after visiting the nearby museum, which we shall talk about in the following chapter.

	
JOHN SOANE'S MUSEUM

	12-13, LINCOLN'S INN FIELDS

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN

	John Soane purchased the house at 12, Lincoln's Inn Fields in the year 1792. He then purchased the two houses on each side of number 12, and transformed them into a museum by hosting his collection of paintings, sculptures, porcelains, clocks, furniture, glass walls, small models of monuments and buildings... and the list goes on.  There is also a sarcophagus made of alabaster of Seti I, which originates from the far away Valley of the Kings in Egypt. Also to be found are two series of paintings carried out by Hogarth, and three by Canaletto. The rooms are unusual; they have a very personal character about them and have in fact been preserved and kept as he had left them. The dining room looks out over a delightful internal courtyard. The museum is the most precious memory of Soane the architect, also due to the fact that his buildings, such as the Law Court in Westminster, and the Privy Council Room in Whitehall have all been either destroyed, modified, or burnt down in time.

	At number 24, in the nearby Old Gloucester Street, inside a beautiful building which somewhat gives one the impression of being in Amsterdam, one can visit the October Gallery, which contains exhibitions of artists from all over the world, ranging from Africa to New Zealand. Here, films are screened and conferences are held as well.

	
THE OLD CURIOSITY SHOP

	13-14, PORTSMOUTH STREET

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN

	The small house in Portsmouth Street is not far from the London residence of Charles Dickens, in Doughty Street, which has now been converted  into a museum.  It is a known fact that the writer paid a number of visits to this shop, which dates back to halfway through the Sixteenth Century and has exposed beams.

	It is thought that the shop served him as a model for the description of the house of Little Nell and her grandfather in The Old Curiosity Shop. Originally this small building was a dairy factory belonging to the holdings owned by Charles II, given as a present from the king to one of his lovers, namely the Duchess of Portsmouth. It is certainly the oldest among all the shops in central London and gives some idea of what the city must have looked like before the Great Fire of London, which ravaged the area in 1666. Today it is home to a shoe shop .

	
JAMES SMITH'S UMBRELLAS

	NEW OXFORD STREET

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN

	The shop known as “James Smith & Sons” is specialized in umbrellas and walking sticks. It was opened in 1830 and throughout the course of history has also crafted ceremonial staffs for African village leaders. Even if one does not wish to make any purchases, it is still interesting to take a look inside, where we can catch a glimpse of a hidden corner of the city's history. It is almost akin to being in a museum and really takes one right back to Victorian London. The furniture is completely original and includes true works of art.

	
ST. ANDREW HOLBORN PARISH

	5, HOLBORN CIRCUS

	UNDERGROUND: CHANCERY LANE, FARRINGDON

	This church, which draws its origins all the way back to the Middle Ages, was rebuilt by Wren at the end of the Seventeenth Century. It is the largest of all the churches built by him. Today it is the church of a corporation and is open to workers of the surrounding areas. This striking crypt, with its medieval foundations and Wren's vaults, is used for concerts and theatre work. In a small chapel beneath the tower lies the tomb of commander Thomas Coram, founder of the shelter for abandoned children. A marble cherub weeps for the man who did so much for so many of them.

	The organ found inside is particularly important because it comes from Coram's shelter. It had been Handel himself who had given it to him in 1750. In front of the church, at the centre of Holborn Circus, there is a bronze statue of the prince consort, who appears to be greeting the beholder politely, as he removes his cocked hat. This masterpiece was pieced together by Charles Bacon.

	
THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE STRAWBERRY FAIR

	UNDERGROUND: CHANCERY LANE , FARRINGDON

	This Medieval corner of Ely Place, peaceful and quiet, is not technically a part of London, and belongs in fact to Cambridgeshire. Here stands the residency of the Ely bishop and still today it is made up of Eighteenth-century houses, with a iron gate at its edges. It was built in 1772 by Robert Taylor at Ely Palace, of which there are many references in Shakespeare's comedies. In fact this is the place where the author has John of Gaunt pronounce the famous speech on the scepter'd isle.

	For more than five hundred years, along this strip of road, the Strawberry Fair has been held every second Sunday of June. The strawberries used to come from the bishops plantations, and it was said that they were the tastiest in all London. They are even mentioned in Shakespeare's Richard III. At the nearby Ely Court, between Hatton Garden and Ely Place, stands the pub Ye Olde Mitre. The indoor area dates back to the Eighteenth Century. A glass pane shields the remains of a cherry tree which used to stand in the garden area, which is now taken up by the inn itself. There is also another historical pub in this area, called the Jerusalem Tavern, in Britton Street.

	
THE SCOTCH WHISKY SOCIETY

	19 GREVILLE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: FARRINGDON

	The Whisky Society is hosted within a classical Victorian building, within an environment which is both elegant and cocoon-like. In-between the walls of the Member's Room, which are covered by extremely shiny wooden panels, pleasure and business are mixed, as the members sit on leather armchairs in front of the burning fireplace, holding a glass of malt whisky chosen from the vastest variety to be found anywhere in the whole city. A good deal of information about the preparation of this amber drink can be gained here, and there are also audio-visual explanations, as well as tasting sessions, all making for some very pleasant evenings. One may only enter if accompanied by a member.

	
CHURCH OF ST ETHELDREDA

	14, ELY PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: FARRINGDON, CHANCERY LANE

	Once, this church was the private palace of the bishop of Ely in London. It was built in 1290 and in 1873 it was purchased by the Rosminian fathers of charity. It is the oldest building used by the Catholic Church in London, from the times when Edward I reigned. The windows portray the followers  executed in Tyburn as punishment for their creed.  A point of beauty is the ceiling, made in wood.  The crypt contains part of an Ancient Roman basilica, and within a golden reliquary, a piece of St Etheldreda's hand has been preserved.

	There is also a small café inside the crypt, facing the cloister.

	
BLEEDING HEART YARD

	UNDERGROUND: FARRINGDON

	Bleeding Heart Yard is a paved courtyard, which lies diagonally to Greville Street.  According to an urban legend, the name commemorates the murder of Elizabeth Hatton, the second wife of William Hatton, whose family owned the surrounding area. It is said that on the 27th January 1626 her body was found here, torn to shreds, but with her heart still beating. In some stories written by Barnham halfway through the Nineteenth Century,  Lady Hatton makes a pact with the Devil and during the house opening party,  the Devils, after first dancing with her, rips out her heart, which is found the following day, still beating. It is from this story, and thanks to some confusion regarding the identities of those involved,  that this legend was born, and is still spoken of to date.  In actual fact, this area gets its name from a sign belonging to a pub in Charles Street, which portrayed the heart of the Virgin Mary pierced by five swords.

	Today a French restaurant overlooks the courtyard, and a gate to the south leads to Ely Place.

	In his work, Little Dorrit, Dickens speaks of this place, describing it as having changed and declined from its former grandeur. Amongst the poor families who live in some of the dark rooms which face the Yard, which nonetheless retains some signs of its glorious past, is the Plornish family.

	The area around Hatton Gardens was once a place of diamond trade. Still today, at number 15, one can notice the signs of this past activity. The diamond traders De Beers are to be found just around the corner, along the Holborn Viaduct. There are many jewellery shops in Hatton Gardens.

	   

	LONDON SILVER VAULTS

	53-64 CHANCERY LANE

	UNDERGROUND: CHANCERY LANE

	It is the biggest gallery with shops for retail sale of antique silverware. Behind the huge one-metre-thick security door, and beneath the silver vaults, as the name quite literally suggests, one may find all sorts of things, ranging from the most common of objects, such as salt shakers, egg holders, cutlery, candle holders, teacups, paper-weights, to more refined items, such as stylish cocktail stirrers, Champaign, or extravagant armchairs built in silver. In 1876 it used to be a deposit for precious objects, and then later it became a shop. For the last fifty years it has been possible to find items from each and every epoch  and style exhibited here. It is an interesting and unusual place to explore, also because of its impressive size. One can purchase items, if one wishes to  as well as the silverware, one may also find Sheffield Plate and Silver Plate, which is not quite so expensive  but it is also a place where one may exchange or sell unwanted items.

	
HUNTERIAN MUSEUM

	35-43 LINCOLN'S INN FIELDS

	UNDERGROUND: HOLBORN

	As early as the XIV Century, the Guild of Surgeons was based in this spot, and persisted in its attempts to resolve the ongoing dispute with the barber-surgeons. Later, in 1745, the surgeons split up with the barber-surgeons with the intention of improving the standards of the profession. By 1799 the government had acquired John Hunter's anatomy and physiology collection and donated it to the College.

	This collection formed the foundation for the current collection and from there on, was gradually enhanced in time. The museum exhibits  thousands of specimens, some more macabre than others: mummified hands, teeth, skulls, human or animal organs preserved in alcohol or formaldehyde, models of dissections, bones of people afflicted by osteoporosis, and the skeletons of feotuses.  As far as skeletons are concerned, also to be found here is that of the Irish giant Charles Byrne, who was two metres and thirty-four centimetres tall. Byrne had tried in vain to oppose an undesirable post-mortem fate. He had asked to be buried under the waves of the sea. Unfortunately the fishermen who were supposed to take care of his burial were easily bribed and were more than happy to hand his corpse over to Hunter for five hundred pounds. Also many historical surgery tools are part of the collection, as well as some paintings, drawings, and sculptures.

	The building has a neoclassical facade with a porch of six pillars, which managed to survive a fire bomb in 1941.

	
THE CHURCH OF LEPERS AND THE PLAGUE       

	ST GILES HIGH STREET

	UNDERGROUND: TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD

	The Church of St Giles was founded at the beginning of the Thirteenth Century when Matilda, wife of Henry I, first opened a hospital for lepers in the north-western fields of London.  It was established in memory of St Giles, the patron saint of those unfortunate souls. The baptismal font was drawn in 1810 by John Soane and graciously decorated with honeysuckle and a Greek frieze.  Byron's daughter, Allegra, and two of Shelley's offspring, William and Clara, were all baptised here. There are a few interesting funeral monuments, amongst which, worthy of noting, is one of them in memory of George Chapman, whose translation of Homer inspired Keats' sonnet. His monument, which is supposed to have been designed by Inigo Jones, is shaped like a Roman altar. Near the door, there is a model of the Flitcroft church, and in the tympanum at the entry to the cemetery, there is a detailed and rather alarming Resurrection of the Dead, from 1687. It was in this parish that in 1665 the bubonic plague broke out.

	In Bloomsbury Way, at the corner with New Oxford Street, stands St George's Church, designed by the architect Nicholas Hawksmoor, who belonged to the English baroque movement, the same architect who built St Alphege in Greenwich and Christ Church at Spitalfields.

	The church was opened in 2006, after five years' restoration, and is now a lively centre for concerts and art exhibitions , located near the British Museum. There is also a permanent multimedia exhibition, called Hawksmoor & Bloomsbury.

	
THE SKYSCRAPER OF CENTRE POINT

	101-103, NEW OXFORD STREET

	UNDERGROUND: TOTTENHAM COURT ROAD

	The glass and cement tower of Centre Point was designed by Richard Seifert and is almost one hundred and twenty metres high. The place was once taken up by a scaffold. With its thirty-two floors, it was one of the first skyscrapers built in London and caused a lot of controversy at the time. It was destined for use in the form of offices, and the owner left it unused and empty for many years because he wished to rent it all together to a single company. In 2005 it changed ownership.

	At the base of the building there are some half-moon figures, assembled on stands. These are in fact fountains, built in 1963 by the architect Dernbach-Mayen. When water is running they are quite spectacular but more often than not they are turned off, and used to place platforms for actors, singers, and acrobats.

	
GRANT ZOOLOGY MUSEUM 

	21, UNIVERSITY STREET

	UNDERGROUND: WARREN STREET

	In the Rockfeller Building there is a small museum dedicated to the zoology professor, Robert Edmond Grant, friend and mentor of Charles Darwin. There are a good fifty-five thousand specimens belonging to the animal kingdom, including skeletons of rare or extinct animals, amongst which the Malaysian Dugong, the quagga, a zebra from South Africa, and the Tasmanian wolf (or Thylacine), which became extinct in 1936. One may also observe the bones of the Dodo from the Mauritius Isles, the big famous extinct  bird, which was incapable of flying.

	Other interesting sights are for example the egg of an elephant bird from Madagascar, a Mammoth tooth dating back to at least twelve thousand years ago, some elephant skulls, and the skeleton of a giant anaconda. Some jars with formalin contain the heads of mammals, elephant hearts, and animal foetus, which are perhaps a little shocking. The museum also contains glass reproductions of jellyfish, sea anemones, gastropods, cephalopods, and holothuriae such as the sea cucumber, manufactured in 1800 with great skill and ability by Leopold and Rudolf Blaschka, from Czechoslovakia. It is a smallish museum, which can be visited within an hour, yet it really is worth the while.

	

	THE PETRIE EGYPTIAN ARCHAEOLOGY MUSEUM

	MALET PLACE

	UNDERGROUND: GOODGE STREET

	At the University College there is a museum dedicated to Flinders Petrie, who was the first professor at the faculty of Archaeology. The museum hosts around eighty thousand items, which make up one of the largest collections of Egyptian and Sudanese archaeology. Through them, life in the Nile Valley has been reconstructed starting from prehistory, passing through the time of Pharaohs, the Ptolemaic age, the Roman age, and lastly the during the age of the Copts. One piece of linen in particular dates back to five thousand years before Christ.

	One may also witness some of the first existing metal utensils, as well as some scrolls, hieroglyphics, a dress made from small pearls once belonging to a dancer in the age of pyramids, some armour, sandals from ancient Roman times, tiles, sculptures, frescos, mummies, amulets, and various forms of ceramic art.  A bizarre curiosity is the marble bas-relief of the god Min, one of the oldest in Egypt. The god of fertility is represented, quite aptly, with a long erect penis.

	Soirées and exhibitions are organized here, such as the one on Flinders Petrie and Francis Galton, during which the application of the racial theories was examined in the field of 

	archaeology. 

	

	DICKENS' HOUSE MUSEUM

	48, DOUGHTY STREET

	UNDERGROUND: RUSSELL SQUARE

	The writer lived in the house in querstion from March 1837 to December 1839. During his stay here, he wrote The Pickwick Papers, Oliver Twist, Nicholas Nickleby, and also started writing Barnaby Rudge. This is where Mary Hogarth, his seventeen-year-old sister-in-law suddenly died. In 1925, the house was purchased by the society of friends of Dickens, and filled with a vast collection of antique items dating back to that period. Also the first editions of his books are to be found here, as well as his manuscripts, letters, and a table covered in red velvet which the writer used for his public reading sessions.

	In one of the rooms of the basement floor, a kitchen has been reconstructed, similar to that of Manor Farm, where Mr Pickwick used to spend Christmas. Dickens came to live here after his first year of marriage, at the age of twenty five. At the time, the street was private, and was supervised at both ends by a couple of liveried gatekeepers with top hats, who had the duty of keeping inquisitive passers-by out.

	The museum was opened in 1925, and was made up of ten rooms with Regency-style furniture, with leather armchairs and cushioned chairs, a table with three legs, and a large rectangular table. The golden-framed mirror hanging over the chimney place and the brass fireguard were both chosen by Dickens himself. Also found exhibited are the illustrations of his books and the original copy of Little Wooden Midshipman.

	
THE GOLDBEATERS HOUSE

	MANETTE STREET

	UNDERGROUND: WARREN STREET, GOODGE STREET

	The area known as Fitzrovia, north of Oxford Street and west of Tottenham Court Road, is famous for its artists and writers who lived at the start of the Twentieth Century, amongst which George Orwell. One of the more fascinating industries of the zone was that of gold leaf production.

	George Manning Whiley was a goldbeater who had worked in Whitfield Street since 1896. He became rich and in 1919 commissioned a building known today as Goldbeaters House. He assigned the construction works to the architect Ernest H. Abbott, of whom little is known. The facade bears capital letters which incorporate the tools of the trade. The building has risked demolition a number of times, however the inhabitants of the neighbourhood have always put up a fight and managed to obtain an order of preservation. Today it is occupied by offices.

	In the nearby Goodge Street, at number 56, there is a fine Mexican restaurant, Benito's Hat. On the sturdy wooden tables, burritos and tacos are served, made with soft tortillas filled with saucy meat with black beans. From the 31st  October to 2nd November, all those who visit with a theme costume or make up receives a 50% discount on the already modest price.

	
MONUMENT IN MEMORY OF GANDHI

	TAVISTOCK SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND: RUSSELL SQUARE

	The monument commemorating Gandhi, an apostle of non-violence and catalyser of civil disobedience, was erected in 1968 and was an accomplishment of Fredda Brilliant. It was inaugurated by Harold Wilson. The bronze statue portrays Gandhi sitting cross-legged at the summit of a plinth. At his feet, lie fresh flowers, which are continually replaced. Churchill once defined him as a 'naked fakir', yet it was he, Gandhi who led his nation to independence from the United Kingdom, on 15th August 1947. Tragically, a Hindu fanatic assassinated him as he was attempting to establish a peaceful agreement between Hindu and Muslim factions, just after the end of the Indian Civil War.

	Remaining on the subject of India, amid the web of streets around Drummond Street, there is a small village made up of vegetarian restaurants from Southern Indian Cuisine. A nice area, peaceful and unusual. At number 133 of Drummond Street we find the Ravi Shankar, where the belphoori  is particularly renowned and appreciated, made with spicy rice and yoghurt.

	
KING'S CROSS STATION

	EUSTON ROAD

	The name comes from a nearby zone where a statue of George IV once stood, although it was demolished in 1845. The project was carried out by Lewis Cubitt and the construction area hosted a hospital. The building consisted of two enormous arched  roofings, its two facades built in bricks, one used for arrivals and the other for departures.  The Flying Scotsman would leave for Edinburgh every morning at 10 o'clock. Between the two warehouses stands a tall tower bearing a clock, which gets its origins from the Great Exhibition of 1851. In 2005 the station was completely renewed.

	If one stands at the crossroads between Pentonville Road and Gray's Inn Road and looks upwards, one can see a small panoramic tower with portholes and a dizzying balcony, although it is not clear what the latter was once used for. In the local pubs of the area, it is said that a retired commanding officer of a ship  with a manner such as that of Admiral Boom in Mary Poppins  used to keep a telescope constantly trained on the station of King's Cross, which is just below.

	
ST PANCRAS STATION AND MIDLAND GRAND HOTEL

	EUSTON ROAD

	Today the name St Pancras only indicates a station and a church, whereas it once stood for a whole area. The old village, its name now forgotten and unused, once stood a short distance to the North of present-day Euston Road.

	Perhaps it bears some resemblance to the area which lies directly behind the station, rich of history and atmosphere, a Victorian atmosphere, and once known as Battle Bridge. To this day, the walls of the buildings bear the scabs of time, left by the steam engines. The bridge is named so because, according to tradition, it is here that Queen Boudica led the Celtic Iceni against the legions of Roman soldiers.

	The station is made up of a single large warehouse, with an enormous iron arch, built by W. H. Barlow and R.M. Ordish.  In 1872 George Gilbert Scott built the Midland Grand Hotel here. Its facade is the same as that of the station. It resembles a gothic castle, rich with decorations, steeples, and chimneys. It holds five hundred rooms and has an impressive flight of stairs, needed for elevating the railway above the level of Regent's Canal. All of the material was ordered from the Midlands, starting with the bricks, which came from Nottingham. It remains one of the best-known reference points in the city. Just north of St Pancras station, in Goods Way, there is a group of gasometers which date back to the Nineteenth Century. They ca be seen from a distance from the path that runs along the banks of Regent's Canal. In order to see them from a closer position, one must take the route of Good Way. Also from the windows of local trains leaving the station, one can make out their cylindrical silhouettes emerging gradually.

	Church of St Pancras. St Pancras Old Church, in Pancras Road, is one of the most ancient sacred places in the capital. Some of its parts go back as far as the Seventeenth Century. It was later restored in 1847 by Gough and Roumieu. All that is left of the old structure is ogival window and two monuments, one of which is in memory of Philadelphia Wollaston, who died bearing a child in 1616, portrayed as she holds a child in her arms. The cemetery was turned into a public garden in 1877. The tombstones have been moved and arranged like spokes in a wheel around a central ash tree.

	St Pancras New Church, at the corner of Upper Woburn Place with Euston Road, was built by William Inwood and his son in 1820, when there was a great deal of interest in Greek architecture, which was also favoured by the exhibition of the Parthenon marble which took place at that time. Not all were in agreement with the idea of modelling a Christian church on a pagan temple. On the facade there is a porch sustained by six large ionic pillars, along the north and south side are two rows of giant Greek maidens, copied from the caryatids of the Erechtheion, on the Athens Acropolis. They were cast in Coade stone with a iron core by Charles Rossi who took three years to finish the job.  The heavy traffic of Euston Road has blackened them a lot, and emphasized the incision mark which the sculptor had to make, after discovering that the statues were not the right size and were in fact too big. Indoors, the galleries are sustained by pillars decorated with lotus flowers. The pulpit has been inlaid in the wood of an oak tree from the forest of Hainault.

	
CANAL MUSEUM

	12-13 NEW WHARF ROAD

	UNDERGROUND: KING'S CROSS

	At the Canal Museum there are reconstructions and descriptions of many things pertaining to it: the interior of a cabin, transported loads, images of people who lived or worked there and horses towing barges. The area where the museum stands, used to host the wells used for preserving ice, imported from Norway. The wells were able to hold a quite a few tons of ice.

	The warehouse was built in 1862 by Carlo Gatti, the famous ice-cream maker, and here also the history of ice cream is illustrated. In this manner, the museum has the double function of safeguarding  the memory of what it once meant to work on the canals, but also the work that was carried out inside the building, which was the reason it had been built.

	From the window panes and terrace one can enjoy a pleasant view over the canal, with its cranes and loading pilot houses which have remained in their place. 

	

	EUSTON STATION   

	EUSTON ROAD

	Here, as in many other places, the railway transformed the life of the surrounding society profoundly, giving it faith in technical and industrial progress. Euston was one of the three railroads which, at the beginning of the Nineteenth Century, represented the northern limit of the city. Exactly what this meant for the residents can be surmised in Chapter VI of Dombey and Son by Dickens, who was living in Doughty Street at the time, while the line for Birmingham was being built, later to open on the 20th July 1837. The station had been planned by Robert Stephenson.  At the entrance there was a great vault, a passage with a Dorian arch, created by Hardwick.

	The name was carved in gold letters  beneath the pediment of the splendid neo-Greek-style hall. Unfortunately, when the station was rebuilt in 1947, the great vault was demolished. In front of the station stands a statue of Stephenson, carried out by Carlo Marochetti from Turin. There is also one by Edoardo Paolozzi  known as Piscator. Stephenson had also designed the Round House of Chalk Farm Road, in order to make a steam engine deposit out of it. Nowadays the building is used for theatre shows and concerts.

	
A WATERFALL OF PEARLS

	215, EUSTON ROAD

	UNDERGROUND: EUSTON SQUARE

	The Gibbs Building is the main office for the biomedical research society, Wellcome Trust. There are many works of art to be found here, but the one in front of the entrance is surely the most spectacular.  It is about 100 feet high, and was carried out by Thomas Heatherwick. The artist decided to use a liquid material which becomes solid after being poured into cold water, becoming a sculpture in this case. This material was also filled with one hundred and fifty small glass spheres, treated in such a way as to create translucent reflections, like a rainbow of changing shapes and colours. These are used in central Europe on New Year's Eve to predict the fortune of the new year ahead. There are also guided tours to admire the masterpiece from the top floor, which can be reached by means of a glass elevator. The sculpture is beautiful in the evening, when it is lit up and becomes a cloud of light.

	

	HIGHGATE
 

	The Highgate neighbourhood has preserved the atmosphere of a village, with its small Nineteenth-century houses. The name comes from the barrier of middle-age toll erected on the Old North Road.

	Thomas Howard's palace, which is no longer present today, was the setting for the death of the philosopher Francis Bacon: he passed away on 9th April 1626 having caught a cold after an experiment. He was stuffing a chicken with snow, to see if the refrigeration would preserve the carcass.

	One of the remaining woodland areas is called Queen's wood and is near the underground station. It is a wide valley of old trees with a dried-up lake in the centre.  In 1890, a great fight was carried forward with the objective of safeguarding the wood and the ecclesiastical commissioners were paid in order to prevent the wood from perishing.  The area is not overly taken care of; it is in fact a place of wild vegetation, inhabited by foxes and many birds. The tea house  near Muswell Hill Road serves a delicious mix of hot and cold dishes, all of them of organic production.

	
HIGHGATE CEMETERY

	SWAIN'S LANE

	UNDERGROUND: ARCHWAY, HIGHGATE

	In Highgate cemetery, steeples, domes, arches, small mausoleums, and statues, including the huge one of a horse, all intertwine with the low but lush vegetation, and trees that often intersect with the ancient tombs. The entry, created by means of a tunnel bored through the hill, has four Egyptian pillars on its sides. The oldest part of it, where amongst others Michael Faraday and the poet Christina Rossetti are buried, is not always open to the public, however the newer area, where Karl Marx has been buried since 1883, is the destination of pilgrimages. An enormous bust of Marx has been here since 1956. Monuments of George Eliot and Herbert Spencer are also to be found here. In the small church of St Michael's, which stands out above the cemetery, lies the poet and philosopher Samuel Taylor Coleridge, who lived at the street address of 3, Swain's Lane from 1819 to 1834.

	This marvellously-restored cemetery may only be visited through guided tours. One of the most unusual tombs is that of George Wombell. The inscription states that he was the owner of a private zoo, a menagerie of ferocious beasts. In actual fact, Wombell used to display the animals in shows, and would not hesitate to exhibit rounds of fighting between canine and feline species. He had named two of his lions Nero and Wallace. He also exhibited elephants, which at the time were a complete novelty. In 1826 the menagerie, managed by Wombell's widow, was in Leicester. The lion portrayed on Wombell's tomb somewhat seems to bear an expression of resignation.

	
HUNTING BATS IN WATERLOW PARK

	130, HIGHGATE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: ARCHWAY

	This is where the country residence of Sydney Waterlow was located , a philanthropist who had opened the gates of the park to the public, making it accessible and available to people who were not fortunate enough to be able to afford a house with a garden. Nowadays the keeping of the park, which is located on higher ground,  has been entrusted to the public administration of Camden. This area is one of the most beautiful in London, and sports a small aviary, and also a number of beds, constantly filled with herbs and flowers of all sorts. In memory of Waterlow, a statue has been put up, which portrays him holding an umbrella in his hand. It is the only monument of its kind to be found here.

	The Sixteenth-century Lauderdale House looms in the park, and has been converted into an art centre. Here one may find exhibitions, events, rehearsed shows, and lastly a tea room and restaurant.

	During the months of July and August, thrill-seeking souls in search of adventure can go on amazing walks, especially at night time, which is excellent for spotting bats. Many of those who take part in these walks are armed with detectors specifically made for identifying these creatures, and once they have been identified, it is possible to distinguish each one uniquely depending on the frequency of their shrieks. During the day time, from Waterlow Park one can enjoy a breathtaking view of London.

	
WHITTINGTON'S CAT 

	HIGHGATE HILL

	UNDERGROUND: HIGHGATE

	Near the building which stands at the crossroads with Archway Road, which  bears two domes made in green copper and is home to a Catholic church, stands a stone cat sitting on the pavement. It is said thatit was right in this spot that Richard Whittington, who was about to leave London for good, heard the bells of the City calling for him to remain and telling him that he would soon find fame and fortune there. He heeded them and later became the lord mayor of the City. In order to repay life for the good fortune he had enjoyed, he left a sum of money for the construction of houses for poor people right in this very spot. 

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	

	HAMPSTEAD

	
The inhabitants of Hampstead have always strived to preserve the local heathland from speculators, and the end result is that its eight hundred and twenty-five acres have not changed much since the days when Constable used to create paintings of them. The triangular signposts warning drivers about the presence of deer prove that the wildlife continues to have room to flourish. Wild orchids no longer bloom in the woods as they did in the Seventeenth Century, but the strongly-scented hawthorn still continues to thrive. Various types of spontaneously growing flowers cover the fields and the undergrowth: wood sorrel, buttercups, celandine, daisies, and the list goes on... In the Autumn, blackberries can be picked. Also the architectural landscape has remained more or less intact, starting with the building which now hosts the Fitzjohn school, which was once a place used for housework training for the daughters of soldiers who lost their lives during the Crimean war. Hampstead has always been inhabited by artists and intellectuals, who cherished its narrow, steep, and winding streets, overlooked by houses dating back to different periods, all well-harmonized in their crayon-like hues.

	Virginia Woolf once defined them as small boxes, and added "if houses have their voices and places their seasons, it is always Spring in Hampstead..." Heath Street is the main street which passes through Hampstead. Here, time has preserved the red mailboxes from the Victorian period, with decorated miniature roofs, and all shaped like pagodas. Hampstead Square presents some beautiful buildings dating back to the Seventeenth Century, whereas on High Street, stands the eighteenth-century Hampstead Brewery, with its ornate entrance. At the end of Church Row, we find the old church of St John's, with its tall tower. It was in this area that the architect Walter Gropius once lived, in the Isokon Building in Lawn Road, constructed in cement and featuring balconies which are as long as the facade itself. It was built in 1934 and included apartments equipped with minute cooking areas and a vast central kitchen from which meals would be sent, via a serving hatch.

	Also Agatha Christie had made use of it, seeing as she too had lived here. The sculptors Henry Moore and Barbara Hepworth opened their studios in this neighbourhood and turned it into a focal point for British Sculpture. The writer Evelyn Waugh spoke of the area as a social indicator. In fact, if one was invited there by someone residing there, it meant that the attempts at social climbing had been successful.

	

	Record-breaking stations - The station's first record is that of being the deepest in London, with as many as three hundred and twenty steps. The bus station in South End Green, instead, wins the record for having the most attractive toilets in the whole city. It is in fact almost worth taking a trip there solely for the purpose of visiting the bathroom. It was built in 1897, following the classical style of the epoch, with ample wooden cubicles and urinals decorated with green and beige Doulton tiles, which form elaborate shapes. The urinals are enclosed by wooden panels on each side. It is a true jewel of architecture, and is classified amongst the monuments under public protection. Another record should be awarded to the bus service known as Route 24, which has connected this area with West End and Victoria for over a century, and which passes very frequently.

	
HAMPSTEAD HEATH

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD HEATH

	Hampstead Heath, which can be reached by heading up Heath Street, is the biggest of the ancient parks in London, and is part of the capital's line of horizon. It is also one of the highest spots, sitting above a sandy ridge and a geological marine formation which contains a number of fossils. The latter indicate that there must have been a moderately warm temperature there in the past, with tropical vegetation. From 1808 to 1814, Hampstead Heath was equipped with a telegraph station, which provided communication between the London Admiralty and the ships in the harbour of Great Yarmouth. At the western extremity of Hampstead Heath lies Golders Hill Park, which makes for an extremely pleasant visit, and includes the Flower Garden, the arbour, and the beautiful games park for children, where one can find clowns, magicians, and illusionists during the summertime. There are many parks similar to this one in Hampstead, in fact, just a short distance ahead, upon Inverforth.

	Close, one can reach Hill Garden, a lovely English-style garden with a path flanked by painted Dorian pillars, as well as a number of small temples and pagodas, and lakelets surrounded by trees. It is an oasis of peaceful contemplation. In the north-western area, towards Golders Green, just opposite Hampstead Way, stands Wyldes Farm, at the boundary of the wood. The farm is built in dark bricks, and has an enormous roof bearing two rows of dormers, which have been inserted in order to give the farm the appearance of a granary.

	
The writer's desk - Giancarlo Neri, renowned for the carpet made up of ten thousand sphere-shaped lamps lain out on the terrain of Circo Massimo in Rome, created a nine-meter-tall desk with a chair of equal proportions for this park. It was installed in the Heath park in August 2005. The sculpture is called The Writer. In Easter and during the holidays, various trade shows and events take place. There are fairgrounds for the children, as well as donkeys, much like it was in Dickens' time. Concerts happen on the hill of Kenwood House, but also reading events where poems and prose alike are recited, conferences concerning scientific subjects, and recitals exhibiting the harpsichords of Fenton House. Hampstead is not merely famous for its wide areas of greenery and woodland or the harmonious architecture of its houses, but also for its old traditional pubs. The Holly Brush is one of them. Until a short while ago, it was still dependent on gas for lighting. Another old pub is the Spaniards Inn, where the bandit Dick Turpin had once sought refuge. Changes have been few and far since in 1852 Ford Madox Brown started painting a magnificent masterpiece of his here, known as Work. His intention was that of portraying the entirety of the reality which made up the Victorian society. Each character represents a particular different social class. The painting also reveals that the place, which depicts The Mount, has not changed much at all. Even the original gas lamps are still standing, along with the picket fence and the river bank, which the people in the painting are leaning on.

	
GOLDFINGER, THE UNWILLING PROTAGONIST

	2, WILLOW ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD

	Ernő Goldfinger was a Hungarian Jewish architect, as well as being a designer of furniture. In 1921, after the fall of the Austro-Hungarian Empire, he first moved to Paris, then London. In 1939, after getting married, he built this house for himself. It is a modern building built in cement and bricks. The local residents were at first strongly opposed to its construction, then later, seeing the futility of their opposition, forced him to at least cover the cement with bricks, so as to harmonize its look with that of other nearby houses, which had a more traditional appearance. Furthermore, in order to build this parallelepiped of a house, Goldfinger demolished a row of traditional cottages. Ian Fleming, who was one of those opposed to the demolition, decided he would name the villain of his James Bond book after his antagonist, thus Goldfinger. The architect initially wanted to take him to court, but ended up giving up on it.

	On the inside, there are a number of vast uninterrupted spaces, occupied by modern-style furniture - which still seem such today - designed by Goldfinger himself. Everything is as he left it, which gives us an idea of the architect's everyday life, beyond the aspect of his work alone. The guided visits start at the garage, where a video is projected, then one ascends the spiral staircase and reaches many rooms of different colours: red, blue, and yellow.

	Goldfinger is known for being the first architect to ever construct extremely high towers with living quarters, the most famous of which is Trellick.

	
KENWOOD HOUSE

	HAMPSTEAD LANE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: GOLDER'S GREEN

	BUS 210 FOR HAMPSTEAD LANE

	Kenwood House hosts one of the most important collections of paintings in the capital. In 1764 William Murray, count of Mansfield, a great patron and bibliophile, had assigned the architect Robert Adam to build a villa for him, which was to have a facade made in plaster and bricks. Adam also implemented a wooden porch and two lateral wings, which hold the library. The Great Room has an elongated shape, as well as a ceiling with a concave moulding. In the dining room, many important paintings hang on the walls.

	There is a self-portrait by Rembrandt from 1663, where the artist has painted himself with a bereaved but challenging expression on his face, and in a pose which is full of dignity and inner fortitude. The fur lining of his gown is painted somewhat lavishly. Another important painting is The Guitar Player by Vermeer. There is also a vast collection of paintings by Angelika Kauffmann.

	The house stands within an area which has an Arcadian atmosphere about it, at the top of a lush green hill, from where it dominates over the valley below and the centuries-old trees which grow there, and which it is possible to climb. In fact, it is common to see people clambering up and down the trees, and should not be cause for alarm.

	At the beginning of the Spring, the fields in the park are an explosion of daffodils, whereas in May rhododendrons start to bloom.

	Throughout the Summer, musical performances and concerts are held along the banks of the little lake. The bridge has been built in such a way as to suggest the flowing of a river beneath it. The walk along its banks is a way to explore the park. One might, for example, pass below the trellis arbour by the house, descend the stairway which leads to the grassy banks of the lake, proceeding along the fence that encloses the pastures, and from here look back up at the house to admire the sight of the light reflecting off its facade. From here, one can cross the bridge on the right side of the lake, follow the path through the woods to get to the Brew House Café, located at the rear of the house, in the old stable. There is also an enclosed garden encircled by a wall.

	
THE OBSERVATORY

	LOWER TERRACE

	WHITESTONE POND

	The Observatory has been here since 1910, after the Hampstead Scientific Society, founded by P.E. Vizard, decided upon its installation. The telescope which has been used here was built in 1898 by Thomas Cooke of York. Near the Observatory, there is a weather station, which holds the record for being operative in recording the meteorological conditions of the country since long before any other station of its kind.

	The society contributes towards promoting scientific knowledge by holding conferences in the church of St John. During the warmer seasons, the clearer evenings offer the chance to observe the sky.

	Also near the Observatory, lies Whitestone Pond, where the horses which drag carts up the hill are allowed to stop to drink and rest.

	

	A DIVE INTO HAMPSTEAD’S NATURAL LAKES

	

	Nowadays, in the city, we are used to the idea that swimming is a thing to be done in a swimming pool, a large artificial tub offering still waters for practicing one's strokes or simply for having fun. In Hampstead it is common to swim in the natural lakes, just as was the case in Ancient Rome, where the name "swimming pool" was given to all enclosed bodies of water out in the open where people could go to bathe. There are three of these lakes altogether: one for men, one for women, and one for all. They used to be catchment areas for drinking water, generated by the river Fleet. Near them is the bridge known as Red Arches, which was built with a view to future building developments, which luckily never came to pass.

	Following the causeway of Spaniards Road, one reaches the basins where the water gathers. They are not all that deep and their bottom is entirely covered in marshy vegetation. Their natural borders have been altered to some extent, due to the fact that reclamation works, which were necessary for urbanisation, and the expansion of human activities have both greatly reduced their surface area. However, their survival is important, as it creates an essential biodiversity. The plant life which grows on the banks of a river and the animals that live there are typical of such habitats and cannot be found elsewhere.

	A tall pole standing nearby the basins marks the highest point of Hampstead Hill. On Preacher's Hill, just west of the basins, along East Heath Road, there is a boundary stone. The London jurisdiction once used to start from here. The writing on the stone tells us that this is the County Council Boundary which is written in raised letters. Today it is used by runners for stretching poses or for tying up their shoelaces, as it is exactly the right height.

	1908 Olympics - London is the first city to host the Olympic games for the third time. In 1908, in order to demand that the Olympic games be held here, families would go out into the street in Hampstead and indefinitely hold donkey parades, as well as contests such as "tug of war", arm wrestling, and melee fights.

	
THE FERROUS WATERS OF WELL WALK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD HEATH

	There was a time when people would often pay a visit here or, alternatively, to the thermal centre of Bath, or the Royal Turnbridge Wells. In 1700, the administrative company for the well started to advertise the medicinal qualities of chalybeate waters, meaning water containing great quantities of iron. However, in 1800, it went out of fashion, in favour of other centres and the spa was demolished in 1882. Only the fountain on Well Walk was left standing, just in front of a house known as Wellside, built in 1892 upon the site of the old pump.

	In the period around 1700, the walks here were made even more pleasurable by the installation of a music gazebo. There was a pavilion with a great dance-floor where one could go to dance. After Hampstead started going out of fashion as a thermal station, however, the ballroom started to be populated by unsavoury characters, and was transformed into a chapel. It was in a house on this very street that John Keats assisted his brother, who had contracted tuberculosis, during the last months of his life, in late 1818. Unfortunately he ended up contracting the disease from his brother.

	The cottage at number 40 hosted the painter John Constable during the last years of his life. The abundance of weeping willows makes the street particularly picturesque.

	
FLASK WALK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD

	The literal meaning of its name is a testimony to the importance of the fountain which once stood here. Part of the street is pedestrian, and it is very evocative to walk here at night in order to reach Black Lane and its little single-floor houses with their red, white, and brown hues. The Bath House is a building which has been declared of architectural interest and was converted into expensive apartments in 1981.

	The pediment bears a long phrase with the words: "The Wells and Campden Baths and Wash-Houses 1888". In 1855, Stanfield House, at number 7, Gardnor Place, became the location for the Hampstead library, with a collection of books on the subjects of literature and science. John Constable was one of its first members. At number 14 on this very street stands the Flask Pub.

	
JACK STRAW'S CASTLE

	12, NORTH END WAY

	The building, which stands at the top of a hill, has held a pub which is amongst the oldest and at the greatest altitude in all London. The legendary story of the character known as Jack Straw is most interesting. His actual existence is not certain, but it has become an essential part of the tales concerning the peasants' rebellion. He is even mentioned in the Canterbury Tales as the ringleader of a revolt against foreign workers, specifically the Flemish. According to folklore, it is said that he led an unfortunate crowd of farmers from Essex, who wanted to rebel against the king and the local landowners, and was later sentenced to death in 1381. The pub has been dedicated to him because it is told that it was on that very roadside in front of the pub that he had harangued the crowd from atop a cart carrying straw, which later became famous as Jack Straw's Castle. The building was converted into a series of apartments and on the ground floor, where there was a restaurant, there is now a fitness centre.

	
THE HAMPSTEAD AND BURGH HOUSE MUSEUM

	NEW END SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD

	The building which hosts the museum and is found in the heart of Hampstead was built in 1704 for a Quaker family. At the start of the Nineteenth Century it was purchased by the musicologist and reverend known as Allatson de Burgh, whose name it still bears to date. It currently hosts an art centre, which organizes concerts, recitals, and conferences.

	The museum is located on the first floor of the house. It acts as a guide through the local history of the area. There are paintings by Constable, who painted the local heath landscapes. There is an Isokon chair as well as some Bauhaus furniture, the first mute film of London, and some memoirs by the poet Keats. The house also includes a music room clad in panels.

	The building is surrounded by a charming terraced garden. In the summer the tables of the tea room are moved here from the basement. From the garden one can enjoy a lovely view of Hampstead Wells.

	At number 1, Perrins Court stands Villa Bianca, which now hosts an Italian restaurant. We mention it for its interesting yet bizarre history. The little villa was built by the chimney sweep Henry Kippin, who was in charge of the chimney maintenance at Hampstead.

	
THE VALE OF HEALTH

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD

	In the Eighteenth Century, the Vale of Health was a malaria-ridden marsh, the undisputed domain of a thick and tangled plant life, mostly made up of tall-standing canes. In 1777, the water company decided to dry out the area, which went on to become a place for elegant residential quarters. A long time ago, this was perhaps a shallow little lake, with rich sources providing water to the watercourses downstream. The region was scarcely inhabited due to the fact that it was infested with malaria, as well as being difficult to travel through. Wagons and carts would only pass through during the drier seasons. Later on, the complete reclamation, the perpendicular channels aimed at draining the lower area, and the collection pits all improved the environment.

	
SIGMUND FREUD'S MUSEUM

	20 MARESFIELD GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FINCHLEY ROAD

	It was in this very house that Sigmund Freud spent the last years of his life in exile, in order to escape the Nazi threat. In crossing the Channel he had imagined himself in the role of William the Conqueror, during his disembarkation at Pevensey in 1066. Freud had arrived here on 27th September, 1938. He had always been interested in art, literature, philosophy, archaeology, and history. It was also here that he received, amongst others, the surrealist painter Salvador Dalì. The house has been converted into a museum; the sofa has been covered by a Persian rug that comes from the Berggasse of Vienna, upon which patients would lay down and give voice to their "free associations".

	The writing desk is populated by statuettes, such as a copy of the goddess Minerva. Freud had asked Maria Bonaparte to smuggle it out of Austria, should the rest of his collection of Greek and Roman statues ever be confiscated. Today these figurines show themselves in all their glory in the display case and contribute towards giving the feeling of a place where one may leave behind the hectic life of the present day, as if one had entered into a parallel dimension.

	The famous sofa is covered by a red and blue five-sided rug, woven in Western Iran. After Freud's death on 23rd September 1939, the house was lived in for a while by his daughter Anna, a child psychologist, who continued to use the same study, and placed a loom there, which she enjoyed working on. Also, she had taken up the hobby of knitting.

	
FENTON HOUSE

	HAMPSTEAD GROVE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD

	The house stands atop Windmill Hill and was built around 1693. It is a perfect example of Queen Anna style architecture, and now belongs to the National Trust. It hosts a collection of paintings, porcelain, furniture, and ancient musical keyboard-played instruments, especially dating back to the XVII and XVIII centuries. Amongst them is a harpsichord dating back to 1612, which was used by Händel. There are also spinet pianos, clavichords, and other types of pianos. The instruments are freely available to music students who wish to practice.

	The splendid garden, enclosed by an extremely tall wall upon which roses and clematis clamber upward, is well kept and also contains flowerbeds of healing plants and herbs. The paths are bordered by flowers, and lead to an old orchard full of gnarled and twisting trees. Some wonderful concerts can be witnessed here during the Summer. At the northern extremity of the house, along Admiral's Walk, stands Admiral's House, a tall, white building, which became famous from a painting by Constable.

	The work of the great English naturalist painter, the first to ever carry out oil-paintings outdoors, is exhibited at the Tate Britain. The house can be seen in the background, high up on the hill, partially hidden by very tall trees. Farmers and their cows are portrayed in the foreground. Constable would paint rural scenes exactly as he saw them, and became famous because he managed to depict the reality of an age and pass it on for future generations to witness. Alone and surrounded by nature, he would reproduce the details of what he saw on his canvas.

	The house has earned its name due to the fact that during the reign of King George III it was occupied by the eccentric naval officer Fountain North. He had in fact ordered two bridges to be built on the roof and had had cannons installed on it, which were to fire as a salute on the king's birthday, or to celebrate naval victories. He even had a cabin built in the shape of a ship's stern. It was rumoured that an underground tunnel passed beneath the garden which communicated with the Heath, and had been used by Dick Turpin as an escape route. The house bears a brown plaque which tells us that the architect George Gilbert Scott once lived here. On Holly Mount, one can also come across the famous pub, Holly Brush, one of the most ancient pubs in Hampstead, built in 1643, and converted from the stables of Romney's House. It was frequented by Dr Johnson and Boswell. Upon witnessing its oak floor, the ornamental plastering, the wooden panels affixed to the walls, and the lively flames of the fireplace, it truly feels like going back in time.

	
KEATS HOUSE

	KEATS GROVE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HAMPSTEAD

	The poet moved to this house in Regency at the beginning of the Nineteenth Century after the death of his brother, and spent the years going from 1818 to 1820 here. Ode to a Nightingale was written in the front garden, beneath the plum tree. At the time there were two houses standing right next to each other. In one of them lived the poet Keats with a friend called Charles Armitage Brown, whereas the other was the home of the widow Brawne and her daughter Fanny, whom Keats eventually got engaged to. A small box contains the engagement ring made in almandine, which she wore until her death, even after getting married.

	In 1838, the actress Eliza Chester joined up the houses, which in 1925 were transformed into a museum commemorating Keats. In 1974, the house was furnished with a few items of furniture, both simple and elegant, conveying a feeling of warmth and cosiness, as if the poet were still present amongst his books and manuscripts.

	The house still has the same window fixtures and an iron bar which was used by Keats for blocking the shutters. On the writing desk, next to Shakespeare's bust and the famous Bard's book of sonnets and notes he had written as a student of medicine, sits his inkwell. A display cabinet holds a few letters of his, along with the first three editions of his poems.

	On the first floor, there is a bedroom where the poet diagnosed his illness and predicted his own demise. Hanging on the wall is a portrait of him on his deathbed carried out by Joseph Severn. In the garden, which goes by the name of Keats Grove, a mulberry still stands today, which was here in the day of the poet. This type of tree is not native to the island, but began being cultivated from the Sixteenth Century onwards. On this land, there were also fruit-bearing trees which were probably once part of an orchard. On February 3rd, 1820, Keats came back home having caught a terrible chill, after standing on the outdoor platform on the bus ride home.

	At home, he had had a sudden urge to cough, and noticed a drop of blood on the sheets. "That drop of blood is my death sentence", he told a friend. On September 13th, 1820, he left for Italy on board the ship Maria Crowther. He was headed to Naples, in search of a better climate to cure his disease. Unfortunately, such a miracle never came to pass, and Keats died in Rome, in the apartment in Piazza di Spagna, which is now a museum.

	

	

	 




	CHISWICK

	
The name Chiswick is a deformation of Cheesewic, which literally means “cheese factory”. In the past, in fact, along the riverside there were once numerous factories which used to produce and sell cheese to the local trade shows. However Chiswick was also a village of sailors: their small houses were gathered around the church of St Nicholas. Up until halfway through the Nineteenth Century, fishing was practised abundantly there, but unfortunately it later decreased due to the fact that the waters had been polluted by the many factories which had sprung up around the town. In 1864, John Thornycroft opened a shipyard at the westernmost extremity of Chiswick Mall, where steam-driven watercraft were constructed following a modern and innovative design. In 1904, the shipyard was transferred to an area nearby Southampton, as the longer ships had some difficulty moving under the bridges.

	Although the construction of new houses has to some degree obscured the past, this is actually an area with a rich history and interesting industrial architecture. It is a place which was inhabited even before London itself existed. A number of stakes have been found planted in the riverbed, and it is believed that they were placed there as a form of defence against the Roman legionaries, however it is more likely that they date back to a later time. The antique objects which have been recovered are now kept in the London Museum. Within Chiswick Mall lies Bedford Park, which is an important contribution to the architecture of the public gardens, designed in 1875 by Norman Shaw.

	
CHISWICK HOUSE

	BURLINGTON LANE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: TURNHAM GREEN

	The villa is a little piece of Italy on English soil. Its architecture, the classical statues, and the small pagan temple in the park, are all inspired by Palladianism. The villa was built in 1725 by Richard Boyle for the third Count of Burlington, and was intended to be a temple of the arts.

	The count had studied Palladio and read Vitruvius. The drawings he presented to the architect Boyle were based on Villa Capra, which stands near Vicenza, and also on the works of Scamozzi.

	The facade is adorned with a double staircase and a porch formed by six Corinthian pillars which support the pediment, above which the dome soars. It is one of the buildings that has had the greatest influence on the history of British architecture. Also John Soane drew inspiration from it in designing the Dulwich gallery.

	The entrance has an octagonal layout with a dome at the centre. A spiral staircase leads to the apartments on the upper floor. On the left is the Red Velvet Room, which bears eight paintings on its walls, four of them depicting historical subjects, and the other four showing images of allegorical or mythological origin. Amongst them, are Liberality and Modesty by Guido Reni, Apollo and Daphne and The Judgement of Paris by Daniele da Volterra, better known by his nickname “Braghettone” (the breeches maker), for having been the painter who added fig leaves and clothing over the genitals of Michelangelo’s nudes in the Sistine Chapel. The Blue Velvet Room and the Green Velvet Room are much more lavish. In the latter, there are two marble chimneys, surmounted by two canvases by Sebastiano Ricci portraying Ariadne, Bacchus, and a cherub.

	The park is just as important as the house, and is based on the idea of a classical landscape and an Italian garden. It is crossed by a vast boulevard, where a number of sphinx statues have been placed, punctuated by vases and busts, also found on the smaller boulevards or sparsely scattered amid the trees and bushes. There is also a pretty little temple overlooking a small lake and a river snaking past it, which ducks beneath a bridge to become a waterfall. In the spot where the three different paths of the park meet, there is an obelisk. The looming gate to the north is the work of Inigo Jones. As well as the latter, we also find Deer House and Doric Column.

	286 The great Italian poet Ugo Foscolo died in the nearby village of Turnham Green on 10th September 1827, at the age of forty-nine. For forty-four years, he remained buried in Chiswick, and was then moved to Florence.

	
WILLIAM HOGARTH’S COUNTRY BOX

	HOGARTH LANE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: CHISWICK PARK

	Speaking of his own home, the painter Hogarth (1697-1764), an artist full of strength and social awareness, once defined it as his “little country box on the bank of the Thames”. The building, which is located on the corner between what is now Hogarth Lane and Burlington Lane, is in fact lacking in any type of architectural asset. It sits far back behind the garden walls and cannot be seen from the street. Hogarth used to share the place with his wife, his sister, and his mother-in-law. On the walls, there is a remarkable collection of his engravings. Amongst them, one can make out A Rake’s Progress and Marriage-à-la-mode.

	The mulberry tree was personally planted by the artist himself, and continues to produce its sweet fruit every summer. Hogarth’s tomb is in the small cemetery of the nearby church of St Nicholas, which we shall speak of in the following chapter.  

	
 

	ST NICHOLAS, THE CHURCH OF FISHERMEN

	THE VICARAGE

	CHISWICK MALL

	UNDERGROUND STATION: STAMFORD BROOK

	St Nicholas is the saint who is said to protect sailors and fishermen, and it was common practice to dedicate a church to him. This is why in sea areas, where parishioners would survive off fishing, many churches are dedicated to this saint. The church of St Nicholas stands in Church Street, near a docking area for a ferry which used to cross the river. It is believed that this was once a pagan temple, and that in the Seventeenth Century, in the days of the bishop of London known as Mellitus, the building was transformed into a church. A document from 1795 describes it as “having beautiful walnut beams beneath a sloping roof”. The original roof was completely covered by a new one, and thus ruined. In 1884, the church was rebuilt following the design conceived by a man of the cloth. The mortar which keeps the walling together is red, as it has been mixed with the ground up bricks of the old church.

	From Chiswick Hall, where the church stands, the street follows the river bight towards Hammersmith Bridge, and allows one to take a delightful walk along one of the most beautiful areas of the Thames. The houses and the greenery weave in and out of view, the pubs, with their beckoningly attractive exteriors, and the gardens take turns to be admired. It is blissful to sit back and contemplate the river and the small islet which sits in the middle, known as Chiswick Eyot.

	
WALPOLE PALACE  

	CHISWICK MALL

	UNDERGROUND STATION: STAMFORD BROOK

	Many different illustrious characters have lived in this charming villa in Twickenham. One of these is Barbara Villiers, countess of Castlemaine and lover of Charles II. She died in 1709. Today the house is known as Walpole House due to the fact that in 1747 the writer Horace Walpole, son of Robert, First Minister of England, chose to rent it for a time. At that time, the villa was known as Strawberry Hill, and two years later it went on to become his property. As well as being the author of the famous Gothic novel The Castle of Otranto, Walpole, along with his poet friend Thomas Gray, was one of the main protagonists in 1739 of the Grand Tour of Italy and France, where he wrote his brilliant epistolary which had both a political/historical and artistic/literary character.

	After moving into this house, he dedicated the following forty years of his life to making changes to it, and ended up transforming it into a castle that became famous throughout Europe. Among the most beautiful rooms were the library and the bedroom, called the Holbein Room because of the fact that the artist in question had painted some of the paintings hanging on the walls. The Gallery, the Round Tower, and the Beauclerk Tower were instead full of collector's items, such as miniatures and glazes. The bas-reliefs and the portraits of famous people, which were also gathered in the churches, were hung up all over the place: on the walls, on the balustrades, and on the loggias...

	The shape of the chimney was inspired by that of the tomb belonging to the Arch Duke Warham, in the Cathedral of Canterbury, whereas the windscreen was inspired by the figures of the choir in the Rouen Cathedral. The chairs and tables dating back to the Seventeenth Century came from the Indies. In the underground areas there was a printing works facility, where Walpole had even printed a guide to the villa, as he had seen others do in France.

	The houses near Walpole House are elegant Eighteenth-Century buildings with splendid gardens, some of which are open to the public on Sundays in the summertime.

	
STRAND-ON-THE-GREEN

	54 THAMES ROAD

	TRAIN STATION: KEW BRIDGE

	This is the name which indicates the tract of the Thames which lies directly to the East of the Kew Bridge. In the Nineteenth Century it was an area of great importance, which witnessed the birth of breweries, dry docks, quays, and barge construction activities... In 1860 one of the greatest laundries in London was opened; its activity lasted a century, and its brick facade is still visible on the left of the Café Rouge.

	When the traffic on Grand Junction Canal was redirected towards Brentford and the royal family moved to Windsor, the area lost some of its importance. Amongst the prettier houses to be found in this street is that of Johann Zoffany, at number 65.

	The German portrait artist lived here from 1780 to 1810, and was an artist of exceptional technical skill, famous for painting groups of people in their own environment, and portraying famous actors, such as David Garrick, during rehearsal. In 1772, Zoffany came to Italy and painted the Tribuna of the Uffizi for the royal family. One can see a group of experts as they admire the paintings and sculptures of the gallery. It also seems to be the case that the painter modelled the faces of the disciples of the Last Supper, which is now found in the church of St Paul of Brentford, basing them on the faces of some fishermen in Chiswick. The street running through the Islington neighbourhood, which is dedicated to him, is the last in the map index of London.

	On the bank, there are some small Nineteenth-century cottages, a row of small houses, and some almshouses from the Eighteenth Century. The latter have their entrances on the first floor at the top of a staircase, so as to avoid the problem of high water. Precisely in front of Strand-on-the-Green lies Oliver's Island. It is said that it gets its name from the fact that Cromwell used it to hide during the civil war, and so that he could hold war room meetings at the nearby pub called Bull's Head. In the Nineteenth Century, the City of London navigation company constructed buildings here, and would dock the barges used for toll collection. During a series of excavations conducted on the riverbed, some skulls and terracotta items were discovered, dating back to the period of Ancient Rome.

	
THE KEW BRIDGE STEAM MUSEUM

	KEW BRIDGE ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: KEW BRIDGE

	Kew Bridge, which is covered in a specific section of this book, has an elegant profile and in 1869, when it was built, it passed between the pubs known as City Barge and Bull’s Head.

	In the building at the corner of Kew Bridge Road with Green Dragon Lane, where there once stood a big pumping station, there is a museum which hosts five steam engines built between 1820 and 1871. Until 1944, they provided water to the west of London. When electric pumps started appearing, it was decided that the station's machinery be preserved, seeing as some of the specimens are quite monumental. The engines are of the 90-inch and 100-inch variety and rest on large bases, created with a single pour of cement. The building also has a beautiful tower, the Standpipe Tower, and it was built later on around them.

	The tower was erected in 1867, following the design of the engineer Alexander Fraser, and was inspired by the architecture of an Italian bell tower. It contains some enormous vertical water tubing which used to be pumped through five huge steel pipelines which were protected from freezing over by red bricks built all around them. It is believed that the slits in the brick wall were used for lighting small fires in order to heat the pipes when the temperature reached below zero. At times, in the weekends, the machines are started up and a visit here becomes much more interesting.   

	
THE MUSICAL MUSEUM

	399 HIGH STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BRENTFORD

	Nowadays, recorded music keeps us company wherever we go, not only at home, but also in the car, in supermarkets, and even in lifts. However, a century ago, this was not the case. At the time, the sonic context was quite a different affair altogether, and the only way to listen to recorded music was to do so through wind-up musical boxes, also known as carillons à musique, or automatic pianos.

	At first, this Musical Museum was hosted in the church of St George. The magnificent collection was created by Frank Holland in the Fifties when electricity and the birth of newer technology for listening to music had condemned these instruments to death. Until the 2000s, they were rather neglected; after that, the administration introduced a building to keep them in, and today the three floors of the museum contain hundreds of musical instruments, both automatic and wind operated.

	There are Swiss musical boxes, bells made from horns, automatic pianos, violin-playing devices, the amazing orchestrion, and hurdy-gurdy organs installed on small carts. The collection also includes thirty-thousand music rolls used by buskers, who would use them to make bears and monkeys dance. From the tiny musical box to the impressive Wurlitzer, the organ with a thousand timbres which was born for the accompaniment of mute films, the collection embraces an incredible series of items which make for a captivating journey into the history of music, whilst enjoying the sound produced by them all. An entire street has in fact been recreated, with the shops full of musical toys, unusual instruments, all accurately restored. There are also some temporary exhibitions on the theme. It is located on High Street, which is the western extension of the street just next to the Kew bridge. It is quite near the museum.

	During the weekend one can witness some specialized volunteers who carry out interesting performances with the musical instruments. One can attend a concert comfortably seated in one of the two hundred and thirty seats in the hall. It feels as if one is listening to the music that once accompanied silent films back in those days. One should consult the program, which shows the list of upcoming concerts. Anyone who is interested in doing so, may organize a party in this unusual and charming place.

	
BOSTON MANOR HOUSE

	BOSTON MANOR ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: BOSTON MANOR 

	The Boston Manor House was built in 1623 for Lady Mary Reade. In 1924, the Brentford administration purchased and restored it. The rooms on the first floor of this Jacobean building built with red bricks, decorated with ashlars, are all open to the public. The great hall has a beautiful ceiling upon which the initials M.R. have been reproduced, which testify the ancient origin of the house. The figures that can be seen holding some partly unwound paper scrolls, inserted between the brackets of the elaborate plasterwork, represent the Senses, War, Peace, Abundance, Faith, Hope, and Charity.

	Their medieval immobility is in contrast to the exuberant decorations of everything else around. Above the fireplace, there is a painting by Abraham De Buyn which represents the sacrifice of Isaac. The grounds surrounding the house, with their magnificent cedar trees, which were probably planted by one of the first landlords, have now become a public park. There is also an ornamental lake.

	
ISLEWORTH
 

	The small suburb of Isleworth to the west of the Thames and beside Richmond is of Saxon origin. The excavation works have also brought to light items that indicate the presence of an ancient Roman settlement near what is now Syon Park.

	In the Eighteenth Century, Isleworth was rich with orchards and many fruit and vegetable farms. In Lower Square and in Church Street, there are still many buildings dating back to the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Century, a time when royalty, nobility, and those belonging to the highest ranks of the church would come here to have houses built for them. Old Isleworth once had a larger territory than it does at present, with many Georgian-style houses overlooking the Thames, in Church Street. On the long islet in the middle of the river, known as Isleworth Ait, there were once many willows, used for building baskets. Today there is a barge docked here, which goes by the name of Cathja and is thirty-eight metres long. Since 1996, it has been used by a charitable organization to help the mentally challenged. Onboard, stands a sculpture of a heron carried out by Martin Cotts.

	In old Isleworth, in Mill Plat Avenue (literally meaning "a piece of land belonging to the mill"), stand six small bungalows built in dark bricks, immersed in the green. These were once almshouses, and are still kept well to date, with a plaque on each door bearing a warning in case of a flood.

	The rivers that act as boundaries to Isleworth are the Crane and the Brent, and along the latter’s banks many factories and offices have sprung up. The affluent Duke of Northumberland's River passes directly through it.

	In the past, ferries used to dock here. There was one known as "the church ferry", which used to take passengers to Kew and Richmond. These boats still existed in 1947, fifty years after the construction of the pedestrian bridge.

	The north-western extremity, which borders on Osterley, is known as Spring Grove, due to the abundance of natural water sources. In 1779, Joseph banks, the greatest English botanist, purchased a house with some land just north of London Road. There, he created a park which was a masterpiece, with exotic plants brought all the way from Australia and the Southern Seas, were he had travelled alongside Captain Cook.

	

	SYON HOUSE

	SYON PARK

	TRAIN STATION: SYON LANE

	Syon House was once a medieval abbey. In 1542, when Henry VIII disbanded the monasteries, the Bridgettine nuns, who lived here, were forced to move out. The building was then bought by the rich merchant Thomas Gresham. In 1632 an arcade was added, following the design by Inigo Jones, and it took on a square structure, with towers on all four corners. Halfway through the XVIII Century, the building passed over to the hands of the Duke of Northumberland, who employed the architect Robert Adam to transform it into a masterpiece.

	The rooms give an idea of what the life of an aristocrat was like halfway through the Eighteenth Century. The entrance, with its black and white marble flooring and plasterwork, is decorated by a pair of statues of the Apollo of the Belvedere and a pair of statues of the Dying Gaul, the original copy of which is located in Rome.

	The halls on the first floor have blue, gold and carmine walls. In the niches of the dining room, there are some statues in the classical style, and above the chimney, a bas-relief which represents the Three Charites, also known as Graces. The red sitting room has walls covered in tapestry made from Spitafields silk, and there is a carpet designed by Adam himself. The Great Gallery, which matches the house in length, which Adam had decided to have painted in pale green and mauve, was supposed to offer "variety and entertainment to the ladies who were to make use of it". The painting of the sixty-two pillars was assigned to Michelangelo Pergolesi, who was paid three guineas for each one. The changing room, named the Etruscan Dressing Room, was partly inspired by Herculaneum.

	William Turner, the father of English botany, was assigned to the creation of the gardens. Amongst the varieties that he had planted were mulberries, which still bloom every year, and which were the first specimens to be imported. In 1770, Lancelot Brown created a lake, which snakes through the field and the wood before turning around a Dorian pillar upon which there is a statue of the goddess Flora. In 1827, in the garden a great veranda was built in glass and Bath stone, designed by Fowler, with internal pillars in cast iron and a dome at the centre. Today it hosts an aviary on one side, and a vast aquarium on the other. On the arch that looms above the magnificent golden gate, there is a Percy Lion

	
Syon Lodge - This home dating back to the Eighteenth Century and in the Georgian style, was originally a dowry. The lower part once hosted the stables, but was later restored and transformed into a living area. At the back of the house there is a loggia which was acquired directly from Venice. On the inside, it is covered in panels dating back to the Seventeenth Century which come from a monastery and there is an enormous stone fireplace which is extremely beautiful.   

	
THE GLOBAL SUNDIAL AT ALL SAINTS

	CHURCH STREET

	TRAIN STATION: ISLEWORTH

	The church of All Saints occupies a splendid position. From the facade, one can admire a very unusual sundial. It is commemorated to Susannah Lawes, who died in 1707. When the weather is sunny, it simultaneously shows the time in Isleworth, Jamaica, where the woman actually lived, as well as Jerusalem and Moscow.

	The original church, which dates back to the Fourteenth Century, used to overlook the Thames. At the start of the Eighteenth Century, a new one was built following Wren's previous design; however it was destroyed in 1943 by two students who set fire to it. The current church was reconstructed in 1970, and preserves some of the parts constructed in previous epochs. The walls of the gigantic tower form an enclosed area where water coming from a fountain ebbs, symbolizing the waters of baptism. Four overturned pyramids, supported by solid pillars, bear the weight of the ceiling. On the side facing the river, we can see the Joshua chapel with its rounded shape. Its name refers to that of a child who died at the age of two.

	
OSTERLEY MANOR

	JERSEY ROAD

	TRAIN STATION: OSTERLEY

	Osterley House is a building built in red bricks with turrets at the corners, which encloses a courtyard. In 1761 Robert Adam worked here, after returning from Italy. He transformed the previous building, by adapting it to the needs of the Child family. In 1949, the Duke of Jersey handed it over to the National Trust.

	In the dining room, where all that remains are the chairs lined up against the walls, there are paintings by Zucchi both at the extremities of the hall and also above the doors. Above the fireplace there is a landscape painted by Cipriani.

	Some time ago, at the top of the great staircase, there used to be a painting by Rubens, Apotheosis of a Hero, which had been removed by the last owner and was destroyed in a fire. The tapestries in the antechamber of the bedroom for guests were drawn in the Gobelins factory in Paris and represent the gods of the Olympus. The decorations in the changing room are of Greek inspiration. Walpole did not care for them much and was known for saying that they reminded him of Wedgwood ceramics.

	The park hosts a farm with its cultivated land and bovine breeding. It is a peaceful refuge, far from the hectic life of the city and perfect for a picnic, a walk around the lake, or a ride on a bike.

	The inside area can be visited through some audio-visual guides. A film is regularly projected in the stables, recreating the everyday life of a time gone by to great effect.

	
FINSBURY

	
The area of Finsbury is situated directly to the north of the City, and is extremely interesting, with pretty squares, such as Myddleton Square and streets flanked by houses built in the Georgian style, such as Amwell Street. In the Eighteenth Century it was an area almost completely made up of parks, where people would come for a walk. Later on, the Blitz destroyed most of it, and due to the high demand for houses in the post-war period, some parts of the area have been densely built up and populated. However there are still many gardens, full of roses and broom, as well as a number of parks.

	The greatest of these is Finsbury Park, created in 1857, with its numerous boulevards of centuries-old trees and an arboretum of very unusual ones. Here we find the beautiful McKenzie garden and also various sports facilities. The architect Berthold Lubetkin, originally from Tbilisi in Georgia, who was known for saying "Nothing is too good for ordinary people", planned a wellness centre for this spot. Amid the trees stands the low and lengthy structure of St John Street, covered with grey and black tiles.

	Here the architect not only designed the building to be functional for those using it, but also put his principle into practice, making it so that there might not be anything better for common people. Unfortunately today it risks being shut down, and the architect's daughter has launched appeals to avoid her father's hard work from being disassembled.

	One of the buildings of greater interest for its size, if not for its value alone, is Finsbury Tower, and incredibly tall ultra-modern tower, which is in fact a parking lot.

	
FINSBURY PARK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FINSBURY PARK

	Finsbury Park opened on August 7th, 1869, and was the first to be approved by the Parliament as a public park. It was recovered from a vast land property largely covered by a wood, with a manor at its centre which is still there today. The park is a mix of open spaces, classic Italian gardens, and boulevards flanked by centuries-old trees. There is also an arboretum, with a selection of rare plants, cultivated for study purposes. At the top of the small hillock, there is a lake which has been created with the water of the New River, which can be reached by boat.

	After a walk along the lake's edge, one can visit the McKenzie gardens, which are full of blooming flowerbeds. Wild bird hunting used to take place on the lake's banks, and there was a field for practising archery and an area for cockfighting.

	Finsbury Park hosts a number of important sports facilities, a café and a venue for art exhibitions. During the summer, a great number of open-air concerts are held here, and it is very pleasant to take part.

	
CLERKENWELL

	
The name comes from the Clerks Well in Farringdon Lane, the well that is now located at number 14-16 in the same street. This was the meeting place for the religious company and the parish administrators, who would gather here to pray and recite the so-called mystery plays. Then, in 1144, Jordan de Briset, benefactor of the Order of the Knights of the Hospital of Saint John of Jerusalem, gave them five acres of land near the well, so that they could build a church and a monastery, destined for hosting pilgrims heading for the Sacred Land.

	The well is still visible and gave the whole district its name. The place was forgotten for a long time, before being rediscovered in 1924. The oldest part of the well room is built in stone, whereas the more recent part is made of Tudor bricks. It is located underground and can be seen also from the outside, through the windows which have been created for this precise purpose.

	For a century, starting in 1850, Clerkenwell was an area of Italian immigration. Because of this, it was called Little Italy.

	

	SMITHFIELD MARKET

	CHARTERHOUSE STREET

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FARRINGDON

	Slaughterhouses have always cast a spell of fascination on writers, if for example one recalls the descriptions by Céline or Simone de Beauvoir of that of Detroit. In Smithfield Market there is an echo of Dickens, or perhaps one of Hogarth's paintings.

	At one time, herds were lined up within and guttural cries would issue forth, along fences built with wooden bars. Today one can still observe butchers transporting sides of beef or other meat on their shoulders, as the market is an important point of reference for the world of London catering and restaurants.

	At five in the morning, one can already order a steak or pork chop in one of the nearby pubs.

	In the past, it would happen that every now and then everything would be cleared out and cleaned up in a hurry, as a post needed to be erected for burning the odd heretic...

	
CHURCH OF ST JOHN

	ST JOHN'S SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FARRINGDON

	The original church had a circular layout, as homage to that of the Holy Sepulchre of Jerusalem. The sign of the wall curvature is still visible on the cobblestones in the square. Towards the middle of the Nineteenth Century, the order of St John had begun to take care of the nursing care and ambulance service, and had ensured itself possession of the only surviving part of the hospital building, the gatehouse, which was the entrance to the south of the monastery enclosure. In 1931, the Order also took the church, which was no longer needed for the purposes of the parish.

	The crypt was one of the most beautiful examples of architecture during the Twelfth Century. On the ceiling, one can see the veining in the stone surface and along the northern wall lies the tomb of Don Juan Ruiz of Vergara, who died in 1575 and was brought here from Valladolid in 1915. Above the tomb, there is a statue of his entire figure, his attractive face appearing at peace in death, his hand on his sword, and a page boy stooping at his feet. Nearby, there is an effigy of the Pryor William Westall, who died of a broken heart when the Order was disbanded.   

	
THE CHURCH OF ST JAMES

	CLERKENWELL GREEN

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FARRINGDON  

	The church is in a rearward position, in one of the more elegant corners of London. It was built at the end of the Eighteenth Century. At the end of the brick facade there is a stone tower, with another steeple in the shape of an obelisk. This is a typical rural church with a rounded western side. Inside the gallery there is a modern organ in warm colours, situated in the place of the original one dating back to 1792.

	The square upon which the church stands, Clerkenwell Green, is very lively, thanks to the numerous pubs and restaurants.

	
KARL MARX'S LIBRARY

	37A CLERKENWELL GREEN

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FARRINGDON

	The library is hosted within an attractive building dating back to the Eighteenth Century, known as Marx House, which faces the pedestrian area of Clerkenwell Green and has a pretty red door. Containing one hundred and fifty thousand volumes of left-wing literature, it represents a container of the social history of the city, ranging from the farmers revolts in 1381 to rebellions against taxes, all the way up to the present day. Throughout the years, the building has hosted a school for poor children, a few laboratories, a pub, and a café for workers. It was also the headquarters for a radical circle, supported by John Stuart Mill and attended by Eleanor Marx, and the typography Twentieth Century Press, funded by William Morris and active for many years. The typography was also used by Lenin, who during his years of exile, came here to publish the Russian social democratic newspaper Iskra. Here one can also visit his study, which is almost unchanged, with blue wardrobes, books bound in leather,  and a Braille edition of The Manifest of the Communist Party. Many of the first editions of the works in English by Marx and Engels were published here.

	The great fresco of Jack Hastings from 1935 goes by the title Heroic worker in the act of overturning the economic chaos of the present. Also Marx, Engels, and Lenin are portrayed with gigantic proportions. The library continues its activity of lending books that even today continue to give the reader pause to reflect.

	
THE CLERKENWELL CHARTERHOUSE

	CHARTERHOUSE SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FARRINGDON

	The history of Charterhouse begins in 1348 with the plague. The cemeteries of London were overflowing with corpses, thus Walter Manny rented thirteen acres of land from St Bartholomew Hospital in order to use it as a cemetery. He also had a chapel built, so that one might celebrate mass for the dead. In 1371 a Carthusian Monastery was founded with a large cloister, surrounded by twenty-four cells. Each monk had his own, where he would pray, eat, and sleep. Thomas More lived here for four years, undecided as to whether to become a monk. The following owners were the court Chancellor, who had the church demolished in order to build an auditorium/lecture hall/great hall, and the Duke of Norfolk, executed for having taken part in the Ridolfi plot, which had aimed to assassinate Elizabeth I and replace her on the throne with Mary of Scotland. In 1611, Thomas Sutton had a hospital built, as well as some almshouses and a school. The compound was restored after the bombing in 1941, which led to the underground discovery of the fragments of a medieval monastery.

	Two floors of living quarters were added to the medieval entrance arch in the Nineteenth Century. Today the Charterhouse hosts around forty pensioners and most of it is not open to the public. However, it is most interesting to visit the medieval courtyard, which is akin to that of a college such as Oxford or Cambridge.

	
BUNHILL FIELDS

	CITY ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: OLD STREET

	The area of Bunhill, which is a mangling of the name Bonehill, was a prehistoric area of land for burial, which remained open until 1852, as a cemetery for dissenters of the Anglican religion. Some of the famous people buried in this lush green oasis are: Daniel Defoe, author of Robinson Crusoe,and William Blake, visionary poet and painter, with his wife Catherine Sophia. Directly in front is the Wesley chapel, near the house of the great preacher.

	Today Bunhill Fields is a beautiful park enclosed by a grating with large trees, where one can go for a walk, sit on a comfortable bench, and read or rest.      

	
ISLINGTON

	
The first reference to Islington appears on a map from 1590. At the time, along High Road there were at least a dozen inns, including the famous Angel which gave the surrounding area its name. The Peacock Inn, which since 1564 has stood at number 11, already appears in a book where it is described as the inn where a boy called Tom usually stays before going to Rugby. There are also ponds, one large one and other smaller ones, where Henry VII used to go duck hunting. Walter Raleigh once lived on Upper Street, where he also owned a bar. To the east of High Street, in the labyrinth of old streets, a congregation of small antique shops has developed in time. On Fridays and Saturdays there is a market, which is the worthy successor of the Caledonian Market.

	
NEW CALEDONIAN MARKET

	MARKET ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: CALEDONIAN ROAD

	In 1862, when the market was moved here from Smithfields, the land was called Copenhagen Fields.

	The iron grating is painted black, with the support posts which bring to mind ancient Greek pillars. Where today there are only some holes to be seen, there was once probably a representation of the heads of animals, a reference to the market activity of the past. On the northern side there is a beautiful clock tower, its style imitating the Italian baroque. It once stood at the centre of the Metropolitan Cattle Market, so it was enough to raise one's gaze to know what time it was.  The livestock market was huge. It could host up to thirty-five thousand sheep, six thousand five hundred cows, one thousand five hundred calves, and one thousand pigs.

	Later on, the Caledonian market diversified and became the greatest market in the world. It closed in 1939. Today, the New Caledonian Market, also known as Bermondsey Market, is located at Bermondsey Square, on Tower Bridge Road, Southwark.

	
ITALIAN FUTURISTS IN THE ESTORICK GALLERY

	39, CANONBURY SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HIGHBURY & ISLINGTON

	Eric Estorick was a sociologist and writer born in the United States in 1913, who started collecting works of art when he moved to England. The interesting gallery created by him is found in the house in Canonbury Square and has been there since the Nineteenth Century. It hosts the only collection of Italian Futurist painters to be found in the whole of Great Britain, with paintings by Sironi, Boccioni, Carrà, Severini, and Russolo. It also includes a section of figurative art from the period from 1890 to 1950, with works by Modigliani, Marino Marini, Morandi, and De Chirico. There are also some illustrations by Picasso and Braque.

	Estorick also created the Grosvenor Gallery in a Georgian villa, which still now hosts events and temporary exhibitions.

	There is also a rich art library and a shop. In the warm season, the café in the garden is a perfect place for lunch out in the open air. Alternatively, or as a fitting conclusion to a pleasant evening, one can go to the Old Queen's Head, at 44, Essex Road. On the upper floor, there is live music.

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	 




	

	NOTTING HILL

	
Notting Hill is a central neighbourhood in London. The name "Gate" is owed to the fact that in order to travel along the street, it was once necessary to pay a toll. The earth under Notting Hill has always been full of clay, and because of this, especially in the area west of Pottery Lane, a number of crockery industries sprung up. The bricks and tiles for constructions were cooked in great kilns. In Walmer Road, there is a surviving one, shaped like a trullo, built completely in dark bricks.

	The two most famous attractions of Notting Hill are the market of Portobello Road and the Caribbean Carnival.

	The market occupies the length of the street which gives it its name, derived from the town of Puerto Bello, in what is now the state known as Panama, which had been taken from the Spanish by admiral Vernon. There are antique items (especially on Saturdays) and second-hand ones, clothing, and fruit and vegetables. The street has a lively and cosmopolitan atmosphere about it. The carnival, instead, takes place in August and lasts two days, one Saturday and one Sunday. It started in 1964, and still attracts millions of people: the most represented are the communities of Trinidad and Tobago.

	It is an extremely colourful celebration of the multicultural nature of this city: men dressed in enormous plumage, women wearing gigantic butterfly wings, and children with a variety of costumes and get ups. The music makes one feel quite merry, and it is a bit like being in Rio.

	A gastronomic walk around Portobello Road and surrounding area - We can start with a good espresso at the Electric Diner in 191, Portobello Road, where there is an outside area for sitting and, if one so desires, eating a delicious breakfast whilst reading a newspaper... In case one prefers a take away, one can head over to Mr Christian's Delicatessen & Wines, at number 11 of Elgin Crescent, where there is a large variety of cheeses, cured meats, hams, quiches, tarts, sandwiches, and many types of baked bread, still piping hot from the oven. Another Deli is Tom's, at number 127, Westbourne Grove. If one wishes to buy something to take away, such as sandwiches, quiches, traditional biscuits, smoked ham, one must go down to the basement, which is an absolute treat for the eyes. One can sit down and have breakfast or lunch.

	Café Fresco, in 25, Westbourne Grove, is a Lebanese restaurant which is open both day and night, where one can eat typical dishes from different countries, such as Greece. For example, one can order meze, which are a series of hors d'oeuvres served in lots of little plates, warm pita bread, and shawarma, a sandwich filled with various types of meat which should be accompanied by ginger juice. The flower shop called Wild at Heart, in Ladbury Road 49a, has such beautiful compositions and such sumptuous bouquets that it deserves being passed by just to be admired.
 

	MUSEUM OF BRANDS, PACKAGING, AND ADVERTISING

	1, COLVILLE MEWS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: NOTTING HILL GATE

	Almost at the corner with Lonsdale Road, upon a small cobbled road stands this extremely colourful museum, which was set up quite recently, and tells of the history and changes in everyday life through objects that have been a part of it. It is called the Museum of Brands, Packaging, and Advertising, and illustrates the history of consumerism going from the Victorian age all the way up to the present day.

	There are brands on show which no longer exist, but were extremely well-known and popular in the past, products of everyday life, vividly coloured containers which once contained famous detergents, imaginative chocolate wrapping, and powder for making puddings, tender images on the packaging of beauty cream products...

	Especially attractive are the glass or metal containers, which are picturesque and have charming illustrations, the beautiful advertising posters drawn by talented artists, the toys, games, and pastimes of a time gone by, amongst which are the first radios and gramophones. The objects are arranged in chronological order, so that it feels as if one were following a temporal tunnel, with rationing, for example, during times of war, and the use of native products. The visitor embarks on a journey through the memories of the past.

	In products ranging from the Fifties onwards, plastic and synthetic materials start to appear. The products of the past have a certain naivety in their presentation, which is unknown to the sophisticated dimension of today. A kaleidoscope of images and objects which reflect the changes in shopping habits, a revolution in consume caused by the new systems of transportation, which causes people to consume products from countries which are ever more distant, changes in lifestyle owing to women's emancipation, as the role changes from that of a housewife to that of a worker inserted in society: a story of customs and habits told through twelve thousand items.

	
KENSINGTON

	

	Kensington was declared a royal district in 1901, by order of Queen Victoria, who was born in Kensington Palace, in Palace Avenue. The Latin name by which the area is mentioned for the first time, in 1086, is Chenesitone. Its territory belonged to Abingdon Abbey. Today, within its boundaries there are many important buildings and quaint cottages, recovered from the antique stables. It is a zone which is very rich with greenery, what with Holland Park and Kensington Gardens. There are also various squares with gardens in the centre, such as Edwardes Square, Earls Terrace, and Wycombe Square.

	However, for most people this is known for being the area of museums in South Kensington, built on land that prince Albert had acquired in order to build a group of institutions aimed at "extending the influence of science and art on industry".

	The extremely crowded Kensington High Street, instead, full of elegant shop windows, is the beating heart of the commercial zone.

	There are some squares such as Cadogan Square, in Knightsbridge, which are flanked by buildings dating back to the end of the Nineteenth Century, with some wonderful details. They have been partly designed by George Devey. If one goes to walk there in the evening and looks at the insides of the buildings, one can see some majestic halls and wonderful plastered ceilings.

	
The French Kensington - In Kensington there is a strong French presence, which is made evident by the Lycée Charles De Gaulle, by the French Institute for Culture, by the presence of a cinema with films in the original language, a library, and some French cafés. Amongst the famous people who have lived here, is the scientist Francis Galton, an inventor, researcher in eugenics and explorer, as well as the author of the survival manual The Art of Travel.

	In Gloucester Road stands the church of St Stephen, built in 1865, following the design by Joseph Peacock and more or less unchanged since then. A marble tombstone reminds us of the great poet Thomas Steams Eliot, who was born in St Louis in Missouri, but who always lived here, and was the secular assistant of this church for twenty-five years, until 1959.

	The engraving invites one to pray for his soul. Eliot states that he had come here for the first time in 1933 and that he was hosted in the small room of the presbytery for the first months of his stay. His poem The Waste Land depicts the modern western world, marred by the crisis and the fruitlessness, as if nearing the end of its path. After having read it, one can no longer see the capital with the same eyes.

	
ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY

	1, KENSINGTON GORE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	Since 1912, the Lowter Lodge hosts the headquarters of the Society founded in 1830 by John Barrow, Francis Beaufort, and John Franklin, with the name Geographical Society of London. The institution had the aim of promoting progress in geographical science, under the patronage of King William IV.

	The organization provided support and funding to various scientists and explorers, such as Charles Darwin, David Livingstone, Robert Falcon Scott, Richard Francis Burton, John Hanning Speke, Henry Morton Stanley, Ernest Shackelton, Edmund Hillary, and Wilfred Patrick Thesiger. From halfway through the Nineteenth Century until the end of the First World War, reports of exploration expeditions were often published on the cover of newspapers, and the opinions of the president and the members of the board were jealously fought over by reporters.

	Today the society, which includes fifteen thousand members, is an important centre for geographical studies, and supports the teaching of students and the dissemination of geographical knowledge amongst adults. It takes care of the publication of texts in the field and also of a monthly issue, which contains articles on the environment and travelling. It also supports a number of expeditions, and field research, as well as organizing conferences.

	The society has a splendid collection of maps. In the niches of the walls, there are some bronze statues of Livingstone, and Shackleton, by Huxley-Jones and Charles Sargeant Jagger. The museum preserves the relics connected with their companies, and one of these is the diary of John Hunt's expedition to Mount Everest.

	The statue of Livingstone - In front of the building of the Geographical Society in Kensington Gore, there is a statue of the explorer Livingstone. The Scottish missionary is famous for his expeditions to Africa, during which he explored the Victoria Falls, Lake Ngami, Malawi, and some parts of Zambesi, in search of the source of the Nile.

	During his fourth and last expedition, he had the famous encounter with Henry Stanley, who had been sent to look for him by the members of the Geographical Society, who were worried by his five-year absence. The two met on the edge of Lake Ujiji, where Stanley pronounced the famous phrase: "Dr. Livingstone, I presume?"After teaming up for a short while, Stanley returned to London, and Livingstone remained in Africa, where he died two years later. His heart is buried in Ulala, Zambia, beneath an mpundu tree. His body was instead transported to England. After having been identified, through the examination of his bones, deformed and mangled by a lion, he was buried in the Westminster Abbey, under a tombstone upon which his merits have been listed.

	
ROYAL ALBERT HALL

	KENSINGTON GORE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	The elliptical cylinder covered by a roof of glass and iron, decorated by a frieze which represents the triumph of the Arts and Sciences of the Albert Hall, which was designed by captain Fawke and Henry Scott. The roof above the gallery contained tanks of water, which were supposed to empty their content onto the theatre in the case of a fire.

	It was opened in May 1871, and was supposed to be part of Albertopolis, the group of museums and institutions built south of Kensington Gardens. It can host up to eight thousand people, and shows of all types are held there, but the most important event is that of the Promenade Concerts, or Proms. The latter were founded in 1895 by Henry Wood and recur each summer, with enormous success.     

	
THE CHIMNEY STACK OF THE ROYAL ALBERT HALL

	KENSINGTON GORE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	(EXIT OF THE SCIENCE MUSEUM)

	Along the least visible side of the building, an incredibly high chimney stack stands out. One can observe it after ascending the steps of Prince Consort Road and heading left. The chimney, isolated on the pavement, is located here. It was once a vital part of the building, as the Hall needed warming and this was the tube of the boiler, placed directly above the furnaces. The boilers provided hot water to the radiators and the steam that was developed could power two engines, which in turn would move the bellows of the great organ. A report from that period states that the instrument had as many as ten thousand reeds, one hundred and thirty registers, five keyboards, and a range of ten octaves. Perhaps this is somewhat an exaggeration.

	
STATUE OF PETER PAN SPEKE AND JENNER

	KENSINGTON GARDENS

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	In Kensington Park, just a short while south from the Italian Gardens, there are three famous statues. There is one portraying Peter Pan, the famous literary character created by James Barrie, in the act of playing the flute. There is a monument dedicated to John Hanning Speke, the Victorian explorer who conducted three journeys to Africa in search of the source of the Nile, alongside Richard Burton. The monument, an obelisk of grey granite, is a reminder that Speke had the merit of having got closer to that objective than any other contemporary character of his time.

	Lastly we find the statue of Edward Jenner, the medic who discovered the vaccine for smallpox. He succeeded after noticing that the workers assigned to cow milking, in particular the female workers, as the staff was made up for the most part of women, did not contract this illness. On 14th May 1796, the medic injected James Phipps with the vaccine. At first, Jenner had encountered great resistance from the official establishment, yet the results proved him right eventually. It is believed that Jenner also invented the word "vaccine", which he had derived from the Latin word vacca, meaning "cow". The name was then made even more popular and generalized by Louis Pasteur.

	
HOLLAND PARK

	HOLLAND PARK AVENUE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HOLLAND PARK

	The entire area around Holland Park is rich with Victorian houses. The northern part of the park is woody; in the part around Holland House, instead, there are gardens, with many flowerbeds and peacocks roaming about in the middle of it. In the western part of the park, stands the temporary structure of the theatre, arranged in such a way that the ruins of Holland House are at the back. In July and August the opera takes place here, and the natural setting gives these shows a magical atmosphere. Some of the most popular shows are Carmen, Don Giovanni, Fidelio, The Strength of Destiny, and Francesca da Rimini.

	In the north-eastern corner, there is a small Japanese garden, with a small waterfall, a little bridge, some clematis and flowering shrubs, enclosed within a wall made of rocks imported from Japan.

	There is also a Dutch garden which was designed in 1812 by Bonaiuti and Orangerie; the gate pillars were sculpted in 1629, following the design of Inigo Jones. Holland House was built in 1607 for Walter Cope, whose daughter had married the first duke of Holland. In the Nineteenth Century, the third duke of Holland hosted guests such as Talleyrand and Ugo Foscolo. The building was destroyed by the bombing during the Second World War, and now only fragments remain of the original construction, which has been reconstructed and repurposed as a youth hostel. Comedies and ballets are also performed in the pavilion which also serves as a restaurant. Sculpture exhibitions can be witnessed in the park. One can also go for a very pleasant stroll along Holland Walk.

	
LEIGHTON HOUSE

	12, HOLLAND PARK ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: HIGH STREET KENSINGTON, HOLLAND PARK

	The house was once home to the painter Frederic Leighton, president of the Royal Academy, also given the title of Lord one month before his death. In 1855, his first painting to be exhibited at the academy, Cimabue's Celebrated Madonna Carried in Procession through the Streets of Florence, was purchased for six hundred pounds by Queen Victoria. However, the painting that actually made him rich was Dante in exile, in 1864. Starting on that date, and over the following fifteen years, Leighton dedicated himself to the construction of this house, built in red Suffolk bricks, with the assistance of the architect George Aitchison. The painter wanted to have a study full of light and a place where he could have his friends over. The entrance has a black and white mosaic flooring and a dark ebony staircase. The most important room, the Arab Hall, sits on the ground floor, and is based on a room in the Zisa castle in Palermo. It is a very unusual hall, with a fountain right at the centre of it, and walls covered with ancient blue and green tiles, which come from Damascus, Cairo, and Rhodes. The engravings and the coloured windows complete the oriental motif.

	However, although this area is the main attraction of the house, the latter is nonetheless riddled with other very original details: the frieze of Walter Crane for example, inspired by those of Ancient Greece, or the red walls decorated with black carved wood, which imitate the Venetian palazzi. Leighton lived and worked here for thirty odd years, completely dedicated to his work and social life. The house, which was partly an art gallery and a sales point (one must consider that at the time, artists did not paint in order to exhibit their work in museums but instead worked only for private collectors) became a museum in memory of the painter after his death, with paintings by Burne-Jones, Albert Moore, and George F.Watts, collected by Leighton himself.

	Also preserved are the statuettes of the Italian Renaissance, bas-reliefs, bowls and vases of Chinese bronze, terracotta items by William de Morgan, furniture from Eighteenth-century Holland, beautiful Persian rugs and others for prayer, as well as English and Turkish silverware, which contributes to giving the house its oriental appeal. The gallery hosts some paintings by Leighton's contemporary fellow artists, such as Shelling Peas by J.E. Millais, and the area is illuminated via the ceiling.

	
SCIENCE MUSEUM: FROM THE MINES TO THE MOON

	EXHIBITION ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	The Science Museum is a labyrinth-like building, designed by Richard Allison in 1914.

	In the hall we can admire the busts of Newton and Einstein. The latter is a bronze work, carried out by Epstein, which appears to be brimming with energy. On the left, near the staircase, there is a pendulum which belonged to Foucault. On the inside there are a series of wings, each dedicated to a more or less recent invention which changed the world.

	The ground floor is dedicated to engines and the development of means of transport. There is a reconstruction of Watt’s laboratory, brought here from his house in Staffordshire. Also present, is the oldest locomotive, dating back to 1813, and Stevenson’s Rocket from 1828, some beautiful cars, such as an 1888 Benz, and a million-volt impulse generator which is activated twice a day, which makes a thunderous clap that can be heard from outside. One can visit an area on the subject of work in the mines, with an operating shaft built to scale.

	On the first floor there are some utensils and machinery. The museum also holds the original mechanism for the Well Cathedral clock, which is set in motion by counterweights. On the pavement there is a Star Dome, and every day there is a conference on astronomy.

	On the second floor we can find sections covering photography, atomic physics, chemistry, and naval engineering; the life-size model of a ship’s deck, equipped with radar, is very popular and gets many visits.

	On the third floor one can visit the section covering magnetism and electricity, with the impressive collection of scientific tools gathered by George III, including the masterpiece of the mechanical planetarium, built in 1733 by T. Wright. An entire gallery is dedicated to aeronautics, with a reconstruction of the fragile aircraft that the Wright brothers used for their first engine-powered flight in 1903. The command module of the Apollo 10 dates back to a few decades later, and is exhibited in the space centre.

	
NATURAL HISTORY MUSEUM

	CROMWELL ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	The building of the Museum of Natural History planned by Waterhouse somewhat resembles a cathedral, with a facade in red and blue terracotta and an extremely high ceiling. A gigantic tyrannosaurus stands in the entrance. All the available space is sculpted with animals and plants. In the western wing, one can find the extinct species, whereas the eastern one is that of creatures still alive on the planet today. The first collection of the museum was that donated by Hans Sloane. Today the museum, which stands at the corner with Exhibition Road, is divided into five departments: zoology, entomology, palaeontology, mineralogy, and botany. There are often exhibitions, as was the case on occasion of Darwin’s two hundredth anniversary, when millions of insect and plant species were exhibited. The building also hosts some laboratories used by researchers, but also open to the public. One may for example explore the latest discoveries about the environment and attend demonstrations by the experts.  

	At the Geological Museum, which has been adjoined to the Natural History Museum since 1985, there are thousands of minerals on show, as well as collections of precious stones, such as diamond, ruby, emerald, sapphire, and also semi-precious ones like opal, agate, onyx, and chalcedony. On the first floor there are some fossils found in Great Britain, whilst on the second floor we find, amongst other things, some materials used for building houses in London

	
VICTORIA & ALBERT MUSEUM

	CROMWELL ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SOUTH KENSINGTON

	The museum, hosted in the building with a terracotta facade, which is particularly attractive at night thanks to the superb lighting and an octagonal dome on the roof, was opened by King Edward VII in 1909. Since then, the collections have grown richer and richer with new specimens, ranging from medieval to gothic, renaissance, Indian, and Islamic art… There are many miniatures and water or oil paintings, such as those by John Constable.

	

	Raphael’s cartoons – There are seven great preparatory sketches that Raphael carried out for Pope Leo X in 1515, which were supposed to be used for tapestries. The weavers of Brussels, for the sake of ease, had cut them into smaller pieces. Amongst the sculptures, there is a wax model of Michelangelo called The slave, which was meant to be used as one of the figures on the tomb of Julius II. There are some groups of statues by Giovanni Bologna, the magnificent Neptune by Bernini, the moving Ascension sculpted in bas-relief by Donatello, along with other sculptures from the Italian Renaissance.

	
In the collection of costumes, there are many elegant items of clothing, which go from the early Seventeenth Century to present. There is also a Music Room, which comes from Norfolk House, and a Theatre Room, as well as many others, each with its own speciality, be it artistic glasswork, pottery, Asian craftsmanship, medieval tapestries, modern designs and fabrics, or contemporary photography… The museum also hosts the National Library of Art, which can be accessed only by means of a written request. A special wing was built in 1982 to host temporary exhibitions of industrial and applied art. There are conferences on each and every aspect of Art, and in the nearby garden there are parties every Friday evening.

	The pleasant area of the Pirelli Garden is both an expository place and also one for meeting people.

	
HARRODS

	87-135 BROMPTON ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: ST JAMES’S PARK

	Harrods was opened in 1849, but the current building was built in 1905. One simply cannot leave London without at least having visited its Food Hall. Upon the background provided by the beautiful Art Nouveau tiles on the walls in the gastronomy department there are windows filled with culinary delicacies of every type one could possibly imagine. This is even more the case during the Christmas period, when one can find a delicious Christmas Pudding drenched in the finest Scotch whiskey, all sorts of stuffed pies, salmon, and other sumptuous delights.

	A grotto has been made where children can meet Father Christmas and ask him for a toy they desire, ranging from old rocking horses or traditional Maxwell to the most modern and sophisticated of toys. The traditional Christmas crackers, cardboard cylinders covered in colourful paper which explode when being tugged hard enough on both ends, have a small banger inside which is set off, as well as containing not just a gimmicky trinket and joke like most crackers, but usually an expensive present placed inside by order of the customer. There is also a great choice as far as tea and coffee is concerned, and the same goes for jam and marmalade, sauces, and wine. There are a number of different restaurants. 

	

	CHELSEA

	

	CHELSEA OLD CHURCH

	64 CHEYNE WALK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SLOANE SQUARE

	The statue of Thomas More – Outside the church there is a statue of Thomas More, carried out by L.Cubitt Bevis in 1969. More was executed on April 15th 1534 for having refused to give Henry VIII his approval for divorce and renewed marriage. The headless body was buried in the church of St. Peter in Chains inside the tower. The head was instead exhibited on the London Bridge, impaled on a stake, next to the heads of other men considered traitors. Birds flocked to peck away at the flesh, leaving only the skull. One of More’s daughters, Margaret Roper, who could no longer bear to see her father’s head exposed to such scorn, set off one night and headed beneath the bridge with her boat rowed by an accomplice. The man removed the skull and tossed it to her. She placed it in a sack and headed for Canterbury, to St Dunstan’s church, where she deposited it in the tomb belonging to her husband’s family.

	

	CHEYNE WALK

	UNDERGROUND STATION: FULHAM BROADWAY

	This is the most literary street in the capital. Dante Gabriel Rossetti once lived at number 16, together with the poet Algernon Swinburne. In the garden there is a fountain in his memory, designed by Sedding. At number 93, Elizabeth Gaskell was born, also known as “the Dickens woman”.

	Number 4 was instead the home of Mary Ann Evans, better known as George Eliot, and of her lover John Cross, who attempted suicide during their honeymoon in Venice.

	Eliot had come back to live here during the last years of her life. The most important passages of her last novel, Daniel Deronda, in 1876, are set in Chelsea. At the western end, Turner’s house was built, and the new building still goes by his name. The Brunel engineers, father and son, lived in number 98, in a Seventeenth Century house.  

	
PHYSIC GARDEN

	66 ROYAL HOSPITAL ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: VICTORIA, SLOANE SQUARE

	Those who love the art of planting cannot pass up on coming to this garden of medicinal herbs, which has the advantage of being very central. Having been created in 1673, it is of historical (as well as aesthetic) interest. The rock garden, created with lava imported from Iceland, is extraordinarily beautiful. This hidden spot, with its melancholy beauty, is west of Chelsea Embankment. At first, almost three hundred and fifty years ago, it was property of the Worshipful Society of Apothecaries: the name “physic”, in fact, refers to the science of curing and healing, and the plants were used for this purpose. Some of the more interesting plants found here are for example the lichens, which usually grow on trees.

	Here, they have been planted in terracotta urns, and there are around forty different species present. The most bizarre of theses is chewing gum lichen. The most useful, on the other hand, is the Lecanora muralis, because it is an indicator of air pollution. Tropical plants are cultivated in the greenhouses. At the centre of the plot of land is the statue of Hans Sloane, who had given up the land almost for free. It was from here that cotton seeds were sent to the United States, which later led to the growth of plantations in the country. Nowadays, researchers continue their analyses on the properties, origins, and methods of preservation for over five thousand species of plants, which come from all over the world. The organized Christmas party is really quite something.

	In the Mediterranean woodland area, there are a number of hives, and the honey which is gathered is then sold in the shop.

	A pleasant way to conclude the visit is to go the café for a muffin and a slice of homemade cake, along with a nice cup of tea. Alternatively, in Duke of York’s Square, we can find Patisserie Valerie, which has delicious tarts and coffee.

	
ROYAL HOSPITAL

	ROYAL HOSPITAL ROAD

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SLOANE SQUARE

	The Royal Hospital was founded in 1682 by Charles II, as an imitation of the Hotel des Invalides ordered by Louis XIV in Paris for aging soldiers. The architect was Christopher Wren, who designed the buildings which stand on the edge of three courtyards. There are also arcades, where the elderly can sit down to observe the passers-by and the Thames. The steps leading up to the first floor have a very low rise, as Wren was fussy to never forget such practical details. The mantelpiece in the Council Chamber is filled with military trophies. On the wall, there is a portrait of Charles II and Caterina of Braganza carried out by Van Dyck. The half dome of the chapel’s apse was painted by Sebastiano Ricci and his nephew Marco. The fresco portrays the Resurrection of Christ.

	In the morning, when mass takes place, the pensioners appear from their single rooms, wearing a red uniform and a tricorne hat. They then dine in the great hall, where they are served before the officers, as a sign of respect for the services they provided in the past. With their red coats, the in-pensioners act as guides for the museum, which is rich with historical objects, medals, uniforms, and paintings which depict famous battles of the past. Parades take place on the aptly named Parade Ground, and there is even a sergeant major barking orders, as well as a governor who performs inspections.

	The great wall painting in the hall was initiated by Verrio and completed by Cooke, and portrays Charles II on horseback, surrounded by allegorical figures.

	
SLOANE SQUARE

	UNDERGROUND STATION: SLOANE SQUARE

	It is quite likely that most of the many people who cross this famous and busy square every day, do not know that Dr Sloane, born in 1660, to whom the square is dedicated, is the man who is said to have invented the drink consisting of milk-based hot chocolate in a mug. Sloane was a researcher in the field of botany, and had travelled around France and Jamaica, in search of new plants. In the latter country, he had witnessed the native populations preparing a beverage based on chocolate powder and hot water.

	He had decided to improve the taste of the drink by replacing the hot water with milk, and once he returned to his homeland, he started to spread it as a type of medicine. Later on, in the Nineteenth Century, the Cadbury brothers, owners of the great chocolate factory, took ownership of Sloane’s patent and started selling the tasty liquid in cans.
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